
  

  
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Meeting  
City Council Chambers 
145 West Broad Street 

Spartanburg, SC  29306 
Monday, January 14, 2019 

5:30 p.m. 
 
 
                                                                      

I. Moment of Silence 
  

II. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

III. Approval of the Minutes of the December 10, 2018  and December 19, 2019 City 
Council Meetings 
 

IV. Approval of the Agenda of the January 14, 2019 City Council Meeting 
 
V.  Public Comment 

 *Citizen Appearance forms are available at the door and should be submitted to the City Clerk 
 

VI.  Recognition of City of Spartanburg Retirees 
  John Moreton – Storm Water Department 
  Sgt. Timothy Garner – Fire Department 
  Captain Heath Henderson – Fire Department 
  Presenter:  Mayor Junie White 
 
VII. Election of 2019 Mayor Pro Tempore 
 Presenter:  Mayor Junie White 
  
VIII.  Public Hearings 
 
 A. Ordinance Accepting the Property Owned by Adam Montgomery and  
  Ronald Montgomery, and Being Located at 1445 Grant circle, and that  
  Portion of Grant Circle Abutting Said Property, and is Further Identified on  
  Spartanburg County Tax Map as 7-13-03, Parcel 041.00 as a Part and Parcel  
  of the City of Spartanburg and Declaring Said Property Annexed to and a  
  Part and Parcel of the City of Spartanburg (First Reading) 
  Presenter:  Natalia Rosario, Planner III 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

CITY OF SPARTANBURG 
                                          SOUTH CAROLINA 

As required by the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City of Spartanburg will provide interpretive services for the City Council 
Meetings. Requests must be made to the Communications & Marketing Office (596-2020) 24 hours in advance of the meeting. This is a 
Public Meeting and notice of the meeting was posted with the Media 24 hours in advance according to the Freedom of Information Act. 

 
 
 
 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 B. Ordinance Accepting the Property Owned by Susan E. Yeomans & Deanne  
  Yeomans, Trustees, Property Owners, Under Contract to be Purchased by  
  Rick Thoennes, Manager on Behalf of Hotchkiss Development Group, LLC,  
  Proposed Buyer and Developer, and Being Located at 110 & ‘0’ Franklin  
  Avenue, and that Portion of Franklin Avenue Abutting Said Properties, and  
  is Further Identified on Spartanburg County Tax Map as 6-20-03, Parcels  
  090.00 & 089.00 as a Part and Parcel of the City of Spartanburg and   
  Declaring Said Properties Annexed to and a Part and Parcel of the City of  
  Spartanburg (First Reading) 
  Presenter:  Natalia Rosario, Planner III 
 
IX. Consent Agenda 
 
 A. Authorizing and Providing for the Issuance and Sale of a Not    
  Exceeding $3,000,000.00 Aggregate Principal Amount     
  Federally Guaranteed Note of the city of Spartanburg South    
  Carolina Pursuant to Section 108 of the Housing and     
  Community Development act of 1974, as Amended, and     
  Section 6-1-30, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as    
  Amended; the Application of the Proceeds of Said Note to    
  Provide Financing for the Northside Commons Project; the    
  Entering into of Certain Covenants and Agreements and the    
  Execution and Delivery of Certain Instruments Relating to the    
  Issuance of the Aforesaid Note, Including a Contract for Loan    
  Guarantee Assistance Between the City and the Secretary of    
  Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”); Appropriating    
  Funds to Pay Certain Fees to HUD; and Other Matters in    
  Connection with the Foregoing (Second Reading)     
  Presenter: Martin Livingston, Neighborhood Services Director 
 
X.  Other Business 
 
  A. FY 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 
  Presenter:  Dennis Locke, Finance Director 
 
 B. 2018 Crime Data Review 
  Presenter:  Alonzo Thompson, Police Chief 
 
 C. Update of Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 
  Presenter:  Robert Coler, City Attorney  
 
XI. City Council Updates 
 
   
 
 

City Council Agenda 
Page Two – January 14, 2019 



  

* Non-Agenda Items 
  City Code Sec. 2-57. Citizen Appearance. Any citizen of the City of  Spartanburg may speak at a regular meeting on any matter   
  pertaining to City Services and operations germane to items within the purview and authority of City Council, except personnel  
  matters, by signing a Citizen’s Appearance form prior to the meeting stating the subject and purpose for speaking. No item  
  considered by Council within the past twelve (12) months may be added as an agenda item other than by decision of City  
  Council. The forms may be obtained from the Clerk and maintained by the same. Each person who gives notice may speak at the  
  designated time and will be limited to a two (2) minute presentation. 
 
 *Agenda Items 
  City Code Sec. 2-56. Addressing Council, Comments or Remarks to Council on Agenda Items Not Requiring Public Hearing. On    
  agenda items not requiring a Public Hearing, please provide to the City Clerk prior to the opening of the meeting, your desire to  
  speak on an agenda item. Remarks shall be limited to five (5) minutes and total remarks on any agenda item shall not exceed  
  twenty (20) minutes. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
XII. Executive Sessions  
 
 A. Executive Session Pursuant to Section 30-4-70 (a) (2) to Discuss Matters  
  Related to the Potential Location of Future Government Facilities 
 
 B.  Executive Session Pursuant to Section 30-4-70 (a) (2) (5) to Discuss Matters  
  Related to the Development of Downtown 
 
 C. Executive Session Pursuant to Section 30-4-70 (a) (1) to Discuss a Personnel  
  Matter 
 
XIII. Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Agenda 
Page Three – January 14, 2019 



  
 

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

III.  



1 
 

  
City Council Meeting  

City Council Chambers 
145 West Broad Street 

Spartanburg, SC  29306 
Monday, December 10, 2018 

5:30 p.m. 
 

(These minutes are subject to approval at the  
January 14, 2019 City Council meeting.) 

 
City Council met this date with the following Councilmembers present: Mayor Junie 
White, Mayor pro tem Jerome Rice, Councilmembers Erica Brown, Sterling Anderson, 
Alan Jenkins, Ruth Littlejohn and Jamie Fulmer. City Manager Chris Story and City 
Attorney Robert Coler were also in attendance. Notice of the meeting was posted with the 
Media 24 hours in advance according to the Freedom of Information Act. All City Council 
meetings are recorded for a complete transcript. 

                                                                      
I. Moment of Silence - observed 

  
II. Pledge of Allegiance - recited 

 
III. Approval of the Minutes of the November 26, 2018 City Council Meeting -  

Councilmember Brown made a motion to approve the minutes as received. Mayor pro 
tem Rice seconded the motion, which carri3ed unanimously 7 to 0. 
 

IV. Approval of the Agenda of the December 10, 2018 City Council Meeting –  
Mayor pro tem Rice made a motion to approve the agenda as received. Councilmember 
Jenkins seconded the motion, which carried unanimously 7 to 0. 
 

Mayor White introduced new City Attorney Robert P. Coler. 
 
V.  Public Comment 

 *Citizen Appearance forms are available at the door and should be submitted to the City Clerk 
 
George Stojanovic, who owns property on Pierpont Dr., came forward to express  
his concerns regarding the closing of Bon Air Avenue. 
 

VI.  Proclamation Expressing Appreciation for His 16 Years of Service to Outgoing   
  County Council Chairman Jeff  Horton 
  Presenter:  Mayor Junie White 
            Mayor White presented the proclamation to outgoing County Council Chairman Jeff   
  Horton and thanked him for his many years of dedicated service. 
 
 



2 
 

VII.  Resolution 
 
  A. Relating to the Declaration of Intent by the City of Spartanburg,  
   South Carolina, to Lease Property for Andrews Park from Park      
   Lake,  Inc.  
   Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 
   Mr. Story presented the item to Council as follows: 

   “For many years the City has operated and maintained Andrews Farm  
   Park, a passive greenspace at Pinecrest and Woodburn Roads.  The land is  
   actually owned by Park Lake Inc. which makes the property available for  
   public use via lease at no net cost.  This lease is due for renewal and  
   reauthorization.  No significant changes are proposed to the lease terms or  
   For many years the City has operated and maintained Andrews Farm Park, 
   a passive greenspace at Pinecrest and Woodburn Roads.  The land is  
   actually owned by Park Lake Inc. which makes the property available for  
   public use via lease at no net cost.  This lease is due for renewal and  
   reauthorization.  No significant changes are proposed to the lease terms or  
   to the facility itself. 
   We recommend your approval and welcome any questions you may have. 
   to the facility itself. 
   Councilmember Jenkins made a motion to approve the resolution as  
   requested. Councilmember Brown seconded the motion, which carried  
   unanimously 7 to 0. 
 
VIII.  Resolution and Declaration 
 
  A.  Directing the Abandonment of and Closing of Catawba Street from its 
   Beginning that Turns Right Off of North Church Street to its   
   Terminus at Serpentine Drive, and of Bon Air Avenue from its   
   Beginning that Turns Left Off of North Church Street to its Terminus 
   at Rowland Avenue 
    Presenter:  Natalia Rosario, Planner III 
   Ms. Rosario presented the item to Council as follows: 
    “In order to beautify and improve the function and safety of the hospital  
    grounds near and around a portion of Bon Air Avenue and Catawba Street, 
    Chris Lambka of Toole Design, Agent, on behalf of Spartanburg Regional  
    Hospital System, has proposed that Council authorize the closing of two  
    streets (see illustration attached):  
 
    1. Catawba Street from N. Church Street to its terminus at Serpentine  
        Drive & 
    2. Bon Air Avenue from N. Church Street to its terminus at Rowland  
                   Avenue. 
 
    City staff (planning, public works, public safety, fire) have no issue with  
    the closing of these streets for their functions. Spartanburg Water and  



3 
 

    Sanitary Sewer System has noted that it maintains public infrastructure in  
    these right-of-ways, and is working with the applicant to ensure their  
    access to their infrastructure remains intact.  

 
   ACTION REQUESTED: Staff requests City Council vote in favor of the  
   proposal at the December 10th, 2018 City Council meeting and public  
   hearing.” 
   Councilmember Alan Jenkins recused himself from voting on the item  
   due to his employment with Spartanburg Regional Healthcare System. 
   Mayor pro tem Rice made a motion to approve the resolution as   
   presented. Councilmember Anderson seconded the motion, which carried  
   unanimously 6 to 0. 
 
  B. Directing the Abandonment and Closing of Streets in the City of  
   Spartanburg, Being Catawba Street From its Beginning that Turns  
   Right Off of North Church Street to its Terminus at Serpentine Drive, 
   and of Bon Air Avenue from its Beginning that Turns Left Off of  
   North Church Street to its Terminus at Rowland Avenue 
   Presenter:  Natalia Rosario, Planner III 
   Mayor pro tem Rice made a motion to approve the Declaration as   
   presented. Mayor White seconded the motion, which carried unanimously  
   6 to 0. 
 
IX.  Ordinance 
 
  A. Consenting to the Inclusion of certain Property Located in the City of  
   Spartanburg, South Carolina, in a Joint County Industrial and  
   Business Park Established by and Between Spartanburg County,  
   South Carolina and Cherokee County, South Carolina; Authorizing  
   the Execution and Delivery of an Intergovernmental Agreement  
   Between the City of Spartanburg and Spartanburg County; and  
   Other Matters Relating Thereto (First Reading) 
   Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 
   Mr. Story presented the item to Council as follows: 

   “The attached ordinance authorizes the execution of an intergovernmental  
   agreement with Spartanburg County regarding the planned Downtown  
   Economic Development Partnership Multi-County Industrial Park.  The  
   Downtown MCIP will have similar effect to the Broad Street Tax   
   Increment Finance District, which expires this year, in that it will allow for 
   some of the property taxes generated in the downtown area to be   
   redirected into a fund specifically for investments which will further  
   downtown growth. 
 
   This mechanism, developed in partnership with Spartanburg County over  
   the course of many meetings over the last several years, will not change  
   the amount paid by any downtown property owners.   



4 
 

   We look forward to addressing any questions you may have.  We   
   recommend your approval.” 
   Councilmember Anderson made a motion to approve the ordinance as  
   presented on first reading. Mayor pro tem Rice seconded the motion,  
   which carried unanimously 7 to 0. 
 
X.  Other Business 
 
  A. Presentation on Spartanburg Construction Training Program 
   Presenter:  Mitch Kennedy, Community Services Director 
                                   Mr. Kennedy presented the item to Council as follows: 

                                    “The City of Spartanburg is already experiencing a construction boom and 
   there is more in the pipeline.  This creates entry level employment   
   opportunities accessible to many of our residents.  Our department has  
   represented the City in the development of a cooperative effort to ensure  
   our community capitalizes on this opportunity.  The Spartanburg   
   Construction Training Program is designed to get low-income,   
   unemployed and under-employed individuals a high skilled employment  
   opportunity to build financial stability.  At the upcoming City Council  
   meeting I, and the various other community partners involved in this  
   important undertaking will share information with City Council.” 
   Mr. Kennedy, Tammie Hoy Hawkins, Project Manager for the North Side  
   Development Group, and Betsy Sikma, Vice President of Talent and  
   Economic Inclusion for the Spartanburg Chamber of Commerce,   
   presented details on the Spartanburg Construction Training Program to  
   Council. 
   Council received the report as information. 
 
  B. Presentation on Process to Develop New Comprehensive Plan 
   Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 
                                   Mr. Story overviewed the process of creating a new comprehensive 
 plan for the city. He stated that staff and many stakeholders would be 
 engaged in the process and he wanted to come before Council to 
 confirm that Council was on board for launching the search for a 
 consulting firm to facilitate the process.  
 Mr. Story was given Council’s consent to move forward with the process. 
 
XI. City Council Updates - Each Councilmember gave updates on their activities since   
   the last council meeting. 
   
XII. Adjournment – Mayor pro tem Rice made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 Councilmember Jenkins seconded the motion, which carried unanimously 7 to 0.  The 
 meeting adjourned at 6:37 p.m. 
 
 
          Connie S. McIntyre, City Clerk 



1 
 

  
 

Special City Council Meeting  
The Franklin School 

100 Howard St. 
Spartanburg, SC  29303 

Wednesday, December 19, 2018 
5:00 p.m.  

 
(These minutes are subject to approval at the  

January 14, 2019 City Council meeting.)      
 

 City Council met this date with the following Councilmembers present: Mayor Junie 
White, Mayor pro tem Jerome Rice, Councilmembers Sterling Anderson, Alan Jenkins, 
Ruth Littlejohn and Jamie Fulmer. Councilmember Erica Brown was out of town. City 
Manager Chris Story and city Attorney Robert Coler were also in attendance. Notice of the 
meeting was posted with the Media 24 hours in advance according to the Freedom of 
Information Act. All City Council meetings are recorded for a complete transcript. 

                                                                     
I. Call to Order – Mayor White called the meeting to order. 

 
II. Ordinance 

 
A. Authorizing and Providing for the Issuance and Sale of a Not   
 Exceeding $3,000,000.00 Aggregate Principal Amount    
 Federally Guaranteed Note of the City of Spartanburg South   
 Carolina Pursuant to Section 108 of the Housing and    
 Community Development act of 1974, as Amended, and    
 Section 6-1-30, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as   
 Amended; the Application of the Proceeds of Said Note to   
 Provide Financing for the Northside Commons Project; the   
 Entering into of Certain Covenants and Agreements and the   
 Execution and Delivery of Certain Instruments Relating to the   
 Issuance of the Aforesaid Note, Including a Contract for Loan   
 Guarantee Assistance Between the City and the Secretary of   
 Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”); Appropriating   
 Funds to Pay Certain Fees to HUD; and Other Matters in   
 Connection with the Foregoing (First Reading)    
 Presenter: Martin Livingston, Neighborhood Services Director    
 Mr. Livingston presented the item to Council as follows:  
 “Staff is requesting approval of an ordinance authorizing the issuance of a note 
 and loan for the Community Development Block (CDBG) Grant Section 108 
 Loan Guarantee. In August 2017, the City approved a resolution to submit an 
 application to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for a 
 CDBG Section 108 loan for the Northside Commons Development. The loan is 



2 
 

 not expected to have any net cost to the City – the project owner will repay the 
 loan.  Two public hearings and comment period were held prior to the submission 
 of the application for the loan. The Northside Development Corporation (NDC), a 
 designated local 501(C)3 non-profit organization is partnering with a for-profit 
 entity to develop the Northside Mixed Use development as part of the 
 implementation of the Northside Initiative. Northside New Market Mixed use 
 development is a new construction, mixed use development providing housing 
 and commercial space in the Northside of Spartanburg.  The development is 
 consistent with the Northside Transformation Plan approved by Council on 
 January 26, 2015.                                                                                                             
 This project is an economic development project and funding would be provided 
 to a third party borrower, a development entity consisting of the Northside 
 Development Group. The City will be pledging 5 years of Community 
 Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funds. The development team will be making 
 scheduled payments to repay the Section 108 Loan for a 20 year period. The loan 
 could be repaid earlier than scheduled. The developers will be required to pledge 
 additional collateral to secure the City’s investment in the project. The loan is not 
 expected to have any net cost to the City.   
           ACTION REQUESTED: Approval of an ordinance authorizing the City Manager 
 to issue a note and loan guarantee in connection with the CDBG Section 108 Loan 
 Guarantee. 
 BUDGET & FINANCIAL DATA: $3,000,000 in CDBG Section 108 loan 
 guarantees.  The loan is not expected to have any net cost to the City.”  
 Mayor pro tem Rice made a motion to approve the ordinance as presented on 
 first reading. Councilmember Jenkins seconded the motion, which carried 
 unanimously 6 to 0.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                      

III. Consent Agenda 
 
  A. Ordinance Consenting to the Inclusion of certain Property Located in  
   the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina, in a Joint County Industrial  
   and Business Park Established by and Between Spartanburg County,  
   South Carolina and Cherokee County, South Carolina; Authorizing  
   the Execution and Delivery of an Intergovernmental Agreement  
   Between the City of Spartanburg and Spartanburg County; and  
   Other Matters Relating Thereto (Second Reading) 
   Presenter:  Chris Story, City Manager 
   Councilmember Jenkins made a motion to approve the Consent   
   Agenda on second reading. Mayor pro tem Rice seconded the motion,  
   which carried unanimously 6 to 0. 
 
 IV.  Adjournment – Councilmember Jenkins made a motion to adjourn the meeting for   
  the tour of the school. Mayor pro tem Rice seconded the motion, which carried     
  unanimously 6 to 0. The special meeting adjourned at 5:25 p.m., followed by the tour of 
 the school. 
 



3 
 

V.  Tour of The Franklin School – Ms. Shawna Bynum, Director of The Franklin  
 School, lead several members of Council in a tour of the school.  
 
 
 
 
     ______________________________ 
      Connie S. McIntyre, City Clerk 
 
 
 



  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VIII. A  



REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Chris Story, City Manager 
 
FROM:   Natalia Rosario, Planner III. 
      
SUBJECT:  Ordinance Accepting the Property Owned by Adam Montgomery and Ronald 

Montgomery, and being located at 1445 Grant Circle, and that portion of Grant Circle 
abutting said property, as a part and parcel of the City of Spartanburg and Declaring 
said Property Annexed to and a part and Parcel of the City of Spartanburg, said parcel 
to be Zoned R-15, Single Family Residential upon Annexation. 

 
DATE: January 14, 2019 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
Staff received a request for Annexation Agreement Covenant and Restriction from Adam Montgomery and 
Ronald Montgomery, owners of 1445 Grant Circle for annexation of the property into the City of 
Spartanburg on December 17, 2018.  Because this property will be zoned R-15, Single Family Residential 
upon Annexation, there is no need to obtain zoning designation by the Planning Commission.  
 
Since the parcel is contiguous to the City Limits, the property owner has submitted an annexation petition 
under the 100 percent Petition and Ordinance method.  Since the zoning designation for the contiguous 
parcel is R-15, Single Family Residential; Staff is requesting Council to designate the parcel as R-15. 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council take the following actions: 
 

a) Approve the Annexation Agreement Covenant and Restriction of 1445 Grant Circle  
(TMS#7-13-03-041.00). 

 
b) Designate the zoning for this property as R-15 (Single Family Residential) upon annexation. 

 
BUDGET AND FINANCE DATA:  
 
The parcel will generate property tax after annexation.  Additional service costs will be minimal. 





AN ORDINANCE 
 

ACCEPTING THE PROPERTY OWNED BY ADAM MONTGOMERY AND 
RONALD MONTGOMERY, AND BEING LOCATED AT 1445 GRANT 
CIRCLE, AND THAT PORTION OF GRANT CIRCLE ABUTTING SAID 
PROPERTY, AND IS FURTHER IDENTIFIED ON SPARTANBURG 
COUNTY TAX MAP AS 7-13-03, PARCEL 041.00 AS A PART AND PARCEL 
OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG AND DECLARING SAID PROPERTY 
ANNEXED TO AND A PART AND PARCEL OF THE CITY OF 
SPARTANBURG. 

 
 WHEREAS, heretofore, the City of Spartanburg, on December 17, 2018, received an 
Annexation Agreement Covenant and Restriction Petition, filed by Adam Montgomery and 
Ronald Montgomery, Owners, requesting that the property described in the Petition be annexed 
to the City of Spartanburg; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of Spartanburg has caused an investigation to be made of 
said property and has found that said property is contiguous to the City of Spartanburg and that it 
would be in the best interest of the City of Spartanburg if said property be annexed hereto in 
accordance with Section 5-3-150 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Members of Council of the City of 
Spartanburg, South Carolina, in Council assembled: 
 
 Section 1:  That the Petition of Adam Montgomery and Ronald Montgomery, dated 
December 17, 2018, for the annexation of the property hereinafter described to the City of 
Spartanburg be accepted. 
 
 Section 2:  That the property hereinafter described is hereby declared annexed to the City of 
Spartanburg and a part and parcel of said City with full privileges accorded to and 
responsibilities required of said area. 
 
 Section 3:  That said property is described as follows: 
 
 All that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, with improvements thereon, lying, situate and 
being in the State and County aforesaid, being shown and delineated on a plat prepared for David 
W. Chaney and Gayle L. Chaney by Archie S. Deaton & Associates, dated October 31, 1986, 
recorded in Plat Book 99 at page 175, Register of Deeds for Spartanburg County, South Carolina. 
 
This is the same property conveyed to the grantor herein by deed of David W. Chaney and Gayle 
L. Chaney dated June 10, 2009, recorded June 15, 2009 in Deed Book 93-Z at page 537, Register 
of Deeds for Spartanburg County, S.C. 
 
Block Map #7-13-03-041.00       (1445 Grant Circle) 
 
 
 
(continued on page 2) 
 



TOGETHER with all and singular the rights, members, hereditaments and appurtenances to said 
premises belonging or in anywise incident or appertaining; 
 
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the said premises before-mentioned unto the said 
Grantee(s), and the Grantee’s(s’) heirs (or successors) and assigns forever.  And the Grantor(s) 
do(es) hereby bind the Grantor(s) and the Grantor’s(s’) heirs (or successors), executors and 
administrators to warrant and forever defend all and singular the said premises unto the 
Grantee(s) and the Grantee’s(s’) heirs (or successors) and assigns, against the Grantor(s) and the 
Grantor’s(s’) heirs (or successors) and against every person whomever lawfully claiming or to 
claim the same or any part thereof, except as to restrictions and easements of record, if any. 
 
 The County Block Map Number of the above tract of land is 7-13-03-041.00.  (See attached 
plat). 
 
 Section 4:  That upon annexation, the property shall be zoned as Zone R-15 (Single Family 
Residential District). 
 
 Section 5:  This Ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the City Council of the 
City of Spartanburg, South Carolina. 
 
 DONE AND RATIFIED THIS ____ DAY OF __________________, 2019. 
 

 

 

         __________________________ 
         Junie L. White, Mayor 
 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Connie S. McIntyre, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
Robert P. Coler, City Attorney 
 
 
 

 

__/__/__  (First Reading) 
 
__/__/__  (Second Reading) 

2 
 



  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

VIII. B  



REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION 
 
 
 
TO:  Chris Story, City Manager 
 
FROM:   Natalia Rosario, Planning Staff 
      
SUBJECT:  Annexation and Zoning Designation of property located at 110 & ‘0’ Franklin Avenue, 

Tax Map Parcels # 6-20-03, Parcels 090.00 & 089.00, Rick Thoennes, Manager, on 
behalf of Hotchkiss Development Group, LLC, proposed Buyer/Developer on behalf of 
Susan E Yeomans and Deanne Yeomans, Trustees, Owners. 

 
DATE: January 14, 2019 
 
SUMMARY:  On Thursday, December 20, 2018, The Planning Commission held a public hearing and 
reviewed an annexation and zoning designation request submitted by Rick Thoennes, Manager, on behalf 
of Hotchkiss Development Group, LLC, proposed Buyer/Developer, on behalf of Susan E Yeomans and 
Deanne Yeomans, Trustees, Owners to annex parcels #6-20-03-090.00 & 089.00 into the City of 
Spartanburg and to zone said parcels as R-6 PDD: General Residential Planned Development District upon 
annexation, in order for proposed Buyer/Developer to construct a multi-family apartment development 
consisting of twelve, three-story buildings totaling 288 units. The purchase of the property is contingent 
upon the zoning designation being approved.   
 
On Thursday, February 15th of 2018, the Planning Commission held a public hearing and reviewed this 
annexation and zoning request and voted to recommend the request favorably to City Council. At that time 
the original developer of the project decided not to continue with the development, and the item was pulled 
from Council’s agenda. At this time a new developer (Hotchkiss Development Group, LLC) has taken on 
the project and is proposing to move forward with the development.  
 
The 2004 Comprehensive Plan does not speak on the proposed future use and zoning of this parcel, as it 
has never been located within City Limits. However, the proposed property is adjacent to single-family 
homes as well as being bounded by I-26 to the East. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:  The request was endorsed by the Planning 
Commission on February 15, 2018 by a vote of 3 to 1 and on December 20th, 2018 by a vote of 4 to 0.  
Staff’s recommendation concerning this application is explained in detail in the attached staff report to the 
Planning Commission. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Minutes from the February 15, 2018 and December 20th, 2018 
Planning Commission Meetings and Staff Reports with attachments are included.  In addition, enclosed is a 
proposed Ordinance in the event that Council approves Annexation and Zoning Designation. 
 
BUDGET AND FINANCE DATA:  N/A 





AN ORDINANCE 
 

ACCEPTING THE PROPERTY OWNED BY SUSAN E YEOMANS & 
DEANNE YEOMANS, TRUSTEES, PROPERTY OWNERS, UNDER 
CONTRACT TO BE PURCHASED BY RICK THOENNES, MANAGER ON 
BEHALF OF HOTCHKISS DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC, PROPOSED 
BUYER AND DEVELOPER, AND BEING LOCATED AT 110 & ‘0’ 
FRANKLIN AVENUE, AND THAT PORTION OF FRANKLIN AVENUE 
ABUTTING SAID PROPERTIES, AND IS FURTHER IDENTIFIED ON 
SPARTANBURG COUNTY TAX MAP AS 6-20-03, PARCELS 090.00 & 089.00 
AS A PART AND PARCEL OF THE CITY OF SPAR-TANBURG AND 
DECLARING SAID PROPERTIES ANNEXED TO AND A PART AND 
PARCEL OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG. 

 
 WHEREAS, heretofore, the City of Spartanburg, on November 27, 2018, received a 
Petition, filed by Rick Thoennes, Manager on behalf of Hotchkiss Development Group, LLC, 
proposed buyer and developer, on behalf of Susan E Yeomans & Deanne Yeomans, Trustees, 
Property Owners, requesting that the properties described in the Petition be annexed to the City 
of Spartanburg; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of Spartanburg has caused an investigation to be made of 
said properties and has found that said properties are contiguous to the City of Spartanburg and 
that it would be in the best interest of the City of Spartanburg if said properties be annexed hereto 
in accordance with Section 5-3-150 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Members of Council of the City of 
Spartanburg, South Carolina, in Council assembled: 
 
 Section 1:  That the Petition of Rick Thoennes, Manager on behalf of Hotchkiss 
Development Group, LLC, proposed buyer and developer on behalf of Susan E Yeomans & 
Deanne Yeomans, Trustees, Property Owners, dated November 27, 2018, for the annexation of 
the properties hereinafter described to the City of Spartanburg be accepted. 
 
 Section 2:  That the properties hereinafter described is hereby declared annexed to the City 
of Spartanburg and a part and parcel of said City with full privileges accorded to and 
responsibilities required of said area. 
 
 Section 3:  That said properties is described as follows: 
 
 The property located on the western side of Interstate 26 currently in the County of 
Spartanburg, State of South Carolina and being more particularly described as follows: 
 
 Beginning at an I.P. at joint corner with property of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (now or 
formerly) located N 16-51-46 W 961.73 feet from the northeast intersection of U.S. Highway 29 
and Franklin Avenue, N 73-17-26 E 300.61 feet to I.P., the true POINT OF BEGINNING; thence 
N 73-17-45 E 644.32 feet to I.P. on western side of Interstate 26; thence with the western edge of 
Interstate 26 to point in center of railroad tracks for Piedmont and Northern Railway; thence with 
the center of said tracks in a westerly direction to a point in the center of Blackstock Road;  
(continued on page 2) 
thence with the center of Blackstock Road, S 5-50 E 503.1 feet and S 0-56 W 236.9 feet; thence  
leaving Blackstock Road, N 73-20 E 700 feet more or less to I.P.; thence S 16-40 E 1470 feet 



more or less to I.P.; thence S 73-20 W to I.P.; thence S 16-40 E 80 feet to I.P.; thence N 73-17-26 
E 100 feet more or less to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
 This being a portion of the property conveyed to Charles L. Yeomans, III and Susan E. 
Yeomans by Deed of Distribution dated September 17, 2001 and recorded September 24, 2001 in 
Book 74-N at Page 342 in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Spartanburg County, South 
Carolina. 
 
 This being the same property conveyed to Deanne Yeomans by Deed of Distribution dated 
November 6, 2012 and recorded on December 6, 2013 in Book 104-Y at Page 33 in the Office of 
the Register of Deeds for Spartanburg County, South Carolina. 
 
  The County Block Map Number of the above tracts of land are 6-20-03-090.00 & 089.00.  
(See attached plat). 
 
 Section 4:  That upon annexation, the properties shall be zoned as Zone R-6 PDD (General 
Residential Planning Development District). 
 
 Section 5:  This Ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the City Council of the 
City of Spartanburg, South Carolina. 
 
 DONE AND RATIFIED THIS ____ DAY OF __________________, 2019. 
 
 
 
         __________________________ 
         Junie L. White, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Connie S. McIntyre, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
Robert P. Coler, City Attorney 
 
 

 

__/__/__  (First Reading) 
 
__/__/__  (Second Reading) 

2 
 



















 

 

The Spartanburg  
City Planning Commission 

 

City of Spartanburg | City Planning Commission Agenda 1 

 

Agenda 
Thursday, December 20, 2018 
City Hall Council Chambers 

145 W. Broad Street at 5:30 P.M. 
 

The Public is Cordially Invited To Attend This Meeting 
(Please Note:  Items as they appear on the docket may or may not be considered in the 

order as they are presented, 
The Chair will announce any changes after the roll call) 

 
 

I. Call to Order. 
 

II. Roll Call. 
 

III. Approval of Agenda for the December 20, 2018 Meeting. 
 

IV. Disposition of the October 18, 2018 Meeting Minutes. 
 

V. Old Business – None. 
 

VI. New Business: 
 

1. Zoning Classification re Annexation:  
 

The Planning Department has received a request to consider zoning classification for an annexation 
petition submitted by Mike McNabb, Bluewater Civil Engineering on behalf of Rick Thoennes, 
Applicant on behalf of Susan Yeomans and Deanne Yeomans, Trustees, Property Owners.  The 
property is located at 110 & 0 Franklin Avenue and are further identified on Spartanburg County 
Tax Map Sheets #6-20-03, Parcels 090.00 & 089.00.  The Parcels are currently un-zoned, and the 
requested zone is R-6 PDD, with a Land Use Designation of General Residential Planned 
Development District upon annexation.  Request is contingent upon Zoning Classification approval. 

 

VII. Review and Approval of Proposed 2019 Planning Commission Meeting Schedule. 
 

I. Site and Landscape Plans Approved (information purposes only) since the October 18, 2018 Meeting: 
 

 Dr. T. K. Gregg Community Center – 650 Howard Street. 
 

II. City Council Updates (FYI) Since Last Mtg. of Planning Commission on October 18, 2018: 
 

 11-12-18 Council Denied the Rezoning Request at 116 Kensington Dr. from Kevin Clark  
: 

 

III. Staff Announcements: 
 

 New Upcoming Comprehensive Plan Information. 
 

IV. Adjournment 
 

If anyone has any questions please contact Natalia Rosario, Planner III at (864) 596-2071, or 
by email at nrosario@cityofspartanburg.org 

 
 



S p a r t a n b u r g  C i t y  P l a n n i n g  C o m m i s s i o n  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  
Thursday, October 18, 2018 

1 
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
Spartanburg, South Carolina 

 

The City Planning Commission met in City Hall Council Chambers on Thursday, October 18, 2018 at 5:30 P.M.  The 
following City Planning Commissioners attended this meeting:  Jared Wilson, Howard Kinard, Bob Pitts, Dr. Phillip 
Stone, Reed Cunningham and William “Luke” Quillen.  Mike Epps was absent.  Representing the Planning 
Department were Natalia Rosario, Planner III. and Julie Roland, Administrative Assistant.  City Manager, Chris Story 
and Council Member Sterling Anderson also attended the meeting. 
 

Roll Call 
 

Mr. Wilson, the Chair, stated that notice of this meeting was posted and provided to the media 24 hours in 
advance as required by the Freedom of Information Act. 
 

Mr. Wilson noted that six Planning Commissioners were present, constituting a quorum; and he went over 
the rules and procedures for conducting a public hearing. 
 

Mr. Wilson explained the general flow of how tonight’s meeting would be conducted for all of the 
members of the audience that were present. 
 

Mr. Wilson informed the Board Members he was informed that an amendment needed to be made to the 
Agenda for tonight’s meeting; regarding the rezoning request had been revised from R-15 to Zone R-12 
instead of R-6; and he asked if he had a motion. 
 

Dr. Stone moved approval of the amendment and he was seconded by Mr. Cantrell.  The motion was 
unanimously approved by a vote of 6 to 0. 
 

Dr. Stone made a motion to approve the agenda as was amended; and he was seconded by Mr. Wilson.  
The motion was unanimously approved by a vote of 6 to 0. 
 

Disposition of the Minutes from the July 19, 2018 meeting of the Spartanburg City Planning 
Commission. 
 

Mr. Wilson moved the Minutes from the July 19, 2018 Meeting be approved as presented; and he was 
seconded by Mr. Kinard.  The minutes were unanimously approved by a vote of 6 to 0. 
 

Old Business – None. 
 

New Business 
 

1. Rezoning Request – The Planning Department has received a request to consider amending the 
City of Spartanburg, South Carolina Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan Land Use 
Element, by amending Section 206, changes to District Boundaries, of one property, Specifically 
Parcel #6-21-15-010.00 located on 116 Kensington Drive, that was currently zoned R-15 (Single 
Family Residential District) to zone R-12: General Residential District in order to split the parcel 
into three residential lots in order to construct three single family homes.  Kevin Clark, Property 
Owner.___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Ms. Natalia Rosario, Senior Planner came forward and was sworn, and she submitted the meeting packets 
the Board Members had previously received via email, as well as tonight’s presentation, and slides into 
evidence as Exhibit A.   Ms. Rosario explained the original request was to rezone the proposed parcel to 
zone R-6 which would have allowed the petitioner to split the parcel into five parcels and build upon each 
of those a single family home; but that after hearing feedback from adjacent and nearby property owners, 
Mr. Clark had amended his request to rezone the property to R-12, which would only allow him to split the 
property into three lots and build three single family homes instead of five.  She further explained the 
current R-15 zoning of the property would already allow the petitioner to split the parcel into two 
oversized lots that would allow him to build two homes on the property.  Ms. Rosario said there had been 
some comments from nearby residents wanting to know what the actual construction would look like; and 
that was not something the ordinance factored in to a rezoning request.  She said there were not design 



2 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

guidelines for this area concerning single family residential homes or any other type of construction.  Her 
recommendation regarding that was if this request moved forward, that the applicant might discuss that 
with the nearby residents.  A slide was shown of the location map, proposed property, aerial view, and 
surrounding properties.  Ms. Rosario also showed a slide that depicted the 400’ area radius the Planning 
Department used to send out certified and regular mail letters to adjacent and abutting property owners.  
She said the applicant was present. 
 

Planning Commission Questions for Staff: 
 

There were no questions for Staff at this time. 
 

Mr. Kevin Clark of 282 Noble Creek Road, Woodruff, SC came forward and he was sworn.  He explained 
to the Board Members he had purchased the property in order to be able to build anywhere from 1200 to 
1500 square foot homes, which he thought was the size of most of the homes in the area.  Mr. Clark said 
he originally wanted to rezone the parcel to build five homes; and he thought he would be welcomed here 
for wanting to build homes; and after he found out there were a lot of concerns; that was when he decided 
to revise the petition to rezoning to R-12; and split the parcel into three parcels and only build three homes.  
He explained the proposed homes would be three bedrooms, two baths, with two car garages.  The homes 
would have hardwood floors, ceramic tile and granite counter tops.  Mr. Clark explained to the Planning 
Commissioners again he had no idea any of this would be an issue.  He thought that building new homes in 
an older neighborhood would be welcomed.  
 

Planning Commission Questions: 
 

 Dr. Stone asked Mr. Clark about the acreage of the property as it was right now. 
 

 Mr. Clark said it was 1.26 acres. 
 

 Mr. Cunningham asked Mr. Clark if he was a home builder or developer. 
 

 Mr. Clark explained he was a contractor; and he tried to build homes that would blend in to whatever 
neighborhood in which he was building. 

 

 Mr. Cunningham asked had he done this in other areas.  Mr. Clark explained he had; and he had built a 
lot of homes in the Greenville area; but since he lived in Spartanburg County, he decided he would like 
to build some homes in Spartanburg. 

 

 Mr. Wilson asked the petitioner if this request moved forward about his timeline. 
 

 Mr. Clark said he would probably build the first home within six months; and then he would do the 
other two at the same time, probably within another six months. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked if the plan was to sell the homes. 
 

 Mr. Clark said yes. 
 

 Mr. Kinard asked would the access to the homes be off of Kensington Drive. 
 

 Mr. Clark said yes; and he explained the homeowner would drive off of Kensington directly into their 
driveway that would lead directly to the garage. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked would they be separate units or townhomes. 
 

 Mr. Clark explained they would be separate single family homes; and he would divide the three 
parcels up as equally as he could; and they would all have about the same sized yards in order that they 
would all have plenty of room with a nice sized yard.  He also said he had heard from some concerned 
residents regarding problems with water runoff; and the way the lay of the land was and buffer in the 
rear of the property; that nothing would be disturbed; and he did not feel water runoff would be an 
issue with the proposed three homes.  Mr. Clark said on the back of the natural topography sloped 
away from Kensington Drive. 

 

 Ms. Rosario explained the natural topography of the whole area kind of went towards Weblin Street. 
 



3 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

 Mr. Pitts asked was there multi-family housing to the left of the property. 
 

 Mr. Clark said yes; there were a lot of apartments. 
 

 Ms. Rosario said there was Timberlane Apartments, and were probably over two hundred apartment 
units. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked was there a house on the proposed property. 
 

 Mr. Clark said there had originally been a house on the property, but it had been torn down years ago. 
 

 Mr. Kinard said then it had been vacant for a while now. 
 

 Mr. Clark said that was correct. 
 

 Mr. Kinard asked Staff how long the property had been vacant. 
 

 Ms. Rosario said she was not exactly sure; but she knew it had been at least a couple of years. 
 

Mr. Wilson asked if there were any more Board Member questions for Staff at this time. 
 

There were no more questions at this time. 
 

Ms. Rosario came forward again and showed a slide of the location map that depicted the zoning of 
proposed parcel and of the surrounding area; and also a slide of page 40 from the City’s Zoning Ordinance 
that showed the Table of Area and Dimensional Requirements regarding the different zones.  She 
explained the current zone of the property R-15 had a minimum lot square area of 15,000 sq. ft.; and the 
proposed zone R-12 had a minimum lot square area of 12,000 sq. ft.; and she said if the lot was split into 
three parcels it would still maintain about 15,500 to 16,000 sq. ft. of lot area.  The minimum lot size per 
dwelling unit in Zone R-15 was 15,000 sq. ft.; and was 10,000 sq. ft. in the R-12 zone.  Ms. Rosario 
explained what that meant was since none of these properties would exceed 20,000 sq. ft., there could only 
be one residential home built per lot.  Regarding the setbacks and maximum building coverage, in zone R-
15 the maximum building coverage was 25% of the total lot; and in R-12 the maximum building coverage 
was 35%; and that meant in R-12 zone there could be ten percent more house on the property.  Regarding 
the front setback line in R-15 was 40’ as opposed to 35’ front setback in R-12.  She explained the rear 
setback was 30’ in R-12; and the interior side was a 10’, so at minimum the houses would be about twenty 
feet from one another on their side, if they were that wide.  She showed a slide of a drawing which she 
explained was a rough sketch of the buildable area that a home could be built. She said the maximum 
building height would be no more than 35’ in the City of Spartanburg.  Ms. Rosario then went over the 
analysis of required findings and report the Planning Commissioners had previously received in their 
meeting packets that included the following list of criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when 
reviewing a rezoning request and Staff’s analysis of those criteria as follows: 
 

1. Consistency (or lack thereof) with the Comprehensive Plan – The 2004 Comprehensive Plan calls for 
this area to remain in low density residential, very similar to how the character of the neighborhood 
exists today.  Ms. Rosario said the proposed rezoning did not increase the density in terms of 
allowing for multi-family. 

 

2. Compatibility with the present zoning and conforming uses of nearby property and with the character 
of the neighborhood – Surrounding parcels to the East and West are zoned R-15: Single Family 
Residential, with an R-6: General Residential District zoned property to the immediate north.  Other 
parcels further north on Kensington Drive, and along John B. White Sr. Boulevard are zoned Limited 
Office District, General Business, and Neighborhood Commercial. 

 
 

3. Suitability of the property affected by the amendment for uses permitted by the district that would be 
made applicable by the proposed amendment – The property is suitable for the use of a single family 
home in the R-12 zoning district.  The minimum lot area for SFH in this zoning district is 12,000 
square feet – each lot will have anywhere from 15,500 to 16,500 square feet, which is the minimum 
required by the R-15 zone.  In the R-12 district only one residential unit is permitted per every 10,000 
square feet, so only one unit (no duplex or multifamily) is permitted on each lot.  The R-15 zoning 
district requires a front lot line length of 90 feet, which would only allow for two houses to be built 
after splitting the properties.  Ms. Rosario explained essentially what they were looking at here was 



4 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

instead of a ninety foot wide lot line; they would be looking at an eighty foot wide lot line; which 
would allow for the construction of one additional house. 

 

4. Marketability of the property affected by the amendment for uses permitted by the district applicable 
to the properties at the time of the proposed amendment – The rezoning of the property to R-12 will 
increase the marketability of the property, as it has sat vacant since the demolition of the previous 
single family home on this lot.  Staff has received inquiries regarding multi-family developments on 
this property, which is not permitted under R-15 or R-12, and would not be appropriate considering 
the character of the surrounding single family homes.  After developing the properties with homes, 
this property will increase in value, pay higher property tax, and add three homes to Kensington 
Drive. 

 

5. Availability of sewer, water and storm water facilities generally suitable and adequate for the 
proposed use – Both water and sanitary sewer services are available to this site.  Please note that the 
slope of this area runs off towards the north of the property and other surrounding properties, towards 
Weblin Drive.  She said for the record, there was no requirement for a single family construction to 
retain or detain any water on the property; she said that came into play for multi-family and 
commercial developments.  She felt something that would help regarding this was the petitioner had 
said something about not disturbing the buffer area and not tearing up the rear, allowing the water to 
continue to run off as it does today into the grass. 

 

Staff’s Analysis & Recommendation: 
 

Staff is of the opinion that the proposed zone change from R-15: Single Family Residential District to R-
12: General Residential District will be a beneficial and appropriate use for the area.  Therefore Staff 
recommends approval of the proposed zone change from R-15 to R-12. 
 

Ms. Rosario said for the record they did have two written public comments received in opposition of this 
request; the first was from Suzanne Proctor who lived at 354 Weblin Street whose property backed up to 
the proposed property on the side which was included in the Planning Commissioners Meeting Packets 
they had previously received, which she entered in to evidence as Exhibit A; and the other was from 
Bonnie Carter who lived at 105 Kensington Drive, which she entered into evidence as Exhibit B; both in 
protest of the request.  Ms. Carter’s concern was with the value of her property being affected. 
 

Planning Commission Questions/Comments: 
 

 Mr. Quillen asked Ms. Rosario if she would read Ms. Proctor’s written letter. 
 

 Ms. Rosario read the letter from Ms. Proctor to the Board Members and audience. 
 

 Dr. Stone said one of the main differences between the R-15/R-12 districts besides the general square 
footage requirements which it sounded like the petitioner was actually going to meet, was the street 
frontage which was 90’ vs. 80’.  Dr. Stone said other than that there did not appear to be much 
difference between the two zones; and they were both pretty restrictive zones. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said that was correct; and that R-12 was only slightly more flexible in that if you had a 
large enough lot, you could potentially do an accessory dwelling unit. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked Ms. Rosario if a bufferyard was only required regarding multi-family and 
commercial. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said that was correct; and she said there would not be a requirement for Mr. Clark, but 
there was a pretty strong existing buffer already there. 

 

 Mr. Kinard said he thought that bufferyard backed up to the property of the lady who had submitted 
the letter. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said that was correct. 
 

 Mr. Kinard referenced the slide again and asked if those were telephone or power poles on the 
property. 

 



5 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

 Ms. Rosario explained there were several poles on the property that provided services to the area. 
 

 Mr. Kinard asked about curb cuts; and there would need to be three separate entrances. 
 

 Ms. Rosario explained that was correct. 
 

 Mr. Cunningham said Ms. Proctor had referenced 106 Kensington Drive; and he said that was not her 
lot was it. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said it was not; it was an apartment; and Mrs. Proctor’s lot was 354 Weblin Street. 
 

Mr. Wilson asked if there were any more Planning Commissioner questions for Ms. Rosario at this time. 
There were no other questions at this time. 
 

Mr. Wilson opened the public hearing and asked anyone who wished to speak to come forward and state 
their name and address for the record. 
 

 Ms. Billi Willauer of 124 Kensington Drive came forward and said she was the President of the 
Kensington Drive Neighborhood Association and said the Association had requested her to ask that the 
request be tabled at tonight’s meeting and rescheduled at a future date, due to the fact that some of 
them had not been notified at all which she said were the two adjacent property owners; and also since 
the request was now changed, this was the first they had heard about it, and had not had time to 
understand what the change meant. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked Ms. Willauer if she was talking about the change from R-6 to the R-12. 
 

 Ms. Willauer said yes. 
 

 Ms. Rosario said the original letter had gone out 15 days ahead of time to the property owners and 
there was not enough time to notify the property owners since the request had just recently been 
amended. 

 

 Mr. Kinard said the R-6 zoning would have allowed the parcel to be split into five properties, with five 
single family homes; and the R-12 would allow three properties with three single family homes; and 
he asked Staff whether that was correct. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said that was correct. 
 

 Ms. Willauer said the original request letter was what the residents had received; but that Michael 
Hamlin that lived at 118 Kensington had not received his certified mail letter and that Donna Coggins 
who lived at 107 Kensington had not received anything from the City. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked were those sent out certified. 
 

 Ms. Rosario had her copies of the certified and regular mail letters that had been sent out regarding the 
request and said she had record of the certified mail letter that went out to Mr. Hamlin at 118 
Kensington Drive; and the regular mail letter that was sent to 107 Kensington Drive. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked Ms. Willauer if those two residents she had spoken of were not available to attend 
the meeting. 

 

 Ms. Willauer said Mr. Hamlin had a prior commitment and he was a single parent and was unable to 
get here; and she said the resident at 107 Kensington Drive was present if they wished to speak to that 
resident. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked to see Staff’s letters that went out. 
 

 Ms. Rosario showed Mr. Kinard the list of names and addresses that Staff had sent the certified and 
regular mail letters to. 

 

 Dr. Stone said he really did not think a motion to table right now was in order, since they were in the 
public hearing portion. 

 

 Mr. Kinard said what they had to go off of what had been provided by City Staff; and they showed the 
letters had been sent out. 



6 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

 

 Dr. Stone said R-12 was a considerably more restrictive zone than the original R-6; and this was a very 
minimal change from one to the other. 

 

 Ms. Willauer said they were not aware of what the rules were regarding the change; and she felt the 
people needed time to learn about what was going on. 

 

 Mr. Cunningham asked Ms. Willauer if the people that did not come tonight; did they not come 
because of the confusion or what. 

 

 Ms. Willauer said they did not come because they had a prior commitments. 
 

 Mr. Wilson said for the record just so everyone present understood that the original request was for the 
property to be rezoned from R-15 to R-6 which if passed would have split the property in to five lots 
and the ability to build five homes; and now the request had been changed to Zone R-12 which would 
only allow the property be split into three lots with three homes being built. 

 

 Mr. Kinard asked Ms. Rosario what was the precedent regarding a rezoning request if there was a 
change in the petition. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said the applicant could amend the request at any time; and the reason why they wanted to 
amend out loud was so that everyone present tonight would realize that an amendment had been made 
before the case was presented.  She explained that happened relatively frequently when there was a 
change Staff did not just stop everything and push it back to another date unless it was something 
drastic that would really change the proposal; then at that time Staff would stop and re-notice, etc. 

 

 Mr. David Jacobs of 355 Weblin Street came forward and said his address was at the corner; and there 
was definitely a water run-off problem.  He said they had developed lakes in their yard, and 
underneath his house stayed very moist.  He felt if three more homes were added it would cause an 
even bigger problem.  Mr. Jacobs felt two new homes would be enough as opposed to three.  He said 
his last concern was regarding price range; and he asked Mr. Clark what was the price range he 
planned to build on the lots. 

 

 Mr. Clark said he planned to build nice homes that ranged between $180,000.00 to $200,000.00 on the 
three lots. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said just as a pointed of order that all questions needed to be addressed to the Board 
during the public hearing portion of the meeting. 

 

 Mr. Wilson, the Chair explained to everyone to address any questions to the Board Members, and after 
everyone had a chance to voice their concerns, the Board Members would bring the applicant back up 
to address those concerns. 

 

 Mr. Jacobs continued his concerns regarding the request; and he said for a lot and house to be that 
small; he would not pay that price for it in that neighborhood.  He said they also had a lot of cut 
through of young adults through the area. 

 

 Mr. Wilson asked Mr. Jacobs would he not think since the lot was not occupied it may lend itself to 
more cut through traffic as opposed if there were some homes on the property. 

 

 Mr. Jacobs said he was glad he wanted to build some homes; and he was glad he was not planning on 
doing any rental properties.  He said his last questions was would it be a slab home, or modular or pre-
fab home or would it be a stick-built home. 

 

 Mr. Cunningham asked Mr. Jacobs where the runoff came from that was disturbing his property. 
 

 Mr. Jacobs referenced a slide of the properties and said it was coming from 116 Kensington Drive. 
 

 Mr. Cunningham asked did 118 and 120 Kensington Drive not contribute to his water problems. 
 

 Mr. Jacobs did not feel that the properties at 118 and 120 Kensington Drive contributed to his water 
problems. 

 



7 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

 Mary Haymond came forward and said she and her husband lived at 111 Kensington Drive that was  
right across the street from the proposed property.  She said her first inclination that someone had 
purchased the property was that all of a sudden a lot of beautiful pine trees were cut down; and the 
trees were still laying there.  Ms. Haymond described their neighborhood and how the neighbors felt 
about where they lived for the applicant; and she informed him the neighborhood would feel a lot 
better if he would only build two homes as the current zoning allowed as opposed to three homes. 

 

 Ms. Willauer of 124 Kensington Drive that spoke earlier came forward again and said they were all 
concerned with the value of their homes being affected; she explained that Ms. Suzanne Proctor had 
also wanted her to relay that she had a lot of problem with water run-off at her house as well, and that 
her basement had to be refurbished several times because of water runoff, and she mentioned a picture 
Ms. Rosario had where you could not see the slope so much if you were viewing it from the front side; 
but if you walked to the back side there was a nice slope.  She said she did not know what they could 
do to address that issue.  She also spoke about sewer backup problems from houses that were on down 
the hill on that same side; and she said the City had to send a sewer pumping truck out to address the 
issue a couple of times a year at 118 and 120 Kensington Drive.  She said it was not a plumbing 
problem, and that it was on the sewer side of the City.  Ms. Willauer said they were not opposed to a 
couple of homes being built there and she thought it was a wonderful idea.  They want the homes to fit 
in with the neighborhood and don’t want them to cause any more problems than what there already 
was in the neighborhood.  All of the run-off problems started when they had built the Timberlane 
Apartments; which also added a lot of traffic to the area.  There was also the Promised Land located in 
the area.  She said the sewer and the runoff were the big issues. 

 

 A lady that said she lived at 355 Weblin came forward and said she concurred that two houses would 
be more appropriate than three or five houses.  She also had sewer problems, water under the house, 
and mold and mildew problems.  She said it had not been an issue until the last couple of years.  She 
has lived there for fourteen years.  She said she has called the police a lot of times regarding people 
shooting firecrackers and guns in the area. 

 

 Mr. Haymond of 111 Kensington Drive came forward and said his wife had already spoke, but he felt 
any new homes should be built according to the existing code in the area; and if the code said they 
could only build two homes, that is what he felt they should build.  He felt the zoning was there for 
protection of homeowners. 

 

 A lady that said she lived at 119 Kensington Drive came forward and said she was also representing 
her in-laws that lived at 117 Kensington Drive.  She was not opposed to having two new single family 
dwellings, but she felt that three could be too many.  She was concerned about having a little space 
between her and the next proposed property owner. 

 

 Councilmember Sterling Anderson came forward and thanked the Planning Commissioners and Staff 
for what they did for the City.  He also thanked all of the members of the neighborhood for coming out 
and voicing their concerns.  He said he was glad that the Chair pointed out and explained the request 
had been originally to build five new homes, and now it had been amended to three homes.  Mr. 
Anderson said this was a very nice neighborhood, and they had seen encroachments, etc. from 
commercial developers as well as multifamily.  He said he was relying on the fact that the petitioner 
was a licensed contractor and home builder in the state of S.C. and would have to comply with all the 
restrictions the City would put on a builder in the City.  He said they were glad to have new homes in 
the City.  Mr. Anderson said he rode out by the property today and there was a lot of trees that had 
been torn down.  He said perhaps the contractor would be willing to put up a fence as a barrier as well.  
He concluded his statement by saying he was a little surprised that the request had been amended and 
it was not re-notice and the property owners were not notified of the change. 

 

 Mrs. Haymond of 111 Kensington Drive that spoke earlier came forward again and said that Mr. 
Hamlin that lived right across the street from the property had told her and Ms. Willauer when they 
were going door to door trying to inform people about the request; had acted very surprised and 
concerned that a meeting was being held; and said he did not receive anything in the mail; and she said 
he was one of the people who supposedly received a certified mail letter. 

 



8 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

 Dr. Stone said he sometimes received a certified mail letter card in his box and it might take him a 
week to go and pick up the letter. 

 

 Mr. Kinard said as Councilmember Anderson had mentioned; regarding a change in the request not 
being re-noticed and letters sent back out; he asked Staff about that. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said from her experience on this Board and other Boards Staff would periodically receive 
verbal amendments right before a meeting. 

 

 City Manager Chris Story came forward and explained the principal that mattered the most in this case 
was the change moved for the better regarding the request.  He said if there had been a change that 
would take the application in a more intense direction they would definitely have re-advertised and 
property owners re-noticed. 

 

 Dr. Stone asked Ms. Rosario if this request was approved at tonight’s meeting, would it be re-
advertised and re-noticed to property owners before it went for another Public Hearing and First 
Reading of Ordinance by City Council. 

 

 Ms. Rosario said it would be re-advertised; and that normally in the property owner letter they 
indicated if the request was approved, when it would go to City Council; but in this case if it would 
make the homeowners feel better, they would re-notice all the letters again. 

 

 Mrs. Roland said if the request was approved tonight; it would go for another Public Hearing and First 
Reading of Ordinance at the November 12th City Council Meeting; and if it was approved at that 
meeting it would then go for a Second Reading on November 26, 2018. 

 

 Mr. Wilson, the Chair informed everyone in the audience that regardless of what happened at tonight’s 
meeting if it were to be approved, that it would need to go before City Council twice.  He also 
informed everyone it if was not approved tonight, the applicant would have two weeks in which to file 
an appeal and take the request directly to City Council. 

 

 Mr. Cunningham asked Staff about one of the slides of the property that had a sign on it; and asked 
Staff it the sign had been posted regarding tonight’s meeting. 

 

 Ms. Rosario explained that it did; and if the request was approved at tonight’s meeting, the sign would 
be changed out to reflect the City Council Meeting Date and time. 

 

Mr. Wilson asked was there anyone else who wished to speak regarding the request to come forward.  No 
one else came forward.  Mr. Wilson closed the public hearing; and asked the applicant to come forward 
again. 
 

Board Questions: 
 

 Mr. Wilson asked the Applicant if the request was approved tonight; would the proposed homes be 
built slabs on grade, or would they be crawl spaces. 

 

 Mr. Clark said they would be crawl spaces. 
 

 Mr. Wilson asked the Applicant if the homes would be stick built construction. 
 

 Mr. Clark said yes. 
 

 Dr. Stone asked the Applicant if he was planning on hiring a licensed contractor to build the homes. 
 

 Mr. Clark said yes. 
 

 Mr. Cunningham said Mr. Clark had mentioned earlier the homes would be comparable or similar to 
the ones in the area; and he asked him if he knew the average square feet of the homes in that 
neighborhood or in particular the house next door. 

 

 Mr. Clark said he was told by the real estate agent he had dealt with that the homes next door had 
about 1400 square feet.  He said in his opinion none of the homes in the area looked to over 1600 
square feet.   Mr. Clark then talked about the trees on the property; that those were pretty big trees 
that would need to come down regarding safety issues.  He certainly understands everyone’s 



9 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

concerns; and he wanted to be a good neighbor.  He did not plan to build any homes that would stick 
out, and would be comparable to the area. 

 

 Dr. Stone asked the Applicant if he had any consideration of which way he would orient the homes to 
the street. 

 

 Mr. Clark said the homes would be more long than they would be wide; with him going with the three 
homes; they would still have the garage coming right off Kensington; and they would still be built the 
same way.  He really did not think bad neighbors would be able to afford the homes. 

 

 Mr. Pitts asked about the number of bedrooms. 
 

 Mr. Clark said they would be three bedrooms; and now that he had cut it down to three homes, he 
may even build a bonus room over the garage. 

 

 Mr. Wilson asked would his intent be to provide fenced in yards at this point. 
 

 Mr. Clark said that was not his intent with reducing the number of homes to three.  Originally, he 
would have considered that with five homes. 

 

Mr. Wilson asked were there any other Board Questions for the Applicant.  There were no more. 
 

Board Comments/Deliberation: 
 

 Mr. Kinard said he would give his thoughts on the request and considering the incredible turn out 
from the neighborhood, and it was very clear that they were all proud and concerned about the 
neighborhood.  He said he was somewhat concerned about the density regarding how these homes 
would be placed; and he said he would be inclined to go one way if this request was affecting the 
marketability of the property; and as it stood he could build two homes with the current zoning.  He 
said looking at the surrounding properties that three single family homes on the one lot would not be 
in conformity with the surrounding area. 

 

 Mr. Quillen asked the Chair if he could ask a question of Staff. 
 

 Mr. Wilson said he could. 
 

 Mr. Quillen asked Staff what would have been Staff’s Recommendation if the request had stayed at 
the R-6 zone. 

 

 Ms. Rosario explained with their being five new homes proposed in the City, she would have 
recommended approval; but after receiving early comment from the neighbors, she decided it would 
be better to go with the R-12 zone and with the three homes. 

 

 Mr. Wilson said in his opinion after going through all of the concerns that had been brought up; he 
thought with a lot of the problems they had with people walking through yards, and bad activity that 
he thought that lots with single family homes would help to reduce some of those problems.  He said 
regarding the stormwater and sewer back up regarding two homes versus three that he did not see 
there would be that much difference.  He emphasized with the neighbors and concerns with the traffic 
problems, but he did not see there would be much difference between the two homes versus the three 
homes either.  He said with the lot widths that had been mentioned 90’ versus 80’ was not that much 
different.  He said a vacant unmanaged lot did not favors for a neighborhood versus an owner 
occupied single family home. 

 

 Dr. Stone said he always listened when a lot of neighbors came in to a meeting; but he was very much 
in agreement with the Chair. 

 

 Mr. Wilson said they understood the concerns and with the points that had been made the City had 
followed the requirements regarding a meeting; and that sometimes if a certified letter was sent out 
sometimes it did take a few days to go to the post office box and pick the letter up; but the property 
was posted two weeks in advance of the meeting. 

 

 Mr. Cunningham said he agreed that the notification had been sufficient and the fact that they were 
going to a lower density would be better.  He said some of the concerns that were listed he was not 



10 
Spartanburg City Planning Commission Minutes – October 18, 2018 

sure was related to the development that was proposed.  He assumed things like sewer capacity was 
there but he does understand their concerns 

. 

 Mr. Pitts agreed; and felt it would be a completion of the neighborhood rather than a distraction. 
 

Dr. Stone moved approval of the request as submitted; and he was seconded by Mr. Wilson.  The motion 
was approved by a vote of 5 to 1, with Mr. Kinard in opposition. 
 

Ms. Rosario explained for the record again; there would be another Public Hearing and First Reading of 
Ordinance held by the Mayor and City Council on Monday, November 12, 2018 at 5:30 P.M., and the 
request would be re-advertised for that meeting; all property owners would be re-noticed and a new sign 
would be posted on the property.  She further explained if the request received approval at that meeting, 
there would be a Second and Final reading on Monday, November 26, 2018. 
 

Site and Landscape Plans Approved (information purposes only) since the July 19, 2018 Meeting. 
 

 Terminix – 102 Warbirds Blvd. 
 

City Council Updates (FYI) Since Last Mtg. of Planning Commission on July 19, 2018 Meeting. 
 

Ms. Rosario went over the updates that were listed on the Agenda. 
 

Staff Announcements 
- 

 Ms. Roland updated the Board Members on the Continuing Education Training that would be held and 
hosted tomorrow on Friday, October 19, 2018 in the City Hall Basement Training Room. 

 

 Ms. Roland congratulated the new City Manager on his new Title since their last meeting. 
 

 City Manager Chris Story informed the Board Members at the next Design Review Board Meeting that 
would be held on Tuesday, November 6, 2018, there would be an informational item included on the 
meeting Agenda where a Representative from the SCDOT would be there to give an updates on what 
the new restrictions were regarding allowable plant material in the right-of-way which would affect 
street edge treatment in the City that would be developed in the right-of-way; and he thought it might 
be of interest to the Planning Commissioners. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 7:05 P.M. 
 

                                         Respectfully Submitted 
 
 

                                                          ________________________ 
                                                                                                                                                   Jared Wilson, Chair 
Minutes by Julie Roland, Administrative Assistant 



 
 

 

 

February 8, 2018 
 
Franklin Avenue Apartments – Annexation Request Narrative 
 
Berkley Hall Companies is requesting annexation into the City of Spartanburg for undeveloped property 
off Franklin Avenue behind the Hobby Lobby shopping center and adjacent to Interstate-26.  Berkley 
Hall Companies is under contract to purchase the property from the current property owner, Deanne 
Yeomans, Trustee.  Berkley Hall Companies is proposing a multi-family apartment development 
consisting of twelve (12) three story buildings totaling 288 units, amenities, and open space. They are 
seeking annexation into the City of Spartanburg to take advantage of higher density units per acre 
allowed in the R-6 PDD code.  The site is currently under the jurisdiction of Spartanburg County.  The 
county land development standards limit multi-family density for this property to 8 units/acre.  The 
developer is proposing 16.6 units/acre which is an allowed density under the R-6 PDD code.     
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



City of Spartanburg  440 South Church Street, Suite A Spartanburg  South Carolina  29306 
864-596-2068          (FAX) 864-596-2360 

 

 
  

Planning Department 
440 S Church St. 

 Rm 112 & 113, Suite A 
Spartanburg, SC 29306 

P.O. Drawer 1749 
Spartanburg, SC 29304 

(864) 596-2071 
(864) 596-2068 
(864) 596-2360 

www.cityofspartanburg.org 
DEPARTMENTAL MEMO 

 
To:  All Planning Commissioners 
From:  Natalia Rosario, Planning Staff 
  Planning Department 
 
Subject: Zoning Classification/Annexation:  TMS#6-20-03, Parcels 090.00 & 089.00.  

Located on 110 & ‘0” Franklin Avenue and that portion of Franklin Avenue 
abutting said properties. 

 
Date:  12.20.2018 
Friday, December 14, 2018 

APPLICATION SUMMARY 

 
Under South Carolina State Law relating to annexation, the Planning commission must 

“sign off” on the zoning of the properties that are proposed to be annexed into the City of 
Spartanburg. The City has received a 100% annexation petition from Rick Thoennes, 
developer, on behalf of the landowner, Deanne Yeomans, Trustee, in order to develop upon 
the lots a multi-family apartment development consisting of twelve, three story buildings 
totaling 288 units. The property is requested to be annexed and developed under the R-6: PDD 
code, which permits the development of the property at an approximate 16.6 units per acre, 
whereas the Spartanburg County Land Development Codes will only permit the development 
of the site at 8 units per acre. This property is not contemplated by the 2004 Comprehensive 
Plan, and is adjacent to single-family homes as well as being bounded by I-26 to the East. 

 
The proposed developers have had a Transportation Impact Analysis (attached) conducted 

for the property if developed as proposed, with the results of the study as follows: the total of 
trips per day are expected to reach 1,869 with 142 trips in the AM peak and 176 trips in the PM 
peak. The analysis found that additional auxiliary turn lanes or improvements were not 
needed, and that at peak levels of service remain in the “A” and “B” categories of traffic 
conditions. In terms of delay at intersections, the highest expected amount of delay is 10.4 
seconds at Franklin Avenue and Azalea Court. 

 
Staff is satisfied that the use of the property and those allowed under the R-6: PDD (flex 

multi-family residential and accompanying uses) are appropriate for this zone. Please note that 



City of Spartanburg  201 Caulder Avenue, Wing D Spartanburg  South Carolina  29306 
864-596-2068          (FAX) 864-596-2360 

 
 

2

the lot is currently vacant, and the developer has provided preliminary civil site plans, and 
intends to meet or exceed City of Spartanburg buffer standards (this is not required when 
adjacent to unincorporated properties, but the developer wishes to provide said buffer to 
existing property owners and residents, as well as for the security of the property. 

 
This item came before the Planning Commission in February of 2018, and was voted to 

recommend favorably to City Council. At that time the original developer rescinded his 
application and the project has not moved forward until now. 

 
 
CC: 
FILES 

 
 
 



City of Spartanburg  201 Caulder Avenue, Wing D Spartanburg  South Carolina  29306 
864-596-2068          (FAX) 864-596-2360 

 
 

3 

 



This report is printed on recycled paper with 30% post-consumer content.
All paper is FSC Certified. The entire document, including binding, is 100% recyclable.

TRANSPORTATION IMPACT ANALYSIS

February 7, 2018

Franklin Avenue Apartments
Spartanburg, SC

Prepared for 
Berkley Hall Companies

Project #: 175019





 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 1 

Franklin Avenue Apartments – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Prepared for Berkley Hall Companies 
Spartanburg, SC 
February 7, 2018 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1.0  Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 2 
Figure 1 – Site Plan ................................................................................................................. 3 
Figure 2A – Site Location Map ............................................................................................... 4 
Figure 2B – Site Vicinity Map ................................................................................................. 5 

2.0  Existing Conditions ............................................................................................................. 6 
2.1 Inventory .............................................................................................................................. 6 
2.2 Existing Traffic Volumes ................................................................................................... 7 
Figure 3 – Existing Lane Geometry ....................................................................................... 8 
Figure 4 – 2018 Existing Traffic Volumes ............................................................................ 9 

3.0  Approved Developments and Committed Improvements .............................................. 10 
3.1 Background Growth ......................................................................................................... 10 
3.2 Committed Improvements .............................................................................................. 10 

4.0  Methodology ...................................................................................................................... 10 
4.1 Base Assumptions and Standards ................................................................................ 10 
4.2 Trip Generation ................................................................................................................ 11 
4.3 Trip Distribution ................................................................................................................ 11 
4.4 Future No Build Traffic .................................................................................................... 11 
4.5 Total Traffic ....................................................................................................................... 11 
Figure 5 – Trip Distribution ................................................................................................... 12 
Figure 6 – 2020 Future No Build Volumes ......................................................................... 13 
Figure 7 – Site Trips .............................................................................................................. 14 
Figure 8 – 2020 Future Build Volumes ............................................................................... 15 

5.0  Capacity Analysis .............................................................................................................. 16 
5.1 Level of Service Evaluation Criteria .............................................................................. 16 
5.2 Level of Service Results ................................................................................................. 17 
5.3 Level of Service Summary ............................................................................................. 18 
Figure 9 – Recommended Improvements .......................................................................... 19 

6.0  Summary and Conclusion ................................................................................................ 20 
Appendix .................................................................................................................................... 21 

Level of Service Analysis .................................................................................................. 22 
Trip Generation ................................................................................................................... 25 
Traffic Volume Data ........................................................................................................... 26 

 



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 2 

Franklin Avenue Apartments – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Prepared for Berkley Hall Companies 
Spartanburg, SC 
February 7, 2018 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 

An apartment development is proposed off of Franklin Avenue in Spartanburg County, 
SC. The site is located east of Franklin Avenue, west of Interstate 26, and north of the 
HH Gregg / Hobby Lobby shopping center.  The development would consist of 288 
apartment units with one access off of Franklin Avenue, located just north of the back-
service entrance to the shopping center.  A secondary access would be constructed 
opposite Floyd Circle, but is planned for use by emergency vehicles only.  The 
preliminary site plan for the development is shown in Figure 1. Figures 2A and 2B 
shows the site location and vicinity. 
 

DAVENPORT   was   retained   to   determine   the   potential   traffic   impacts   of   
this development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 
 

• Franklin Avenue at Azalea Court 
• Franklin Avenue at the Main site access 

 

The above-mentioned intersections were analyzed for the following 
scenarios: 
 

• 2018 Existing Conditions 
• 2020 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2020 Future Build-Out Conditions 
• 2020 Future Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 

 

The build-out analysis year for this project is assumed to be 2020. The AM (7 am – 9 
am) and PM (4 pm – 6 pm) weekday peaks were studied.  Information regarding the 
properties was provided by Berkley Hall Companies. 



FIGURE 1A 
FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS SITE PLAN 

  

Site Access  Emergency Access 



FIGURE 2A 
SITE LOCATION MAP 

 

 

SITE INDICATOR 

  

SITE 

 



FIGURE 2B 
VICINITY MAP 

STUDY INTERSECTIONS 
EXISTING 
PROPOSED 

 



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 6 

 
2.0 Existing Conditions 
 

2.1 Inventory 
 

An investigation was conducted to determine the existing roadway conditions in the 
study area.  At its signalized intersection with US 29, Franklin Avenue is a multi-lane 
section with turn lanes in each direction.  North of the shopping center access points, 
Franklin Avenue narrows to a two-lane roadway.  From Azalea Drive to the back-service 
entrance to the shopping center, Franklin Avenue is roughly 34 feet wide. 
 

 
 



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 7 

North of where the main access to the apartments is proposed, the roadway narrows to 
roughly 20 feet wide and services a residential area. 
 

 
 
The Azalea Court / Franklin Street intersection provides one lane approaches for all 
directions, with stop control on the eastbound (Azalea Court) approach.  Figure 3 
illustrates the existing lane geometry. 

 
 

2.2 Existing Traffic Volumes 
 
Existing traffic volumes for this project were collected by Traffic Data Connection staff.  
Table 2.1 below contains the dates these counts were conducted. Figure 4 shows 
existing AM and PM peak hour volumes. The full reports for these volumes can be 
found in the appendix. 
 

Table 2.1- Traffic Volume Data 

Count Location: Date Taken: By: 

Franklin Avenue at Azalea Court 1/25/2018 Traffic Data Connection 

 



*** NOT TO SCALE ***
PROJECT NUMBER 175019

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

FIGURE 3
EXISTING LANE

GEOMETRY

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

SPEED
LIMIT

25

SPEED
LIMIT

25

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

N
o

rt
h

 B
la

ck
st

o
ck

 R
o

ad



*** NOT TO SCALE ***

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

FIGURE 4 
EXISTING 

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

BLACK = EXISTING

BLUE = PROPOSED

3 / 4

56 / 74
0 

/ 2

29
 / 

29

74 / 96

29 / 35

PROJECT NUMBER 175019

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

SPEED
LIMIT

25



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 10 

3.0 Approved Developments and Committed Improvements 
 

3.1 Background Growth 
 

There are no SCDOT count stations on Franklin Avenue or Azalea Court, as they are 
County facilities.  The closest SCDOT count stations, on US 29, indicates moderate 
growth in traffic volume over the past 5 years (2-3% per year).  Background growth on 
Franklin Avenue should be minimal given the location and lack of connection.  To 
estimate the no-build volumes, a 2% annual growth rate is applied. 
 

3.2 Committed Improvements 
 

There are no approved roadway improvements planned in the immediate vicinity of this 
project.  
 
 

4.0 Methodology  
 

4.1 Base Assumptions and Standards 
 

In general, the analysis for this project was conducted utilizing commonly accepted 
SCDOT standards.  The following table contains a summary of the base assumptions: 
 

Table 4.1 - Assumptions 

Peak Hour Factor 0.90 

Background Traffic Annual Growth Rate 2.0% per year for all roadways 

Analysis Software Synchro/SimTraffic Version 9.0 

Truck percentages 2% 
 



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 11 

 

4.2 Trip Generation 
 

The Franklin Avenue apartment development is proposed to consist of 288 apartment 
units. The approximate trip generation potential for each was computed using TripGen 
2013 software, based on the 9th Edition of ITE Trip Generation Manual.  Table 4.2 
contains the trip generation results. 
 

Table 4.2 - ITE Trip Generation  

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes 
24 Hour AM Peak 

Hour 
PM Peak 

Hour Two-Way 

Land Use 
ITE Land 

Code 
Size Volume Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Apartments 220 288 
Dwelling 

Units 
1,869 29 116 114 62 

Total Trips 1,869 29 116 114 62 
 
4.3 Trip Distribution 
 
All site trips are assumed to enter and exit via the main access point.  The secondary 
access point at Floyd Circle is planned to allow emergency vehicles only.  At Azalea 
Court, the site trips are distributed based on the existing patterns.  The site trip 
directional distributions, as shown in Figure 5, are as follows: 
 

• 80% to and from the south on Franklin Avenue 
• 20% to and from the west on Azalea Court 

 
4.4 Future No Build Traffic 
 
The 2020 future no build traffic volumes were computed by applying a 2.0% 
compounded annual growth rate to the 2018 existing traffic volumes. Figure 6 
shows the 2020 future no build traffic volumes for AM and PM peaks. 
 
4.5 Total Traffic 
 
The 2020 build-out traffic volumes were obtained by summing 2020 future no build 
volumes and site trips due to the proposed project. Site trips are shown in Figure 7. 
The resulting build volume totals for AM and PM peaks are shown in Figure 8.  
 



*** NOT TO SCALE ***

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

FIGURE 5
TRIP 

DISTRIBUTION

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

BLACK = EXISTING

BLUE = PROPOSED

IN = ENTERING

OUT = EXITING

DESTINATION

NODE
%

20%

20% IN

20
%

 O
U

T
80%

IN

PROJECT NUMBER 175019

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

Site Access

80%

80
%

 O
U

T
100%

IN

100% OUT



*** NOT TO SCALE ***

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

FIGURE 6 
2020 FUTURE NO 
BUILD VOLUMES

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

BLACK = EXISTING

BLUE = PROPOSED

3 / 4

59 / 79
0 

/ 2

31
 / 

31

79 / 102

31 / 37

PROJECT NUMBER 175019

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

SPEED
LIMIT

25



*** NOT TO SCALE ***

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

FIGURE 7 
SITE TRIPS

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

BLACK = EXISTING

BLUE = PROPOSED

6 / 23

0 / 0

23
 / 

12

93
 / 

50
0 / 0

23 / 91

PROJECT NUMBER 175019

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

SPEED
LIMIT

25

Site Access

29 / 114

0 / 0

116 / 62

0 / 0



*** NOT TO SCALE ***

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

FIGURE 8 
2020 FUTURE 

BUILD VOLUMES

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

0 
/ 0

32
 / 

34 BLACK = EXISTING

BLUE = PROPOSED

9 / 27

59 / 79

23
 / 

14

12
4 

/ 8
1

79 / 102

54 / 128

PROJECT NUMBER 175019

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

SPEED
LIMIT

25

Site Access

29 / 114

35 / 43

116 / 62

0 / 0



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 16 

5.0 Capacity Analysis 
 

5.1 Level of Service Evaluation Criteria 
 

The Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) utilizes a term 
“level of service” to measure how traffic operates in intersections and on roadway 
segments.  There are currently six levels of service ranging from A to F.  Level of 
service “A” represents the best conditions and Level of Service “F” represents the worst.  
Synchro Traffic Modeling software was used to determine the level of service for studied 
intersections.  Note for unsignalized intersection analysis, the level of service noted is 
for the worst approach of the intersection.  This is typically the left turn movement for 
the side street approach, due to the number of opposing movements.  All worksheet 
reports from the analyses can be found in the Appendix.   
 

 

Table 5.1 – Highway Capacity Manual 

Levels of Service and Control Delay Criteria 

Signalized Intersection Unsignalized Intersection 

Level of Service Control Delay Per vehicle (sec) Level of Service 
Delay Range 

(sec) 

A  10 A  10 

B  10 and  20 B  10 and  15 

C  20 and  35 C  15 and  25 

D  35 and  55 D  25 and  35 

E  55 and  80 E  35 and  50 

F  80 F  50 



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 17 

5.2 Level of Service Results 
 
The results of the study are discussed by intersection below: 
 
Franklin Avenue at Azalea Court 
 
It is anticipated that this Azalea Court approach to Franklin Avenue will operate at LOS 
A in the AM peak hour and LOS B in the PM peak hour under future build conditions.  
No changes are recommended. 
 
 
Franklin Avenue at Main site access 
 
It is anticipated that this unsignalized intersection will operate at LOS A in the AM and 
PM peak hours under future build conditions.   
 
A turn lane analysis was conducted for this site access point based on turn lane criteria 
in the SCDOT Highway Design Manual 2003.  Based on SCDOT turn lane criteria and 
projected traffic volumes, a right turn lane is not warranted at the access. It is 
recommended that this access be designed according to Spartanburg County 
standards. 
 
 
Figure 9 illustrates the recommended lane configurations.  
 
 



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 18 

 
5.3 Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 5.2 presents the summary of the level of service analysis. 
 

Table 5.2 - Level of Service Summary 

AM Peak 2018 
Existing 

2020 Future 
No Build 

2020 Future 
Build  

Franklin Avenue at Azalea Court A (8.8)        
EB Approach 

A (8.8)         
EB Approach 

A (9.7)          
EB Approach 

Franklin Avenue at Site Access     
A (9.6)          

WB Approach 

PM Peak 2018 
Existing 

2020 Future 
No Build 

2020 Future 
Build  

Franklin Avenue at Azalea Court A (8.9)        
EB Approach 

A (8.9)         
EB Approach 

B (10.4)         
EB Approach 

Franklin Avenue at Site Access     
A (9.6)          

WB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 



*** NOT TO SCALE ***

SIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

UNSIGNALIZED

INTERSECTION

TRAFFIC MOVEMENT

ROADWAY

LEGEND

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, is
intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared.
Reuse of, or improper reliance on, this document by others without written
authorization and adaptation by DAVENPORT shall be without liability to
DAVENPORT and shall be a violation of the agreement between DAVENPORT
and the client.

BLACK = EXISTING

BLUE = PROPOSED

PROJECT NUMBER 175019

FRANKLIN AVENUE APARTMENTS

SPARTANBURG, SC

Azalea Court

F
ra

n
kl

in
 A

ve
n

u
e

SPEED
LIMIT

25

Site Access

FIGURE 9
RECOMMENDED
IMPROVEMENTS

Construct site access in accordance with 
Spartanburg County standards



 

 
2/7/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 20 

 
6.0 Summary and Conclusion  
 
An apartment development is proposed off of Franklin Avenue in Spartanburg County, 
SC. The site is located east of Franklin Avenue, west of Interstate 26, and north of the 
HH Gregg / Hobby Lobby shopping center.  The development would consist of 288 
apartment units with one access off of Franklin Avenue, located just north of the back-
service entrance to the shopping center.  A secondary access would be constructed 
opposite Floyd Circle, but is planned for use by emergency vehicles only.   
 

The trip generation indicates that the development is expected to generate a total of 
1,869 trips per day with 143 trips in the AM peak and 176 trips in the PM peak.  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  
 
Overall, the traffic analysis indicates adequate capacity at the study intersections.  All 
study intersections are expected to operate at LOS A/B during full build out of the 
development.   
 
Turn lane analyses were conducted at the study intersections.  Based on SCDOT turn 
lane criteria and projected traffic volumes, auxiliary turn lanes are not warranted. 
 
In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and 
proposed development traffic, and has determined that there will be adequate capacity 
with the build-out of this site. Please note that the site access points should be designed 
according to Spartanburg County standards. 
 



 

 
2/14/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 21 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendix 

 



 

 
2/14/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Level of Service Analysis 



 

 
2/14/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Franklin Avenue at Azalea Court 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HCM 2010 TWSC
100: Franklin Ave & Azalea Ct 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2018 AM 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 56 74 29 29 0
Future Vol, veh/h 3 56 74 29 29 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 3 61 80 32 32 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 224 32 32 0 - 0
          Stage 1 32 - - - - -
          Stage 2 192 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 764 1042 1580 - - -
          Stage 1 991 - - - - -
          Stage 2 841 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 724 1042 1580 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 724 - - - - -
          Stage 1 991 - - - - -
          Stage 2 797 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.8 5.3 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1580 - 1019 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.051 - 0.063 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 8.8 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 0.2 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC
100: Franklin Ave & Azalea Ct 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2020 AM No Build 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 59 79 31 31 0
Future Vol, veh/h 3 59 79 31 31 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 3 64 86 34 34 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 239 34 34 0 - 0
          Stage 1 34 - - - - -
          Stage 2 205 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 749 1039 1578 - - -
          Stage 1 988 - - - - -
          Stage 2 829 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 707 1039 1578 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 707 - - - - -
          Stage 1 988 - - - - -
          Stage 2 783 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.8 5.3 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1578 - 1016 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.054 - 0.066 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 8.8 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 0.2 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC
100: Franklin Ave & Azalea Ct 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2020 AM Build Out 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 59 79 54 124 23
Future Vol, veh/h 9 59 79 54 124 23
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 10 64 86 59 135 25
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 377 147 160 0 - 0
          Stage 1 147 - - - - -
          Stage 2 230 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 625 900 1419 - - -
          Stage 1 880 - - - - -
          Stage 2 808 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 586 900 1419 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 586 - - - - -
          Stage 1 880 - - - - -
          Stage 2 757 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.7 4.6 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1419 - 840 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.061 - 0.088 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 0 9.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 0.3 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC
100: Franklin Ave & Azalea Ct 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2018 PM 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.9

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 74 96 35 29 2
Future Vol, veh/h 4 74 96 35 29 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 4 80 104 38 32 2
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 280 33 34 0 - 0
          Stage 1 33 - - - - -
          Stage 2 247 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 710 1041 1578 - - -
          Stage 1 989 - - - - -
          Stage 2 794 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 662 1041 1578 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 662 - - - - -
          Stage 1 989 - - - - -
          Stage 2 741 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.9 5.5 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1578 - 1011 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.066 - 0.084 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.4 0 8.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 0.3 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC
100: Franklin Ave & Azalea Ct 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2020 PM No Build 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.9

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 79 102 37 31 2
Future Vol, veh/h 4 79 102 37 31 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 4 86 111 40 34 2
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 297 35 36 0 - 0
          Stage 1 35 - - - - -
          Stage 2 262 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 694 1038 1575 - - -
          Stage 1 987 - - - - -
          Stage 2 782 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 644 1038 1575 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 644 - - - - -
          Stage 1 987 - - - - -
          Stage 2 726 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.9 5.5 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1575 - 1008 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.07 - 0.09 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 8.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 0.3 - -



HCM 2010 TWSC
100: Franklin Ave & Azalea Ct 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2020 PM Build Out 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 27 79 102 128 81 14
Future Vol, veh/h 27 79 102 128 81 14
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 29 86 111 139 88 15
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 457 96 103 0 - 0
          Stage 1 96 - - - - -
          Stage 2 361 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 562 960 1489 - - -
          Stage 1 928 - - - - -
          Stage 2 705 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 516 960 1489 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 516 - - - - -
          Stage 1 928 - - - - -
          Stage 2 648 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.4 3.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1489 - 787 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.074 - 0.146 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 10.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 0.5 - -



 

 
2/14/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Franklin Avenue at Site Access 



HCM 2010 TWSC
200: Franklin Ave & Main Access 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2020 AM Build Out 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 116 0 35 29 0 32
Future Vol, veh/h 116 0 35 29 0 32
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 126 0 38 32 0 35
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 89 54 0 0 70 0
          Stage 1 54 - - - - -
          Stage 2 35 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 912 1013 - - 1531 -
          Stage 1 969 - - - - -
          Stage 2 987 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 912 1013 - - 1531 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 912 - - - - -
          Stage 1 969 - - - - -
          Stage 2 987 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.6 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 912 1531 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.138 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.6 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.5 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC
200: Franklin Ave & Main Access 02/02/2018

Franklin Ave Apartments 2020 PM Build Out 
Jeff Ingham, PE

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.4

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 62 0 43 114 0 34
Future Vol, veh/h 62 0 43 114 0 34
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 67 0 47 124 0 37
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 146 109 0 0 171 0
          Stage 1 109 - - - - -
          Stage 2 37 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 846 945 - - 1406 -
          Stage 1 916 - - - - -
          Stage 2 985 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 846 945 - - 1406 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 846 - - - - -
          Stage 1 916 - - - - -
          Stage 2 985 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.6 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 846 1406 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.08 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.6 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0 -



 

 
2/14/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Trip Generation 



Trip Generation Summary

Open Date:

Analysis Date:

1/26/2018

1/26/2018Project: Franklin Ave

Alternative:

 

Alternative 1

Phase:

ITE Land Use Enter Exit Enter ExitEnter Exit TotalTotal Total ***

Weekday Average Daily Trips
Weekday AM Peak Hour of

Adjacent Street Traffic
Weekday PM Peak Hour of

Adjacent Street Traffic

220 APT 1

288 Dwelling Units

 935 934 1869  29 116 145  114 62 176

Unadjusted Volume 935 934 1869 29 116 145 114 62 176

Internal Capture Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

935 934 1869 29 116 145 114 62 176

Pass-By Trips

Volume Added to Adjacent Streets

Total Weekday Average Daily Trips Internal Capture = 0 Percent

Total Weekday AM Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic Internal Capture = 0 Percent

Total Weekday PM Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic Internal Capture = 0 Percent

P. 1TRIP GENERATION 2014,  TRAFFICWARE, LLC

Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers,  Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition, 2012

- Custom rate used for selected time period.*



 

 
2/14/2018  175019 – Franklin Avenue Apartments - Transportation Impact Analysis 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Traffic Volume Data 



 May 2003 INTERSECTIONS 15.5(3) 

DHV   = 250 vehicles per hour (vph) 
Right Turns  = 100 vehicles per hour (vph) 

Problem: Determine if a right-turn lane is necessary. 

Solution: To read the vertical axis, use 100 – 20 = 80 vehicles per hour.  The figure 
indicates that a right-turn lane is not necessary, unless other factors (e.g., 
high crash rate) indicate a lane is needed. 

GUIDELINES FOR RIGHT-TURN LANES AT UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS 

ON TWO-LANE HIGHWAYS 

Figure 15.5A 

PM
DHV=43
RTV=114
Right turn
lane not 
necessary 

AM
DHV=35
RTV=29
Right turn 
lane not 
necessary

Note: For highways with a design speed below 50 miles per hour with a DHV < 300 and where 
right turns > 40, an adjustment should be used.  To read the vertical axis of the chart, subtract 
20 from the actual number of right turns. 

Example 

Given: Design Speed = 35 miles per hour (mph) 

x

x

Franklin 
Avenue at 
site access



M
a
y
 2

0
0
3
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

S
 

1
5
.5

(9
) 

 

VOLUME GUIDELINES FOR LEFT-TURN LANES AT UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS ON TWO-LANE HIGHWAYS  

(40 MPH) 

Figure 15.5G 

PM
V(a)=230
V(o)=95
Left turn treatment 
not necessary

AM 
V(a)=133 
V(o)=147
Left turn treatment 
 not necessary

x

x

Franklin 
Avenue at 
Azalea Court



File Name : 18003-01
Site Code : 18003-01
Start Date : 1/25/2018
Page No : 1

Counter: CC-001
Counted By: GWM
Weather: Mild
Other: DW

Groups Printed- Cars - Trucks & Buses - School Buses
Franklin Ave
Northbound

Franklin Ave
Southbound

Azalea Ave
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Int. Total

07:00 0 2 8 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 11
07:15 0 2 6 0 8 0 7 0 0 7 8 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 23
07:30 2 4 24 0 30 0 4 0 0 4 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 44
07:45 0 12 30 0 42 0 6 0 0 6 25 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 73
Total 2 20 68 0 90 0 17 0 0 17 44 0 0 0 44 0 0 0 0 0 151

08:00 0 11 14 0 25 0 2 0 0 2 13 0 3 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 43
08:15 0 3 8 0 11 2 1 0 0 3 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 21
08:30 0 6 12 0 18 1 2 0 0 3 7 0 1 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 29
08:45 0 2 4 0 6 2 2 0 0 4 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 15
Total 0 22 38 0 60 5 7 0 0 12 32 0 4 0 36 0 0 0 0 0 108

**BREAK**

16:00 0 4 16 0 20 1 7 0 0 8 17 0 0 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 45
16:15 0 8 21 0 29 1 4 0 0 5 19 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 53
16:30 0 5 23 0 28 0 4 0 0 4 12 0 2 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 46
16:45 0 8 29 0 37 1 4 0 0 5 18 0 2 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 62
Total 0 25 89 0 114 3 19 0 0 22 66 0 4 0 70 0 0 0 0 0 206

17:00 0 13 24 0 37 0 8 0 0 8 18 0 1 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 64
17:15 0 9 21 0 30 1 11 0 0 12 18 0 1 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 61
17:30 0 5 22 0 27 0 6 0 0 6 20 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 53
17:45 0 7 25 0 32 1 3 0 0 4 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 46
Total 0 34 92 0 126 2 28 0 0 30 66 0 2 0 68 0 0 0 0 0 224

Grand Total 2 101 287 0 390 10 71 0 0 81 208 0 10 0 218 0 0 0 0 0 689
Apprch % 0.5 25.9 73.6 0  12.3 87.7 0 0  95.4 0 4.6 0  0 0 0 0   

Total % 0.3 14.7 41.7 0 56.6 1.5 10.3 0 0 11.8 30.2 0 1.5 0 31.6 0 0 0 0 0
Cars 2 97 285 0 384 10 71 0 0 81 207 0 8 0 215 0 0 0 0 0 680

% Cars 100 96 99.3 0 98.5 100 100 0 0 100 99.5 0 80 0 98.6 0 0 0 0 0 98.7
Trucks & Buses 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
% Trucks & Buses 0 2 0 0 0.5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.3

School Buses 0 2 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 7
% School Buses 0 2 0.7 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0.5 0 20 0 1.4 0 0 0 0 0 1

TRAFFIC DATA CONNECTION
PO BOX 445

ABBEVILLE, GA

Your Tagline Here



File Name : 18003-01
Site Code : 18003-01
Start Date : 1/25/2018
Page No : 2

Counter: CC-001
Counted By: GWM
Weather: Mild
Other: DW

 Franklin Ave 

 A
z
a
le

a
 A

v
e
 

  

 Franklin Ave 

Right

10 
0 
0 

10 
Thru

71 
0 
0 

71 
Left

0 
0 
0 
0 

Peds

0 
0 
0 
0 

InOut Total
105 81 186 

2 0 2 
4 0 4 

111 192 81 
R

ig
h
t 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h
ru 0

 
0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e
ft 0

 
0
 

0
 

0
 

P
e
d
s 0

 
0
 

0
 

0
 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

2
 

0
 

2
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
 

2
 

0
 

Left
285 

0 
2 

287 

Thru
97 
2 
2 

101 

Right
2 
0 
0 
2 

Peds
0 
0 
0 
0 

Out TotalIn

278 384 662 
0 2 2 
1 4 5 

279 669 390 

L
e
ft

8
 

0
 

2
 

1
0
 

T
h
ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t

2
0
7
 

0
 

1
 

2
0
8
 

P
e
d
s0

 
0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
2
9
5
 

2
1
5
 

5
1
0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
 

3
 

5
 

2
9
7
 

5
1
5
 

2
1
8
 

1/25/2018 07:00
1/25/2018 17:45
 
Cars
Trucks & Buses
School Buses

North

TRAFFIC DATA CONNECTION
PO BOX 445

ABBEVILLE, GA

Your Tagline Here



File Name : 18003-01
Site Code : 18003-01
Start Date : 1/25/2018
Page No : 3

Counter: CC-001
Counted By: GWM
Weather: Mild
Other: DW

Franklin Ave
Northbound

Franklin Ave
Southbound

Azalea Ave
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 to 12:30 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15

07:15 0 2 6 0 8 0 7 0 0 7 8 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 23
07:30 2 4 24 0 30 0 4 0 0 4 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 44
07:45 0 12 30 0 42 0 6 0 0 6 25 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 73

08:00 0 11 14 0 25 0 2 0 0 2 13 0 3 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 43
Total Volume 2 29 74 0 105 0 19 0 0 19 56 0 3 0 59 0 0 0 0 0 183
% App. Total 1.9 27.6 70.5 0  0 100 0 0  94.9 0 5.1 0  0 0 0 0   

PHF .250 .604 .617 .000 .625 .000 .679 .000 .000 .679 .560 .000 .250 .000 .590 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .627
Cars 2 27 74 0 103 0 19 0 0 19 55 0 2 0 57 0 0 0 0 0 179

% Cars 100 93.1 100 0 98.1 0 100 0 0 100 98.2 0 66.7 0 96.6 0 0 0 0 0 97.8
Trucks & Buses 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
% Trucks & Buses 0 6.9 0 0 1.9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1.1

School Buses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
% School Buses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1.8 0 33.3 0 3.4 0 0 0 0 0 1.1

 Franklin Ave 

 A
z
a

le
a

 A
v
e

 
  

 Franklin Ave 

Right

0 
0 
0 
0 

Thru

19 
0 
0 

19 
Left

0 
0 
0 
0 

Peds

0 
0 
0 
0 

InOut Total
29 19 48 
2 0 2 
1 0 1 

32 51 19 

R
ig

h
t 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h

ru 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e

ft 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

P
e

d
s 0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

2
 

0
 

2
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
 

2
 

0
 

Left
74 
0 
0 

74 

Thru
27 
2 
0 

29 

Right
2 
0 
0 
2 

Peds
0 
0 
0 
0 

Out TotalIn

74 103 177 
0 2 2 
1 0 1 

75 180 105 

L
e

ft

2
 

0
 

1
 

3
 

T
h

ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t

5
5

 
0

 
1

 
5

6
 

P
e

d
s0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

7
4

 
5

7
 

1
3

1
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
 

2
 

7
4

 
1

3
3

 
5

9
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:15
 
Cars
Trucks & Buses
School Buses

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC DATA CONNECTION
PO BOX 445

ABBEVILLE, GA

Your Tagline Here



File Name : 18003-01
Site Code : 18003-01
Start Date : 1/25/2018
Page No : 4

Counter: CC-001
Counted By: GWM
Weather: Mild
Other: DW

Franklin Ave
Northbound

Franklin Ave
Southbound

Azalea Ave
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Right Thru Left Peds App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 12:45 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 16:45

16:45 0 8 29 0 37 1 4 0 0 5 18 0 2 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 62
17:00 0 13 24 0 37 0 8 0 0 8 18 0 1 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 64

17:15 0 9 21 0 30 1 11 0 0 12 18 0 1 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 61
17:30 0 5 22 0 27 0 6 0 0 6 20 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 53

Total Volume 0 35 96 0 131 2 29 0 0 31 74 0 4 0 78 0 0 0 0 0 240
% App. Total 0 26.7 73.3 0  6.5 93.5 0 0  94.9 0 5.1 0  0 0 0 0   

PHF .000 .673 .828 .000 .885 .500 .659 .000 .000 .646 .925 .000 .500 .000 .975 .000 .000 .000 .000 .000 .938
Cars 0 35 96 0 131 2 29 0 0 31 74 0 4 0 78 0 0 0 0 0 240

% Cars 0 100 100 0 100 100 100 0 0 100 100 0 100 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 100
Trucks & Buses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
% Trucks & Buses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

School Buses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
% School Buses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Franklin Ave 

 A
z
a

le
a

 A
v
e

 
  

 Franklin Ave 

Right

2 
0 
0 
2 

Thru

29 
0 
0 

29 
Left

0 
0 
0 
0 

Peds

0 
0 
0 
0 

InOut Total
39 31 70 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 

39 70 31 

R
ig

h
t 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h

ru 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e

ft 0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

P
e

d
s 0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
96 
0 
0 

96 

Thru
35 
0 
0 

35 

Right
0 
0 
0 
0 

Peds
0 
0 
0 
0 

Out TotalIn

103 131 234 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 

103 234 131 

L
e

ft

4
 

0
 

0
 

4
 

T
h

ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t

7
4

 
0

 
0

 
7

4
 

P
e

d
s0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

9
8

 
7

8
 

1
7

6
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

9
8

 
1

7
6

 
7

8
 

Peak Hour Begins at 16:45
 
Cars
Trucks & Buses
School Buses

Peak Hour Data

North

TRAFFIC DATA CONNECTION
PO BOX 445

ABBEVILLE, GA

Your Tagline Here



 
CITY OF SPARTANBURG 

 
CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 

2019  PROPOSED  REGULAR  MEETING  SCHEDULE 
 
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
5:30 P.M. 

 
Public Hearing Date   Application Deadline 

 
      January 17, 2019     December 27, 2018 
 
      February 21, 2019      January 31, 2019 
 
        March 21, 2019      February 28, 2019 
 
         April 18, 2019       March 28, 2019 
 
  \       May 16, 2019       April 25, 2019 
 
          June 20, 2019        May 30, 2019 
 
          July 18, 2019        June 27, 2019 
 
       August 15, 2019        July 25, 2019 
 
     September 19, 2019        August 29, 2019 
 
       October 17, 2019       September 26, 2019 
 
      November 21, 2019         October 31, 2019 
 
      December 19, 2019        November 27, 2019 
 
Applications for changes to Zoning Maps, Street Names, Preliminary and Final Plat, and 
Zoning Text Amendments are heard by the Commission.  Changes to meeting dates will 
be posted. 
 
For more information, please contact the Planning Department at 596-2068. 
 









  
 

 

X. A  



  
 
 

REQUEST FOR CITY COUNCIL  
 
 

 
 
 
TO:   Chris Story, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Dennis R. Locke, Finance Director 
 
SUBJECT:  FY 2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 
DATE:  January 9, 2018 
 
 
The City’s External Auditors, Greene Finney, LLP, and I will provide a review of the highlights of 
our Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 



Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 



Layout of the 2018 cover by Finance Department, photo by Abigail Hoffman 



Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report 

City of Spartanburg, South Carolina 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 

Prepared by the City’s Finance Division 





CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Page
Number

Table of Contents i

Transmittal Letter 1

Principal Officials 5

Organizational Chart - City of Spartanburg 7

Organizational Chart - Finance Division 9

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting - GFOA 11

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 13

Management's Discussion and Analysis 15

 Basic Financial Statements

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position 24

Statement of Activities 25

Fund Financial Statements

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 26

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Statement of Net Position 27

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 28

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balance to the Statement of Activities 29

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds 30

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds 31

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds 32

Statement of Net Position and Liabilities - Fiduciary Fund Types 34

Statement of Changes in Net Position - Fiduciary Fund 35

Notes to the Financial Statements 36

Budgetary Comparison Schedules

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budgets and Actual - General Fund 82

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budgets and Actual - Hospitality Tax Fund 83

(Continued)

INTRODUCTORY SECTION (UNAUDITED)

Required Supplementary Information

FINANCIAL SECTION

i



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Page
Number

Other Postemployment Benefit Plan Schedules

Schedules of Changes in the City's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 84

Schedules of the City's Contributions 85

Pension Plan Schedules

Retirement Plan of the City of Spartanburg - Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 86

Retirement Plan of the City of Spartanburg - Schedule of Contributions 87

Retirement Plan of the City of Spartanburg - Schedule of Investment Returns 88

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - South Carolina Retirement System 89

Schedule of the City's Contributions - South Carolina Retirement System 90

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Police Officers Retirement System 91

Schedule of the City's Contributions - Police Officers Retirement System 92

Combining and Individual Fund Financial Schedules

General Fund

Schedule of Detailed Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Revised Budget and Actual 95

Other Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet 106

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 107

Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet - Non-Major Special Revenue Funds 110

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Non-Major Special Revenue Funds 114

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Budgets and Actual - Federal Home Program Fund 118

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Budgets and Actual - Victims Assistance Fund 119

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Budgets and Actual - Community Development Fund 120

Debt Service Funds

Combining Balance Sheet - Non-Major Debt Service Funds 123

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Non-Major Debt Service Funds 124

(Continued)

Supplementary Information

FINANCIAL SECTION (CONTINUED)

Required Supplementary Information (Continued)

ii



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Page
Number

Internal Service Funds

Combining Schedule of Net Position - All Internal Service Funds 127

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position - 
All Internal Service Funds 128

Combining Schedule of Cash Flows - All Internal Service Funds 129

Fiduciary Funds

Schedule of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Fiduciary Fund - Agency Fund 133

Other Schedules

Uniform Schedule of Fines, Assessments, and Surcharges (Per Act 96) 134

Schedule of Budgeted to Actual Cost for the South Carolina Department of Transportation 135

Financial Trends Information

Net Position by Component - Last Ten Fiscal Years - Accrual Basis of Accounting 139

Changes in Net Position - Last Ten Fiscal Years - Accrual Basis of Accounting 140

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years - Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting 143

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years - Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting 144

Revenue Capacity Information

Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property - Last Ten Fiscal Years 146

Property Tax Rates - Direct and Overlapping Governments - Last Ten Fiscal Years 147

Principal Property Taxpayers - Current Year and Nine Years Ago 148

Property Tax Levies and Collections - Last Ten Fiscal Years 149

Debt Capacity Information

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type - Last Ten Fiscal Years 150

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding - Last Ten Fiscal Years 151

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt - As of June 30, 2018 152

Legal Debt Margin Information - Last Ten Fiscal Years 153

Pledged Revenue Coverage - Last Ten Fiscal Years 154

Security for the Series 2000 Bonds - Franchise Fees and Commission of Public Works Payments -
Last Ten Fiscal Years 155

Millage Rate for the Broad Street Development Area - Last Ten Fiscal Years 156

Millage Rate for the St. John-Daniel Morgan Redevelopment Project - Last Ten Fiscal Years 157

(Continued)

FINANCIAL SECTION (CONTINUED)

STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED)

Supplementary Information (Continued)

iii



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Page
Number

Demographic and Economic Information

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Last Ten Fiscal Years 158

Principal Employers - Current Year and Nine Years Ago 159

Property Value and Construction - Last Ten Fiscal Years 160

Schedule of Operating Information

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years 161

Operating Indicators by Function/Program - Last Ten Fiscal Years 162

Capital Asset Statistics by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years 163

   Schedule of State Appropriations 164

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 165

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 167

Independent Auditor's Report - Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 169

Independent Auditor's Report - Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and Report on Internal Control Over
Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 171

Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 173

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 174

STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE SECTION

iv



 
City of Spartanburg 

Finance Department 
PO Box 1749 

145 W Broad Street 
Spartanburg, SC 29304 

Phone: 864-596-2059 
Fax: 864-596-2424 

www.cityofspartanburg.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 21, 2018 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
and Members of the City Council 
City of Spartanburg, South Carolina 
 
We are pleased to present to you the City of Spartanburg’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2018. State law requires that all general-purpose local governments, at the close of each fiscal 
year, publish a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants. Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) of the City of Spartanburg.  
 
This report includes management’s representations concerning the City’s finances. Consequently, management 
assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the report. To provide a reasonable basis for 
making these representations, City management has established a comprehensive internal control framework that is 
designed (a) to protect the government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse, and (b) to assemble sufficiently reliable 
information for the preparation of the City’s financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of 
internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City of Spartanburg’s comprehensive framework of internal 
controls has been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance the financial statements will be 
free from material misstatement. We assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is 
complete and reliable in all material respects. 
 
The City of Spartanburg’s financial statements have been audited by Greene Finney LLP, a firm of licensed public 
accountants. The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the City of Spartanburg’s 
financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 are free of material misstatement. The independent 
audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the numbers and disclosures in the financial 
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was 
a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the City of Spartanburg’s financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditors’ report is 
presented in the Financial Section of this report. 
 
The independent audit of the financial statements of the City of Spartanburg (“City”) is part of a broader, federally 
mandated “Single Audit” designed to meet the specific needs of federal grantor agencies. The standards governing 
Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financial 
statements, but also on the audited government’s internal controls and compliance with legal requirements, with 
special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards. These 
reports are presented in the Compliance Section of the CAFR. 
 
GAAP requires management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic 
financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”). This letter of transmittal is 
designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found in the 
Financial Section of the CAFR. 
 
Profile of the Government 
Spartanburg, South Carolina is located near the foothills of the beautiful Blue Ridge Mountains. The City of 
approximately 40,000, which is part of a county of approximately 275,000, is conveniently situated at the junction of 
I-26 and I-85. The area of the City covers approximately 20 square miles. Although the City is restricted in its 
ability to expand, it draws on a population of nearly 750,000 within a 30-mile radius. 

1



The City operates under a Council-Manager form of government. The Mayor and six Council Members serve 
staggered four-year terms. The Mayor is elected at large, and Council Members represent single-member districts.  
The City Council appoints the City Manager, who is the chief administrative officer of the City, and who carries out 
the policies set by Council. The City Council also appoints the City Attorney and Municipal Judge. All other 
municipal officials are appointed by the City Manager. 

Budget Process 
The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. All agencies of the City are 
required to submit requests for appropriation to the City Manager in the spring of each year. The City Manager uses 
these requests as the starting point for developing a proposed budget. The City Manager then presents this proposed 
budget to the City Council for review. The City Council is required to hold a public hearing on the proposed budget 
and to adopt a final budget no later than June 30, the close of the City’s fiscal year. The appropriated budget is 
prepared by fund and department. Budgetary control (that is, the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed 
the appropriated amount) is maintained by the City Manager at the fund level and may be amended as necessary 
during the fiscal year. Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual government fund 
for which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For the General Fund, this detailed comparison is 
presented beginning on page 93, as part of the financial statements for the government funds. 

The City Council adopts annual operating budgets for the General Fund, the Enterprise Funds, Debt Service Funds, 
and certain Special Revenue Funds. Following this process, the City distributes the budget, realizing that 
adjustments are sometimes necessary during the fiscal year. Any material changes are presented to the City Council. 

The City's accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained on a modified accrual basis, with 
the revenue being recorded when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund 
liability is incurred. As part of its management program, the City maintains an encumbrance system. As purchase 
orders are issued, corresponding amounts of appropriations are reserved by the use of encumbrances for later 
payment so that the appropriation may not be overspent. Throughout these processes, City management seeks to 
develop a comprehensive management and fiscal system aimed at achieving the objectives of each operating level, 
consistent with those set by the City Council. Subject to oversight by the City Manager, each department manager is 
held directly accountable, not only to accomplish his/her departmental goals, but also to monitor the use of budget 
allocations consistent with City Council policies. 

Factors Affecting Financial Conditions 

Local Economy 
The current low unemployment rate of 3.5% and the continual increase of businesses moving into our region has had 
a positive impact on the growth of the region. While the majority of the new jobs are located outside the municipal 
limits, we continue to see increases in business license, hospitality, accommodation fees and building permits for 
commercial and residential properties.  

Financial Policies and Practices 
The Finance division and Budget & Accounting division are responsible for providing comprehensive financial 
management, management analysis and support services to City Council, City management, and City departments in 
order to promote fiscal accountability, enhance public services, maximize revenue collections, contain costs, and 
ensure accurate performance reporting consistent with governmental standards and regulations. Administrative 
policies and procedures are developed to facilitate accomplishing these goals by providing guidance to City 
management and supervisory personnel. 

Major Initiatives and Long-Term Financial Planning 
 The $10 Million renovation and two story addition (Aug. W Smith building) has been completed.  The now

five story building houses 48 apartment and retail spaces on 1st floor.

2



 The 1st Airport in the state celebrated its 90th birthday and a $25 million investment expanded the runway
by 1,700 feet to 6,000 feet.  The Downtown Airport plays a key role in the continued economic prosperity
of the Spartanburg community. The airport is the 3rd busiest in terms of traffic among 55 general aviation
airports in South Carolina, contributing $25 million to the local economy.

 The Airport Park opened in Spring 2018 and is a seven-acre play space in the City of
Spartanburg with  aviation-themed elements throughout,  including two playgrounds, one for children 5-12
and another for children aged 2-5, as well as a splash pad, multipurpose athletic field, picnic shelters, a
paved walking path, and restroom facilities.

Acknowledgements 
The preparation of this report could not be accomplished without the efficient and dedicated services of the entire 
staff of the Finance Division. We would like to express our appreciation to all members of other departments who 
assisted and contributed to its preparation and especially to the independent auditors.  

The GFOA awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Spartanburg 
for its comprehensive annual financial report for the 25th consecutive year for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 
In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently 
organized comprehensive annual financial report that satisfies both generally accepted accounting principles and 
applicable legal requirements. We believe our current report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program’s requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Chris Story 
City Manager 

Dennis R. Locke, CGFO 
Finance Director  

James T. Kennedy II, CPA 
Budget & Accounting Director 

3



4



PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS  

CITY COUNCIL 

Junie White, Mayor 

Jerome Rice, Mayor Pro Tem 

W. Sterling Anderson, Council Member
Alan Jenkins, Councilmember

Ruth Littlejohn, Council Member
Max Hyde, Council Member 

Erica Brown, Council Member 

APPOINTED OFFICIALS 

Chris Story 
City Manager 

Lawrence E. Flynn III 
Interim City Attorney 

Erika McJimpsey 
Chief Municipal Judge 

5



6



C
it

y
 o

f 
S

p
a
rt

a
n

b
u

rg
 

 
 

O
r
g
a
n

iz
a
ti

o
n

a
l 

C
h

a
rt

 

 

 

M
a
y
o
r 

&
 C

it
y
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 

C
it

y
 M

a
n

a
g
er

 

C
it

y
 A

tt
o

rn
ey

 

 

H
u

m
a
n

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 S

er
v
ic

es
 

 


 

P
ar

k
s 

&
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
 


 

S
p

ec
ia

l 
E

v
en

ts
 


 

D
B

E
 P

ro
g
ra

m
 

 

P
o
li

ce
 D

ep
a
rt

m
en

t 
 


 

L
a
w

 E
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n
t 

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
l 

C
o
u

rt
 

J
u

d
g
e 

D
ev

el
o
p

m
en

t 
S

er
v
ic

es
 

 


 

B
u
il

d
in

g
 I

n
sp

ec
ti

o
n

 


 

C
iv

il
 E

n
g
in

ee
ri

n
g

 


 

E
co

n
o

m
ic

 D
e
v
el

o
p

m
e
n
t 


 

P
la

n
n
in

g
  


 

P
ar

k
in

g
 E

n
fo

rc
e
m

en
t 


 

B
u
il

d
in

g
 M

ai
n

te
n
a
n
ce

 


 

C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n
 M

an
a
g
e
m

en
t 

 

P
u

b
li

c 
S

er
v
ic

es
 

 


 

S
o

li
d

 W
as

te
 


 

S
tr

ee
t 

M
ai

n
te

n
a
n
ce

 


 

F
le

et
 M

ai
n

te
n
a
n
ce

 


 

T
ra

ff
ic

 E
n
g

in
ee

ri
n

g
 


 

G
ro

u
n
d

s 
M

ai
n
te

n
an

ce
 

 

A
ss

is
ta

n
t 

C
it

y
 

M
a
n

a
g
er

 

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a
ti

o
n

s 
&

 

M
a
rk

et
in

g
 

 

M
a
n

a
g
e
m

en
t 

S
er

v
ic

es
  

 


 

B
u
d

g
et

 &
 A

cc
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 


 

F
in

a
n
ce

 


 

P
ro

cu
re

m
e
n
t 


 

In
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n
 T

ec
h
n
o

lo
g

y
 


 

A
ir

p
o

rt
 


 

S
P

A
R

T
A

 

 

F
ir

e 
D

ep
a
r
tm

en
t 

 


 

F
ir

e 
S

er
v
ic

es
 


 

E
m

er
g
e
n
c
y
 

M
an

ag
e
m

e
n
t 

N
ei

g
h

b
o
rh

o
o
d

 S
er

v
ic

es
 

 


 

N
ei

g
h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
 S

er
v
ic

es
 


 

C
o

d
e 

E
n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 

 

7



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

8



F
in

a
n

ce
 D

iv
is

io
n

 

 

 

C
h

ri
s 

S
to

ry
 

C
it

y
 M

a
n

a
g
er

 

V
a
ca

n
t 

A
ss

is
ta

n
t 

C
it

y
 M

a
n

a
g
er

 

 

D
en

n
is

 R
. 
L

o
ck

e 

F
in

a
n

ce
 D

ir
ec

to
r
 

C
a
ra

 N
el

so
n

 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

v
e 

A
ss

is
ta

n
t 

T
a
m

a
ra

 P
a
lm

er
 

R
ev

en
u

e 
T

ec
h

n
ic

ia
n

 

P
a
u

l 
T

. 
S

m
it

h
 

B
u

si
n

es
s 

L
ic

en
se

 M
a
n

a
g
er

 

J
a
m

es
 T

. 
K

en
n

ed
y

 

B
u

d
g
et

 &
 A

cc
o
u

n
ti

n
g

 D
ir

ec
to

r
 

D
o
n

n
it

a
 S

m
it

h
 

A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g
 M

a
n

a
g
er

 

K
ri

s 
J
o
h

n
so

n
 

G
/L

 A
cc

o
u

n
ta

n
t 

T
y
ra

n
ie

 G
a
rn

er
 

P
a
y
ro

ll
 T

e
ch

n
ic

ia
n

 

 

H
o
p

e 
P

e
el

er
 

A
/P

 T
e
ch

n
ic

ia
n

 

 

J
o
h

n
n

y
 A

li
m

o
h

a
m

ed
 

C
o
d

e 
E

n
fo

rc
em

en
t 

O
ff

ic
er

 

 

J
en

n
if

er
 S

m
it

h
 

R
ev

en
u

e 
T

ec
h

n
ic

ia
n

 

J
a
m

es
 L

ed
lo

w
 

C
o
d

e 
E

n
fo

rc
em

en
t 

O
ff

ic
er

 

 

9



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

10



11

andrew
Text Box

andrew
Text Box



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

12



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
City of Spartanburg 
Spartanburg, South Carolina 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the “City”), as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

13



Change in Accounting Principle 

As discussed in Note I.B in the notes to the financial statements, for the year ended June 30, 2018 the City adopted the 
provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement (“GASB”) No. 75 “Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions”. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.   

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s discussion and 
analysis, the budgetary comparison schedules, the other postemployment benefit plan schedules, and the pension plan 
schedules, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the GASB who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements.  The introductory section, supplementary information, statistical section, and the schedule 
of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, as listed in the table of 
contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The supplementary information and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of management 
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America.  In our opinion, the supplementary information and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

The introductory section and the statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 21, 2018 on our 
consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe 
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Greene Finney, LLP 
Mauldin, South Carolina 
December 21, 2018 

14



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

As management of the City of Spartanburg (“City”), we offer readers of the City’s financial statements this narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the year ended June 30, 2018 (“FY 2018” or “2018”) 
compared to year ended June 30, 2017 (“FY 2017” or “2017”).  The intent of this management’s discussion and analysis 
(“MD&A”) is to look at the City’s financial performance as a whole.  We would encourage readers to not only consider the 
information presented here, but also the information provided in letter of transmittal, the financial statements and notes to the 
financial statements to enhance their understanding the City’s overall financial performance. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Key financial highlights for 2018 were as follows:  
 

 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at 
the close of the most recent fiscal year by approximately $69,912,000 (Net Position).  Of this amount, approximately 
($34,198,000) is a negative unrestricted net position and is the result of pension and other postemployment benefit 
accounting standards that were implemented in 2015 and 2018, respectively. 

 The City’s total net position increased by approximately $8,416,000 which consisted of a increase in governmental 
activities of approximately $2,202,000, and an increase in business-type activities of approximately $6,214,000.  
The increase in governmental activities was primarily due to revenues exceeding expenses. The increase in business-
type activities was due primarily to an increase in capital grants in the Airport Fund. 

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balance of 
approximately $12,323,000, an increase of approximately $879,000 or approximately 8% in comparison with the 
prior year fund balance of approximately $11,444,000. The fund balance for the General Fund increased 
approximately $330,000 (4%) to approximately $8,063,000 at June 30, 2018 compared to the prior year fund 
balance of approximately $7,732,000.  The increase is primarily due to revenues exceeding expenditures in the 
current year.  Approximately $94,000 of the fund balance in the General Fund at year end is nonspendable (prepaids 
and inventories), approximately $250,000 is assigned for worker’s compensation, and the remainder of 
approximately $7,719,000 is unassigned. 

 At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance for the General Fund ($7,719,000) was 
approximately 21% of total General Fund expenditures (approximately $36,405,000). 

 The City’s total capital assets increased by approximately $5,243,000 (4%) during the current fiscal year. Total 
additions and other increases were approximately $10,847,000 which was partially offset by depreciation expense of 
approximately $5,517,000 and disposals and other decreases of approximately $87,000. 

 The City’s long-term obligations decreased by approximately $1,155,000 or 3% during the current year.  The 
decrease was due primarily to scheduled and refunding debt payments, partially offset by the issuance of a new 
capital lease.   

 The City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 75 “Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions” (“GASB #75” or “Statement”) for the year 
ended June 30, 2018. This Statement requires the City to recognize a net OPEB liability (and any related deferred 
outflows/inflows of resources) along with a more comprehensive measure of OPEB expense for its OPEB Plan 
(“OPEB Plan”) on financial statements prepared on the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of 
accounting (i.e., the Statement of Net Position) and present more extensive note disclosures. 

 
The adoption has resulted in the restatement of the City’s net position as of July 1, 2017 for its government-wide and 
enterprise funds financial statements to reflect the reporting of a net OPEB liability and deferred outflows of 
resources for its OPEB Plan in accordance with the provisions of this Statement.  Net position of the City’s 
government-wide financial statements as of July 1, 2017 was decreased by approximately $2,080,000, which 
consisted of approximately $2,035,000 for its governmental activities and $45,000 for its business-type activities 
(enterprise funds), reflecting the cumulative change in accounting principle related to the adoption of this Statement.  
See Note IV.E in the notes to the financial statements for more information regarding the City’s OPEB Plan. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This annual report consists of four parts – Introductory Section, Financial Section (which includes the MD&A, financial 
statements, notes to the financial statements, required supplementary information and supplementary information), Statistical 
Section, and the Compliance Section.   

15



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements.  The financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different 
views of the City.  The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide a broad overview of the 
City’s overall financial status, in a manner similar to a private-sector enterprise. 
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets and deferred outflows of resources and 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between these items reported as Net Position.  Over time, 
increases or decreases in Net Position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is 
improving or deteriorating.  The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s Net Position 
changed during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in Net Position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this 
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but 
unused vacation leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant 
portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities).  The governmental activities of the City include 
Policy Formulation and Administration, Public Safety, Parks, Recreation, and Special Events, Development Services, Public 
Services, Finance and Administrative Services, Operating, and Interest and Other Charges.  The business-type activities of 
the City are Transit, Parking, Airport, and Storm Water.  The government-wide financial statements can be found as listed in 
the table of contents of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements.  The remaining financial statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts 
of the City, reporting the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements.  A fund is a 
grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or 
objectives.  The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with finance-related requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, 
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund 
financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term 
financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to 
compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in 
the government-wide  financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
government’s near-term financing decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement 
of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate the comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities.  
 
The City maintains several different types of governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the governmental 
fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the 
General, Capital Projects, Hospitality Tax, and Neighborhood Initiative Program funds which are considered to be major 
funds.  The remaining special revenue funds and debt service funds are combined in the balance sheet and the statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance since they aren’t considered major funds.  The governmental fund 
financial statements can be found as listed in the table of contents of this report. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The City maintains two types of proprietary funds – Enterprise Funds and Internal Service Funds.  
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  The City uses enterprise funds to account for its Transit, Parking, Airport, and Storm Water operations. The 
Internal Service Funds include those that provide centralized services, usually on a citywide basis.  The main purpose of 
these funds is to identify costs associated with these services.  These funds include the Equipment Replacement Fund and the 
Medical Insurance Trust Fund. 

16



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail; 
therefore, the proprietary fund  financial statements provide more detailed information for the Transit, Parking, Airport and 
Storm Water,  which are all considered major funds of the City.  The proprietary fund financial statements can be found as 
listed in the table of contents of this report. 
 
Fiduciary Funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.  
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are not 
available to support the City’s own programs.  The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for the Pension Trust Fund and Agency 
Fund activity.  The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found as listed in the table of contents of this report. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the 
data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be found as 
listed in the table of contents of this report. 
 
Other Information.  In addition to the financial statements and accompanying notes, this report includes certain required 
supplementary information.  The City adopts an annual budget for its General Fund and Hospitality Tax Fund, as required by 
General Statutes.  A required budgetary comparison schedule has been provided for the General Fund and Hospitality Tax 
Fund to demonstrate compliance with these budgets.  The City has also provided the required schedules for the OPEB and 
Pension Plans as required by GAAP.  Required supplementary information can be found as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Other supplementary information, referred to in the table of contents, is presented immediately following the required 
supplementary information.  This information can be found as listed in the table of contents. 
 

Major Features of the City’s Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 

  Fund Financial Statements  

  
Government-Wide 

Financial Statements 

 
 

Governmental Funds 

 
Proprietary 

Funds 

 
Fiduciary 

Funds 
Scope Entire City government 

except for fiduciary funds. 
The activities of the City 
that are not proprietary or 
fiduciary. 

Activities the City operates 
similar to private 
businesses. 

Instances in which the 
City is the trustee or 
agent for someone else’s 
resources. 

Required 
financial 
statements 

 Statement of Net 
Position 

 Statement of Activities 

 Balance sheet 
 Statement of revenues, 

expenditures, and 
changes in fund 
balances 

 Statement of Net 
Position 

 Statement of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in 
Net Position 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Statement of fiduciary 
Net Position 

 Statement of changes 
in fiduciary Net 
Position 

Accounting 
basis and 
measurement 
focus 

Accrual accounting and 
economic resources focus 

Modified accrual 
accounting and current 
financial resources focus. 

Accrual accounting and 
economic resources focus 

Accrual accounting and 
economic resources 
focus 

Type of 
balance sheet 
information 

All balance sheet elements 
– both financial and capital, 
and short-term and long-
term 

Only balance sheet 
elements that come due 
during the year or soon, 
thereafter.  No capital 
assets or long-term debt. 

All balance sheet elements - 
both financial and capital, 
and short-term and long-
term 

All assets and liabilities, 
both short-term and long-
term. 

Type of inflow/ 
outflow 
information 

All revenues and expenses 
during year, regardless of 
when cash is received or 
paid 

Revenues for which cash 
is received during or soon 
after the end of the year; 
expenditures when goods 
or services have been 
received and payment is 
due during the year or 
soon thereafter 

All revenues and expenses 
during year, regardless of 
when cash is received or 
paid 

All revenues and 
expenses during year, 
regardless of when cash 
is received or paid 

 

17



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
As noted earlier, Net Position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  In the case of 
the City, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by approximately 
$69,912,000 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.  The following table provides a summary of the City’s Net Position at 
June 30, 2018 compared to June 30, 2017: 

2018 * 2017 2018 * 2017 2018 * 2017
Assets
Current & Other Assets 23,017,104$    21,526,662      7,429,917        7,492,011        30,447,021      29,018,673$    
Capital Assets, Net 70,708,357      70,601,915      52,577,808      47,441,179      123,286,165    118,043,094    

Total Assets 93,725,461      92,128,577      60,007,725      54,933,190      153,733,186    147,061,767    

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Pension Charges 7,094,455        6,315,903        201,613           197,716           7,296,068        6,513,619        
Deferred OPEB Charges 38,696             -                  1,919               -                  40,615             -                  

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 7,133,151        6,315,903        203,532           197,716           7,336,683        6,513,619        

Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities 33,654,846      34,816,050      112,628           105,951           33,767,474      34,922,001      
Net Pension Liability 47,314,904      46,221,119      1,290,278        1,310,851        48,605,182      47,531,970      
Net OPEB Liability 1,654,772        -                  48,258             -                  1,703,030        -                  
Other Liabilities 4,820,271        4,545,722        1,396,953        2,533,586        6,217,224        7,079,308        

Total Liabilities 87,444,793      85,582,891      2,848,117        3,950,388        90,292,910      89,533,279      

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Pension Credits 784,854           448,565           29,500             17,232             814,354           465,797           
Deferred OPEB Credits 48,822             -                  1,424               -                  50,246             -                  

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 833,676           448,565           30,924             17,232             864,600           465,797           

Net Position
Net Investment in 

Capital Assets (1) 54,829,393      52,133,237      52,577,808      47,441,179      99,923,212      91,324,922      
Restricted 4,187,094        4,443,720        -                  -                  4,187,094        4,443,720        
Unrestricted (1) (46,436,344)    (44,163,933)    4,754,408        3,722,107        (34,197,947)    (32,192,332)    

Total Net Position 12,580,143$    12,413,024      57,332,216      51,163,286      69,912,359      63,576,310$    

* The City adopted GASB #75 in FY 2018.  See Financial Highlights section for more details.

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

(1) The totals for Net Investment in Capital Assets and Unrestricted Net Position do not add/foot across. See Note III.F in the notes to the financial statements for
more details.

The Net Position of the City's governmental activities increased by 21% (approximately $2,202,000) from the prior year’s 
restated net position balance of approximately $10,378,000.  The various components of the City’s governmental activities 
Net Position changed as follows: 
   

 The Net Investment in Capital Assets increased by approximately $2,696,000 or 5%, primarily due to a new 
equipment lease purchase in the current year along with capital asset additions.  

 Restricted Net Position decreased by approximately $257,000 or 6%. 
 Unrestricted Net Position, the part of Net Position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations without 

constraints established by debt covenants, enabling legislation, or other legal requirements, decreased from 
approximately ($44,164,000) at June 30, 2017 to approximately ($46,436,000) at June 30, 2018 as a result of the 
increase in net position for the year, partially offset by an increase in the City’s net pension / OPEB balances.  

 
 
 

18



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Net Position of business-type activities increased by approximately $6,214,000 or 12% (approximately $57,332,000 in 
the current year compared to approximately $51,119,000 for the restated prior year) for the year ended June 30, 2018. The 
various components of the business-type activities Net Position changed as follows:  
 

 The Net Investment in Capital Assets increased by approximately $5,137,000 or approximately 11% primarily due 
to capital grants for the airport runway extension project. 

 Unrestricted Net Position increased by approximately $1,032,000. The increase was due to revenues exceeding 
expenses.  

The following table shows the changes in Net Position for 2018 compared to 2017: 

2018 * 2017 2018 * 2017 2018 * 2017

Revenues
Program Revenues:
   Charges for Services 20,514,668$   20,071,837   3,825,175     3,721,474     24,339,843   23,793,311$   
   Operating Grants 4,717,699       3,415,281     -               -               4,717,699     3,415,281       
   Capital Grants -                 -               7,182,112     11,264,237   7,182,112     11,264,237     
General Revenue:
   Property Taxes 18,440,992     18,409,536   -               -               18,440,992   18,409,536     
   Other Taxes 6,171,779       5,852,657     -               -               6,171,779     5,852,657       
   Intergovernmental Revenue 836,020          844,738        -               -               836,020        844,738          
   Other 2,452,673       2,117,792     65,256          53,491          2,517,929     2,171,283       

Total Revenues 53,133,831     50,711,841   11,072,543   15,039,202   64,206,374   65,751,043     

Program Expenses
Policy Formulation & Administration 6,003,757       6,071,710     -               -               6,003,757     6,071,710       
Public Safety 17,754,307     17,864,273   -               -               17,754,307   17,864,273     
Parks, Recreation, and Special Events 2,456,742       2,592,220     -               -               2,456,742     2,592,220       
Development Services 3,839,251       3,790,091     -               -               3,839,251     3,790,091       
Public Services 8,250,848       8,563,016     -               -               8,250,848     8,563,016       
Finance and Administrative Services 2,637,266       3,534,213     -               -               2,637,266     3,534,213       
Operating 6,557,239       5,800,758     -               -               6,557,239     5,800,758       
Interest and Other Charges 2,396,183       1,653,346     -               -               2,396,183     1,653,346       
Transit -                 -               1,999,130     1,933,748     1,999,130     1,933,748       
Parking -                 -               1,319,091     1,195,457     1,319,091     1,195,457       
Airport -                 -               1,722,404     1,518,271     1,722,404     1,518,271       
Storm Water -                 -               854,172        910,138        854,172        910,138          

Total Expenses 49,895,593     49,869,627   5,894,797     5,557,614     55,790,390   55,427,241     

Change in Net Position Before Transfers 3,238,238       842,214        5,177,746     9,481,588     8,415,984     10,323,802     

Transfers In (Out) (1,035,929)     (927,039)      1,035,929     927,039        -               -                 

Change in Net Position 2,202,309       (84,825)        6,213,675     10,408,627   8,415,984     10,323,802     

Net Position, Beginning of Year - As Previously Reported 12,413,024     12,497,849   51,163,286   40,754,659   63,576,310   53,252,508     
Cumulative Change in Accounting Principle - GASB #75* (2,035,190)     -               (44,745)        -               (2,079,935)   -                     
Net Position, Beginning of Year - As Restated 10,377,834     12,497,849   51,118,541   40,754,659   61,496,375   53,252,508     

Net Position - End of Year 12,580,143$   12,413,024   57,332,216   51,163,286   69,912,359   63,576,310$   

* The City implemented GASB #75 in FY 2018.  See Financial Highlights section for more details.

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

 

19



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED) 

Governmental Activities: 

Net Position increased by approximately $2,202,000 for 2018 for governmental activities.  Revenues increased by 
approximately $2,422,000 (5%) to approximately $53,134,000 from the prior year.  This increase was primarily due to 
increases in operating grant revenues, charges for services, tax revenue, and other revenues as compared to the prior year. 
Expenses remained relatively flat as compared to the prior year as they increased by approximately $26,000 (<1%) to 
approximately $49,896,000 from the prior year.   

Business-Type Activities:  

Net Position increased by approximately $6,214,000 for 2018 for business-type activities.  In aggregate, business-type 
revenues decreased approximately $3,967,000 (26%) to $11,073,000 compared to approximately $15,039,000 in the prior 
year.  The decrease in revenue was primarily due to a decrease in capital grants of approximately $4,082,000 primarily 
related to the Transit and Airport funds. Total expenses increased approximately $337,000 (6%) to approximately $5,895,000 
compared to approximately $5,558,000  in the prior year.  The increase was due to higher operating costs primarily for 
maintenance and wages / benefits.  

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 

Governmental Funds.  The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, 
and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements.  Specifically, 
unassigned fund balance can be a useful measure of a government’s net resource available for spending at the end of the 
fiscal year.  The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. 

At June 30, 2018, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of approximately $12,323,000, an 
increase of approximately $879,000 in comparison with the prior year fund balance.  Approximately 63% of this total amount 
(approximately $7,719,000) constitutes unassigned fund balance.  The remainder of fund balance is assigned, restricted, 
committed, or nonspendable. The amounts are nonspendable (approximately $94,000), committed for special revenue 
programs (approximately $12,000), assigned for insurance costs (approximately $250,000), assigned for capital projects 
(approximately $43,000), restricted for debt service (approximately $778,000), restricted for tourism related costs 
($2,624,000), and restricted for special revenue programs (approximately $803,000).  

The fund balance for the Capital Projects Fund increased by approximately $855,000 during the current fiscal year to a fund 
balance of approximately $43,000 as revenues and other financing resources of approximately $2,631,000 exceeded capital 
expenditures of approximately $1,776,000. 

The fund balance for the Hospitality Tax Fund increased by approximately $38,000 during the current fiscal year to 
approximately $2,380,000, as revenues of approximately $5,059,000 exceeded expenditures and transfers out of 
approximately $5,021,000.  Revenues increased approximately $267,000 from the prior year due to better collections.  
Expenditures and transfers out increased approximately $458,000 from the prior year to support debt service payments and 
operating costs related to special events.  

The Neighborhood Initiative Program Fund generally has no fund balance as revenues are expended as they are received.  
During the year the fund had revenues and other financing sources of approximately $2,728,000 and operating expenditures 
of approximately $2,728,000, which was an increase of approximately $1,885,000 from the prior year of approximately 
$843,000. 

20



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
General Fund Revenues 
The General Fund is the principal fund that accounts for the daily operations of the City.  Total revenue for 2018 was 
approximately $37,209,000, an increase of approximately $492,000 (1%) from the previous year.  Property tax collections 
decreased approximately $30,000 (<1%) to approximately $14,799,000 compared to approximately $14,828,000 for the 
previous year.  Fees, Licenses and Permits revenues increased approximately $183,000 (1%) to approximately $16,564,000 
compared to approximately $16,381,000 for the previous year.  These increases were primarily due to higher business license 
(including MASC collections) and building permit collections in the current year due to a strong economy. 
 
As with most municipalities in the State of South Carolina, the City is dependent on property taxes to pay for many of the 
services provided to its citizens.  The current millage rate for property taxes is 105.0 mills.  The assessed value is 4% of 
market value for residential property, 6% for rental and other real property, and 10.5% for personal property.  Property taxes 
accounted for 40% or approximately $14,799,000 of total General Fund revenue for 2018. 
 
The City received approximately $16,564,000 in revenue from fees, licenses, and permits. The remaining General Fund 
revenue sources were charges for services of approximately $1,857,000, intergovernmental revenue of approximately 
$3,350,000, fines and forfeitures of approximately $345,000, investment earnings of approximately $90,000, and other 
revenues of approximately $205,000. 
 
General Fund Expenditures 
General Fund expenditures for 2018 totaled approximately $36,405,000, an approximate $428,000 (1%) decrease over the 
previous fiscal year.  This reflects a decreases in salaries, benefits, and capital outlay. The largest General Fund departmental 
budget is Public Safety, which accounted for approximately 45% of total General Fund expenditures.  Public Services 
accounted for the second largest departmental budget, which accounted for approximately 17% of total General Fund 
expenditures.  Actual expenditures for these departments were approximately $16,278,000 for Public Safety and 
approximately $6,144,000 for Public Services. The remaining 38% of General Fund expenditures came from the areas of 
Policy Formulation and Administration – approximately $5,975,000, Parks, Recreation, and Special Events – approximately 
$1,628,000, Development Services of approximately $3,048,000, Finance and Administrative Services - $2,000,000, and 
Capital Outlay of approximately $1,332,000.   
 
General Fund Balance 
Total fund balance in the General Fund increased by approximately $330,000 to $8,063,000 at June 30, 2018.  The 
unassigned fund balance increased by approximately $1,632,000 to approximately $7,719,000. The increase is due primarily 
to funds that were assigned for utility projects in the prior year of approximately $1,298,000 are unassigned in the current 
year. Unassigned fund balance represents approximately 21% of total General Fund expenditures.  
 
Proprietary Funds.  The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide  
financial statements but in more detail.  Net Position of the Enterprise Funds at the end of the fiscal year amounted to 
approximately $57,332,000.  Factors concerning the operations of these funds have already been addressed in the discussion 
of the City’s business-type activities. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
The City’s budget is prepared according to South Carolina law and is based on accounting for certain transactions on a basis 
of cash receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances.  The most significant budgeted fund is the General Fund. The City 
adopted a balanced revenue/expenditure budget of approximately $39,098,000 (including other financing sources/uses) and 
there were no budget amendments made during the year. More information about our budgetary process can be found in Note 
II.A in the notes to the financial statements.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At June 30, 2018, the City had approximately $123,286,000 in capital assets, net of depreciation.  The total increase in the 
City’s capital assets was approximately $5,243,000 (4%).  Total additions and other increases were approximately 
$10,847,000 which was partially offset by depreciation expense of approximately $5,517,000 and disposals and other 
decreases of approximately of $87,000.  
 
The following table shows capital asset balances (net of depreciation) at June 30, 2018 compared to June 30, 2017: 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Land 31,512,286$      30,473,329       3,088,761          2,982,220          34,601,047        33,455,549$      
Construction in Progress 486,310             842,983            17,950,780        12,587,148        18,437,090        13,430,131        

Building & Improvements 16,645,979        17,234,157       23,500,843        23,353,618        40,146,822        40,587,775        

Infrastructure 12,744,880        14,281,863       5,803,113          5,993,207          18,547,993        20,275,070        

Machinery & Equipment 1,778,535          828,303            16,544               25,778               1,795,079          854,081             

Vehicles 7,540,367          6,941,280         2,217,767          2,499,208          9,758,134          9,440,488          

Totals 70,708,357$      70,601,915       52,577,808        47,441,179        123,286,165      118,043,094$    

Government Activities Business-Type Activities Total

More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented in Note III.C in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Obligations 
 
At June 30, 2018, the City had long-term obligations of approximately $33,767,000 versus approximately $34,922,000 in the 
prior year, a decrease of approximately $1,155,000 or 3%.  The decrease was primarily due to scheduled and refunding debt 
payments, partially offset by the issuance of a new capital lease.   
 
The following table shows long-term obligation balances at June 30, 2018 compared to June 30, 2017: 

Long-Term Obligations 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Debt:
General Obligation Bonds 5,275,000$      5,280,000        -                   -                   5,275,000        5,280,000$      
Tax Increment Bonds 4,020,000        4,545,000        -                   -                   4,020,000        4,545,000        
Hospitality Tax/SOB Bonds 13,905,000      15,465,000      -                   -                   13,905,000      15,465,000      
Revenue Bonds -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Promissory Note 212,675           418,814           -                   -                   212,675           418,814           

Total Debt 23,412,675      25,708,814      -                   -                   23,412,675      25,708,814      

Capital Leases 6,452,966        5,474,154        -                   -                   6,452,966        5,474,154        

Compensated Absences 3,789,205        3,633,082        112,628           105,951           3,901,833        3,739,033        

Total 33,654,846$    34,816,050      112,628           105,951           33,767,474      34,922,001$    

TotalGovernmental Activities Business-Type Activities

The State limits the amount of general obligation debt that cities can issue to 8% of the assessed value of all taxable property 
within the City's corporate limits.  The City is authorized by state statute to exceed the legal debt margin of eight percent, if 
citizens of the City approve such additional debt.  The City's outstanding general obligation debt is below this state-imposed 
legal debt limit of approximately $12,053,000.  The current amount of outstanding general obligation debt at June 30, 2018 is 
$5,275,000 which leaves an unused legal debt margin of approximately $6,778,000. 
 

22



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 

 

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION (CONTINUED) 
 
The City's revenue and tax increment bonds have an AA- rating from Standard & Poor’s secured through bond insurance.  
For general obligation debt the City’s credit rating is AA- from Standard & Poor’s. 
 
As noted above, other long-term obligations include capital leases, and accrued compensated absences.  More detailed 
information about the City's debt and long-term obligations is presented in Note III.D in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 
 
Based on overall economic forecasts for South Carolina, the City expects to see a slow but steady growth for the year ended 
June 30, 2019 (“FY 2019”).  Economic forecasts project the Greenville-Spartanburg-Anderson metropolitan area will see 
positive job growth.  The unemployment rate for the Spartanburg metropolitan statistical area decreased from 4.2% in June 
2017 to 3.5% in June 2018. 
 
The primary goal of the City’s FY 2019 budget appropriation is to provide a financial plan for City officials to carry out both 
short-term and long-term priorities set by City Council to meet the expectations of our citizens.   
 
General Fund revenues are budgeted at approximately $40,819,000 for FY 2019, an increase of approximately 4% over FY 
2018 original budget.  Property tax collections are projected to increase slightly and insurance franchise fees are expected to 
increase slightly. Business license fee are projected to increase by 4%, while building permits are projected to increase by 
13%.  The City has projected a 5% increase in funding from the State’s Local Government Fund. Most of the General Fund 
expenditure increases were the result of needed compensation adjustments, employer’s contributions for medical insurance, 
and mandatory changes in retirement contributions.   
 
Key items that factored into the preparation of the budget for the FY 2019, are listed below: 
 

 The budget provides for a 3.0% cost-of-living adjustment for employees 
 1.00% and 1.00% mandatory increase in employer’s retirement contribution rates for SCRS and PORS  
 Decrease in the millage rate to 104.4 due to reassessment 
 7% increase in employer’s contribution to the Medical Insurance Fund 
 21% increase in transfer to the General Fund from the Hospitality Tax Fund 
 Third year of transfer to the St. Johns Street TIF Fund from the General Fund for debt service 
 3% increase in revenues for Fees, Licenses, and Permits 
 2.1% increase in transfer from Spartanburg Water System  

 
CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide those interested with a general overview of the City’s finances and to show the 
City’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you have questions about this report or need additional financial 
information, contact the Finance Director, City of Spartanburg, Finance Department, 145 West Broad Street, Spartanburg, 
South Carolina, 29304 
 

23



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION  

JUNE 30, 2018

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Adjustment Totals

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 12,649,414$         5,259,850             -                        17,909,264$         
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,261,174             -                        -                        1,261,174             
Restricted Investments 491                       -                        -                        491                        
Property Taxes Receivable, Net 1,860,874             -                        -                        1,860,874             
Other Receivables, Net:

Mortgage 70,803                  -                        -                        70,803                  
Commercial Loan 52,293                  -                        -                        52,293                  
Other 5,214,168             1,914,593             -                        7,128,761             

Other Asset 962,370                11,388                  -                        973,758                
Prepaids and Inventories 945,517                244,086                -                        1,189,603             
Capital Assets:

Non-Depreciable 31,998,596           21,039,541           -                        53,038,137           
Depreciable, Net 38,709,761           31,538,267           -                        70,248,028           

TOTAL ASSETS 93,725,461           60,007,725           -                        153,733,186         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Pension Charges 7,094,455             201,613                -                        7,296,068             
Deferred Other Postemployment Benefit Charges 38,696                  1,919                    -                        40,615                  

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 7,133,151             203,532                -                        7,336,683             

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 1,767,128             974,708                -                        2,741,836             
Accrued Interest Payable 204,708                -                        -                        204,708                
Accrued Salaries and Benefits 1,793,293             39,004                  -                        1,832,297             
Internal Balances (302,327)               302,327                -                        -                        
Retainage Payable -                        5,081                    -                        5,081                    
Intergovernmental Payable 393,545                -                        -                        393,545                
Customer Deposits 21,932                  55,444                  -                        77,376                  
Unclaimed Checks 10,193                  -                        -                        10,193                  
Accrued Claims/Premiums 407,727                -                        -                        407,727                
Unearned Revenues 524,072                20,389                  -                        544,461                
Non-Current Liabilities:

Net Pension Liability 47,314,904           1,290,278             -                        48,605,182           
Net Other Postemployment Benefit Liability 1,654,772             48,258                  -                        1,703,030             
Long-Term Obligations - Due Within One Year 6,494,874             56,314                  -                        6,551,188             
Long-Term Obligations - Due in More Than One Year 27,159,972           56,314                  -                        27,216,286           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 87,444,793           2,848,117             -                        90,292,910           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Pension Credits 784,854                29,500                  -                        814,354                
Deferred Other Postemployment Benefit Credits 48,822                  1,424                    -                        50,246                  

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 833,676                30,924                  -                        864,600                

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 54,829,393           52,577,808           (7,483,989)           99,923,212           
Restricted For:

Debt Service 646,800                -                        -                        646,800                
Tourism Related Costs 2,624,168             -                        -                        2,624,168             
Special Revenue Programs 916,126                -                        -                        916,126                

Unrestricted (46,436,344)          4,754,408             7,483,989             (34,197,947)          

TOTAL NET POSITION 12,580,143$         57,332,216           -                        69,912,359$         

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

24



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS
Charges for Operating Capital Governmental Business-Type 

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT: Expenses Services Activities Activities Total

Governmental Activities:
Policy Formulation and Administration 6,003,757$        -                     -                     -                     (6,003,757)         -                     (6,003,757)$       
Public Safety 17,754,307        717,286             548,401             -                     (16,488,620)       -                     (16,488,620)       
Parks, Recreation, and Special Events 2,456,742          106,746             -                     -                     (2,349,996)         -                     (2,349,996)         
Development Services 3,839,251          598,563             3,185,939          -                     (54,749)              -                     (54,749)              
Public Services 8,250,848          2,809,875          983,359             -                     (4,457,614)         -                     (4,457,614)         
Finance and Administrative Services 2,637,266          16,282,198        -                     -                     13,644,932        -                     13,644,932        
Operating 6,557,239          -                     -                     -                     (6,557,239)         -                     (6,557,239)         
Interest and Other Charges 2,396,183          -                     -                     -                     (2,396,183)         -                     (2,396,183)         

Total Governmental Activities 49,895,593        20,514,668        4,717,699          -                     (24,663,226)       -                     (24,663,226)       

Business-Type Activities:
Transit 1,999,130          213,381             -                     847,962             -                     (937,787)            (937,787)            
Parking Enterprise 1,319,091          460,119             -                     -                     -                     (858,972)            (858,972)            
Airport 1,722,404          1,478,264          -                     6,334,150          -                     6,090,010          6,090,010          
Storm Water 854,172             1,673,411          -                     -                     -                     819,239             819,239             

Total Business-Type Activities 5,894,797          3,825,175          -                     7,182,112          -                     5,112,490          5,112,490          
.

TOTAL - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 55,790,390$      24,339,843        4,717,699          7,182,112          (24,663,226)       5,112,490          (19,550,736)       

General Revenues and Transfers:

General Revenues:
Taxes:

Property Taxes Levied for General Purposes 14,663,465        -                     14,663,465        
Tax Increment 2,484,205          -                     2,484,205          
Motor Vehicle Taxes 1,293,322          -                     1,293,322          
Hospitality Taxes 5,340,373          -                     5,340,373          
Other Taxes 831,406             -                     831,406             

Intergovernmental Revenue - Unrestricted 836,020             -                     836,020             
Investment Income 124,296             60,904               185,200             
Miscellaneous 958,640             -                     958,640             
Grants and Contributions Not Restricted to Specific Programs 1,195,634          -                     1,195,634          
Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets 174,103             4,352                 178,455             

Transfers In (Out) (1,035,929)         1,035,929          -                     

Total General Revenues and Transfers 26,865,535        1,101,185          27,966,720        

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 2,202,309          6,213,675          8,415,984          

NET POSITION, Beginning of Year - As Previously Reported 12,413,024        51,163,286        63,576,310        
Cumulative Change in Accounting Principle - GASB #75 (2,035,190)         (44,745)              (2,079,935)         

NET POSITION, Beginning of Year - Restated 10,377,834        51,118,541        61,496,375        

NET POSITION, End of Year 12,580,143        57,332,216        69,912,359$      

Primary Government

NET (EXPENSE) REVENUE AND
PROGRAM REVENUES CHANGE IN NET POSITION

Grants and Contributions

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

25



NEIGHBORHOOD

CAPITAL HOSPITALITY INITIATIVE OTHER TOTAL

GENERAL PROJECTS TAX PROGRAM GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL

FUND FUND FUND FUND FUNDS FUNDS

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,185$                -                     -                     -                        15,650                  18,835$                
Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,815,360           129,049              1,934,805           -                        2,216,568             11,095,782           
Restricted Investments -                     -                     -                     -                        491                       491                       
Property Taxes Receivable, Net 1,787,307           -                     -                     -                        73,567                  1,860,874             
Accounts Receivable, Net 1,305,646           15,000                444,867              -                        1,150                    1,766,663             
Commercial Loan Receivables -                     -                     -                     -                        52,293                  52,293                  
Intergovernmental Receivables -                     -                     -                     3,047,592             382,491                3,430,083             
Due From Other Funds 3,247,938           -                     -                     -                        -                        3,247,938             
Prepaids and Inventories 93,743                -                     -                     -                        -                        93,743                  
Mortgages Receivable:

Home Loans -                     -                     -                     -                        70,803                  70,803                  

TOTAL ASSETS 13,253,179$       144,049              2,379,672           3,047,592             2,813,013             21,637,505$         

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 1,105,226$         85,718                -                     255,298                251,157                1,697,399$           
Accrued Salaries and Benefits 1,771,742           -                     -                     -                        21,551                  1,793,293             
Customer Deposits 21,932                -                     -                     -                        -                        21,932                  
Unclaimed Checks 10,084                -                     -                     -                        -                        10,084                  
Intergovernmental Payable 393,545              -                     -                     -                        -                        393,545                
Due To Other Funds -                     -                     -                     2,792,294             153,317                2,945,611             
Unearned Revenues 145,912              15,000                -                     -                        363,160                524,072                

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,448,441           100,718              -                     3,047,592             789,185                7,385,936             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable Property Taxes 1,742,147           -                     -                     -                        73,377                  1,815,524             
Unavailable Note Receivables -                     -                     -                     -                        112,910                112,910                

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS 
OF RESOURCES 1,742,147           -                     -                     -                        186,287                1,928,434             

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED
INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 5,190,588           100,718              -                     3,047,592             975,472                9,314,370             

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable:
Prepaids and Inventories 93,743                -                     -                     -                        -                        93,743                  

Restricted for:
Debt Service -                     -                     -                     -                        778,131                778,131                
Tourism Related Costs -                     -                     2,379,672           -                        244,496                2,624,168             
Special Revenue Programs -                     -                     -                     -                        803,216                803,216                

Committed for:
Special Revenue Programs -                     -                     -                     -                        11,698                  11,698                  

Assigned for:
Capital Projects -                     43,331                -                     -                        -                        43,331                  
Insurance Costs 250,000              -                     -                     -                        -                        250,000                

Unassigned 7,718,848           -                     -                     -                        -                        7,718,848             

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 8,062,591           43,331                2,379,672           -                        1,837,541             12,323,135           

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 13,253,179$       144,049              2,379,672           3,047,592             2,813,013             21,637,505$         

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2018

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

26



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2018

TOTAL FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 12,323,135$         

Amounts reported for the governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different because of the following:

Capital assets used in governmental activities (excluding internal service funds) are not
financial resources and therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds.  The
cost of the assets was $118,842,457 and the accumulated depreciation was $55,865,236. 62,977,221           

Property taxes receivable that will be collected in the future, but are not available soon 
enough to pay for the current period's expenditures, and therefore are considered unavailable
in the governmental funds. 1,815,524             

Note and accounts receivables which are expected to be collected in future years, but are
not available soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures are unavailable and not
recognized in the governmental funds but are recognized in the Statement of Net Position. 112,910                

Land purchased for redevelopment/resale for Community Development is not a financial 
resource and therefore is not reported as an asset in the governmental funds but is in
the Statement of Net Position 962,370                

Accrued interest on the bonds in governmental accounting are not due or payable in
the current period, therefore, they have not been reported as a liability in the funds. (204,708)               

The City's (a) net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the City pension plan and (b) proportionate shares of the net pension 
liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to its 
participation in the State retirement plans are not recorded in the governmental funds
but are recorded in the Statement of Net Position. (41,005,303)          

The City's net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources
related to the City's OPEB plan are not reported in the governmental funds but is in the 
Statement of Net Position. (1,664,898)            

Internal service funds are used by the City to charge the cost of medical insurance
and replacement of equipment to the individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of 
the internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the Statement
of Net Position. 5,393,089             

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due or payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.  Long-term liabilities
at year-end consisted of the following:

Long-Term Debt (including Capital Leases) (24,339,992)          
Compensated Absences (Sick Pay and Vacations) (3,789,205)            (28,129,197)          

TOTAL NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 12,580,143$         

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

27



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

NEIGHBORHOOD
CAPITAL HOSPITALITY INITIATIVE OTHER TOTAL

GENERAL PROJECTS TAX PROGRAM GOVERNMENTAL GOVERNMENTAL
FUND FUND FUND FUND FUNDS FUNDS

REVENUES:

Taxes 14,798,582$    -                   5,041,501        -                       4,532,050           24,372,133$       
Fees, Licenses, and Permits 16,564,114      -                   -                   -                       -                      16,564,114         
Fines and Forfeitures 345,112           -                   -                   -                       -                      345,112              
State Government Contributions -                   -                   -                   2,710,407             521,602              3,232,009           
Federal Government Contributions -                   -                   -                   -                       821,575              821,575              
Intergovernmental Revenues 3,349,936        -                   -                   -                       -                      3,349,936           
Charges for Services 1,856,760        -                   -                   -                       -                      1,856,760           
Investment Earnings 89,774             -                   16,473             -                       8,751                  114,998              
Confiscated Drug Funds -                   -                   -                   -                       7,645                  7,645                  
Donations -                   195,000           -                   -                       60,000                255,000              
Ground Lease Rent -                   -                   -                   -                       200,000              200,000              
Other 204,976           164,359           951                  7,123                    1,392,130           1,769,539           

TOTAL REVENUES 37,209,254      359,359           5,058,925        2,717,530             7,543,753           52,888,821         

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Policy Formulation and Administration 5,975,414        -                   -                   -                       -                      5,975,414           
Public Safety 16,278,128      -                   -                   -                       -                      16,278,128         
Parks, Recreation, and Special Events 1,627,584        -                   -                   -                       -                      1,627,584           
Development Services 3,047,816        -                   -                   -                       -                      3,047,816           
Public Services 6,144,286        -                   -                   -                       -                      6,144,286           
Finance and Administrative Services 1,999,845        -                   -                   -                       654,177              2,654,022           
Operating -                   -                   548,330           2,728,163             3,238,474           6,514,967           

Capital Outlay 1,331,747        1,775,710        -                   -                       911,009              4,018,466           
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement -                   -                   -                   -                       2,942,865           2,942,865           
Interest -                   -                   -                   -                       729,429              729,429              
Other -                   -                   -                   -                       1,357,473           1,357,473           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 36,404,820      1,775,710        548,330           2,728,163             9,833,427           51,290,450         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 804,434           (1,416,351)       4,510,595        (10,633)                (2,289,674)          1,598,371           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers In 2,716,682        2,271,160        -                   10,633                  3,647,492           8,645,967           
Transfers Out (3,245,316)       -                   (4,472,841)       -                       (1,963,739)          (9,681,896)          
Refunding Bonds Issuance -                   -                   -                   -                       4,650,000           4,650,000           
Payment to Refunding Bond Escrow Agent -                   -                   -                   -                       (4,533,614)          (4,533,614)          
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 54,364             -                   -                   -                       145,719              200,083              

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (474,270)          2,271,160        (4,472,841)       10,633                  1,945,858           (719,460)             

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 330,164        854,809           37,754             -                       (343,816)         878,911           

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 7,732,427        (811,478)          2,341,918        -                       2,181,357           11,444,224         

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 8,062,591$      43,331             2,379,672        -                       1,837,541           12,323,135$       

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

28



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

TOTAL NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 878,911$                 

Amounts reported for the governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because of the following:

Property tax revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported
as revenues in the funds.  They are considered revenues in the Statement of Activities. 67,592                     

Bond and capital lease proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing
debt or entering into capital leases also increases long term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. (4,650,000)              

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces the long-term
liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 7,217,865                

Interest on long-term debt in the Statement of Activities differs from the amount reported in the governmental funds
because interest is recognized as an expenditure in the funds when it is due, and thus requires the use of current
financial resources.   In the Statement of Activities, however, interest expense is recognized as the interest accrues,
regardless of when it is due. 30,399                     

Changes in the City's net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources
related to the City's OPEB plan for the current year are not reported in the governmental funds but are 
reported in the Statement of Activities (103,481)                 

Changes in (a) the City's net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources related
to the City pension plan and (b) the City's proportionate shares of the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources,
and deferred inflows of resources for the current year are not recorded  in the governmental funds but are recorded
in the Statement of Net Position. (651,522)                 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of medical insurance and replacement of
equipment in the individual funds.  The net revenue (expense) of the internal service fund is reported with
governmental activities in the Statement of Activities. 99,419                     

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial resources and
therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. (156,123)                 

The repayment of principal by debtors to the City is considered income in the governmental funds, but the repayment
is shown as a reduction of the notes receivable amounts in the Statement of Net Position. (1,682)                     

Governmental funds report purchases of land for redevelopment/sale as expenditures.  However, in the Statement of
Activities, these expenditures are recorded as an asset.  This is the amount of the cost of the land purchased by
the City held for resale in the current period. (54,609)                   

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost of
those assets that are considered capital asset additions is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which capital asset additions ($2,205,006)  were exceeded by
depreciation expense ($2,679,466) in the current period.  (474,460)                 

TOTAL CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 2,202,309$              

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

29



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION -
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2018

TOTAL
 STORM INTERNAL

TRANSIT PARKING AIRPORT WATER SERVICE
FUND FUND FUND FUND TOTALS FUNDS

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,434$                  -                       -                       -                     8,434                   -$                      
Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 745,896                2,237,502            -                       2,268,018          5,251,416            1,534,797             
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents -                        -                       -                       -                     -                      1,261,174             
Accounts Receivable, Net 188,866                19,088                 1,680,176            26,463               1,914,593            17,422                  
Other Assets -                        -                       11,388                 -                     11,388                 -                        
Prepaids and Inventories 89,458                  -                       154,628               -                     244,086               851,774                

Total Current Assets 1,032,654             2,256,590            1,846,192            2,294,481          7,429,917            3,665,167             

Non-Current Assets:
Capital Assets:

Non-Depreciable 179,840                -                       20,859,701          -                     21,039,541          -                        
Depreciable, Net 4,245,994             17,482,064          9,503,923            306,286             31,538,267          7,731,136             

Total Non-Current Assets 4,425,834             17,482,064          30,363,624          306,286             52,577,808          7,731,136             

TOTAL ASSETS 5,458,488             19,738,654          32,209,816          2,600,767          60,007,725          11,396,303           

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES

Deferred Pension Charges -                        27,946                 77,807                 95,860               201,613               -                        
Deferred Other Postemployment Benefit Charges -                        -                       368                      1,551                 1,919                   -                        

TOTAL DEFERED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES -                        27,946                 78,175                 97,411               203,532               -                        

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 5,458,488$           19,766,600          32,287,991          2,698,178          60,211,257          11,396,303$         

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable/Deposits Payable 100,838$              6,048                   776,715               91,107               974,708               69,729$                
Accrued Salaries and Benefits -                        4,811                   19,329                 14,864               39,004                 -                        
Retainage Payable -                        -                       -                       5,081                 5,081                   -                        
Customer Deposits -                        55,444                 -                       -                     55,444                 -                        
Due To Other Funds -                        -                       302,327               -                     302,327               -                        
Unearned Revenue 1,301                    19,088                 -                       -                     20,389                 -                        
Unclaimed Checks -                        -                       -                       -                     -                      109                       
Accrued Claims/Premiums -                        -                       -                       -                     -                      407,727                
Current Portion of Compensated Absences -                        -                       14,331                 41,983               56,314                 -                        
Current Portion of Debt/Capital Leases -                        -                       -                       -                     -                      1,531,409             

Total Current Liabilities 102,139                85,391                 1,112,702            153,035             1,453,267            2,008,974             

Long-Term Liabilities:
Compensated Absences, Less Current Portion -                        -                       14,331                 41,983               56,314                 -                        
Debt/Capital Leases, Less Current Portion -                        -                       -                       -                     -                      3,994,240             
Net Pension Liability -                        178,842               497,952               613,484             1,290,278            -                        
Net Other Postemployment Benefit Liability -                        -                       9,242                   39,016               48,258                 -                        

Total Long-Term Liabilities -                        178,842               521,525               694,483             1,394,850            3,994,240             

TOTAL LIABILITIES 102,139                264,233               1,634,227            847,518             2,848,117            6,003,214             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Pension Credits -                        4,089                   11,385                 14,026               29,500                 -                        
Deferred Other Postemployment Benefit Credits -                        -                       273                      1,151                 1,424                   -                        

TOTAL DEFERED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES -                        4,089                   11,658                 15,177               30,924                 -                        

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 4,425,834             17,482,064          30,363,624          306,286             52,577,808          4,247,635             
Unrestricted 930,515                2,016,214            278,482               1,529,197          4,754,408            1,145,454             

TOTAL NET POSITION 5,356,349             19,498,278          30,642,106          1,835,483          57,332,216          5,393,089             

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, 
AND NET POSITION 5,458,488$           19,766,600          32,287,991          2,698,178          60,211,257          11,396,303$         

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

30



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION - 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

TOTAL
 STORM INTERNAL

TRANSIT PARKING AIRPORT WATER SERVICE
FUND FUND FUND FUND TOTALS FUNDS

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services 193,318$                455,188                420,847                1,673,411             2,742,764             1,318,085$              
Contributions -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        4,242,350                
Other Revenues 20,063                    4,931                    708                       -                        25,702                  49,301                     
Sale of Inventory -                          -                        1,056,709             -                        1,056,709             -                           

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 213,381                  460,119                1,478,264             1,673,411             3,825,175             5,609,736                

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personal Services -                          101,940                452,824                376,491                931,255                -                           
Depreciation 472,623                  812,613                242,972                32,196                  1,560,404             1,276,980                
Other Services and Charges 1,526,507               214,373                224,442                413,232                2,378,554             509,046                   
Claims/Premiums -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        3,622,242                
Cost of Goods Sold -                          -                        768,447                -                        768,447                -                           
Maintenance -                          189,904                33,719                  32,253                  255,876                -                           

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,999,130               1,318,830             1,722,404             854,172                5,894,536             5,408,268                

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (1,785,749)             (858,711)               (244,140)               819,239                (2,069,361)            201,468                   

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets -                          -                        4,352                    -                        4,352                    (3,781)                      
Federal and State Contributions 847,962                  -                        6,334,150             -                        7,182,112             -                           
Interest Expense -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        (81,066)                    
Investment Earnings -                          30,156                  18                          30,730                  60,904                  9,298                       
Other Revenues (Expenses) -                          (261)                      -                        -                        (261)                      (26,500)                    

TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 847,962                  29,895                  6,338,520             30,730                  7,247,107             (102,049)                  

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS (937,787)                 (828,816)               6,094,380             849,969                5,177,746             99,419                     

Transfers In 565,000                  -                        895,929                -                        1,460,929             -                           
Transfers Out -                          -                        -                        (425,000)               (425,000)               -                           

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (372,787)                 (828,816)               6,990,309             424,969                6,213,675             99,419                     

NET POSITION, Beginning of Year 5,729,136               20,327,094           23,660,367           1,446,689             51,163,286           5,293,670                
Cumulative Change in Accounting Principle - GASB #75 -                          -                        (8,570)                   (36,175)                 (44,745)                 -                           

NET POSITION, Beginning of Year, Restated 5,729,136               20,327,094           23,651,797           1,410,514             51,118,541           5,293,670                

NET POSITION, End of Year 5,356,349$             19,498,278           30,642,106           1,835,483             57,332,216           5,393,089$              

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

31



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

TRANSIT PARKING
FUND FUND

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from Charges for Services 193,344$                                               458,881                                                 
Receipts from Contributions -                                                         -                                                         
Receipts from Sale of Inventory -                                                         -                                                         
Receipts from Other Revenues 20,063                                                   4,931                                                     
Payments for Personal Services -                                                         (103,272)                                                
Payments for Services and Charges (1,477,440)                                             (402,197)                                                
Payments for Cost of Goods Sold -                                                         -                                                         
Payments for Other Expenses -                                                         -                                                         
Payments for Claims/Premiums -                                                         -                                                         

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,264,033)                                             (41,657)                                                  

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers from Other Funds 565,000                                                 -                                                         
Transfers to Other Funds -                                                         -                                                         

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 565,000                                                 -                                                         

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of Capital Assets -                                                         1                                                            
Proceeds on Sale of Capital Assets -                                                         -                                                         
Acquisition of Redevelopment Properties -                                                         -                                                         
Capital Grants and Contributions 792,382                                                 -                                                         
Bond, Note and Capital Lease Proceeds -                                                         -                                                         
Bond, Note, and Capital Lease Principal Payments -                                                         -                                                         
Bond, Note, and Capital Lease Interest Payments -                                                         -                                                         

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES 792,382                                                 1                                                            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment Earnings -                                                         30,156                                                   

NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES -                                                         30,156                                                   

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 93,349                                                   (11,500)                                                  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Including Restricted and Pooled, Beginning of Year 660,981                                                 2,249,002                                              

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Including Restricted and Pooled, End of Year 754,330$                                               2,237,502                                              

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash from Operating Activities:

Operating Income (Loss) (1,785,749)$                                           (858,711)                                                
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash from Operating Activities:

Depreciation Expense 472,623                                                 812,613                                                 
Other Revenues (Expenses) -                                                         (261)                                                       
Change in Accounts Representing Operating Activities:

Accounts Receivable -                                                         (6,885)                                                    
Other Assets -                                                         -                                                         
Prepaids and Inventories 7,879                                                     -                                                         
Deferred Pension Charges -                                                         (487)                                                       
Deferred OPEB Charges -                                                         -                                                         
Accounts Payable/Deposits Payable 41,188                                                   2,341                                                     
Accrued Salaries and Benefits -                                                         663                                                        
Customer Deposits -                                                         3,693                                                     
Compensated Absences -                                                         -                                                         
Claims/Premiums -                                                         -                                                         
Unearned Revenue 26                                                          6,885                                                     
Unclaimed Checks -                                                         -                                                         
Net Pension Liability -                                                         (3,204)                                                    
Net OPEB Liability -                                                         -                                                         
Deferred Pension Credits -                                                         1,696                                                     
Deferred OPEB Credits -                                                         -                                                         

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities (1,264,033)$                                           (41,657)                                                  

Noncash Investing, Capital and Financing Activities:
Change in Acquisition of Capital Assets Not Yet Paid For -$                                                       -                                                         

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

32



TOTAL
STORM INTERNAL

AIRPORT WATER SERVICE
FUND FUND TOTALS FUNDS

420,847                                                            1,687,714                                                         2,760,786                                                         1,318,085$                                                       
-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    4,231,620                                                         

1,056,709                                                         -                                                                    1,056,709                                                         -                                                                    
708                                                                   -                                                                    25,702                                                              49,301                                                              

(408,966)                                                           (414,998)                                                           (927,236)                                                           -                                                                    
(250,626)                                                           (405,739)                                                           (2,536,002)                                                        (571,410)                                                           
(841,306)                                                           -                                                                    (841,306)                                                           -                                                                    

-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    (26,500)                                                             
-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    (3,993,720)                                                        

(22,634)                                                             866,977                                                            (461,347)                                                           1,007,376                                                         

156,304                                                            -                                                                    721,304                                                            -                                                                    
-                                                                    (425,000)                                                           (425,000)                                                           -                                                                    

156,304                                                            (425,000)                                                           296,304                                                            -                                                                    

(7,156,467)                                                        (43,983)                                                             (7,200,449)                                                        (1,907,498)                                                        
2,809                                                                -                                                                    2,809                                                                45,835                                                              

-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    
7,019,970                                                         -                                                                    7,812,352                                                         -                                                                    

-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    2,550,000                                                         
-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    (1,299,462)                                                        
-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    (81,066)                                                             

(133,688)                                                           (43,983)                                                             614,712                                                            (692,191)                                                           

18                                                                     30,730                                                              60,904                                                              9,298                                                                

18                                                                     30,730                                                              60,904                                                              9,298                                                                

-                                                                    428,724                                                            510,573                                                            324,483                                                            

-                                                                    1,839,294                                                         4,749,277                                                         2,471,488                                                         

-                                                                    2,268,018                                                         5,259,850                                                         2,795,971$                                                       

(244,140)                                                           819,239                                                            (2,069,361)                                                        201,468$                                                          

242,972                                                            32,196                                                              1,560,404                                                         1,276,980                                                         
-                                                                    -                                                                    (261)                                                                  (26,500)                                                             

-                                                                    14,303                                                              7,418                                                                (10,730)                                                             
(12)                                                                    -                                                                    (12)                                                                    -                                                                    

(72,859)                                                             -                                                                    (64,980)                                                             (138,874)                                                           
(7,532)                                                               4,121                                                                (3,898)                                                               -                                                                    

(66)                                                                    (272)                                                                  (338)                                                                  -                                                                    
7,547                                                                39,746                                                              90,822                                                              5,710                                                                
5,160                                                                702                                                                   6,525                                                                -                                                                    

-                                                                    -                                                                    3,693                                                                -                                                                    
8,370                                                                (1,693)                                                               6,677                                                                -                                                                    

-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    (299,238)                                                           
-                                                                    -                                                                    6,911                                                                -                                                                    
-                                                                    -                                                                    -                                                                    (1,440)                                                               

32,023                                                              (49,391)                                                             (20,572)                                                             -                                                                    
370                                                                   1,562                                                                1,932                                                                -                                                                    

5,260                                                                5,313                                                                12,269                                                              -                                                                    
273                                                                   1,151                                                                1,424                                                                -                                                                    

(22,634)                                                             866,977                                                            (461,347)                                                           1,007,376$                                                       

(504,959)                                                           -                                                                    (504,959)                                                           -$                                                                  

33



PENSION
TRUST AGENCY
FUND FUND
General

Employees' Donation
Fund Fund

ASSETS

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 49,248$                -$                     
Restricted Investments:

Commingled Bond Funds 2,719,114             -                       
Corporate Bonds 1,149,684             -                       
Money Market Mutual Funds 46,624                  -                       

Accounts Receivable:
Interest 24,908                  -                       
Other -                       77,031                  

TOTAL ASSETS 3,989,578$           77,031$                

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable -$                     2,455$                  
Due to Others -                       74,576                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES -                       77,031                  

NET POSITION

Restricted for Pensions 3,989,578             -                       

TOTAL NET POSITION AND LIABILITIES 3,989,578$           77,031$                

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AND LIABILITIES-

JUNE 30, 2018

FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

34



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION -
FIDUCIARY FUND

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

PENSION
TRUST
FUND
General

Employees'
Fund

ADDITIONS

Contributions:
Employer 950,000$              

Total Contributions 950,000                

Investment Earnings:

Interest (18,625)                 

Total Investment Earnings (18,625)                 

TOTAL ADDITIONS ALL SOURCES 931,375                

DEDUCTIONS

Pension Benefits 1,536,892             
Administrative Expense 44,817                  

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 1,581,709             

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (650,334)               

NET POSITION, Beginning of Year 4,639,912             

NET POSITION, End of Year 3,989,578$           

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
See accompanying independent auditor's report.

35



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
The City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the “City”) embraces an area of approximately 20 square miles.  Chartered as a town 
in 1831, the City has grown into a cultural, educational, recreational, and transportation center for the upstate of South Carolina.  
It serves approximately 40,000 city residents and over 275,000 residents in the Greater Spartanburg area.  The governing body 
of the City is a council-manager form of government.  The mayor and six members of council (“City Council”) establish policy 
for the City.  Administrative functions are directed by the City Manager.   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

A. The Reporting Entity 
 

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America, (“GAAP”), as applied to governmental units.  The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 
financial reporting principles.  The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below. 
 
As required by GAAP, the financial statements present the City’s financial information with any of its component 
units.  The primary criterion for determining inclusion or exclusion of a legally separate entity (component unit) is 
financial accountability, which is presumed to exist if the City both appoints a voting majority of the entity’s governing 
body, and either 1) the City is able to impose its will on the entity or, 2) there is a potential for the entity to provide 
specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the City.  If either or both of the foregoing 
conditions are not met, the entity could still be considered a component unit if it is fiscally dependent on the City and 
there is a potential that the entity could either provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose specific financial 
burdens on the City. 
 
In order to be considered fiscally independent, an entity must have the authority to do all of the following: (a) 
determine its budget without the City having the authority to approve or modify that budget; (b) levy taxes or set rates 
or charges without approval by the City; and (c) issue bonded debt without approval by the City.  An entity has a 
financial benefit or burden relationship with the City if, for example, any one of the following conditions exists: (a) 
the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the entity’s resources, (b) the City is legally obligated or has 
otherwise assumed the obligation to finance the deficits or, or provide financial support to, the entity, or (c) the City 
is obligated in some manner for the debt of the entity.  Finally, an entity could be a component unit even if it met all 
the conditions described above for being fiscally independent if excluding it would cause the City’s financial 
statements to be misleading. 
 
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are in substance, part of the government's operations and 
data from these units are combined with data of the primary government in the fund financial statements.  Discretely 
presented component units, on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial 
statements to emphasize they are legally separate from the City.  Based on the criteria above, the City does not have 
any material component units. 
 
Related Organizations 

 
The City Council has various responsibilities with the following organizations of either appointing a limited number 
of board members to the organizations listed below or ministerial approval of certain transactions.  The City does not 
believe that any of the following organizations are fiscally dependent upon the City and thus these organizations are 
not considered component units as defined by GAAP: 

 
Spartanburg Water System   Spartanburg Housing Authority 
Northside Development Corporation   Spartanburg Development Corporation 

 
Major Operations 

 
The City’s major governmental operations include policy formulation and administration, public safety (police and 
fire), parks, recreation and special events, economic and community development, public services, finance and 
administrative services, and operating activities.  In addition, the City operates four enterprise funds consisting of 
Transit, Parking, Airport, and Storm Water. b 

  
36



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation 
 

Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported 
separately from business-type activities which rely, to a significant extent, on fees and charges for support.  The 
Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segments are offset 
by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  
Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.  The comparison of direct expenses with 
program revenues identifies the extent to which each business segment or governmental function is self-financing or 
draws from the general revenues of the City. 

 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting, as are the Proprietary Fund and Fiduciary Fund financial statements.  Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash 
flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) report 
information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the City (the primary government).  The effect of interfund activity 
has been removed from these statements. 

 
The government-wide financial statements are prepared using a different measurement focus from the manner in which 
governmental fund financial statements are prepared (see further detail below).  Governmental fund financial 
statements therefore, include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the 
government-wide financial statements and the governmental fund financial statements. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and 
the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the government considers its revenues to be available if they 
are generally collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period with the exception of certain 
reimbursement expenditure grants for which a twelve-month availability period is generally used.  Expenditures 
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, 
as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment 
is due.   
 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, permits, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be measurable and susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash has been received by 
the City. 
 
Fund financial statements report detailed information about the City.  The focus of governmental and enterprise fund 
financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type.  Each major fund is presented in a separate 
column.  Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column.  Fiduciary funds are reported by fund type. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s practice to use restricted resources 
first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
The accounts of the government are organized and operated on the basis of funds.  A fund is an independent fiscal and 
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  Fund accounting segregates funds according to their intended 
purpose and is used to aid management in demonstrating compliance with finance-related legal and contractual 
provisions.  The minimum number of funds is maintained consistent with legal and managerial requirements.  The 
following fund types and major funds are used by the City. 

37



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 

Governmental fund types are those through which most governmental functions of the City are financed. The City's 
expendable financial resources and related assets and liabilities (except for those accounted for in the Proprietary 
funds) are accounted for through governmental funds.  Governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Following are the City's governmental 
major and nonmajor governmental fund types: 
 

The General Fund, a major fund, is the general operating fund of the City and accounts for all revenues and 
expenditures of the City, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  All general tax revenues and 
other receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to other funds are accounted for in the General 
Fund.  General operating expenditures and the capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds 
are paid from the General Fund.  This is a budgeted fund, and any unreserved fund balance is generally considered 
a resource available for use. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund, a major fund and a budgeted fund, is used to account for financial resources expended 
for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by Proprietary Funds and 
Special Revenue Funds).  These funds are also used to carry on specified ongoing major improvement projects 
or major equipment acquisitions usually spanning more than one fiscal year.  Projects for this fund are designated 
by City officials.  Budgets for capital projects are approved on a project-by-project basis and not on an annual or 
biennial basis. 
 
The Hospitality Tax Fund, a major special revenue fund and a budgeted fund, is used to account for hospitality 
tax revenue paid for by businesses within City limits. 

 
The Neighborhood Initiative Program Fund, a major special revenue fund, is used to account for state grants 
and other revenue restricted for the Neighborhood Initiative Program (“NIP”) which are used to stabilize property 
values through the removal of blighted properties in strategically targeted areas in an effort to prevent future 
foreclosures for existing property owners.  

 
The Other Special Revenue Funds, non-major funds, and in general unbudgeted funds, are used to account for 
the proceeds of designated specific revenue sources that are restricted to expenditures for specified purposes.  
Special revenue funds that exist solely for the management of grants contain budgets that are incorporated into 
the grant agreements which are approved by the City Manager.  

 
The Other Debt Service Funds, non-major funds, are used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and 
payment of, long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs for the City. 

 
Proprietary fund types are accounted for based on the flow of economic resources measurement focus and use of the 
accrual basis of accounting.  Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the 
time liabilities are incurred.  

 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary 
fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the enterprise fund are primarily charges for 
services and sales of inventory.  Operating expenses for the enterprise fund include the cost of sales, administrative 
expenses, maintenance, and depreciation of capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are 
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.  Proprietary Fund types include the following funds: 

  

38



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 

Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations: (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to 
private business enterprises — where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including 
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered 
primarily through user charges, or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of 
revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, 
management control, accountability, or other purposes.  The City has the following Enterprise Funds: 

 
 The Transit Fund is used to account for the local fixed-route public transportation system. 

 
 The Parking Fund is used to account for the City’s parking garage system. 

 
 The Airport Fund is used to account for the activities of the City’s downtown airport. 

 
 The Storm Water Fund is used to account for the City’s activities of storm water maintenance and 

repairs. 
 

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or 
agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.  The 
City has the following Internal Service Funds: 

 
 The Equipment Replacement Fund is used to account for the funding of the estimated amounts to 

replace the moveable City equipment used in day to day operations. 
 

 The Medical Insurance Trust Fund is used to account for the collection of medical insurance premiums 
and payment of medical claims under the City’s self-insured health insurance plan.  

 
For the government-wide financial statements, the doubling up effect of internal service activity has been 
eliminated.  Remaining financial activities that are not eliminated are reported in the governmental activities column 
of the government-wide statements. 

 
Fiduciary fund types include the Pension Trust Fund and the Agency Fund. These funds are used to account for 
assets held by the City in a trustee capacity for individuals, other governments, and/or other funds. Pension Trust 
Funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as Proprietary Funds and are used to account for the City’s 
single-employer defined benefit retirement plan (General Employees’ Fund).  The Agency Fund (Donation Fund) is 
generally used to account for miscellaneous assets that the government holds on behalf of others.  The Agency Fund 
is custodial in nature and does not present results of operations. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
 
The City adopted GASB Statement No. 75 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions” (“Statement” or “GASB #75”) for the year ended June 30, 2018.  The primary objective of GASB 
#75 is to improve accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for other postemployment benefits 
(“OPEB”).  It is GASB’s intention that this new Statement will provide citizens and other users of the financial 
statements with a clearer picture of the size and nature of the City’s financial obligations to current and former 
employees for past services rendered. 
  
In particular, this Statement requires the City to recognize a net OPEB liability, any related deferred outflows/inflows 
of resources, and a more comprehensive measure of OPEB expense for the City of Spartanburg Defined Benefit 
Retiree Healthcare Plan (“OPEB Plan”), which is an agent-multiple-employer defined benefit plan, on financial 
statements prepared on the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting (i.e., the Statement 
of Net Position) and present more extensive note disclosures.   
 

39



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 

Change in Accounting Principle (Continued) 
 

The adoption has resulted in the restatement of the City’s net position as of July 1, 2017 for its government-wide and 
enterprise funds financial statements to reflect the reporting of an additional OPEB liability and deferred outflows of 
resources for its OPEB Plan in accordance with the provisions of this Statement.  Net position of the City’s 
government-wide financial statements as of July 1, 2017 was decreased by approximately $2,080,000, which consisted 
of approximately $2,035,000 for its governmental activities and $45,000 for its business-type activities (enterprise 
funds), reflecting the cumulative change in accounting principle related to the adoption of GASB #75.  See Note IV.E 
for more information regarding the City’s OPEB Plan. 
 

C. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Equity 
 

1. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 
 

The City considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with original maturities of three months 
or less when purchased and money market mutual funds to be cash equivalents.  Securities with an initial maturity of 
more than three months (from when initially purchased) and other non-money market mutual funds are reported as 
investments. 
 
The City’s operating cash and investment policy is designed to operate within existing statutes (which are identical 
for all non-fiduciary funds, fund types and component units within the State of South Carolina).  The statutes of the 
State of South Carolina authorize the City to invest in the following: 

 
(a) Obligations of the United States and its agencies, the principal and interest of which is fully guaranteed by 

the United States. 
 

(b) Obligations issued by the Federal Financing Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, the Bank of Cooperatives, the 
Federal Intermediate Credit Bank, the Federal Land Banks, the Federal Home Loan Banks, the Federal Home 
Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Government National Mortgage 
Association, the Federal Housing Administration, and the Farmers Home Administration, if, at the time of 
investment, the obligor has a long-term, unenhanced, unsecured debt rating in one of the top two ratings 
categories, without regard to a refinement or gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise, 
issued by at least two nationally recognized credit rating organizations. 

 
(c) (i) General obligations of the State of South Carolina or any of its political units; or (ii) revenue obligations 

of the State of South Carolina or its political units, if at the time of investment, the obligor has a long-term, 
unenhanced, unsecured debt rating in one of the top two ratings categories, without regard to a refinement or 
gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise, issued by at least two nationally recognized 
credit rating organizations. 

 
(d) Savings and Loan Associations to the extent that the same are insured by an agency of the federal government. 
 
(e) Certificates of deposit where the certificates are collaterally secured by securities of the type described in (a) 

and (b) above held by a third party as escrow agent or custodian, of a market value not less than the amount 
of the certificates of deposit so secured, including interest; provided, however, such collateral shall not be 
required to the extent the same are insured by an agency of the federal government. 

 
(f) Repurchase agreements when collateralized by securities as set forth in this section. 
 
 
 
 
 

40



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
C. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, and Equity (Continued) 

 
1. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 

 
(g) No load open-end or closed-end management type investment companies or investment trusts registered 

under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, where the investment is made by a bank or trust 
company or savings and loan association or other financial institution when acting as trustee or agent for a 
bond or other debt issue of that local government unit, political subdivision, or county treasurer if the 
particular portfolio of the investment company or investment trust in which the investment is made (i) is 
limited to obligations described in items (a), (b), (c), and (f) of this subsection, and (ii) has among its 
objectives the attempt to maintain a constant net asset value of one dollar a share and to that end, value its 
assets by the amortized cost method.  

 
The City’s cash investment objectives are preservation of capital, liquidity, and yield.  The City reports its cash and 
investments at fair value which is normally determined by quoted market prices.  The City currently or in the past year 
has used the following investments in its non-fiduciary activities: 
 

 Money market mutual funds are generally open-ended funds that invest in short term debt securities 
(including obligations of the United States and related agencies) that generally have a weighted average 
maturity of 60 days or less and do not invest more than 5% in any one issuer, except for government securities 
and repurchase agreements. 
 

 Agency securities are generally backed by mortgage loans, and due to their creation from particular 
corporations that are sponsored by the U.S. government, they enjoy credit protection based on either an 
implicit or explicit guarantee from the U.S. Government. 

 
 US securities are generally treasury notes, treasury bonds, treasury bills, and related securities which are debt 

obligations of the U.S. government (lending money to the federal government for a specified period of time).  
These debt obligations are backed by the “full faith and credit” of the government, and thus by its ability to 
raise tax revenues and print currency, U.S. Treasury securities are considered the safest of all investments. 

 
 Corporate obligations consists of fixed income securities that include domestic bonds, collateralized 

mortgage obligation securities, and international fixed income bonds.  These corporate obligations are issued 
by corporations in order to raise financing for various business reasons.  The backing for the bond is usually 
the payment ability of the company, which is typically money to be earned from future operations.   

 
 South Carolina Local Government Investment Pool (“LGIP” or “Pool”) investments are invested with the 

South Carolina State Treasurer’s Office, which established the South Carolina Pool pursuant to Section 6-6-
10 of the South Carolina Code.  The Pool is an investment trust fund, in which public monies in excess of 
current needs, which are under the custody of any city treasurer or any governing body of a political 
subdivision of the State, may be deposited.  In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31 “Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools” and GASB Statement No. 
72 ”Fair Value Measurement and Application”, investments are carried at fair value determined annually 
based upon (a) quoted market prices for identical or similar investments or (b) observable inputs other than 
quoted market prices.  The total fair value of the Pool is apportioned to the entities with funds invested on an 
equal basis for each share owned, which are acquired at a cost of $1.00.  Funds may be deposited by Pool 
participants at any time and may be withdrawn upon 24 hours’ notice.  Financial statements for the Pool may 
be obtained by writing the Office of State Treasurer, Local Government Investment Pool, P.O. Box 11778, 
Columbia, SC 29211-1960. 
 
 
 
 
 

41



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
C. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, and Equity (Continued) 

 
2. Receivables and Payables 

 
During the course of its operations, the City has numerous transactions occurring between funds.  These transactions 
include expenditures and transfers of resources to provide services, construct assets, and service debt. The 
accompanying financial statements generally reflect such transactions as transfers.  Operating subsidies are also 
recorded as transfers.  City management determines the classification of amounts recorded as subsidies or advances.  
To the extent that certain transactions between funds would not be paid or received as of a year end, interfund amounts 
or payables would be recorded.  Internal service funds are used to record charges to all City departments as operating 
revenue.  All City funds record these payments to the internal service funds as operating expenditures or expenses. 
The City uses the pooling of cash method of accounting whereby the General Fund makes all receipts and 
disbursements for the other funds.  

 
All trade and property taxes receivable are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible amounts.  Trade receivables 
are comprised of amounts due from entities and individuals for a variety of types of fees, charges and services, 
including franchise fees, hospitality fees, sanitation, water, sewer, storm water, and other fees and charges. 

 
3. Inventories, Prepaid Items, and Other Assets 

 
Inventory items consist primarily of automotive parts, airplane parts, and supplies and are stated at cost (first-in, first-
out method).  Perpetual inventory records are maintained and are adjusted annually to a physical count as of June 30.  
For governmental and proprietary funds, inventories are reported using the consumption method. 

 
Prepaid items in the proprietary funds are recorded using the consumption method (expensed as used).  Prepaid items 
in the governmental funds are generally accounted for using the purchase method (expensed when paid).  If significant 
amounts of prepaid items exist in the governmental funds, the City records these amounts in the balance sheet. 

 
4. Capital Assets 

 
General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in the Proprietary Funds.  These 
assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds.  These assets are reported in the governmental 
activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position, but are not reported in the fund financial 
statements.  Capital assets utilized by the Proprietary Funds are reported both in the business-type activities column 
of the government-wide Statement of Net Position and in the respective fund financial statements. 

 
All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.  
Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated acquisition value on the date donated.  Public domain 
(“infrastructure”) general capital assets acquired prior to July 1, 2002, consisting of roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, 
streets, and sidewalks, drainage systems, and lighting systems that were acquired or that received substantial 
improvements subsequent to July 1, 1980, are reported at estimated historical cost using deflated replacement cost.   

 
Interest costs related to Proprietary Fund construction is capitalized as part of the capitalized value of the asset 
constructed if significant.  Interest costs of tax-exempt borrowings are capitalized net of related investment earnings 
on the proceeds.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
C. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, and Equity (Continued) 
 

4. Capital Assets (Continued) 
 

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives 
are not capitalized. The City maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000.  

 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
Description Estimated Lives Estimated Lives

Machinery and Equipment 5-10 years 5-10 years
Furniture and Fixtures 5-10 years N/A
Vehicles 5-20 years 5-20 years
Buildings and Improvements 20-40 years 20-40 years
Sewer Lines and Storm Drains 75 years 75 years
Roads and Streets 25 years N/A
Bridges and Sidewalks 50 years N/A
Traffic Signals 15 years N/A

 
5. Compensated Absences 

 
The City’s general leave policy allows accumulation of up to 90 days for unused general leave at the end of each year 
ending December 31.  Individuals accumulate general leave, which constitutes vacation, at a rate of one and one-half 
days per month.  Additional days are earned based upon longevity in excess of five years.  Employees terminating or 
retiring are paid for accumulated general leave based on their hourly rate of pay earned at the time of termination or 
retirement. 

 
Prior to July 1, 1980, employees’ accumulated sick leave at the rate of one day per month with no limit on the 
maximum number of days accumulated.  Any general leave time in excess of 90 days as of December 31, is added to 
sick leave accrual.  Sick leave does not vest and can only be used by employees when they are ill.   

 
The City reports compensated absences in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 16 “Accounting 
for Compensated Absences.”  The entire compensated absence liability and expense is reported on the government-
wide financial statements.  The portion applicable to the Proprietary Funds is also recorded in the Proprietary Funds 
financial statements.  If applicable, termination payments incurred prior to yearend related to governmental funds are 
recorded in the fund financial statements (if material). 

 
6. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations 

 
All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial statements.  
Bond premiums, discounts and issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-
line method (as it approximates the effective interest method) if material.  Debt is reported net of applicable bond 
premiums and discounts. 

 
In the governmental fund financial statements, bond premiums, discounts and bond issuance costs are recognized 
immediately.  The face amount of debt or capital leases issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums 
received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts are reported as other financing uses.  
Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
 
 
 
 

43



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

C. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, and Equity (Continued) 
 
6. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 
In general, payables and accrued liabilities that will be paid from governmental funds are reported on the governmental 
fund financial statements regardless of whether they will be liquidated with current financial resources.  However, 
claims and judgments, debt and capital leases, compensated absences, contractually required pension contributions, 
special termination benefits and other related long-term liabilities that will eventually be paid from governmental 
funds are not reported as a liability in the fund financial statements until due and payable. 

 
7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position and the Balance Sheet will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents 
a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then.  The City currently has two types of deferred outflows of resources: (1) The City 
reports deferred pension charges in its Statement of Net Position in connection with the City Pension Plan and its 
participation in the South Carolina Retirement System and the South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System.  (2) 
The City reports deferred OPEB charges in in its Statement of Net Position in connection with the City’s OPEB Plan. 
The deferred pension and OPEB charges are either (a) recognized in the subsequent period as a reduction of the net 
pension/OPEB liability (which includes contributions made after the measurement date) or (b) amortized in a 
systematic and rational method as pension/OPEB expense in future periods in accordance with GAAP. 

 
In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position and the Balance Sheet will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time.  The City currently has three types of deferred inflows of resources: (1) The City reports 
unavailable revenue (property taxes and note receivables) only in the governmental funds Balance Sheet; these items 
are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available.  (2) The City also 
reports deferred pension credits in its Statements of Net Position in connection with the City Pension Plan and its 
participation in the South Carolina Retirement System and South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System.  (3) 
The City reports deferred OPEB credits in its Statement of Net Position in connection with the City OPEB Plan.  The 
deferred pension and OPEB credits are amortized in a systematic and rational method and recognized as a reduction 
of pension/OPEB expense in future periods in accordance with GAAP.  

 
8. Fund Balance 

 
In accordance with GAAP, the City classifies governmental fund balances as follows: 

 
Nonspendable – includes amounts that inherently cannot be spent either because it is not in spendable form (i.e., 
prepaids, inventories, long-term portions of loans receivable, etc.) or because of legal or contractual requirements 
(i.e., principal on an endowment, etc.). 
 
Restricted – includes amounts that are constrained by specific purposes which are externally imposed by (a) 
other governments through laws and regulations, (b) grantors or contributions through agreements, (c) creditors 
through debt covenants or other contracts, or (d) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation. 

 
Committed – includes amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed by the 
government through a resolution made by the City Council, which is the highest level of decision making 
authority, before the end of the reporting period.  Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose 
unless the government removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed to 
previously commit those amounts. 

 
 

44



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

C. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, and Equity (Continued) 
 
 8.    Fund Balance (Continued) 

 
Assigned – includes amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are neither considered 
restricted nor committed; in addition, such assignments are made before the report issuance date.  The City 
Council has formally granted the City Manager, Assistant City Manager, Finance Director, or Budget Director 
the authority to make assignments of fund balance for the City. 

 
Unassigned – includes amounts that do not qualify to be accounted for and reported in any of the other fund 
balance categories.  This classification represents the amount of fund balance that has not been assigned to other 
funds and that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the General Fund.  The 
General Fund should be the only fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance amount.  In other 
governmental funds, if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts that are restricted, 
committed, or assigned to those purposes, it may be necessary to report a negative unassigned fund balance. 

 
The City generally uses restricted amounts first when both restricted and unrestricted (committed, assigned, and 
unassigned) fund balance is available unless there are legal documents, contracts, or agreements that prohibit doing 
such.  Additionally, the City generally would first use committed, then assigned, and lastly unassigned amounts of 
unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made. 
 
9. Net Position 
 
Net Position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows or resources, liabilities and deferred inflows 
of resources.  Net Investment in Capital Assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by 
the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.  
Outstanding debt, which has not been spent, is included in the same Net Position component as the unspent proceeds.  
Net Position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling 
legislation or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments. 

 
10. Pensions and Other Postemployment Benefits 

 
In government-wide financial statements, pensions and other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) are required to be 
recognized and disclosed using the accrual basis of accounting (see Note IV.D and Note IV.E and the required 
supplementary information immediately following the notes to the financial statements for more information), regardless 
of the amounts recognized as pension and OPEB expenditures on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The City 
recognizes net pension and net OPEB liabilities for each plan for which it participates, which represents the excess of 
the total pension and OPEB liabilities over the fiduciary net position of the qualified plan, or the City’s proportionate 
share thereof in the case of a cost-sharing multiple-employer plan, measured as of the City’s fiscal year-end.  Changes 
in the net pension and OPEB liabilities during the period are recorded as pension and OPEB expenses, or as deferred 
outflows or inflows of resources depending on the nature of the change, in the period incurred.  Those changes in 
net pension and OPEB liabilities that are recorded as deferred outflows or inflows of resources that arise from changes 
in actuarial assumptions or other inputs and differences between expected or actual experience are amortized over 
the weighted average remaining service life of all participants in the respective qualified plan and recorded as a 
component of pension and OPEB expense beginning with the period in which they are incurred.  Any projected 
earnings on qualified pension and OPEB plan investments are recognized as a component of pension and OPEB 
expense.  Differences between projected and actual investment earnings are reported as deferred outflows or inflows 
of resources and amortized as a component of pension and OPEB expense on a closed basis over a multi-year 
period beginning with the year in which the difference occurred.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

45



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

C. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, and Equity (Continued) 
 

11. Fair Value 
 

The fair value measurement and disclosure framework provides for a three-tier fair value hierarchy that gives highest 
priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described 
below: 

 
Level 1 –  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities 

in active markets that the City can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 –  Inputs to the valuation methodology, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are 

observable for an asset or liability either directly or indirectly and include: 
 Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets. 
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets. 
 Inputs other than quoted market prices that are observable for the asset or liability. 
 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 
 

Level 3 –  Inputs to the valuation methodology that are unobservable for an asset or liability and include: 
 Fair value is often based on developed models in which there are few, if any, observable 

inputs. 
 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of 
any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  Valuation techniques used maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  
 
The valuation methodologies described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of future 
net realizable values or reflective of future fair values.  The City believes that the valuation methods used are 
appropriate and consistent with GAAP.  The use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value 
of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.  There have 
been no significant changes from the prior year in the methodologies used to measure fair value. 
 
12. Encumbrances 

 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for expenditures are 
recorded to reflect the use of the applicable spending appropriations, is used by the General Fund during the year to 
control expenditures.  Encumbrances do not constitute expenditures or liabilities.  For budget purposes encumbrances 
and unused expenditure appropriations lapse at year end. 

 
13. Accounting Estimates 

  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of these balances as of the 
date of the financial statements.  In addition, they affect the reported of revenues and expenditures/expenses during 
the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. 
 
14. Comparative Data 

 
Comparative data (i.e. presentation of prior year totals by fund type) has not been presented in each of the statements 
since their inclusion would make the statements unduly complex and difficult to read. 

 

46



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 
A. Budgetary Information 

 
The City utilizes the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 

 
Prior to June 1, the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year 
commencing July 1.  The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them for 
the General Fund and certain Special Revenue Funds. 

 
Public meetings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.  A target date in June is set for legal enactment of 
the budget through passage of an ordinance.  After the City completes the formal budget process, the City prepares 
and issues a budget report. This report includes all budgeted funds.  The City adopts its budgets annually. 

 
The budget is administered by the City Manager, who is authorized by the City Council.  The manager is authorized 
to transfer appropriated funds within and between departments, funds, and agencies of the City, as may be necessary, 
to achieve the budget objectives set by City Council. The City Manager is authorized to make emergency expenditures 
from budgeted non-departmental monies for general purposes in an amount not to exceed ten thousand ($10,000) 
dollars per expenditure; provided, however, the item is reported to City Council in writing no later than the following 
regularly scheduled meeting of council. 
 
Revisions that alter the total budgeted expenditures of the City as a whole must be approved by City Council. There 
were no revisions to the General Fund budget in fiscal year 2018.  The level at which expenditures may not legally 
exceed appropriations is therefore the total revised appropriations amount. 
 
Budgets are adopted on a GAAP basis.  Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device 
for the General Fund, Hospitality Tax Fund and certain other non-major Special Revenue Funds (Community 
Development, Federal Home Program, and Victims Assistance).  As noted earlier, only the City Manager may move 
funds between departments because it is at the departmental level that fiscal responsibility for budgets is enforced as 
a management tool. 

 
At year end, unencumbered balances of appropriations lapse into the unappropriated fund balance of the General Fund. 

 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES 
 

A. Deposits and Investments 
 

Deposits 
 

Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits:  Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, 
the City deposits might not be recovered.  The City does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk but follows 
the investment policy statutes of the State of South Carolina.  As of June 30, 2018, none of the City’s non-pension 
trust fund bank balances of approximately $2,774,000 (book balance of approximately $1,932,000) was 
uncollateralized and exposed to custodial credit risk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
47



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (Continued) 
 

A. Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 

Investments 
 
As of June 30, 2018, the City’s non-pension trust fund investment portfolio consisted of: 

Weighted Average
Fair Value Credit Fair Maturity

Investment Type Levels (1) Rating ^ Value < 1 year

State Local Government Investment Pool N/A NR,NR,NR 15,977,882$         15,977,882$         
Treasury MMMF Level 1 AAAm, Aaa-mf, NR 1,261,174             1,261,174             

Total Primary Government 17,239,056$         17,239,056$         

(1) See Note I.C.11 for details of the City's fair value hierarchy.

NR – Not rated.

N/A - Not applicable or not available.

MMMF - Money market mutual fund.

^ If available, credit ratings are for Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investors Service, and Fitch Ratings.

 
Interest Rate Risk:  The City does not have a formal policy limiting investment maturities that would help manage 
its exposure to fair value losses from increasing interest rates. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk for Investments:  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of a bank 
failure, the government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party.  The City does not have an investment policy for custodial credit risk but follows the 
investment policy statutes of the State of South Carolina.  As of June 30, 2018, none of the City’s investments were 
exposed to custodial credit risk. 

  
Credit Risk for Investments:  Credit risk for investments is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an 
investment will not fulfill its obligations.  The City does not have an investment policy for credit risk but follows the 
investment policy statutes of the State of South Carolina. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk for Investments:  The City places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one 
issuer.  Investments issued by or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government and investments in mutual funds, 
external investment pools, and other pooled investments are exempt from concentration of credit risk disclosures. 

 
Pension Trust Fund Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 
 
City Council established the Retirement Committee (“Committee”) and designated it to supervise the investment of 
the resources in the City’s Pension Plan.  Decisions regarding the changes to investment and policies may only be 
enacted by majority vote of the Committee.  The Committee developed an Investment Policy Statement (“Policy”) to 
establish investment objectives and guidelines for the Pension Plan. 
 
The goal of the City’s Pension Plan is to provide employees of the City with a vehicle for retirement savings and, if 
possible, to provide for cost of living increases through the investment process.  The Pension Plan is intended to meet 
the investment needs of a diverse employee group by offering a range of investments.  In order to best meet the 
investment needs of the Pension Plan, the Pension Plan will invest in multiple asset classes.  The Committee believes 
that using multiple investment managers and alternative asset classes will improve the return on investment and reduce 
volatility.  The Pension Plan’s investment policy finds that the following target mixture of asset classes will produce 
the desired performance at acceptable fluctuation levels over time. 
 
 
 

48



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

A. Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 
Pension Trust Fund Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 
 
Pension Plan Risk Profile:  Because the Pension Plan has an extremely conservative risk tolerance, we expect the 
investment manager(s) to follow these guidelines: 
 

 Buy only investment grade  bonds 

 Have no more than 15% in corporate bonds 

 Have no more than 15% in international bonds 

 Have no more than 5% exposure to any one issuer 
 

Deposits 
 
Custodial Credit Risk for Pension Trust Deposits:  Custodial credit risk for pension trust deposits is the risk that, 
in the event of a bank failure, the City Pension Trust deposits might not be recovered.  As of June 30, 2018, none of 
the City’s pension trust fund bank balances of approximately $49,000 (with a book balance of approximately $49,000) 
was uncollateralized and exposed to custodial credit risk.   
 
Investments 
 
The Pension Plan trust portfolio at June 30, 2018 is as shown in the following table.  The trust reports its investments 
at fair value. 

Fair Value Credit Fair
Investment Type Levels (1) Rating ^ Value < 1 Year 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years > 5 Years

Money Market Mutual Funds Level 1 AAAam,Aaa-mf,NR 46,624$      46,624   -         -         -$           
Agency Securities Level 2 AA+, Aaa, AAA 1,588,694   254,962 -         132,192 1,201,540   
US Securities Level 1 AA+, AAA, AAA 1,130,420   -         211,388 292,629 626,403      
Corporate Obligations Level 2 (2) 1,149,684   -         305,029 438,127 406,528      

Total Pension Trust 3,915,422$ 301,586 516,417 862,948 2,234,471$ 

(1) See Note I.C.11 for details of the City's fair value hierarchy.

(2) Credit ratings range from BBB to AA-, BAA2 to A1, N/A.

NR – Not rated.

N/A - Not applicable or not available.

^ If available, credit  ratings are for Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investors Service and Fitch Ratings.

Weighted Average Maturity

Pension Trust Interest Rate Risk:  The Pension Plan’s goal is to maximize investment income without unduly 
jeopardizing the safety and liquidity of funds.  The Pension Plan does not have a formal policy limiting investment 
maturities that would help manage its exposure to fair value losses from increasing interest rates. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk for Pension Trust Investments:  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the 
event of a bank failure, the government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of an outside party.  The Pension Plan does not have an investment policy for custodial credit 
risk.  As of June 30,2018, none of the Pension Plan’s investments were exposed to custodial credit risk. 
 
Credit Risk for Pension Trust Investments:  Credit risk for investments is the risk that an issuer or other 
counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  The Pension Plan does not have an investment policy for 
credit risk. 

  

49



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
A. Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

 
Pension Trust Fund Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 
 
Investments (Continued) 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk for Pension Trust Investments:  The Pension Plan places no limit on the amount it 
may invest in any one issuer.  The Pension Plan had approximately 31% and 8% of its investments with the Federal 
National Mortgage Association and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, respectively, as of June 30, 2018.  
Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S government and investments in mutual funds are excluded 
from this disclosure requirement. 

 
B. Receivables and Unavailable, Deferred, and Unearned Revenues  

 
Property Taxes Receivables and Loan Receivables 
 
Property tax for the City is levied by the County each fall on the assessed valuation of property located in the City as 
of the preceding January 1.  Property taxes are generally levied in September.  The first penalty, calculated at fifteen 
percent, is applicable to payments made after the original January 15th property tax due date. Property taxes attach as 
an enforceable lien on January 1st and are considered delinquent if not paid by March 15. 

 
Assessed values for real estate are established annually by the County Tax Assessor at 4% of market value for legal 
residence and 6% of market value for rental and other real property.  Real property in the City for the 2018 tax levy 
was assessed at approximately $150,666,000.  Assessed values for personal property are established by the County 
Auditor at 10.5% of market value, which was determined by the South Carolina Department of Revenue.  The 2018 
assessed value was approximately $2,220,000 for personal property.  The City’s operating tax rate is currently 105.0 
mills.  The County bills and collects the City’s property taxes.  The City had outstanding property taxes receivable of 
$1,742,000 and $74,000 (which is net of an allowance for uncollectibles of approximately $596,000 and $25,000 
respectively) for general operations and for its tax increment districts, respectively, at June 30, 2018. 
 
The City has outstanding mortgage and commercial loans receivables of approximately $123,000 at June 30, 2018.   

 
Unavailable, Deferred, and Unearned Revenues 
 
Governmental funds report as a component of deferred inflows of resources (a) revenues that are not considered to be 
available to liquidate liabilities (unavailable revenue) and (b) revenues that have been received but are intended to 
finance future periods (deferred revenue).  Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition and report liabilities in 
connection with resources that have been received but not yet earned (unearned revenue).  As of June 30, 2018, the 
City had the following unavailable, deferred, and unearned revenues in its governmental funds: 

Description Category Amount

Property Taxes Receivable (General Fund, TIF Funds, and Debt Service Funds) Unavailable 1,815,524$       
Mortgage and Loan Receivables (Special Revenue Funds) Unavailable 112,910            
Other Unearned Revenue (General Fund, Capital Projects Fund and Special Revenue Funds) Unearned 524,072            

     Total 2,452,506$       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

C. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the City’s governmental activities for the year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows:

Beginning Transfers & Ending
Governmental Activities: Balance Increases Decreases Adjustments Balance

Capital Assets, Non-Depreciable
Land 30,473,329$   80,000   - 958,957 31,512,286$   
Construction In Progress ("CIP") 842,983    2,050,006  - (2,406,679) 486,310    

Total Capital Assets, Non-Depreciable 31,316,312  2,130,006     - (1,447,722) 31,998,596  

Capital Assets, Depreciable
Buildings and Improvements 30,567,450  -  -    426,028   30,993,478  
Infrastructure 49,308,612  -  -    -   49,308,612  
Machinery and Equipment 6,439,320    182,485  (177,797)     1,021,694  7,465,702    
Vehicles 16,412,121  1,839,341  (540,563)     (18,510)     17,692,389  
Furniture and Fixtures 12,099   -     -    -  12,099  

Total Capital Assets, Depreciable 102,739,602  2,021,826     (718,360)  1,429,212   105,472,280   

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation for:
Buildings and Improvements 13,333,293  1,014,206     -    -   14,347,499  
Infrastructure 35,026,749  1,536,983     -    -   36,563,732  
Machinery and Equipment 5,611,017    214,620    (138,470)  - 5,687,167 
Vehicles 9,470,841    1,190,637     (492,488)  (16,968)    10,152,022  
Furniture and Fixtures 12,099   -  -    -   12,099  

Total Accumulated Depreciation 63,453,999  3,956,446     (630,958)  (16,968)    66,762,519  

Total Capital Assets, Depreciable, Net 39,285,603  (1,934,620)    (87,402)    1,446,180   38,709,761  

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 70,601,915$   195,386    (87,402)    (1,542)   70,708,357$   

Depreciation expense for governmental activities (which includes internal service fund depreciation expense of 
approximately $1,277,000) was charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Functions/Programs Depreciation Expense

Policy Formulation and Administration 402,021$     
Public Safety 694,470   
Parks, Recreation, and Special Events 707,309   
Development Services 8,579    
Public Services 2,135,484     
Finance and Administrative Services 8,583    

Totals - Governmental Activities 3,956,446$       

51



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

C. Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Capital asset activity for the City’s business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows:

 Beginning Transfers Ending 
Business-Type Activities: Balance Increases Decreases & Adjustments Balance

Capital Assets, Non-Depreciable:
Land 2,982,220$     -               -               106,642       3,088,862$     
Construction In Progress 12,587,148     6,651,508    -               (1,287,977)   17,950,679     

Total Capital Assets, Non-Depreciable 15,569,368     6,651,508    -               (1,181,335)   21,039,541     

Capital Assets, Depreciable:
Buildings and Improvements 40,488,310     -               -               1,181,335    41,669,645     
Infrastructure 6,876,243       -               -               -               6,876,243       
Machinery and Equipment 918,714          -               (5,250)          -               913,464          
Vehicles 4,406,974       43,983         -               18,510         4,469,467       

Total Capital Assets, Depreciable 52,690,241     43,983         (5,250)          1,199,845    53,928,819     

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation for:
Buildings and Improvements 17,134,692     1,034,110    -               -               18,168,802     
Infrastructure 883,036          190,094       -               -               1,073,130       
Machinery and Equipment 892,936          9,234           (5,250)          -               896,920          
Vehicles 1,907,766       326,966       -               16,968         2,251,700       

Total Accumulated Depreciation 20,818,430     1,560,404    (5,250)          16,968         22,390,552     

Total Capital Assets, Depreciable, Net 31,871,811     (1,516,421)   -               1,182,877    31,538,267     

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, Net 47,441,179$   5,135,087    -               1,542           52,577,808$   
 

 

Depreciation expense for business-type activities was charged to functions/programs as follows: 
 

Functions/Programs Depreciation Expense

Transit 472,623$                    
Parking 812,613                      
Airport 242,972                      
Storm Water 32,196                        

Totals - Business-Type Activities 1,560,404$                 
 

 
The cost of equipment recorded under capital lease was approximately $7,849,000.  Accumulated amortization was 
approximately $1,617,000 at June 30, 2018.  Amortization of assets recorded under capital lease obligations has been 
included with depreciation expense. 
 
The City receives donated infrastructure from time to time for new subdivisions/projects from various developers and 
other entities.  The Engineering Administrator inspects and approves the installation of the infrastructure by the 
developer before the City takes over ownership.  The Engineering Administrator also estimates the value of the 
donated infrastructure based on the estimated replacement cost for the infrastructure.  For fiscal year 2018, the City 
did not receive any significant donated infrastructure.  
 
The City has outstanding construction commitments of approximately $12,930,000 at June 30, 2018 primarily related 
to the airport runway extension project. 
 

52



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
D. Long-Term Obligations 

 
The City issues bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities.  General 
Obligation Bonds (“GOB”) and General Obligation Refunding Bonds (“GORB”) are direct obligations and pledge the 
full faith and credit of the City.  Tax Increment Refunding Bonds (“TIRB”) are considered a special obligation of the 
City payable solely from ad valorem taxes generated by improvements to real property within the redevelopment 
project area.  Hospitality Tax Refunding bonds (“HTRB”) and Hospitality Tax Refunding and Improvement Bonds 
(“HTRB”) are special obligations of the City that are secured by hospitality tax revenue.  Capital Lease (“CL”) 
obligations are special obligations of the City payable from the general revenues of the City.  The full faith, credit, 
and taxing powers of the City are not pledged for the payment of the TIRB, HTRB, or CL obligations nor the interest 
thereon.  Details for each debt issue and outstanding capital lease as of June 30, 2018, are as follows: 

 
Principal Outstanding 
        at Year End          

 
General Obligation Bonds 

 
$680,000 Series 2010 – GOB issued in December of 2010, in an original amount of $6,995,000.  The rate of 

interest ranges from 3.5% to 4.5%.  The bond matures in April of 2030.  Interest payments are due 
April 1st and October 1st of each calendar year.  Annual principal payments of $265,000 began April 
1, 2012, and increase in amounts annually until the annual payment reaches $510,000 in year 2030.  
The proceeds of these bonds were used to fund the closure of the Arkwright Landfill and the 
construction of community parks.  These bonds were partially refunded by the Series 2017 – GO. 

 
$4,595,000 Series 2017 – GORB issued in December 2017, in an original amount of $4,650,000 with an interest 

rate of 2.71%.  The bond matures in April of 2030.  Interest payments are due April 1st and October 
1st of each calendar year.  Annual principal payments of $55,000 began April 1, 2018, and increase 
in amounts annually until the annual payment reaches $505,000 in year 2030.  The proceeds of these 
bonds were used to partially advance refund the Series 2010 – GOB. 

 
Tax Increment Refunding Bonds 

 
$4,020,000 Series 2017 – TIRB issued in March 2017, in an original amount of $4,545,000 with an interest rate 

of 2.24%.  The bonds mature April 1, 2025.  Interest payments are due April 1st of each calendar 
year.  Annual principal payments of $525,000 begin April 1, 2018, and increase in amounts annually 
until the annual payment reaches $610,000 in year 2025.  The proceeds of these bonds were 
primarily used to refund the Series 2010 – TIRB. 

 
Hospitality Tax Bonds 
 
$5,465,000 Series 2014 – HTRB (Hospitality Fee Pledge) issued in April 2014, in an original amount of 

$8,250,000 with an interest rate of 2.05%.  The bonds mature April 1, 2025.  Interest payments are 
due April 1st of each year.  Principal payments begin April 1, 2015, at $675,000 and increase in 
amounts annually until the annual payment reaches $830,000 in year 2025.  The proceeds of these 
bonds were used to defease the Series 2010 – HTRB. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

53



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 
Principal Outstanding 
        at Year End          
 
Hospitality Tax Bonds (Continued) 
 
$3,465,000 Series 2016A – HTRIB (Hospitality Fee Pledge) – Issued May 2016, in an original amount of 

$4,005,000 with an interest rate of 2.33%.  The bonds mature April 1, 2030.  Interest payments are 
due April 1st of each year.  Principal payments begin April 1, 2017, at $270,000 and increase in 
amounts annually until the annual payment reaches $290,000 in year 2030.  Part of the proceeds of 
these bonds were used to refund the Series 2005 Certificates of Participation (“COPS”) with the rest 
going to acquire capital assets for the Airport Fund.  

 
$4,975,000 Series 2016B – HTB (Hospitality Fee Pledge) – Issued May 2016, in an original amount of 

$6,130,000 with an interest rate of 3.54%.  The bonds mature April 1, 2029.  Interest payments are 
due April 1st of each year.  Principal payments begin April 1, 2017, at $585,000 and fluctuate in 
amounts annually until the final payment of $485,000 in year 2029.  The proceeds of these bonds 
were used to acquire capital assets for the Parking Fund. 

 
Promissory Note 
 
$212,675 In June 2014, the City entered into a promissory note with the Mary Black Foundation for park 

improvements.  The rate of interest is 3.125%.  The note is due in full in June 2019.  The note 
requires monthly payments (interest and principal) of $18,024. 

 
Capital Leases 

 
$328,720 In May 2014, the City entered into a 5-year capital lease to purchase vehicles.  The rate of interest 

is 1.42%.  The lease is due in full in April 2019.  The lease requires semi-annual payments (interest 
and principal) of $166,112.  This lease is recorded and funded in the Equipment Replacement Fund 
(internal service fund). 

 
 1,353,000 In April 2015, the City entered into a 10-year capital lease for the purchase of vehicles and 

equipment. The rate of interest is 1.49%. The lease is due in full in April 2025. The lease requires 
semi-annual payments (interest and principal) of $223,492 beginning October 1, 2015 and 
decreasing to $47,350 on April 1, 2025. This lease is recorded and funded in the Equipment 
Replacement Fund (internal service fund). 

 
 35,257 In September 2014, the City entered into a 5-year capital lease for Phase I of a new telephone system. 

The rate of interest is 3.63%. The lease is due in full in August 2019. The lease requires monthly 
payments (interest and principal) of $2,588. This lease is funded in the General Fund. 

 
 21,549 In September 2014, the City entered into a 5-year capital lease for Phase II of the new telephone 

system. The rate of interest is 4.91%. The lease is due in full in September 2019. The lease requires 
monthly payments (interest and principal) of $1,494. This lease is funded in the General Fund. 

 
$574,417 In December, 2015 the City entered into a 7-year capital technology lease purchase agreement for a 

police records system. The rate of interest is 2.95%. The lease requires annual payments (principal 
and interest) of $154,349.   

 
 
 
 
 

54



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 
Principal Outstanding 
        at Year End           
 
Capital Leases (Continued) 
 
$296,094 In March 2016, the City entered into a 5-year building lease (including land and parking lot) on 

Church Street with Spartanburg Development Corporation (a related party).  The implicit rate of 
interest is 7.585%. The lease requires monthly payments (principal and interest) of $9,969 beginning 
in March 2016.  Upon the expiration of the lease, the City has the right to purchase the building for 
$10. 

 
 1,499,801 In September 2016, the City entered into a 10-year capital lease for the purchase of vehicles and 

equipment. The rate of interest is 1.42%. The lease is due in full in October 2026. The lease requires 
semi-annual payments (interest and principal) of $180,181 for the first five years and $29,884 for 
the last five years.  This lease is recorded and funded in the Equipment Replacement Fund (internal 
service fund). 

 
$2,344,128 In October 2017, the City entered into a 10-year capital lease for the purchase of vehicles and 

equipment. The rate of interest is 1.85%. The lease is due in full in October 2027. The lease requires 
semi-annual payments (interest and principal) of $228,923 for the first five years and $42,943 for 
the last five years.  This lease is recorded and funded in the Equipment Replacement Fund (internal 
service fund). 

 
Article Eight, Section Seven of the South Carolina Constitution of 1895, as amended, provides that no City shall incur 
any bonded debt which shall exceed eight percent (8%) of the assessed value of the property therein and no such debt 
shall be created without the electors of such City voting in favor of such further bonded debt.  Prior to Home Rule Act 
of July 1, 1976, the bonded debt exemption was thirty five percent (35%).  In 1976, the General Assembly reduced 
the general obligation debt limit without voter approval to eight percent (8%) of assessed valuation; whereas, with a 
referendum any amount can be floated.  As of June 30, 2018, the City had $5,275,000 of bonded debt subject to the 
8% legal debt limit of approximately $12,053,000, resulting in an unused legal debt margin of approximately 
$6,778,000. 
 
Interest paid on the debt issued by the City is exempt from federal income tax.  The City sometimes temporarily 
reinvests the proceeds of such tax-exempt debt in higher-yielding taxable securities, especially during construction 
projects.  The federal tax code refers to this practice as arbitrage.  Excess earnings (the difference between the interest 
on the debt and the investment earnings received) resulting from arbitrage must be rebated to the federal government.  
The City had no arbitrage liability at June 30, 2018.   
 
Advanced Refunding 
 
In December 2017, the City issued the Series 2017 – GORB for $4,650,000 and used these proceeds to advance refund 
most of the GOB – Series 2010 and to pay the cost of issuance.  The City placed the net proceeds of approximately 
$4,534,000 into an irrevocable trust, which were used to refund $4,275,000 of the outstanding balance on the Series 
2010 Series – GOB that were maturing on April 1, 2021 through April 1, 2030.  The proceeds in the trust will be used 
to redeem the bonds on April 1, 2020, the date the bonds were first callable, at a redemption price of par.  The 
reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying amount of the old debt by approximately $206,000.  This amount was 
not deemed significant and will not be amortized over the life of the old debt.  This refunding was undertaken to 
reduce total debt service payments by approximately $149,000 and resulted in an economic gain of approximately 
$129,000.  
 
 

 
  

55



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Long-Term Obligations (Continued) 
 
Following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for governmental and business-type activities for the year 
ended June 30, 2018: 

Long-Term Obligations
Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions

Ending     
Balance

Due Within   
One Year

Governmental Activities:

Debt:
2010 Series - GOB 5,280,000$      -               4,600,000    680,000       335,000$     
2014 Series - HTRB 6,185,000        -               720,000       5,465,000    735,000       
2014 Mary Black Promissory Note 418,814           -               206,139       212,675       212,675       
2016 Series A - HTRB 3,735,000        -               270,000       3,465,000    280,000       
2016 Series B - HTRB 5,545,000        -               570,000       4,975,000    590,000       
2017 Series - TIRB 4,545,000        -               525,000       4,020,000    540,000       
2017 Series - GORB -                  4,650,000    55,000         4,595,000    40,000         

Total Debt 25,708,814      4,650,000    6,946,139    23,412,675   2,732,675    

Capital Leases:
2014 Capital Lease 652,821           -               324,101       328,720       328,720       
2015 Capital Lease 1,787,000        -               434,000       1,353,000    446,000       
2015 Telephone Capital Lease Phase I 64,085             -               28,828         35,257         30,110         
2015 Telephone Capital Lease Phase II 37,683             -               16,134         21,549         17,112         
2016 Police Records System Capital Lease 707,884           -               133,467       574,417       137,404       
2016 Church Street Capital Lease 389,391           -               93,297         296,094       100,622       
2017 Capital Lease 1,835,290        -               335,489       1,499,801    340,269       
2018 Capital Lease 2,550,000    205,872       2,344,128    416,420       

Total Capital Leases 5,474,154        2,550,000    1,571,188    6,452,966    1,816,657    

Compensated Absences 3,633,082        2,105,802    1,949,679    3,789,205    1,945,542    

Total Governmental Activities 34,816,050$    9,305,802    10,467,006   33,654,846   6,494,874$   

Business-Type Activities:

Compensated Absences 105,951$         71,645         64,968         112,628       56,314$       

 
The General Fund (via transfers out), Hospitality Tax Fund (via transfers out) and the Debt Service funds (General 
Debt Service Fund and the Broad Street TIF Fund) resources have been used to liquidate the governmental activities 
debt and capital lease obligations.  The General Fund or the respective Enterprise funds from which the employees 
originate have been used to liquidate compensated absence liabilities. 
 
 
 

 
 

56



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

D. Long-Term Obligations (Continued)

Presented below is a summary of debt service requirements to maturity by year for the governmental and business-
type activities.

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Totals

Governmental Activities
2019 2,732,675$      610,872     1,816,657  121,233     5,281,437$      
2020 2,575,000  535,973     1,485,837  84,826       4,681,636  
2021 2,345,000  470,886     1,100,650  54,013       3,970,549  
2022 2,415,000  413,265     882,712     32,645       3,743,622  
2023 2,475,000  353,783     408,533     16,878       3,254,194  

2024-2028 8,805,000  913,653     758,577     26,571       10,503,801      
2029-2030 2,065,000  78,225       -             -             2,143,225  

Totals 23,412,675$    3,376,657  6,452,966  336,166     33,578,464$    

Capital Lease ObligationsDebt

E. Interfund Payables and Receivables and Transfers In and (Out)

Interfund balances at June 30, 2018, consisted of the following fund receivables and payables:
Fund Receivables Payables

Major Governmental Funds
General Fund 3,247,938$              -$

Neighborhood Initiative Fund - 2,792,294 

Enterprise Funds

Airport Fund - 302,327 

Non-Major Funds - In Aggregate by Type
Special Revenue Funds - 153,317 

Totals 3,247,938$              3,247,938$              

The Neighborhood Initiative Fund, The Airport Fund, and the Special Revenue Fund payables are for 
expenditures/expenses paid by the General Fund and are expected to be paid within one year.  

57



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

E. Interfund Payables and Receivables and Transfers In and (Out) (Continued) 
 
Transfers between funds for the year ended June 30, 2018, consist of the following: 
 

Fund Transfers Out Transfers In

Major Governmental Funds
General Fund 3,245,316$          2,716,682$          
Capital Projects Fund -                       2,271,160            
Hospitality Tax Fund 4,472,841            -                       
Neighborhood Initiative Project Fund -                       10,633                 

Enterprise Funds
Transit Fund -                       565,000               
Airport Fund -                       895,929               
Storm Water Fund 425,000               -                       

Non-Major Funds - In Aggregate By Type
Special Revenue Funds 176,765               504,904               
Debt Service Funds 1,786,974            3,142,588            

Total 10,106,896$        10,106,896$        
 

 

General Fund 
Transfers into the General Fund were primarily to recover overhead costs, and to cover overtime costs.  Transfers out 
from the General Fund were primarily for grant matches, for operating support, to eliminate fund deficits, for capital 
projects, and to make debt payments. 
 
Capital Project Fund 
Transfers in were primarily to fund capital outlay and to cover project deficits.  There were no transfers out during the 
fiscal year. 
 
Hospitality Tax Fund 
Transfers out were primarily for debt payments, special events funding, and overtime for public safety officers during 
special events. 

 
Transit Fund 
Transfers in were for operating grant match.   

 
Airport Fund 
Transfers in were for operating funding, and grant matches for capital projects. There were no transfers out. 

 
Storm Water Fund 
There were no transfers in during the fiscal year.  Transfers out were primarily to cover overhead cost.   
 
Special Revenue Funds 
Transfers in were primarily to fund grant match requirements, special event funding, and to cover grant deficits. 
Transfers out were primarily for grant matches, special events funding, and debt service.   
 
Debt Service Funds 
Transfers in and out were primarily for debt service payments. 
 
 
 
 
 

58



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

F. Net Investment in Capital Assets 
 
 During the year ended June 30, 2016, the City issued its Series 2016 A & B Hospitality Tax Bonds in the combined 

amount of $10,135,000 to refund all of the outstanding Series 2005 COPS ($1,105,000), for which a portion of the 
proceeds were originally used to fund the Morgan Square Project, and the remaining portion was used to purchase 
capital assets (pay off the outstanding debt) in the Airport Fund and the Parking Fund ($9,030,000). The Parking Fund 
and the Airport Fund are reported in the business-type activities and the Series 2016 A & B Hospitality Tax Bonds 
are reported in the government-wide financial statements’ governmental activities as it will be repaid by governmental 
activities. The capital assets are reported in the business-type activities. Accordingly, approximately $7,484,000 of 
the outstanding balance of these two bonds at June 30, 2018 is included in the calculation of the governmental 
activities’ unrestricted net position in the Statement of Net Position, but the net book value of these capital assets are 
included in the business-type activities’ net investment in capital assets.  Consequently, the City is including these 
amounts in an adjustment column on the Statement of Net Position in order to reflect the correct amount for the City’s 
total net position components. 

 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION 
 

A. Agreements 
 

Renaissance Park Project 
 

Ground Lease Agreement 
 

In February 2002, the City entered into a Ground Lease whereby the City leased 4.85 acres to Renaissance Park Hotel, 
LLC (the “Developer”) or its successor, to construct, manage, and operate an approximately 250 room hotel, a portion 
of an approximately 38,000 square foot conference center and a parking garage of approximately 313 spaces to serve 
the public, including without limitation, patrons of the Hotel and Conference Center.  The Developer subsequently 
defaulted on its loan, and the property was foreclosed by the lender, Bridgeview Capital Solutions LLC 
(“Bridgeview”).  

 

In early 2011, with City approval, Bridgeview sold the hotel to SMR Inc.  SMR assumed all of the owner’s obligations 
to the City including ground lease payments of $200,000 annually (which are utilized to pay a portion of the annual 
debt service for the Tax Increment Financing bonds issued for the project expiring in 2025). 
 
To facilitate this acquisition by a stable, well financed, and experienced ownership team, the City amended the ground 
lease to extend the term to 2059 and provide SMR with a land purchase option for $1,500,000 exercisable upon 
retirement of the TIF bonds.  The City likewise extended the conference center lease to 2059.  In consideration of the 
above, SMR committed to make investments in the property and ensure adherence to various operating standards 
through 2059.  The hotel continues to operate successfully. 
 
Southside Retail Partners Development Project 
 
From time to time, the City has formed public-private partnerships to promote redevelopment, stimulate private 
investment, create jobs, and improve the quality of life for its citizens.  In December 2006, the City entered into a 
development project with the SDC and Southside Retail Partners, LLC for an approximately 45,000 square foot 
commercial retail development.  Along with other one-time funding, the City has committed to provide the SDC with 
an annual operating grant of $114,500 for the 12 years beginning December 1, 2008. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

59



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
B. Commitments and Contingencies 

  
BF Spartanburg, LLC Agreement 

 
In October 2016, the City executed a development agreement with BF Spartanburg, LLC (“Developer”) to provide 
certain economic incentives for the development and renovation of the historic Montgomery Building.  The 
development will include 72 apartments on the upper seven floors, 9,000 square feet of office space on the second 
floor, and 9,500 square feet of retail and restaurant space on the ground floor.  The City has agreed to provide an 
allotted number of parking spaces in the St. John Street Garage at no cost for ten years, and at a reduced rate for an 
additional ten years. Additionally, the City has agreed to provide streetscape and lighting improvements along the 
building facades and will contribute $750,000 over a period of three years for parking lot and park improvements and 
for easements along the property.  These funds will be disbursed in three annual payments of $250,000 beginning 
April 1, 2017. The first two payments have been made.  The agreement also grants the development rights on a small 
City-owned piece of land next to the Montgomery Building to the Developer. 
 
Purchase Commitment 
 
In April 2018, the City committed to purchase three low floor heavy duty buses for approximately $1,293,000. The 
buses are scheduled to be delivered in fiscal year 2019. 

 
Infrastructure Tax Credits 
 
From time to time, the City enters into incentive arrangements for new developments and projects.  These incentive 
arrangements generally provide developers infrastructure tax credits to reimburse them for a portion of the costs of 
certain public infrastructure improvements.  These tax credits are generally provided to the developer for one to ten 
years and are calculated as a percentage of future tax growth in the City as a result of the public infrastructure 
improvements.  Since these tax credits involved are not significant, are predicated upon future growth, and are not 
measurable, no amounts have been recorded in the City’s financial statements. 
 
Contingencies 
 
The City receives significant financial assistance from numerous federal, state, and local governmental agencies in 
the form of grants.  Disbursements of funds received under these programs generally require compliance with the 
terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements.  The disbursements are also subject to audit by the grantor 
agencies.  Any disallowed claims resulting from such audits could become a liability of the General Fund or other 
applicable funds.  However, in the opinion of management, any such disallowed claims will not have a material effect 
on any of the financial statements of the individual fund types included herein or overall financial position of the City 
at June 30, 2018. 

 
  

60



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

C. Risk Management

Participation in Public Entity Risk Pools

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, errors and
omissions, and natural disasters.  The City has joined together with other municipalities in the state to form the South
Carolina Municipal Insurance and Risk Financing Fund (“SCMIRF”), which is a public entity risk pool currently
operating as a common risk management and insurance program.  The City obtains its general risk insurance through
SCMIRF.  It pays an annual premium for this coverage.  For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City made premium
payments totaling approximately $727,000.  SCMIRF is self-sustaining through member premiums and reinsures
through commercial companies.  SCMIRF’s Net Position from its most recently issued audited financial statements
at December 31, 2017, totaled approximately $12,207,000. There were no significant reductions in coverage in the
past fiscal year and there were no settlements exceeding insurance coverage in the past three fiscal years.

The City has also joined together with other municipalities in the state to form the South Carolina Municipal Insurance
Trust (“SCMIT”), a public entity risk pool operating as a common risk management and insurance program for
worker’s compensation.  The City pays an annual premium to SCMIT.  In the year ended June 30, 2018, the City made
premium payments totaling approximately $216,000.  The Trust uses reinsurance agreements to reduce its exposure
to large workers’ compensation losses.  SCMIT’s Net Position from its most recently issued audited financial
statements at December 31, 2017, totaled approximately $55,464,000.  There were no significant reductions in
coverage in the past fiscal year and there were no settlements exceeding insurance coverage in the past three fiscal
years.

Self-Insurance Health Plan

The City maintains a partial self-insurance program for medical insurance coverage for City employees.  The City
pays the first covered $125,000 of claims per employee.  An insurance provider pays claims that exceed $125,000 per
employee.  Both employees and employers contribute to the plan.  The self-insurance fund activity is reported in the
City’s medical insurance internal service fund.

The claims liability of approximately $408,000 reported in the medical insurance internal service fund at June 30,
2018 is based on the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10, which requires
that a liability for claims be reported if information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is
probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated.  Changes in the reported liability are as follows:

Beginning of Claims and End of 
Fiscal Year Changes in Claim Fiscal Year

Medical Insurance Fund Liability Estimates Payments Liability

2015-2016 501,448$   3,588,456    (3,573,204)  516,700$   
2016-2017 516,700  4,636,563    (4,446,298)  706,965  
2017-2018 706,965$   3,269,649    (3,568,887)  407,727$   

For the self-insurance health plan, the City has not significantly reduced insurance coverages for employees from the 
previous year; and settled claims in excess of insurance coverage for the last three years were immaterial.  However, 
insurance coverage has changed for retirees.  Effective January 1, 2016 the City will no longer offer retiree insurance 
coverage.  Instead, the City will place $200 into a Health Reimbursement Account for up to ten years, or until the 
retiree is available for Medicare (see Note IV.E for details on the City’s OPEB plan). 

61



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D.  Retirement Plans 
 

State Retirement Plans 
 
The City participates in the State of South Carolina’s retirement plans, which are administered by the South Carolina 
Public Employee Benefit Authority (“PEBA”), which was created on July 1, 2012 and administers the various 
retirement systems and retirement programs managed by its Retirement Division.  PEBA has an 11-member Board of 
Directors (“PEBA Board”), appointed by the Governor and General Assembly leadership, which serves as co-trustee 
and co-fiduciary of the systems and the trust funds.  By law, the State Fiscal Accountability Authority (“SFAA”), 
which consists of five elected officials, also reviews certain PEBA Board decisions regarding the funding of the South 
Carolina Retirement Systems (“Systems”) and serves as a co-trustee of the Systems in conducting that review.  
Effective July 1, 2017, the Retirement System Funding and Administration Act of 2017 assigned the PEBA Board as 
the Custodian of the Retirement Trust Funds and assigned SC PEBA and the Retirement Systems Investment 
Commission (“RSIC”) as co-trustees of the Retirement Trust Funds. 

 
The PEBA issues a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) containing financial statements and required 
supplementary information for the System’ Pension Trust Funds.  The CAFR is publicly available through the 
Retirement Benefits’ link on the PEBA’s website at www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by submitting a 
request to PEBA, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, SC 29223.  The PEBA is considered a division of the primary 
government of the state of South Carolina and therefore, retirement trust fund financial information is also included 
in the comprehensive annual financial report of the state. 
 
Plan Description 
 
The South Carolina Retirement System (“SCRS”), a cost–sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, 
was established effective July 1, 1945, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-1-20 of the South Carolina Code of 
Laws for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other benefits for employees of the state, its public 
school districts, and political subdivisions.  The South Carolina Police Officers Retirement System (“PORS”), a cost–
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, was established effective July 1, 1962, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 9-11-20 of the South Carolina Code of Laws for the purpose of providing retirement allowances 
and other benefits for police officers and firemen of the state and its political subdivisions. 
 
Plan Membership 
 
Membership requirements are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. A brief summary of the 
requirements under each system is presented below. 
 

 SCRS – Generally, all employees of covered employers are required to participate in and contribute to the 
system as a condition of employment. This plan covers general employees and teachers and individuals newly 
elected to the South Carolina General Assembly beginning with the November 2012 general election.  An 
employee member of the system with an effective date of membership prior to July 1, 2012, is a Class Two 
member.  An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership on or after July 1, 2012, 
is a Class Three member. 
 

 PORS – To be eligible for PORS membership, an employee must be required by the terms of his employment, 
by election or appointment, to preserve public order, protect life and property, and detect crimes in the state; 
to prevent and control property destruction by fire; or to serve as a peace officer employed by the Department 
of Corrections, the Department of Juvenile Justice, or the Department of Mental Health.  Probate judges and 
coroners may elect membership in the PORS.  Magistrates are required to participate in the PORS for service 
as a magistrate.  PORS members, other than magistrates and probate judges, must also earn at least $2,000 
per year and devote at least 1,600 hours per year to this work, unless exempted by statute.  An employee 
member of the system with an effective date of membership prior to July 1, 2012, is a Class Two member.  
An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership on or after July 1, 2012, is a Class 
Three member. 

  

62



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

D. Retirement Plans (Continued)

State Retirement Plans (Continued)

Plan Benefits

Benefit terms are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.  PEBA does not have the authority to
establish or amend benefit terms without a legislative change in the code of laws.  Key elements of the benefit
calculation include the benefit multiplier, years of service, and average final compensation/current annual salary.  A
brief summary of benefit terms for each system is presented below.

 SCRS – A Class Two member who has separated from service with at least five or more years of earned
service is eligible for a monthly pension at age 65 or with 28 years credited service regardless of age.  A
member may elect early retirement with reduced pension benefits payable at age 55 with 25 years of service
credit.  A Class Three member who has separated from service with at least eight or more years of earned
service is eligible for a monthly pension upon satisfying the Rule of 90 requirement that the total of the
member’s age and the member’s creditable service equals at least 90 years.  Both Class Two and Class Three
members are eligible to receive a reduced deferred annuity at age 60 if they satisfy the five- or eight-year
earned service requirement, respectively.  An incidental death benefit is also available to beneficiaries of
active and retired members of employers who participate in the death benefit program.

The annual retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the lesser of
one percent or five hundred dollars every July 1.  Only those annuitants in receipt of a benefit on July 1 of
the preceding year are eligible to receive the increase.  Members who retire under the early retirement
provisions at age 55 with 25 years of service are not eligible for the benefit adjustment until the second July
1 after reaching age 60 or the second July 1 after the date they would have had 28 years of service credit had
they not retired.

 PORS – A Class Two member who has separated from service with at least five or more years of earned
service is eligible for a monthly pension at age 55 or with 25 years of service regardless of age.  A Class
Three member who has separated from service with at least eight or more years of earned service is eligible
for a monthly pension at age 55 or with 27 years of service regardless of age.  Both Class Two and Class
Three members are eligible to receive a deferred annuity at age 55 with five or eight years of earned service,
respectively.  An incidental death benefit is also available to beneficiaries of active and retired members of
employers who participate in the death benefit program.  Accidental death benefits are also provided upon
the death of an active member working for a covered employer whose death was a natural and proximate
result of an injury incurred while in the performance of duty.

The retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the lesser of one
percent or five hundred dollars every July 1.  Only those annuitants in receipt of a benefit on July 1 of the
preceding year are eligible to receive the increase.

Plan Contributions 

Contributions are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.  The PEBA Board may increase the 
percentage rate in the SCRS and PORS (“Plans”) employer and employee contribution rates on the basis of the 
actuarial valuations, but any such increase may not result in a differential between the employee and total employer 
contribution rate that exceeds 2.9 percent of earnable compensation for the SCRS and 5 percent for the PORS.  An 
increase in the contribution rates adopted by the PEBA Board may not provide for an increase of more than one-half 
of one percent in any one year.   

63



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D.  Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

State Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Plan Contributions (Continued) 
 
If the scheduled employee and employer contributions provided in statute or the rates last adopted by the PEBA Board 
are insufficient to maintain a thirty-year amortization schedule of the unfunded liabilities of the plans, the PEBA Board 
shall increase the contribution rates in equal percentage amounts for the employer and employee as necessary to 
maintain the thirty-year amortization period; this increase is not limited to one-half of one percent per year. 
 
If the most recent annual actuarial valuation of the Systems for funding purposes shows a ratio of the actuarial value 
of system assets to the actuarial accrued liability of the system (the funded ratio) that is equal to or greater than ninety 
percent, then the PEBA Board, effective on the following July first, may decrease the then current contribution rates 
upon making a finding that the decrease will not result in a funded ratio of less than ninety percent.  Any decrease in 
contribution rates must maintain the 2.9 and 5 percent differentials between the SCRS and PORS employer and 
employee contribution rates respectively.  If contribution rates are decreased pursuant to this provision, and the most 
recent annual actuarial valuation of the system shows a funded ratio of less than ninety percent, then effective on the 
following July first, and annually thereafter as necessary, the PEBA Board shall increase the then current contribution 
rates until a subsequent annual actuarial valuation of the system shows a funded ratio that is equal to or greater than 
90 percent. 
 
The Retirement System Funding and Administration Act of 2017 increases employer contribution rates to 13.56 
percent for the SCRS and 16.24 percent for the PORS, effective July 1, 2017.  It also removes the 2.9 percent and 5 
percent differential and increases and establishes a ceiling on employee contribution rates at 9 percent and 9.75 percent 
for the SCRS and the PORS, respectively. The employer contribution rates will continue to increase annually by 1 
percent through July 1, 2022.  The legislation's ultimate scheduled employer rate is 18.56 percent for the SCRS and 
21.24 percent for the PORS.  The amortization period is scheduled to be reduced one year for each of the next 10 years 
to a twenty-year amortization schedule.  The recent pension reform legislation also changes the long term funded ratio 
requirement from ninety to eighty-five. 
 
As noted earlier, both employees and the City are required to contribute to the Plans at rates established and as 
amended by the PEBA.  The City’s contributions are actuarially determined but are communicated to and paid by the 
City as a percentage of the employees’ annual eligible compensation.  Required employer and employee contribution 
rates for the past three years are as follows: 
 

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018

Employer Contribution Rate:^

Retirement 10.91% 11.41% 13.41% 13.34% 13.84% 15.84%

Incidental Death Benefit 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.20% 0.20% 0.20%

Accidental Death Contributions 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.20% 0.20% 0.20%

11.06% 11.56% 13.56% 13.74% 14.24% 16.24%

Employee Contribution Rate 8.16% 8.66% 9.00% 8.74% 9.24% 9.75%

^ Calculated on earnable compensation as defined in T itle 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.

SCRS Rates PORS Rates

 
  

64



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D.  Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

State Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Plan Contributions (Continued) 
 
The required contributions and percentages of amounts contributed by the City to the Plans for the past three years 
were as follows: 

Required % Contributed Required % Contributed

2018 1,114,926$    100% 1,539,574$    100%
2017 911,996         100% 1,323,613      100%
2016 857,983$       100% 1,232,942$    100%

SCRS Contributions PORS ContributionsYear Ended 
June 30,

 
Eligible payrolls of the City covered under the Plans for the past three years were as follows: 

Total
SCRS Payroll PORS Payroll Payroll

2018 8,314,140$               9,480,136                 17,794,276$             
2017 7,992,956                 9,295,062                 17,288,018               
2016 7,864,192$               8,973,376                 16,837,568$             

Year Ended 
June 30,

 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 
 
Actuarial valuations of the ongoing plan involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include assumptions about future employment, 
mortality, and future salary increases.  Amounts determined regarding the net pension liability are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  South 
Carolina state statute requires that an actuarial experience study be completed at least once in each five-year period.  
An experience report on the Systems was most recently issued as of July 1, 2015. 
 
The June 30, 2017 total pension liability, net pension liability, and sensitivity information shown in this report were 
determined by the consulting actuary, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith and Company (“GRS”), and are based on an actuarial 
valuation performed as of July 1, 2016.  The total pension liability was rolled-forward from the valuation date to the 
Plans' fiscal year end, June 30, 2017, using generally accepted actuarial principles.  The Retirement System Funding 
and Administration Act of 2017 was signed into law April 25, 2017 and included a provision to reduce the assumed 
rate of return from 7.50% to 7.25% effective July 1, 2017.  As a result of this legislation, GRS made an adjustment to 
the calculation of the roll-forward total pension liability for this assumption change as of the measurement date of 
June 30, 2017. 
 
 
 

  

65



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D.  Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

State Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods (Continued) 
 
The following table provides a summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used in the July 1, 2016 valuations 
for the SCRS and PORS. 
 

SCRS PORS

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal
Actuarial Assumptions:

Investment Rate of Return* 7.25% 7.25%
Projected Salary Increases* 3.0% to 12.5% (varies by service) 3.5% to 9.5% (varies by service)
Benefit Adjustments Lesser of 1% or $500 annually Lesser of 1% or $500 annually

* Includes inflation at 2.25%.  
 
The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member's job category and gender.  The base mortality 
assumptions, the 2016 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality table (“2016 PRSC”), were developed using the 
Systems' mortality experience.  These base rates are adjusted for future improvement in mortality using published 
Scale AA projected from the year 2016. 
 

Former Job Class Males Females 

Educators 

 
2016 PRSC Males 
 multiplied by 92% 

 

 
2016 PRSC Females  
multiplied by 98% 

 
 

General Employees and Members 
of the General Assembly 

 
2016 PRSC Males 

 multiplied by 100% 

 
2016 PRSC Females  
multiplied by 111% 

 

Public Safety and Firefighters 

 
2016 PRSC Males 

 multiplied by 125% 

 
2016 PRSC Females  
multiplied by 111% 

 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is based upon 30 year capital market assumptions.  
The long-term expected rate of returns represent assumptions developed using an arithmetic building block approach 
primarily based on consensus expectations and market based inputs.  Expected returns are net of investment fees. 
 
The expected returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the target asset allocation adopted at 
the beginning of the 2017 fiscal year.  The long-term expected rate of return is produced by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target allocation percentage and adding expected inflation and is summarized in the 
following table.  For actuarial purposes, the 7.25 percent assumed annual investment rate of return used in the 
calculation of the total pension liability includes a 5.00 percent real rate of return and a 2.25 percent inflation 
component. 
 

  

66



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

D. Retirement Plans (Continued)

State Retirement Plans (Continued)

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return (Continued)

Asset Class Target Allocation
Expected Arithmetic Real 

Rate of Return

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate of 

Return

Global Equity 45.0%
Global Public Equity 31.0% 6.72% 2.07%
Private Equity 9.0% 9.60% 0.86%
Equity Options Strategies 5.0% 5.91% 0.30%

Real Assets 8.0%
Real Estate (Private) 5.0% 4.32% 0.22%
Real Estate (REITs) 2.0% 6.33% 0.13%
Commodities 1.0% 6.26% 0.06%

Opportunistic 17.0%
GTAA/Risk Parity 10.0% 4.16% 0.42%
Hedge Funds (non-PA) 4.0% 3.82% 0.15%
Other Opportunistic Strategies 3.0% 4.16% 0.12%

Diversified Credit 18.0%
Mixed Credit 6.0% 3.92% 0.24%
Emerging Markets Debt 5.0% 5.01% 0.25%
Private Debt 7.0% 4.37% 0.31%

Conservative Fixed Income 12.0%
Core Fixed Income 10.0% 1.60% 0.16%
Cash and Short Duration (Net) 2.0% 0.92% 0.02%

Total Expected Real Return 100.0% 5.31%

Inflation for Actuarial Purposes 2.25%
Total Expected Nominal Return 7.56%

Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

The net pension liability (“NPL”) is calculated separately for each system and represents that particular system’s total 
pension liability determined in accordance with GASB No. 67 less that System’s fiduciary net position.  NPL totals, 
as of the June 30, 2017 measurement date, for the SCRS and PORS, are presented in the following table: 

System Total Pension Liability
Plan Fiduciary Net 

Position

Employers' Net 
Pension Liability 

(Asset)

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a Percentage 

of the Total Pension 
Liability

SCRS 48,244,437,494$        25,732,829,268          22,511,608,226$        53.3%
PORS 7,013,684,001$          4,274,123,178            2,739,560,823$    60.9%

The total pension liability is calculated by the Systems’ actuary, and each Plans fiduciary net position is reported in 
the Systems’ financial statements.  The net pension liability is disclosed in accordance with the requirements of GASB 
No. 67 in the Systems’ notes to the financial statements and required supplementary information.  Liability 
calculations performed by the Systems’ actuary for the purpose of satisfying the requirements of GASB Nos. 67 and 
68 are not applicable for other purposes, such as determining the Plans’ funding requirements. 

67



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D.  Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 

State Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued) 
 
At June 30, 2018, the City reported liabilities of approximately $17,602,000 and $18,909,000 for its proportionate 
share of the net pension liabilities for the SCRS and PORS, respectively.  The net pension liabilities were measured 
as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension liabilities for the Plans used to calculate the net pension liabilities were 
determined based on the most recent actuarial valuation report of July 1, 2016 that was projected forward to the 
measurement date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liabilities were based on a projection of the City’s long-
term share of contributions to the Plans relative to the projected contributions of all participating South Carolina state 
and local governmental employers, actuarially determined.  At the June 30, 2017 measurement date, the City’s SCRS 
proportion was 0.078191 percent, which was a decrease of 0.001918 from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016.  
At the June 30, 2017 measurement date, the City’s PORS proportion was 0.690220 percent, which was a decrease of 
0.01365 from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of approximately $1,614,000 and $2,255,000 
for the SCRS and PORS, respectively.  At June 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources (deferred 
pension charges) and deferred inflows of resources (deferred pension credits) related to pensions from the following 
sources: 

Description

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

SCRS
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 78,470$         9,756$           
Change in Assumptions 1,030,411      -                 
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings on Pension Plan Investments 491,367         -                 
Changes in Proportion and Differences Between the City's

Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 35,249           392,683         
City's Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 1,114,926      -                 

Total SCRS 2,750,423      402,439         

PORS
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 168,615         -                 
Change in Assumptions 1,794,641      -                 
Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings on Pension Plan Investments 673,807         -                 
Changes in Proportion and Differences Between the City's

Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 94,539           411,915         
City's Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 1,539,574      -                 

Total PORS 4,271,176      411,915         

Total SCRS and PORS 7,021,599$    814,354$       

 
 

  

68



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

D. Retirement Plans (Continued)

State Retirement Plans (Continued)

Pension Liability, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (Continued)

Approximately $1,115,000 and $1,540,000 that was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to the City’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date to the SCRS and PORS, respectively, will be recognized as a
reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2018.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows
of resources (deferred pension charges) and deferred inflows of resources (deferred pension credits) related to the
SCRS and PORS will increase (decrease) pension expense as follows:

Year Ended June 30, SCRS PORS Total

2019 310,992$                  694,264          1,005,256$   
2020 653,962        985,493          1,639,455   
2021 410,789        624,286          1,035,075   
2022 (142,685)   15,644            (127,041)   

Total 1,233,058$               2,319,687     3,552,745$   

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25 percent.  The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers in the SCRS and PORS will be 
made based on the actuarially determined rates based on provisions in the South Carolina Code of Laws.  Based on 
those assumptions, each System’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.   

Sensitivity Analysis 

The following table presents the sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability of the Plans 
to changes in the discount rate, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25 percent, as well as what it would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point lower (6.25 percent) or 1% point higher (8.25 percent) than the current 
rate: 

1.00% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
System (6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)

City’s proportionate share 
of the net pension liability of the SCRS 22,686,627$     17,602,052   14,516,909$    

City’s proportionate share 
of the net pension liability of the PORS 25,530,780   18,909,024   13,693,155   

48,217,407$   36,511,076  28,210,064$    

Plans Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information regarding the fiduciary net position of the Plans administered by the PEBA is available in the 
separately issued CAFR containing financial statements and required supplementary information for the SCRS and 
PORS.  The CAFR is publicly available through the Retirement Benefits’ link on the PEBA’s website at 
www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, Columbia, SC 
29223. 

69



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D.  Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
State Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
Payable to Plans 
 
The City reported a payable of approximately $145,000 and $190,000 to the PEBA as of June 30, 2018, 
representing required employer and employee contributions for the month of June 2018 for the SCRS and PORS, 
respectively.  This amount is included in Accrued Salaries and Benefits on the financial statements and was paid 
in July 2018. 

 
City Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 
 
The City sponsors a single-employer defined benefit pension plan (“City Pension Plan”).  Participation is frozen except 
to those employees who were participating in the Pension Plan at June 1, 1993, and elected not to transfer to the South 
Carolina Retirement System, and those firemen who retired prior to June 1, 1991.  Only the Retirement Committee 
has the authority to establish and amend benefits and funding policy.  The City Pension Plan’s year-end is June 30.  
Pension Plan financial information can be obtained by writing to Finance Director, City of Spartanburg, and P.O. Box 
1749, Spartanburg, SC 29304. 

 
Employer membership data consists of the following:  retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits – 94; vested 
inactive employees not yet receiving benefits – 2; and no active employees. Consequently, there was no covered 
payroll for fiscal year 2018.  

 
The City Pension Plan provides for a normal retirement age of 62 and completion of at least five years credited service 
or completion of 25 years continuous service.  The normal retirement benefit is 2.00% of average salary for the three 
highest consecutive years multiplied by years of credited service.  The Pension Plan also provides for disability 
retirement and early retirement.   
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The City Pension Plan implemented GASB #67 “Financial Reporting for Pension Plans” (“GASB #67”) in 2014.  
GASB #67 replaces the requirements of GASB Statements No. 25 and No. 50 as they relate to pension plans that are 
administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements.  GASB #67 establishes standards of financial reporting for 
plans that issue separate financial reports and also those plans whose financial information is included solely in the 
financial report of another government as a pension trust fund.  GASB #67 specifies the required approach for 
measuring the pension liability of employers and non-employer contributing entities for benefits provided through 
pension plans. 
 
The City Pension Plan’s financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  Employer 
contributions, benefit payments, and refunds are all recognized when due.  All investments are reported at fair value.  
Securities traded on a national or international exchange are reported at the last reported sales price at current exchange 
rates.  Securities without an established market are reported at estimated fair value.  Administrative costs are paid out 
of the fund’s net position. 
 
 

  

70



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

D. Retirement Plans (Continued)

City Pension Plan (Continued)

Plan Investments

The investment objective of the City Pension Plan is to invest all funds in a manner that provides the highest investment
return using authorized instruments while meeting the City’s acceptable risk level. The primary objectives, in priority
order, in investment activities are safety, liquidity, and yield.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, net of
pension plan investment expense, was a loss of .43%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment
performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

Target
Allocation

Asset Class Total

Domestic Fixed Income (Short Term) 55-65%
Domestic Fixed Income (Long Term) 35-45%
Cash 5-10%
Total 100%

For more information on the actual investments being held by the City Pension Plan and any significant concentration 
risk, see “Note III.A Deposits and Investment.” 

Plan Contributions 

The City’s annual contribution to the pension trust is determined through the budgetary process and with reference to 
actuarially determined contributions. The City contributed approximately $950,000 during 2018 and has committed 
to contributing $950,000 increasing by $50,000 per year until the actuarial minimum required contribution is met. 
This is expected to take 14 year. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs 
of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability. The annual required contribution under the actuarially determined rate is approximately $1,107,000. This 
contribution is designed to fully fund the liability over 13 years. 

71



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
City Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
Plan Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation on January 1, 2018, using the following key 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Actuarial Valuation Date: January 1, 2018

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal Cost Method
Actuarial Asset Valuation Method: Market Value using a 3-year phase in for gains and losses

Actuarial Assumptions:

Assumed Rate of Return on Investments: 4.00%, compounded annually
Mortality Rate: RP2006 Mortality Table for Employees and Health annuitants,

projected generationally using Scale MP2017. Mortality for
disabled lives is based on the same mortality table. 

Rates of Disability: No disability assumed

Rates of Termination - Sample Rates: Age 20 - 20%

Age 30 - 20%

Age 40 - 8.8%

Age 50 - 2%

Age 54 - 1%

Age 60 - 0%

Salary Increases: Assumed salaries increase at 3.5% per year
Retirement Age: Ages < 50 - 25%

Ages 50 - 64 - 15%

Age 65 - 100%

Survivor Benefits: 85% of all employees are married and that the wife is three years
younger than the husband.

Cost-of-living Adjustments ("COLA"): 3.0% annual COLA
Changes in Actuarial Assumptions/Cost Method: Change in mortality assumption from the RP2014 mortality table to

the RP2006 mortality table.

 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 4.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine 
the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that City 
contributions will be made at a rate of $950,000 increasing by $50,000 per year until the actuarial minimum required 
contribution is met. This is expected to take 14 year. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence 
of events far into the future.  Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and future salary 
increases.  Amounts determined during the valuation process are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. City Code does not require that an 
actuarial experience study be completed. 
 
 
 

72



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
City Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
Plan Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was confirmed appropriate using the actuary’s e-
tool model assuming general inflation of 2.5%, which is a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s 
target asset allocation as of June 30, 2018 (see the discussion of the pension plan’s investment policy) are summarized 
in the following table: 

Expected Real
Asset Class Rate of Return

Domestic Equity (Large Cap) 6.3%
International Equity 7.3%
Domestic Fixed Income (Short-Term) 4.2%
Domestic Fixed Income (Long-Term) 3.4%
International Fixed Income 4.9%
Cash 2.6%

 
Net Pension Liability 
 
The components of the net pension liability of the City Pension Plan at June 30, 2018 were as follows: 

Total Pension Liability 16,083,684$      
Plan Fiduciary Net Position (3,989,578)         
City's Net Pension Liability 12,094,106$      

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage
of the Total Pension Liability 24.81%

Components of the Net Pension Liability

 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the net pension liability of the City Pension Plan, calculated using the discount rate of 4.00%, 
as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage 
point lower (3.00%) or 1-percentage point higher (5.00%) than the current rate:  

1% Decrease 
(3.00%)

Current Rate 
(4.00%)

1% Increase 
(5.00%)

Total Pension Liability 17,694,853$       16,083,684         14,688,865$       

Plan Fiduciary Net Position (3,989,578)          (3,989,578)          (3,989,578)          

City's Net Pension Liability 13,705,275$       12,094,106         10,699,287$       

 
 
 

73



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

D. Retirement Plans (Continued) 
 
City Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 
The components of the change in the City Pension Plan’s liability for the year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows: 
 

Total Pension 
Liability (a)

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position (b)

Net Pension 
Liability (a) - (b)

Balance at beginning of the year: 17,207,284$      4,639,912          12,567,372$      
Changes for the Year:

Interest 657,554             -                     657,554             
Differences between Expected and Actual Experience (106,515)            -                     (106,515)            
Changes of Assumptions (137,747)            (137,747)            
Contributions - Employer -                     950,000             (950,000)            
Net Investment Income -                     (18,625)              18,625               
Benefit Payments, Net (1,536,892)         (1,536,892)         -                     
Administrative Expenses -                     (57,390)              57,390               
Other Income -                     12,573               (12,573)              

Net Changes (1,123,600)         (650,334)            (473,266)            

Balance at end of the year: 16,083,684$      3,989,578          12,094,106$      

City Pension Plan's Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of the Total Pension Liability

Beginning of the Year 26.96%
End of the Year 24.81%  

 
City’s Recognition of a Net Pension Assets, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources: 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense of approximately $387,000.  At June 30, 2018, 
the City reported deferred outflows of resources (deferred pension charges) and deferred inflows of resources (deferred 
pension credits) related to the City Pension Plan from the following sources: 

Description

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings on Investments 274,469$          -$              

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized as an increase 
(decrease) in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30, City Pension Plan

2019 89,485$                      
2020 68,524                        
2021 78,189                        
2022 38,271                        

Total 274,469$                    

 
 

74



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV.  OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
E. Other Postemployment Benefit Plan 

 
Plan Description 
 
The City provides postemployment medical benefits for eligible retirees in the City of Spartanburg Defined Benefit 
Retiree Healthcare Plan (“OPEB Plan”), an agent multiple-employer plan administered by the City.  The OPEB Plan 
is affiliated with the South Carolina Other Retirement Benefits Employer Trust (“SC ORBET”), and thus is considered 
an agent multiple-employer plan, whose OPEB Plan assets are administered by the Municipal Association of South 
Carolina (“MASC”).  SC ORBET issues a publicly available financial report that includes audited financial statements 
and required supplementary information for the OPEB Plan.  A copy of the report may be obtained by writing to: 
Chief Financial Officer for Risk Management Services, Municipal Association of South Carolina, P.O. Box 12109, 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211. 
 
Active employees who retire with at least 20 years of continuous service to the City and are eligible to retire under the 
South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS or PORS) are eligible to participate in the City’s OPEB Plan.  Employees 
who become disabled and are unable to return to work are eligible to participate if they have completed at least 20 
years of service with the City and attained age 50 prior to disability.  Rehired retirees may continue to accrue additional 
service toward this benefit. 
 
Retirees are responsible for choosing their own coverage and will not be covered by the City’s Medical Plan beyond 
any coverage required by COBRA. The City contributes $200/month to a Health Reimbursement Account to offset 
retiree health premiums. Additionally, retirees will have free access to the City of Spartanburg’s on-site health clinic. 
Coverage ceases at the earlier of (1) 10 years after retirement or (2) age 65.  Retirees who retired prior to January 1, 
2009 will be covered until age 65 and are not subject to the 10-year limit, if applicable. Rehired retirees currently 
working for the City are not considered part of this exception. 
 
Retirees will have access to the City’s on-site health clinic. They will not be extended access to the City’s health plan 
beyond that required by COBRA. 
 
Information regarding SCRS and PORS eligibility may be found above in Note IV.D.  The OPEB Plan is approved 
each year by City Council; the benefit and contribution requirements of the City and plan members are established 
and amended by City Council.  These contributions are neither guaranteed nor mandatory. The City retains the right 
to unilaterally modify its payments toward retiree health care benefits at any time. 
 

 Plan Membership 
 
As of January 1, 2017, the last actuarial valuation, the following employees were covered by the OPEB Plan’s benefit 
terms: 
 

Inactive Members or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefit Payments 35               
Active Members 376             

Total Membership 411             

 
  

75



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

E. Other Postemployment Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 
 
Actuarial valuations of the OPEB Plan involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include assumptions about future employment, 
mortality, inflation, healthcare cost trend rates, and future salary changes.  Amounts determined regarding the net 
OPEB liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. 
 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive OPEB Plan (the plan as understood 
by the employer and its members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the 
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial 
methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in 
actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
calculations. 
 
The following table provides a summary of the significant actuarial assumptions and methods used in the latest 
actuarial valuation for the OPEB Plan. 
 

Actuarial Valuation Date January 1, 2017
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Asset Valuation Method Market Value
Actuarial Assumptions:

Inflation 2.25%
   Investment Rate of Return 4.75% which includes inflation at 2.25%

Discount Rate 4.75%
Healthcare Cost Trend Rate 7.50% for 2017 and decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.0% by 2023
Payroll Growth 3.0% to 7% for SCRS, 3.5% to 9.5% for PORS
Coverage Elections

Active Participation/Marriage 100% of all active employees are assumed to be married with female spouses assumed to
be 3 years younger

Mortality Table RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Employees with a 95% multiplier

40% of eligible retirees will elect coverage and 20% of those will elect to cover the spouse

 
The actuarial assumptions used above were based on the results of an actuarial experience study adopted by the SCRS 
and the PORS as of July 1, 2015. 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB Plan Investments is based upon 35-year capital market assumptions, 
as well as current consensus expectations and market-based inputs.  The long-term expected rate of returns represent 
assumptions developed using an arithmetic building block approach and are presented net of investment fees.  There 
are no municipal bond rate assumptions used in deriving the discount rate, and the discount rate forecast period extends 
for 50 years.  The expected returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the target asset allocation.  
The long-term expected rate of return is produced by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
allocation percentage and adding expected inflation and is summarized in the following table. 

  

76



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

E. Other Postemployment Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return (Continued) 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation
Expected Arithmetic 
Real Rate of Return

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate of 

Return

US Government Fixed Income
US Government Agency 57.5% 2.25% 1.29%
US Government MBS/CMO/CMBS 40.0% 3.00% 1.20%
Cash and Short Duration 2.5% 0.25% 0.01%

Total Expected Real Rate of Return 100.0% 2.50%

Inflation for Actuarial Purposes 2.25%
Total Expected Nominal Return 4.75%

 
OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
The City’s net OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2017 and the total OPEB liability used to calculate 
the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017. 

Total OPEB 
Liability

Plan Net 
Position

 OPEB 
Liability

Balances as of December 31, 2016 2,402,921$        768,069          1,634,852$     

Changes for the year:
Service Cost 79,409               -                  79,409            
Interest 112,829             -                  112,829          
Difference Between Expected/Actual Experience (57,110)              -                  (57,110)           
Contributions - Employer -                     55,800            (55,800)           
Net Investment Income -                     21,338            (21,338)           
Benefit Payments and Implicit Subsidy Credit (55,800)              (55,800)           -                  
Administrative Expenses -                     (10,188)           10,188            

Net Changes 79,328               11,150            68,178            

Balances as of December 31, 2017 2,482,249$        779,219          1,703,030$     

 
The Single Equivalent Interest Rate (“SEIR”) remained at 4.75% for December 30, 2016 and December 30, 2017 (as 
the plan assets are projected not to be depleted, so a municipal bond rate was not used to determine the SEIR). 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recognized OPEB expense of approximately $162,000.  At June 30, 2018, 
the City reported deferred outflows of resources (deferred OPEB charges) and deferred inflows of resources (deferred 
OPEB credits) related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of

Description Resources Resources

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 11,925$            -$                  
Differences Between Projected and Actual Earnings on Investments -                    50,246              
Employer Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 28,690              -                    

Total 40,615$            50,246$            
 

77



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

E. Other Postemployment Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB (Continued) 
 
Approximately $29,000 that was reported as deferred inflows of resources related to the City’s contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date to the OPEB Plan, respectively, will be recognized as an addition of the net OPEB 
liability in the year ended June 30, 2019.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources (deferred OPEB 
charges) and deferred inflows of resources (deferred OPEB credits) related to the OPEB Plan will increase (decrease) 
OPEB expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30, Total

2018 (3,883)$                              
2019 (3,883)                                
2020 (3,883)                                
2021 (3,882)                                
2022 (6,864)                                

Thereafter (15,926)                              

Total (38,321)$                            

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability remained at 4.75% for December 30, 2016 and December 
30, 2017.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that the City’s contributions will 
be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates.  Based on those assumptions, the OPEB plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected OPEB payments for current active and 
inactive employees.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the OPEB liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

 
The following table presents the sensitivity of the City’s OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate, calculated 
using the discount rate of 4.75%, as well as what it would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point 
lower (3.75%) or 1% point higher (5.75%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
(3.75%) (4.75%) (5.75%)

Net OPEB Liability 1,901,821$                 1,703,030                   1,520,385$                 
 

 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate 
 
The following table presents the sensitivity of the City’s net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend 
rate, calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate of 7.50% decreasing to 5.00%, as well as what it would be if it 
were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1% point lower (6.50% decreasing to 4.00%) or 1% point 
higher (8.50% decreasing to 6.00%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease 1% Increase
(6.50% decreasing to 

4.00%)
(7.50% decreasing to 

5.00%)
(8.50% decreasing to 

6.00%)

Net OPEB Liability 1,567,372$                 1,703,030                   1,862,756$                 

Current Healthcare 
Cost Trend Rate

 

78



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

F. Landfill Remediation and Post-Closure Care Cost

The City collected and disposed of municipal waste in the Arkwright Dump (the “Site”) from the mid-1950s through
1972.  The City signed a Consent Agreement with the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) in
1999 to perform an investigation (the Remedial Investigation “RI”) of the Site and determine remediation alternatives
(the Feasibility Study “FS”) for the Site.  Based on the results of the RI, in September 2002 the EPA issued a record
of decision (“ROD”) for the site which included installation of an engineered cap for water and contaminated soils,
in-situ groundwater treatment for contaminated groundwater, institutional controls, and groundwater monitoring.  In
October 2008, the City entered into a consent agreement with the South Carolina Department of Health and
Environmental Control (“SCDHEC”) and has agreed to conduct the work described in the ROD with respect to
remediation of the Site.

The City hired an environmental consultant in 2009 to determine the remedial costs in accordance with the terms of
the consent agreement and ROD.  Engineering plans for remediation were developed in 2010 and 2011.  Those plans
were approved by SCDHEC and EPA is July 2011.  In September 2011, the City accepted bids for the remediation
work and began remediating the Site.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the City incurred approximately
$6,159,000 in expenditures and has completed the remediation.

Included in the original total landfill post-closure care liability was annual monitoring and maintenance costs following
the capping of the landfill area with enhanced bioremediation of groundwater.  The post closure monitoring period
required by state law is 30 years after the entire landfill receives final cover.  However, based on conversations with
the EPA, SCDEC, and the environmental consultant, a much shorter monitoring period is expected since the landfill
has been closed since the early 1970s and that natural remediation has occurred over time.  The City believes that it
has completed the required post closure monitoring and there is no liability remaining at June 30, 2018.

G. Conduit Debt

The Spartanburg Water System (“Water System”) has issued the following Bonds in the name of the City for which a
portion is still outstanding at June 30, 2018: $8,000,000 in June 2012; $27,255,000 in October 2013; $32,340,000 in
June 2015; $59,080,000 in June 2017; and $45,930,000 in August 2017.  The purpose of these bonds was to fund
capital improvements.  At June 30, 2018, the outstanding balances on these bonds were approximately $163,725,000
(excluding deferred amounts).  The bonds are payable solely from the gross revenues derived from the operation of
the Water System after first paying operation and maintenance of the Water System.  The bonds are secured by a
statutory lien upon the Water System assets granted by the bond ordinances.  The City is not obligated in any manner
for repayment of the bonds.  Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial
statements.

H. Related Party Transactions

The City purchases vehicles from Vic Bailey Ford for which a Council member is the General Manager.  All of the
vehicles purchased were under state contract.  The amount of vehicles purchased in 2018 was approximately $469,000.

I. Tax Abatements

City’s Tax Abatements

The City does not have any significant tax abatement agreements of its own.

Spartanburg County Tax Abatements

The City’s property tax revenues were reduced by approximately $194,000 under agreements entered into by
Spartanburg County (“County”).

79



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
   
 
IV. OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
J. Subsequent Events 

 
In August 2018, the City entered into a construction contract with an asphalt paving and grading contractor for 
approximately $809,000 for their annual street resurfacing project.  
 
In October 2018, the City issued the Special Obligation Bond, Taxable Series 2018 (with a hospitality tax pledge) in 
the amount of $12,500,000.  The purpose of this issuance is to primarily fund the new Dr. TK Gregg Community 
Center. The entire principal amount will be repaid in one payment due October 1, 2019 plus interest at 3.26%. 
 
In December 2018, the City entered into a construction contract with a local construction company for approximately 
$11,908,000 for the T.K. Gregg Community Center Construction Project.  
 
In December 2018, the City entered into an equipment lease purchase agreement in the amount of $2,650,000 for five 
years for the purpose of financing the acquisition of various vehicles and equipment.  The lease purchase requires 
semi-annual payments of approximately $284,000 which includes interest at 2.83%. 

80



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

81



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGETS AND ACTUAL

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL VARIANCE
REVENUES

Taxes 15,256,996$   15,256,996     14,798,582     (458,414)$       
Fees, Licenses, and Permits 15,704,996     15,704,996     16,564,114     859,118          
Fines and Forfeitures 383,000          383,000          345,112          (37,888)           
Intergovernmental Revenues 3,022,137       3,022,137       3,349,936       327,799          
Charges for Services 1,851,535       1,851,535       1,856,760       5,225              
Investment Earnings 20,000            20,000            89,774            69,774            
Other Revenues 129,525          129,525          204,976          75,451            

TOTAL REVENUES 36,368,189     36,368,189     37,209,254     841,065          

EXPENDITURES

Policy Formulation and Administration 5,569,954       5,569,954       6,088,177       (518,223)         
Public Safety 16,732,369     16,732,369     16,953,997     (221,628)         
Parks, Recreation, and Special Events 1,774,888       1,774,888       1,631,681       143,207          
Development Services 3,554,753       3,554,753       3,064,973       489,780          
Public Services 6,842,734       6,842,734       6,657,400       185,334          
Finance and Administrative Services 2,162,347       2,162,347       2,008,592       153,755          

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 36,637,045     36,637,045     36,404,820     232,225          

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (268,856)         (268,856)         804,434          1,073,290       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In 2,694,517       2,694,517       2,716,682       22,165            
Transfers Out (2,460,661)      (2,460,661)      (3,245,316)      (784,655)         
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 35,000            35,000            54,364            19,364            

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 268,856          268,856          (474,270)         (743,126)         

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -                  -                  330,164          330,164          

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 7,732,427       7,732,427       7,732,427       -                  

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 7,732,427$     7,732,427       8,062,591       330,164$        

Note: The General Fund budgetary comparison schedule has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

GENERAL FUND

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

82



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - HOSPITALITY TAX FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGETS AND ACTUAL

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL VARIANCE
REVENUES

Hospitality Taxes 4,907,782$   4,907,782     5,041,501     133,719$       
Investment Earnings 9,000            9,000            16,473          7,473             
Other Revenues 1,700            1,700            951               (749)              

TOTAL REVENUES 4,918,482     4,918,482     5,058,925     140,443         

EXPENDITURES

Operating 545,000        545,000        548,330        (3,330)           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 545,000        545,000        548,330        (3,330)           

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 4,373,482     4,373,482     4,510,595     137,113         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers Out (4,373,482)    (4,373,482)    (4,472,841)    (99,359)         

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) (4,373,482)    (4,373,482)    (4,472,841)    (99,359)         

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -                -                37,754          37,754           

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 2,341,918     2,341,918     2,341,918     -                

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 2,341,918$   2,341,918     2,379,672     37,754$         

Note: The Hospitality Tax Fund budgetary comparison schedule has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.

HOSPITALITY TAX FUND

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

83



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - OPEB PLAN SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE CITY'S NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

LAST FISCAL YEAR

Year Ended

June 30, 2018

Total OPEB Liability:

Service Cost 79,409$                              

Interest 112,829                              

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (57,110)                               

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (55,800)                               

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability 79,328                                

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning of Year 2,402,921                           

Total OPEB Liability - End of Year (a) 2,482,249$                         

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position:

Employer Contribution 55,800$                              

Net Investment Income 21,338                                

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions (55,800)                               

Administrative Expense (10,188)                               

Net Change in OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 11,150                                

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of Year 768,069                              

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of Year (b) 779,219$                            

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) - End of Year (a) - (b) 1,703,030$                         

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position

as a Percentage of the Total OPEB Liability 31.39%

Covered-Employee Payroll 16,198,642$                       

Net OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll 10.51%

Notes to Schedule:

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of December 31st of the current year (measurement date).

The City adopted GASB #75 during the year ended June 30, 2018.  Information before 2018 is not available.

84



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - OPEB PLAN SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS

LAST FISCAL YEAR

Year Ended

June 30, 2018

Actuarially Determined Contribution 140,326$            

Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contribution 55,800                

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) 84,526$              

Covered-Employee Payroll 16,198,642$       

Contributions as a Percentage of Covered:-Employee Payroll 0.34%

Notes to Schedule:

The City adopted GASB #75 during the year ended June 30, 2018.  Information before 2018 is not available.

Valuation Date: Actuarially determined contribution rates were calculated as of January 1, 2017.

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Asset Valuation Method Market Value

Inflation 2.25%

Discount Rate 4.75%

Investment Rate of Return 4.75% which includes inflation

Salary Increases SCRS - 3.0% - 7.0%; PORS - 3.5% - 9.5% (including inflation)

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 7.5% for 2017 decreasing to an ultimate rate of 5.00% for 2023 and beyond

Retirement Rates Based on the June 30, 2015 SC OPEB Valuation
Mortality Rates RP-2014 Mortality Table for Employees with a 95% multiplier

Election Percentage 100% of eligible employees will elect coverage and 0% of those will elect to cover the spouse.

Marriage Assumption 100% of all active employees are assumed to be married with female spouses being three years 

younger than males.

Other Information:

None

85



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - PENSION PLAN SCHEDULES

RETIREMENT PLAN OF THE CITY OF SPARTANBURG -
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

LAST FIVE YEARS

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total Pension Liability:
Service Cost -$                 -                   2,616               7,928               12,311$           
Interest 657,554           709,312           719,395           711,075           761,034           
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience   (106,515)          200,278           555,443           (3,011)              (436,740)          
Changes of Assumptions (137,747)          (681,039)          -                   551,546           -                   
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions  (1,536,892)       (1,508,124)       (1,545,732)       (1,568,073)       (1,664,935)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability  (1,123,600)       (1,279,573)       (268,278)          (300,535)          (1,328,330)       

Total Pension Liability - Beginning of Year  17,207,284      18,486,857      18,755,135      19,055,670      20,384,000      

Total Pension Liability - End of Year  16,083,684$    17,207,284      18,486,857      18,755,135      19,055,670$    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position:
Employer Contribution  950,000$         903,842           855,676           810,401           812,083$         
Employee Contribution  -                   2,916               4,539               8,304               8,672               
Net Investment Income  (18,625)            (982)                 264,312           130,645           267,102           
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Member Contributions  (1,536,892)       (1,508,124)       (1,545,732)       (1,568,073)       (1,664,935)       
Administrative Expenses  (57,390)            (47,983)            (62,040)            (70,455)            (89,978)            
Other   12,573             -                   -                   -                   -                   

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position    (650,334)          (650,331)          (483,245)          (689,178)          (667,056)          

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of Year   4,639,912        5,290,243        5,773,488        6,462,666        7,129,722        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - End of Year 3,989,578$      4,639,912        5,290,243        5,773,488        6,462,666$      

Net Pension Liability - End of Year    12,094,106$    12,567,372      13,196,614      12,981,647      12,593,004$    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
 as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability    24.81% 26.96% 28.62% 30.78% 33.91%

Covered - Employee Payroll    -$                 41,016             41,580             73,802             103,745$         

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll   0.00% 30640.17% 31737.89% 17589.83% 12138.42%

Notes to Schedule:

Significant Changes of Assumptions - Change in mortality assumptions from the RP2014 mortality table to the RP2006 mortality table.  

Year Ended June 30, 

86



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 S

U
P

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 -
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 T

H
E

 C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

 -
S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
 O

F
 C

O
N

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
S

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 Y

E
A

R
S

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

A
ct

ua
ri

al
ly

 D
et

er
m

in
ed

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
1,

10
7,

13
2

$ 
   

 
1,

10
3,

70
9

   
   

 
1,

11
2,

22
1

   
   

 
1,

07
6,

60
2

   
   

 
1,

04
0,

83
0

   
   

 
1,

96
9,

99
5

   
   

 
1,

12
6,

55
8

   
   

 
89

9,
94

6
   

   
   

 
73

9,
79

7
   

   
   

 
20

8,
87

0
$ 

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 in

 R
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

A
ct

ua
ri

al
ly

D
et

er
m

in
ed

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n:
E

m
pl

oy
er

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
95

0,
00

0
   

   
   

 
90

3,
84

2
   

   
   

 
85

5,
67

6
   

   
   

 
81

0,
40

1
   

   
   

 
81

2,
08

3
   

   
   

 
82

1,
33

1
   

   
   

 
54

8,
23

5
   

   
   

 
54

6,
92

0
   

   
   

 
39

,2
44

   
   

   
   

24
8,

07
8

   
   

   
 

E
m

pl
oy

ee
 C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
n

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

91
6

   
   

   
   

  
4,

53
9

   
   

   
   

  
8,

30
4

   
   

   
   

  
8,

67
2

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

T
ot

al
 C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

95
0,

00
0

   
   

   
 

90
6,

75
8

   
   

   
 

86
0,

21
5

   
   

   
 

81
8,

70
5

   
   

   
 

82
0,

75
5

   
   

   
 

82
1,

33
1

   
   

   
 

54
8,

23
5

   
   

   
 

54
6,

92
0

   
   

   
 

39
,2

44
   

   
   

   
24

8,
07

8
   

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
D

ef
ic

ie
nc

y 
(E

xc
es

s)
15

7,
13

2
$ 

   
   

 
19

6,
95

1
   

   
   

 
25

2,
00

6
   

   
   

 
25

7,
89

7
   

   
   

 
22

0,
07

5
   

   
   

 
1,

14
8,

66
4

   
   

 
57

8,
32

3
   

   
   

 
35

3,
02

6
   

   
   

 
70

0,
55

3
   

   
   

 
(3

9,
20

8)
$ 

   
   

 

C
ov

er
ed

-E
m

pl
oy

ee
 P

ay
ro

l l
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

41
,0

16
   

   
   

   
41

,5
80

   
   

   
   

73
,8

02
   

   
   

   
10

3,
74

5
   

   
   

 
12

5,
42

8
   

   
   

 
20

7,
20

0
   

   
   

 
21

0,
89

1
   

   
   

 
26

4,
82

0
   

   
   

 
51

6,
78

4
$ 

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 a

s 
a 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 C

ov
er

ed
:

E
m

pl
oy

ee
 P

ay
ro

ll
0.

00
%

22
10

.7
4%

20
68

.8
2%

11
09

.3
3%

79
1.

13
%

65
4.

82
%

26
4.

59
%

25
9.

34
%

14
.8

2%
48

.0
0%

N
ot

es
 t

o 
S

ch
ed

u
le

:

V
al

ua
ti

on
 D

at
e:

Ja
nu

ar
y 

1,
 2

01
8 

(a
ct

ua
ri

al
ly

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
ra

te
s 

ar
e 

ca
lc

ul
at

ed
 a

s 
of

 J
an

ua
ry

 1
st

 e
ac

h 
ye

ar
, a

t t
he

 b
eg

in
ni

ng
 o

f 
th

e 
fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r 
in

 w
hi

ch
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 a
re

 r
ep

or
te

d)
.

M
et

ho
ds

 a
nd

 A
ss

um
pt

io
ns

 U
se

d 
to

D
et

er
m

in
e 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
R

at
es

:
A

ct
ua

ri
al

 C
os

t M
et

ho
d

E
nt

ry
 A

ge
 N

or
m

al
A

m
or

ti
za

ti
on

 M
et

ho
d

L
ev

el
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 P
ay

ro
ll

, C
lo

se
d

R
em

ai
ni

ng
 A

m
or

ti
za

ti
on

 P
er

io
d

30
 Y

ea
rs

A
ss

et
 V

al
ua

ti
on

 M
et

ho
d

M
ar

ke
t V

al
ue

S
al

ar
y 

In
cr

ea
se

s
3.

5%
, A

ve
ra

ge
, I

nc
lu

di
ng

 I
nf

la
ti

on
In

ve
st

m
en

t R
at

e 
of

 R
et

ur
n

4.
00

%
R

et
ir

em
en

t A
ge

65
M

or
ta

li
ty

R
P

-2
00

6 
M

or
ta

li
ty

 T
ab

le
 f

or
 E

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
an

d 
H

ea
lt

hy
 w

it
h 

ge
ne

ra
ti

on
al

 p
ro

je
ct

io
ns

 f
or

 m
or

ta
li

ty
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

S
ca

le
 M

P
 2

01
7.

O
th

er
 I

n
fo

rm
at

io
n

:

N
on

e

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

,

87



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 S

U
P

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 -
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 T

H
E

 C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

 -
S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
 O

F
 I

N
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 R

E
T

U
R

N
S

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 Y

E
A

R
S

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

A
nn

ua
l M

on
ey

-W
ei

gh
te

d 
R

at
e 

of
 R

et
ur

n,
N

et
 o

f 
In

ve
st

m
en

t E
xp

en
se

-0
.4

3%
-0

.0
2%

4.
90

%
3.

50
%

-2
.4

0%
6.

64
%

0.
99

%
10

.8
0%

18
.5

3%
-2

6.
04

%

N
ot

e:
  A

bo
ve

 r
at

es
 a

re
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

a 
ca

le
nd

ar
 y

ea
r.

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

,

88



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 S

U
P

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 -
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 C

IT
Y

'S
 P

R
O

P
O

R
T

IO
N

A
T

E
 S

H
A

R
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 N

E
T

 P
E

N
S

IO
N

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
Y

S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

 R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T
 S

Y
S

T
E

M

L
A

S
T

 F
IV

E
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

C
it

y'
s 

P
ro

po
rt

io
n 

of
 th

e 
N

et
 P

en
si

on
 L

ia
bi

li
ty

 (
A

ss
et

)
0.

07
81

91
%

0.
08

01
09

%
0.

07
97

32
%

0.
08

19
14

%
0.

08
19

14
%

C
it

y'
s 

P
ro

po
rt

io
na

te
 S

ha
re

 o
f 

th
e 

N
et

 P
en

si
on

 L
ia

bi
li

ty
 (

A
ss

et
)

17
,6

02
,0

52
$ 

   
   

  
17

,1
11

,1
64

   
   

   
  

15
,1

21
,5

58
   

   
   

  
14

,1
02

,8
75

   
   

   
  

14
,6

92
,4

50
$ 

   
   

  

C
it

y'
s 

C
ov

er
ed

 P
ay

ro
ll

7,
99

2,
99

6
$ 

   
   

   
 

7,
86

4,
19

2
   

   
   

   
 

7,
58

0,
12

2
   

   
   

   
 

7,
54

3,
45

2
   

   
   

   
 

7,
76

6,
05

2
$ 

   
   

   
 

C
it

y'
s 

P
ro

po
rt

io
na

te
 S

ha
re

 o
f 

th
e 

N
et

 P
en

si
on

 L
ia

bi
li

ty
 (

A
ss

et
)

as
 a

 P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 it

s 
C

ov
er

ed
 P

ay
ro

ll
22

0.
22

%
21

7.
58

%
19

9.
49

%
18

6.
96

%
18

9.
19

%

P
la

n 
F

id
uc

ia
ry

 N
et

 P
os

it
io

n 
as

 a
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 th
e

T
ot

al
 P

en
si

on
 L

ia
bi

li
ty

53
.3

4%
52

.9
1%

56
.9

9%
59

.9
2%

56
.3

9%

N
ot

es
 t

o 
S

ch
ed

u
le

:

T
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s 
pr

es
en

te
d 

fo
r 

ea
ch

 f
is

ca
l y

ea
r 

w
er

e 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 a
s 

of
 J

un
e 

30
th

 o
f 

th
e 

pr
ec

ed
in

g 
ye

ar
.

T
he

 C
it

y 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
G

A
S

B
 #

68
/7

1 
du

ri
ng

 th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 J

un
e 

30
, 2

01
5.

  I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
be

fo
re

 2
01

4 
is

 n
ot

 a
va

il
ab

le
.

T
he

 d
is

co
un

t r
at

e 
w

as
 lo

w
er

ed
 f

ro
m

 7
.5

0%
 to

 7
.2

5%
 f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 J
un

e 
30

, 2
01

8.

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

,

89



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 S

U
P

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 -
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 C

IT
Y

'S
 C

O
N

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
S

S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

 R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T
 S

Y
S

T
E

M

L
A

S
T

 F
IV

E
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

C
on

tr
ac

tu
al

ly
 R

eq
ui

re
d 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
1,

11
4,

92
6

$ 
   

   
   

 
91

1,
99

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
85

7,
98

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
81

4,
86

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
78

8,
29

1
$ 

   
   

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 in

 R
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

C
on

tr
ac

tu
al

ly
 R

eq
ui

re
d

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n:
1,

11
4,

92
6

   
   

   
   

 
91

1,
99

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
85

7,
98

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
81

4,
86

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
78

8,
29

1
   

   
   

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
D

ef
ic

ie
nc

y 
(E

xc
es

s)
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

C
it

y'
s 

C
ov

er
ed

 P
ay

ro
ll

8,
31

4,
14

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

7,
99

2,
95

6
   

   
   

   
 

7,
86

4,
19

2
   

   
   

   
 

7,
58

0,
12

2
   

   
   

   
 

7,
54

3,
45

2
$ 

   
   

   
 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 a

s 
a 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 C

ov
er

ed
 P

ay
ro

ll
13

.4
1%

11
.4

1%
10

.9
1%

10
.7

5%
10

.4
5%

N
ot

es
 t

o 
S

ch
ed

u
le

:

T
he

 C
it

y 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
G

A
S

B
 #

68
/7

1 
du

ri
ng

 th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 J

un
e 

30
, 2

01
5.

  I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
be

fo
re

 2
01

4 
is

 n
ot

 a
va

il
ab

le
.

T
he

 c
on

tr
ac

tu
al

ly
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

co
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

 r
at

e 
w

as
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

fr
om

 1
1.

41
%

 to
 1

3.
41

%
 o

f 
el

ig
ib

le
 p

ay
ro

ll
 f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 J
un

e 
30

, 2
01

8.
 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

,

90



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 S

U
P

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 -
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 C

IT
Y

'S
 P

R
O

P
O

R
T

IO
N

A
T

E
 S

H
A

R
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 N

E
T

 P
E

N
S

IO
N

 L
IA

B
IL

IT
Y

P
O

L
IC

E
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
S

 R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T
 S

Y
S

T
E

M

L
A

S
T

 F
IV

E
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

C
it

y'
s 

P
ro

po
rt

io
n 

of
 th

e 
N

et
 P

en
si

on
 L

ia
bi

li
ty

 (
A

ss
et

)
0.

69
02

2%
0.

70
38

7%
0.

71
83

6%
0.

70
61

4%
0.

70
61

4%

C
it

y'
s 

P
ro

po
rt

io
na

te
 S

ha
re

 o
f 

th
e 

N
et

 P
en

si
on

 L
ia

bi
li

ty
 (

A
ss

et
)

18
,9

09
,0

24
$ 

   
   

  
17

,8
53

,4
34

   
   

   
  

15
,6

56
,6

74
   

   
   

  
13

,5
18

,5
95

   
   

   
  

14
,6

38
,1

50
$ 

   
   

  

C
it

y'
s 

C
ov

er
ed

 P
ay

ro
ll

9,
29

5,
06

2
$ 

   
   

   
 

8,
97

3,
37

6
   

   
   

   
 

8,
88

9,
20

5
   

   
   

   
 

8,
49

7,
40

5
   

   
   

   
 

8,
44

4,
23

8
$ 

   
   

   
 

C
it

y'
s 

P
ro

po
rt

io
na

te
 S

ha
re

 o
f 

th
e 

N
et

 P
en

si
on

 L
ia

bi
li

ty
 (

A
ss

et
)

as
 a

 P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 it

s 
C

ov
er

ed
 P

ay
ro

ll
20

3.
43

%
19

8.
96

%
17

6.
13

%
15

9.
09

%
17

3.
35

%

P
la

n 
F

id
uc

ia
ry

 N
et

 P
os

it
io

n 
as

 a
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 th
e 

T
ot

al
 

P
en

si
on

 L
ia

bi
li

ty
60

.9
4%

60
.4

4%
64

.5
7%

67
.5

5%
62

.9
8%

N
ot

es
 t

o 
S

ch
ed

u
le

:

T
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s 
pr

es
en

te
d 

fo
r 

ea
ch

 f
is

ca
l y

ea
r 

w
er

e 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 a
s 

of
 J

un
e 

30
th

 o
f 

th
e 

pr
ec

ed
in

g 
ye

ar
.

T
he

 C
it

y 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
G

A
S

B
 #

68
/7

1 
du

ri
ng

 th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 J

un
e 

30
, 2

01
5.

  I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
be

fo
re

 2
01

4 
is

 n
ot

 a
va

il
ab

le
.

T
he

 d
is

co
un

t r
at

e 
w

as
 lo

w
er

ed
 f

ro
m

 7
.5

0%
 to

 7
.2

5%
 f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 J
un

e 
30

, 2
01

8.

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

,

91



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 S

U
P

P
L

E
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 -
 P

E
N

S
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
S

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 C

IT
Y

'S
 C

O
N

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
S

P
O

L
IC

E
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
S

 R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T
 S

Y
S

T
E

M

L
A

S
T

 F
IV

E
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

C
on

tr
ac

tu
al

ly
 R

eq
ui

re
d 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
1,

53
9,

57
4

$ 
   

   
   

 
1,

32
3,

61
3

   
   

   
   

 
1,

23
2,

94
2

   
   

   
   

 
1,

19
2,

04
2

   
   

   
   

 
1,

09
1,

06
7

$ 
   

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 in

 R
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

C
on

tr
ac

tu
al

ly
 R

eq
ui

re
d 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n:
1,

53
9,

57
4

   
   

   
   

 
1,

32
3,

61
3

   
   

   
   

 
1,

23
2,

94
2

   
   

   
   

 
1,

19
2,

04
2

   
   

   
   

 
1,

09
1,

06
7

   
   

   
   

 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
D

ef
ic

ie
nc

y 
(E

xc
es

s)
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

C
it

y'
s 

C
ov

er
ed

 P
ay

ro
ll

9,
48

0,
13

6
$ 

   
   

   
 

9,
29

5,
06

2
   

   
   

   
 

8,
97

3,
37

6
   

   
   

   
 

8,
88

9,
20

5
   

   
   

   
 

8,
49

7,
40

5
$ 

   
   

   
 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 a

s 
a 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 C

ov
er

ed
 P

ay
ro

ll
:

16
.2

4%
14

.2
4%

13
.7

4%
13

.4
1%

12
.8

4%

N
ot

es
 t

o 
S

ch
ed

u
le

:

T
he

 C
it

y 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
G

A
S

B
 #

68
/7

1 
du

ri
ng

 th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 J

un
e 

30
, 2

01
5.

  I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
be

fo
re

 2
01

4 
is

 n
ot

 a
va

il
ab

le
.

T
he

 c
on

tr
ac

tu
al

ly
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

co
nt

ri
bu

ti
on

 r
at

e 
w

as
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

fr
om

 1
4.

24
%

 to
 1

6.
24

%
 o

f 
el

ig
ib

le
 p

ay
ro

ll
 f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 J
un

e 
30

, 2
01

8.
 

Y
ea

r 
E

n
d

ed
 J

u
n

e 
30

,

92



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE GENERAL FUND 
SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 

BALANCES—REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
 
 

The General Fund accounts for all revenues and expenditures of a governmental unit that are not accounted for in 
other funds, and it is usually the largest and most important accounting activity for state and local governments.  It 
normally receives a greater variety and number of taxes and other general revenues than any other fund.  This fund 
has flowing into it such revenues as general property taxes, licenses and permits, fines and penalties, rents, charges 
for current services, state-shared taxes, and interest earnings.  The fund’s resources also finance a wider range of 
activities than any other fund.  Most of the current operations of governmental units will be financed from this fund. 

93



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

94



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

REVENUES

Taxes:
Current 14,706,996$    14,264,062      (442,934)$        
Prior Years, Including Penalties and Execution Fees 550,000           534,520           (15,480)            

Total Taxes 15,256,996      14,798,582      (458,414)          

Fees, Licenses, and Permits:
Business Licenses and Penalties 11,490,000      12,431,290      941,290           
Utility Franchise Fees 3,548,796        3,535,159        (13,637)            
Building Permits 400,000           349,410           (50,590)            
Electrical Permits 40,000             59,608             19,608             
Plumbing Permits 33,000             35,358             2,358               
Heating & Air Conditioning Permits 45,000             38,682             (6,318)              
Miscellaneous Inspections/License Fees 148,200           114,607           (33,593)            

Total Fees, Licenses, and Permits 15,704,996      16,564,114      859,118           

Fines and Forfeitures:
Criminal Fines 105,000           56,826             (48,174)            
Traffic Fines 258,000           254,081           (3,919)              
Parking Tickets 20,000             34,205             14,205             

Total Fines and Forfeitures 383,000           345,112           (37,888)            

Intergovernmental Revenues:
Local Government Funds 798,466           836,020           37,554             
General Government Funds 236,600           436,689           200,089           
Accommodations Tax 38,875             40,730             1,855               
Inventory Tax 694,796           694,796           - 
Manufacturing Tax Reimbursement 6,400               6,829               429
Sunday Alcohol Sales 72,000             89,050             17,050             
Water System Payments 1,000,000        1,000,000        - 
Worker's Compensation Recoveries 175,000           245,822           70,822             

Total Intergovernmental Revenues 3,022,137        3,349,936        327,799           

Charges for Services:
District 6 & 7 School Guards 235,079           253,960           18,881             
Dorman High School Security 98,708             76,579             (22,129)            
Parks and Recreation 83,000             70,541             (12,459)            
Fleet Charges 60,000             53,695             (6,305)              
Sanitation Service Charge 1,374,748        1,401,985        27,237             

Total Charges for Services 1,851,535$      1,856,760        5,225$             

(Continued)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

95



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Other Revenues:
Fair Association 27,500$           13,750             (13,750)$          
Interest 20,000             89,774             69,774             
Miscellaneous 100,025           189,226           89,201             
Rents 2,000               2,000               -                   

Total Other Revenues 149,525           294,750           145,225           

TOTAL REVENUES 36,368,189      37,209,254      841,065           

EXPENDITURES

Policy Formulation and Administration
Mayor and Council:

Personnel Services 152,533           105,116           47,417             
Operating Expenditures 81,783             67,497             14,286             

234,316           172,613           61,703             

Boards and Commissions:
Operating Expenditures 2,909               1,850               1,059               

2,909               1,850               1,059               

City Attorney:
Personnel Services 227,596           166,498           61,098             
Operating Expenditures 158,027           260,487           (102,460)          

385,623           426,985           (41,362)            

City Manager:
Personnel Services 425,171           425,552           (381)                 
Operating Expenditures 42,350             39,562             2,788               

467,521           465,114           2,407               

Communication and Marketing:
Personnel Services 211,544           124,385           87,159             
Operating Expenditures 89,358             58,617             30,741             

300,902           183,002           117,900           

Community Relations:
Personnel Services 270,556           270,637           (81)                   
Operating Expenditures 65,510             67,705             (2,195)              
Capital Outlay 3,984               3,984               -                   

340,050$         342,326           (2,276)$            

(Continued)

96



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Municipal Court:
Personnel Services 399,421$         396,868           2,553$             
Operating Expenditures 106,650           75,747             30,903             

506,071           472,615           33,456             

Non-Departmental Services:
Operating Expenditures 235,250           1,003,096        (767,846)          

235,250           1,003,096        (767,846)          

Worker's Compensation:
Personnel Services 80,435             83,198             (2,763)              
Operating Expenditures 563,862           747,038           (183,176)          

644,297           830,236           (185,939)          

Human Resources:
Personnel Services 315,491           240,129           75,362             
Operating Expenditures 87,064             105,877           (18,813)            
Capital Outlay 1,219               1,219               -                   

403,774           347,225           56,549             

Information Technology:
Personnel Services 463,566           465,775           (2,209)              
Operating Expenditures 1,122,599        1,111,716        10,883             
Capital Outlay 295,517           107,560           187,957           

1,881,682        1,685,051        196,631           

Employee Development:
Personnel Services 86,000             88,639             (2,639)              
Operating Expenditures 81,559             69,425             12,134             

167,559           158,064           9,495               

Total Policy Formulation and Administration 5,569,954        6,088,177        (518,223)          

Public Safety
Administration

Director's Office:
Personnel Services 676,056           742,212           (66,156)            
Operating Expenditures 184,060           165,581           18,479             
Capital Outlay 13,921             13,921             -                   

874,037$         921,714           (47,677)$          

(Continued)

97



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Technical and Support Administration:
Personnel Services 377,887$         360,274           17,613$           
Operating Expenditures 378,500           370,969           7,531               

756,387           731,243           25,144             

Total Administration 1,630,424        1,652,957        (22,533)            

Law Enforcement
Detention Transport:

Operating Expenditures 48,500             38,692             9,808               
Capital Outlay 2,701               2,701               -                   

51,201             41,393             9,808               

Patrol:
Personnel Services 4,878,200        4,869,970        8,230               
Operating Expenditures 352,050           351,557           493                  
Capital Outlay 280,261           280,261           -                   

5,510,511        5,501,788        8,723               

Crime Prevention:
Personnel Services 546,414           543,094           3,320               
Operating Expenditures 17,350             14,640             2,710               

563,764           557,734           6,030               

Investigations:
Personnel Services 1,736,537        1,904,715        (168,178)          
Operating Expenditures 269,125           248,567           20,558             
Capital Outlay 71,956             71,956             -                   

2,077,618        2,225,238        (147,620)          

Records:
Personnel Services 431,663           412,816           18,847             
Operating Expenditures 28,580             26,936             1,644               

460,243           439,752           20,491             

Animal Control:
Personnel Services 114,059           115,746           (1,687)              
Operating Expenditures 88,910             80,068             8,842               
Capital Outlay 14,607             14,607             -                   

217,576           210,421           7,155               

Law Enforcement Administration:
Personnel Services 365,559           300,623           64,936             
Operating Expenditures 32,040             23,955             8,085               

397,599$         324,578           73,021$           

(Continued)

98



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

School Crossing Guard:
Personnel Services 134,774$         67,725             67,049$           
Operating Expenditures 4,893               3,294               1,599               

139,667           71,019             68,648             

Total Law Enforcement 9,418,179        9,371,923        46,256             

Fire
Fire Administration:

Personnel Services 620,526           644,358           (23,832)            
Operating Expenditures 151,702           113,973           37,729             
Capital Outlay 12,253             12,253             - 

784,481           770,584           13,897             

Fire Suppression:
Personnel Services 4,089,305        4,311,908        (222,603)          
Operating Expenditures 529,810           566,455           (36,645)            
Capital Outlay 280,170           280,170           - 

4,899,285        5,158,533        (259,248)          

Total Fire 5,683,766        5,929,117        (245,351)          

Total Public Safety 16,732,369      16,953,997      (221,628)          

Parks, Recreation, and Special Events
Parks, Recreation, and Special Events Administration:

Personnel Services 202,446           174,271           28,175             
Operating Expenditures 192,147           178,979           13,168             

394,593           353,250           41,343             

Special Events:
Personnel Services 160,673           161,352           (679) 
Operating Expenditures 11,348             10,305             1,043               

172,021           171,657           364

Parks:
Personnel Services 337,638           272,701           64,937             
Operating Expenditures 62,788             57,558             5,230               
Capital Outlay 4,097               4,097               - 

404,523           334,356           70,167             

Recreation Centers:
Personnel Services 388,251           355,069           33,182             
Operating Expenditures 104,980           105,586           (606) 

493,231$         460,655           32,576$           

(Continued)

99



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Aquatics:
Personnel Services 107,775$         116,092           (8,317)$            
Operating Expenditures 16,780             11,365             5,415               

124,555           127,457           (2,902)              

Athletics
Personnel Services 122,865           119,933           2,932               
Operating Expenditures 63,100             64,373             (1,273)              

185,965           184,306           1,659               

Total Parks, Recreation, and Special Events 1,774,888        1,631,681        143,207           

Development Services
Economic Development:

Personnel Services 209,530           111,359           98,171             
Operating Expenditures 152,615           65,722             86,893             
Capital Outlay - - - 

362,145           177,081           185,064           

Neighborhood Services:
Personnel Services 195,606           197,948           (2,342)              
Operating Expenditures 12,950             7,777               5,173               
Capital Outlay 20,000             20,042             (42) 

228,556           225,767           2,789               

Property Maintenance Inspection:
Personnel Services 206,638           174,624           32,014             
Operating Expenditures 81,303             76,187             5,116               
Capital Outlay 3,057               3,057               - 

290,998           253,868           37,130             

City Engineering:
Personnel Services 167,196           93,907             73,289             
Operating Expenditures 37,200             25,557             11,643             

204,396           119,464           84,932             

Planning Department:
Personnel Services 283,804           174,642           109,162           
Operating Expenditures 25,493             60,881             (35,388)            

309,297$         235,523           73,774$           

(Continued)

100



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Inspections:
Personnel Services 574,565$         620,134           (45,569)$          
Operating Expenditures 60,400             72,961             (12,561)            
Capital Outlay 34,360             6,360               28,000             

669,325           699,455           (30,130)            

Parking Enforcement:
Personnel Services 138,631           97,707             40,924             
Operating Expenditures 9,250               5,632               3,618               

147,881           103,339           44,542             
Construction Management:

Personnel Services 159,841           159,655           186                  
Operating Expenditures 11,550             10,894             656                  
Capital Outlay 2,273               2,273               -                   

173,664           172,822           842                  

Building Maintenance:
Personnel Services 342,167           427,761           (85,594)            
Operating Expenditures 814,800           641,369           173,431           
Capital Outlay 11,524             8,524               3,000               

1,168,491        1,077,654        90,837             

Total Development Services 3,554,753        3,064,973        489,780           

Public Services
Public Services Administration:

Personnel Services 152,975           50,862             102,113           
Operating Expenditures 14,300             11,370             2,930               

167,275           62,232             105,043           

Ground Maintenance:
Personnel Services 946,730           884,223           62,507             
Operating Expenditures 393,983           407,726           (13,743)            
Capital Outlay 96,561             89,382             7,179               

1,437,274        1,381,331        55,943             

Street Maintenance:
Personnel Services 272,401           297,461           (25,060)            
Operating Expenditures 135,047           113,191           21,856             
Capital Outlay 64,650             64,650             -                   

472,098$         475,302           (3,204)$            

(Continued)

101



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Traffic Services:
Personnel Services 421,674$         407,563           14,111$           
Operating Expenditures 844,977           807,594           37,383             
Capital Outlay 5,942               5,942               - 

1,272,593        1,221,099        51,494             

Fleet Maintenance:
Personnel Services 696,910           687,662           9,248               
Operating Expenditures 1,083,951        1,087,419        (3,468)              
Capital Outlay 3,831               3,831               - 

1,784,692        1,778,912        5,780               

Solid Waste:
Personnel Services 1,071,566        1,117,798        (46,232)            
Operating Expenditures 285,782           271,417           14,365             
Capital Outlay 351,454           349,309           2,145               

1,708,802        1,738,524        (29,722)            

Total Public Services 6,842,734        6,657,400        185,334           

Finance and Administrative Services 
Administrative/Risk:

Operating Expenditures 749,889           728,334           21,555             
749,889           728,334           21,555             

Finance Administration:
Personnel Services 665,625           648,000           17,625             
Operating Expenditures 176,313           128,590           47,723             
Capital Outlay 1,171               1,171               - 

843,109           777,761           65,348             

Business License Code Enforcement:
Personnel Services 193,671           194,259           (588) 
Operating Expenditures 158,670           92,354             66,316             
Capital Outlay 3,269               3,269               - 

355,610           289,882           65,728             

Procurement and Property:
Personnel Services 160,127           159,050           1,077               
Operating Expenditures 49,305             49,258             47
Capital Outlay 4,307               4,307               - 

213,739           212,615           1,124               

Total Finance and Administrative Services 2,162,347        2,008,592        153,755           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 36,637,045$    36,404,820      232,225$         

(Continued)

102



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

GENERAL FUND

SCHEDULE OF DETAILED REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
REVISED BUDGET AND ACTUAL

REVISED
BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (268,856)$        804,434           1,073,290$      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In 2,694,517        2,716,682        22,165             
Transfers Out (2,460,661)       (3,245,316)       (784,655)          
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 35,000             54,364             19,364             

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 268,856           (474,270)          (743,126)          

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -                   330,164           330,164           

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 7,732,427        7,732,427        -                   

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 7,732,427$      8,062,591        330,164$         

103



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

104



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 
 

Special Revenue Funds – account for revenues derived from earmarked revenue sources.  They are usually required 
by statute, charter provisions, or local ordinance to finance particular functions or activities of government. 

105



NON-MAJOR NON-MAJOR TOTAL
SPECIAL DEBT OTHER

REVENUE SERVICE GOVERNMENTAL
FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15,650$                 -                         15,650$                 
Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,389,266              827,302                 2,216,568              
Restricted Investments -                         491                        491                        
Property Taxes Receivable, Net -                         73,567                   73,567                   
Accounts Receivable 1,150                     -                         1,150                     
Commercial Loan Receivables 52,293                   -                         52,293                   
Intergovernmental Receivables 382,491                 -                         382,491                 
Mortgages Receivable:

Home Loans 70,803                   -                         70,803                   

TOTAL ASSETS 1,911,653$            901,360                 2,813,013$            

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 201,305$               49,852                   251,157$               
Accrued Salaries and Benefits 21,551                   -                         21,551                   
Due To Other Funds 153,317                 -                         153,317                 
Unearned Revenue 363,160                 -                         363,160                 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 739,333                 49,852                   789,185                 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable Taxes -                         73,377                   73,377                   
Unavailable Note Receivables 112,910                 -                         112,910                 

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 112,910                 73,377                   186,287                 

FUND BALANCES

Restricted For:
Debt Service -                         778,131                 778,131                 
Tourism Related Costs 244,496                 -                         244,496                 
Special Revenue Programs 803,216                 -                         803,216                 

Committed For:
Special Revenue Programs 11,698                   -                         11,698                   

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 1,059,410              778,131                 1,837,541              

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 1,911,653$            901,360                 2,813,013$            

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - 

JUNE 30, 2018

OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

106



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

NON-MAJOR NON-MAJOR TOTAL
SPECIAL DEBT OTHER

REVENUE SERVICE GOVERNMENTAL
FUNDS FUNDS FUNDS

REVENUES:

Federal Government Contributions 821,575$               -                        821,575$               
State Government Contributions 521,602                 -                        521,602                 
Taxes 2,043,405              2,488,645              4,532,050              
Ground Lease -                        200,000                 200,000                 
Investment Earnings 8,260                     491                        8,751                     
Miscellaneous 1,392,130              -                        1,392,130              
Confiscated Drug Funds 7,645                     -                        7,645                     
Donations -                        60,000                   60,000                   

TOTAL REVENUES 4,794,617              2,749,136              7,543,753              

EXPENDITURES:

Current:
Finance and Administrative Services 654,177                 -                        654,177                 
Operating 3,238,474              -                        3,238,474              

Capital Outlay 911,009                 -                        911,009                 
Debt Service

Principal Retirement -                        2,942,865              2,942,865              
Interest -                        729,429                 729,429                 
Other -                        1,357,473              1,357,473              

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 4,803,660              5,029,767              9,833,427              

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER  EXPENDITURES (9,043)                   (2,280,631)            (2,289,674)            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers In 504,904                 3,142,588              3,647,492              
Transfers Out (176,765)               (1,786,974)            (1,963,739)            
Bond Proceeds -                        4,650,000              4,650,000              
Payment to Refunding Bond Escrow Agent -                        (4,533,614)            (4,533,614)            
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 145,719                 -                        145,719                 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 473,858                 1,472,000              1,945,858              

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 464,815             (808,631)            (343,816)            

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 594,595                 1,586,762              2,181,357              

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 1,059,410$            778,131                 1,837,541$            

107



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

108



 

NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 

Federal Home Program Fund 210 – to account for funds received to record collections and expenditures related to the Home 
Program Grant.  This program assists in the expansion on the supply of decent and affordable housing for low-income 
residents. 
 
Spartanburg Residential Development Corporation Fund 314 – to account for funds received from the Spartanburg 
Residential Development Corporation.  
 
Miscellaneous Grant Fund 320 – to account for miscellaneous grant activity. 
 
Victims Assistance Fund 322 – to account for funds received to hire an additional Law Enforcement Victims’ Advocate. 
 
Special Events Fund 323 – to account for funds for certain special events promoted by the City. 
 
City Roads Improvement Fund 339 – to account for funds received for the improvement of the City’s roads. 
 
Multi-County Industrial Park Fund 380 – to account for revenue received from a multi-county industrial park. 
 
Accommodations Tax Fund 480 – to account for funds received from the State to promote tourism in the City. 
 
Community Development Fund 708 – to account for Community Development Block Grant. 
 
Forfeited Drug-Federal Fund 803 – to account for funds seized inside the City on Federal Court cases. 
 
Forfeited Drug-State Fund 804 – to account for funds seized inside the City on State Court cases. 
 

109



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Fund 210 Fund 314

Spartanburg
Federal Residential 
Home Development

Program Corporation
Fund Fund

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents -$  - 
Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 416,906 1,512
Accounts Receivable - - 
Intergovernmental Receivables 22,194 - 
Commercial Loan Receivables - - 
Mortgages Receivable-Home Loans 60,617 10,186

TOTAL ASSETS 499,717$ 11,698

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 38,352$ - 
Accrued Salaries and Benefits - - 
Due To Other Funds - - 
Deferred Revenue 341,270 - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 379,622 - 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable Notes Receivable 60,617 - 

FUND BALANCES

Restricted 59,478 - 
Committed - 11,698

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 59,478 11,698

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 499,717$ 11,698

JUNE 30, 2018

110



Fund 320 Fund 322 Fund 323 Fund 339 Fund 380

City
Miscellaneous Victims Special Roads Multi County

Grant Assistance Events Improvement Industrial Park
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

-                               -                                   15,650                           -                                      -$                                            
-                               41,586                              11,750                           27,437                                655,160                                      
-                               -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              

221,305                        -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              
-                               -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              
-                               -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              

221,305                        41,586                              27,400                           27,437                                655,160$                                    

31,734                          1,181                                26,010                           -                                      5,500$                                        
14,364                          1,845                                1,390                             -                                      -                                              

153,317                        -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              
21,890                          -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              

221,305                        3,026                                27,400                           -                                      5,500                                          

-                               -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              

-                               38,560                              -                                 27,437                                649,660                                      
-                               -                                   -                                 -                                      -                                              

-                               38,560                              -                                 27,437                                649,660                                      

221,305                        41,586                              27,400                           27,437                                655,160$                                    

(Continued)

111



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Fund 480 Fund 708

Accommodations Community
Tax Development
Fund Fund

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents -$                                       -                                         
Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 168,496                                 53,481                                   
Accounts Receivable -                                         1,150                                     
Intergovernmental Receivables 111,076                                 27,916                                   
Commercial Loan Receivables -                                         52,293                                   
Mortgages Receivable-Home Loans -                                         -                                         

TOTAL ASSETS 279,572$                               134,840                                 

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 35,076$                                 63,452                                   
Accrued Salaries and Benefits -                                         3,952                                     
Due To Other Funds -                                         -                                         
Deferred Revenue -                                         -                                         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 35,076                                   67,404                                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable Notes Receivable -                                         52,293                                   

FUND BALANCES

Restricted 244,496                                 15,143                                   
Committed -                                         -                                         

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 244,496                                 15,143                                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 279,572$                               134,840                                 

JUNE 30, 2018

112



Fund 803 Fund 804

Forfeited Forfeited
Drug-Federal Drug-State Combined

Fund Fund Funds

- - 15,650$  
2,702 10,236 1,389,266 

- - 1,150 
- - 382,491 
- - 52,293 
- - 70,803 

2,702 10,236 1,911,653$  

- - 201,305$  
- - 21,551 
- - 153,317 
- - 363,160 

- - 739,333 

- - 112,910 

2,702 10,236 1,047,712 
- - 11,698 

2,702 10,236 1,059,410 

2,702 10,236 1,911,653$  

113



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Fund 210 Fund 314

Spartanburg
Federal Residential 
Home Development 

Program Corporation
Fund Fund

REVENUES

Federal Government Contributions 37,725$  - 
State Government Contributions - - 
Property Taxes - - 
Accommodations Taxes - - 
Storm Water Fees and Permit - - 
Investment Earnings 3 96 
Miscellaneous 289 - 
Confiscated Drug Funds - - 

Total Revenues 38,017 96 

EXPENDITURES

Finance and Administrative Services - - 
Operating 53,883 255 
Capital Outlay - - 

Total Expenditures 53,883 255 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 
REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (15,866) (159) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In - - 
Transfers Out - - 
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 22,200 - 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 22,200 - 

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 6,334 (159) 

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 53,144 11,857 

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 59,478$  11,698 

114



Fund 320 Fund 322 Fund 323 Fund 339 Fund 380

City
Miscellaneous Victims Special Roads Multi County

Grant Assistance Events Improvement Industrial Park
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

376,800                             -                                     -                                     -                                     -$                                   
171,602                             -                                     -                                     350,000                             -                                     

-                                     -                                     -                                     633,359                             1,111,174                          
-                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     
-                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     
-                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     5,614                                 

941,647                             44,487                               402,881                             -                                     -                                     
-                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     

1,490,049                          44,487                               402,881                             983,359                             1,116,788                          

393,313                             52,056                               99,095                               -                                     -                                     
394,554                             12,072                               584,441                             983,059                             529,865                             
907,696                             -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     

1,695,563                          64,128                               683,536                             983,059                             529,865                             

(205,514)                            (19,641)                              (280,655)                            300                                    586,923                             

224,249                             -                                     280,655                             -                                     -                                     
(22,165)                              (3,349)                                -                                     -                                     (105,776)                            

-                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     

202,084                             (3,349)                                280,655                             -                                     (105,776)                            

(3,430)                                (22,990)                              -                                     300                                    481,147                             

3,430                                 61,550                               -                                     27,137                               168,513                             

-                                     38,560                               -                                     27,437                               649,660$                           

(Continued)

115



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - 
NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Fund 480 Fund 708

Accommodations Community
Tax Development

Fund Fund

REVENUES

Federal Government Contributions -$                                              407,050                                        
State Government Contributions -                                                -                                                
Property Taxes -                                                -                                                
Accommodations Taxes 298,872                                        -                                                
Investment Earnings 2,198                                            156                                               
Miscellaneous -                                                2,826                                            
Confiscated Drug Funds -                                                -                                                

Total Revenues 301,070                                        410,032                                        

EXPENDITURES

Finance and Administrative Services -                                                109,713                                        
Operating 255,481                                        423,337                                        
Capital Outlay -                                                -                                                

Total Expenditures 255,481                                        533,050                                        

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF 
REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 45,589                                          (123,018)                                       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In -                                                -                                                
Transfers Out (45,475)                                         -                                                
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets -                                                123,018                                        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (45,475)                                         123,018                                        

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 114                                               -                                                

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 244,382                                        15,143                                          

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 244,496$                                      15,143                                          

116



Fund 803 Fund 804

Forfeited Forfeited
Drug-Federal Drug-State Combined

Fund Fund Funds

-                                                                  -                                                                  821,575$                                                        
-                                                                  -                                                                  521,602                                                          
-                                                                  -                                                                  1,744,533                                                       
-                                                                  -                                                                  298,872                                                          
36                                                                   157                                                                 8,260                                                              

-                                                                  -                                                                  1,392,130                                                       
-                                                                  7,645                                                              7,645                                                              

36                                                                   7,802                                                              4,794,617                                                       

-                                                                  -                                                                  654,177                                                          
-                                                                  1,527                                                              3,238,474                                                       
-                                                                  3,313                                                              911,009                                                          

-                                                                  4,840                                                              4,803,660                                                       

36                                                                   2,962                                                              (9,043)                                                             

-                                                                  -                                                                  504,904                                                          
-                                                                  -                                                                  (176,765)                                                         
-                                                                  501                                                                 145,719                                                          

-                                                                  501                                                                 473,858                                                          

36                                                                   3,463                                                              464,815                                                          

2,666                                                              6,773                                                              594,595                                                          

2,702                                                              10,236                                                            1,059,410$                                                     

117



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

FEDERAL HOME PROGRAM FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGETS AND ACTUAL

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL VARIANCE
REVENUES

Federal Government Contributions 673,878$      673,878 37,725          (636,153)$     
Investment Earnings - - 3 3 
Other Revenues - - 289               289               

TOTAL REVENUES 673,878        673,878        38,017          (635,861)       

EXPENDITURES

Operating 673,878        673,878 53,883          619,995        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 673,878        673,878        53,883          619,995        

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES -                -                (15,866)         (15,866)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Sale of Assets - - 22,200          22,200          

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) - - 22,200          22,200          

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -                -                6,334            6,334            

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 53,144          53,144          53,144          - 

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 53,144$        53,144          59,478          6,334$          

FEDERAL HOME PROGRAM FUND

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

118



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

VICTIMS ASSISTANCE FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGETS AND ACTUAL

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL VARIANCE
REVENUES

Other Revenues 66,162$        66,162 44,487          (21,675)$       

TOTAL REVENUES 66,162          66,162          44,487          (21,675)         

EXPENDITURES

Finance and Administrative Services 66,162          66,162 52,056          14,106          
Operating - - 12,072          (12,072)         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 66,162          66,162          64,128          2,034            

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES -                -                (19,641)         (19,641)         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers Out - - (3,349)           3,349            

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) - - (3,349)           3,349            

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -                -                (22,990)         (22,990)         

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 61,550          61,550          61,550          - 

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 61,550$        61,550          38,560          (22,990)$       

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

VICTIMS ASSISTANCE FUND

119



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGETS AND ACTUAL

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL VARIANCE
REVENUES

Federal Government Contributions 1,053,751$   1,053,751     407,050        (646,701)$     
Investment Earnings 150               150               156               6                   
Other Revenues 1,200            1,200            2,826            1,626            

TOTAL REVENUES 1,055,101     1,055,101     410,032        (645,069)       

EXPENDITURES

Finance and Administrative Services 226,900        226,900        109,713        117,187        
Operating 841,975        841,975        423,337        418,638        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,068,875     1,068,875     533,050        535,825        

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (13,774)         (13,774)         (123,018)       (109,244)       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Sale of Assets 13,774          13,774          123,018        109,244        

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 13,774          13,774          123,018        109,244        

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -                -                -                -                

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 15,143          15,143          15,143          -                

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 15,143$        15,143          15,143          -$              

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT FUND

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

120



DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 

Debt Service Funds – account for the accumulation of resources and payment of special assessment bond principal 
and interest from governmental resources, special assessment levies, and sewer fund transfers.  The City has the 
following Debt Service Funds: 

General Debt Service Fund – to account for the accumulation of resources and payment of bond principal 
interest and related costs.  These particular funds were used for certain capital projects. 

St. John-Daniel Morgan TIF Fund – to account for the accumulation of resources and payment of bond 
principal and interest from a redevelopment area consisting of approximately 97.62 acres located in the 
downtown area of the City. 

Broad Street TIF – Series 2000 Bonds are being issued to finance a portion of the costs of the construction 
of a municipal parking facility of approximately 640 spaces, the development of off-street parking and the 
construction of streetscape improvements, all within the Redevelopment Project Area and to decrease the 
outstanding Series 1989 Bonds. 

121



122



COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - NON-MAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

Fund 540 Fund 543 Fund 545

GENERAL ST. JOHN -
DEBT DANIEL BROAD

SERVICE MORGAN STREET
FUND TIF TIF TOTALS

ASSETS

Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents -$                 71,464              755,838            827,302$          
Restricted Investments 491                   -                   -                   491                   
Property Taxes Receivable, Net -                   13,367              60,200              73,567              

TOTAL ASSETS 491$                 84,831              816,038            901,360$          

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable -$                 -                   49,852              49,852$            

TOTAL LIABILITIES -                   -                   49,852              49,852              

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable Property Taxes -                   13,177              60,200              73,377              

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES -                   13,177              60,200              73,377              

FUND BALANCE

Restricted for Debt Service 491                   71,654              705,986            778,131            

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 491                   71,654              705,986            778,131            

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
AND FUND BALANCES 491$                 84,831              816,038            901,360$          

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

123



COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
NON-MAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

Fund 540 Fund 543 Fund 545

GENERAL ST. JOHN -
DEBT DANIEL BROAD

SERVICE MORGAN STREET
FUND TIF TIF TOTALS

REVENUES

Tax Increment -$                 425,503            2,063,142         2,488,645$       
Ground Lease -                   200,000            -                   200,000            
Investment Earnings 491                   -                   -                   491                   
Local Grants and Donations -                   -                   60,000              60,000              

TOTAL REVENUES 491                   625,503            2,123,142         2,749,136         

EXPENDITURES

Debt Service:
Principal 2,417,865         525,000            -                   2,942,865         
Interest 627,338            102,091            -                   729,429            
Other 113,956            26,758              1,216,759         1,357,473         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 3,159,159         653,849            1,216,759         5,029,767         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (3,158,668)       (28,346)            906,383            (2,280,631)       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers In 3,042,588         100,000            -                   3,142,588         
Transfers Out -                   -                   (1,786,974)       (1,786,974)       
Bond Proceeds 4,650,000         -                   -                   4,650,000         
Payment to Refunding Bond Escrow Agent (4,533,614)       -                   -                   (4,533,614)       

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 3,158,974         100,000            (1,786,974)       1,472,000         

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 306                   71,654              (880,591)          (808,631)          

FUND BALANCES, Beginning of Year 185                   -                   1,586,577         1,586,762         

FUND BALANCES, End of Year 491$                 71,654              705,986            778,131$          

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

124



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
 
 
Internal Service Funds – are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or 
agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.  The 
City has the following Internal Service Funds: 
 
Equipment Replace Fund – to account for the funding of the estimated amounts to replace the moveable City 
equipment used in day to day operations. 
 
Medical Insurance Trust Fund – to account for the collection of medical insurance premiums and payment of 
medical claims under the City’s self-insured health insurance plan. 

125



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

126



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF NET POSITION - ALL INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2018

MEDICAL
EQUIPMENT INSURANCE

REPLACEMENT TRUST TOTALS
ASSETS

Current Assets:
Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,323,459$         211,338              1,534,797$         
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,261,174           -                     1,261,174           
Accounts Receivable -                     17,422                17,422                
Prepaids 780,974              70,800                851,774              

Total Current Assets 3,365,607           299,560              3,665,167           

Non-Current Assets:
Capital Assets:

Depreciable, Net 7,731,136           -                     7,731,136           

Total Non-Current Assets 7,731,136           -                     7,731,136           

TOTAL ASSETS 11,096,743$       299,560              11,396,303$       

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable/Deposits Payable 9,304$                60,425                69,729$              
Claims/Premiums -                     407,727              407,727              
Unclaimed Checks -                     109                     109                     
Current Portion of Capital Lease Payable 1,531,409           -                     1,531,409           

Total Current Liabilities 1,540,713           468,261              2,008,974           

Long-Term Liabilities:
Capital Lease Payable, Less Current Portion 3,994,240           -                     3,994,240           

Total Long-Term Liabilities 3,994,240           -                     3,994,240           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,534,953           468,261              6,003,214           

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 4,247,635           -                     4,247,635           
Unrestricted 1,314,155           (168,701)            1,145,454           

TOTAL NET POSITION 5,561,790           (168,701)            5,393,089           

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 11,096,743$       299,560              11,396,303$       

127



MEDICAL
EQUIPMENT INSURANCE

REPLACEMENT TRUST TOTALS

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for Services 1,318,085$         -                     1,318,085$         
Contributions -                     4,242,350           4,242,350           
Other -                     49,301                49,301                

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 1,318,085           4,291,651           5,609,736           

OPERATING EXPENSES

Services and Charges 111,663              397,383              509,046              
Claims/Premiums -                     3,622,242           3,622,242           
Depreciation 1,276,980           -                     1,276,980           

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,388,643           4,019,625           5,408,268           

OPERATING INCOME (70,558)              272,026              201,468              

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Gain (Loss) on Sale of Assets (3,781)                -                     (3,781)                
Interest Expense (81,066)              -                     (81,066)              
Investment Earnings 9,298                  -                     9,298                  
Other (26,500)              -                     (26,500)              

TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) (102,049)            -                     (102,049)            

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (172,607)            272,026              99,419                

NET POSITION, Beginning of Year 5,734,397           (440,727)            5,293,670           

TOTAL NET POSITION, End of Year 5,561,790$         (168,701)            5,393,089$         

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION - 
ALL INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

128



MEDICAL
EQUIPMENT INSURANCE

REPLACEMENT TRUST TOTALS
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from Charges for Services 1,318,085$        -                     1,318,085$        
Receipts from Contributions -                     4,231,620          4,231,620          
Receipts from Other Revenues -                     49,301               49,301               
Payments for Services and Charges (201,726)            (369,684)            (571,410)            
Payments for Other Expenses (26,500)              -                     (26,500)              
Payments for Claims/Premiums -                     (3,993,720)         (3,993,720)         

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,089,859          (82,483)              1,007,376          

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of Capital Assets (1,907,498)         -                     (1,907,498)         
Proceeds on Sale of Capital Assets 45,835               -                     45,835               
Capital Lease Proceeds 2,550,000          -                     2,550,000          
Capital Lease Payments (1,299,462)         -                     (1,299,462)         
Interest Paid (81,066)              -                     (81,066)              

NET CASH USED IN CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES (692,191)            -                     (692,191)            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment Earnings 9,298                 -                     9,298                 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 9,298                 -                     9,298                 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 406,966             (82,483)              324,483             

RESTRICTED, POOLED, AND UNRESTRICTED
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 2,177,667          293,821             2,471,488          

RESTRICTED, POOLED, AND UNRESTRICTED
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of Year 2,584,633$        211,338             2,795,971$        

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash from Operating Activities:

Net Operating Income (Loss) (70,558)$            272,026             201,468$           
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss)

to Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Depreciation Expense 1,276,980          -                     1,276,980          
Other Revenues (Expenses) (26,500)              -                     (26,500)              

Change in:
Accounts Receivable -                     (10,730)              (10,730)              
Prepaids (68,074)              (70,800)              (138,874)            
Accounts Payable (21,989)              27,699               5,710                 
Claims/Premiums -                     (299,238)            (299,238)            
Unclaimed Checks -                     (1,440)                (1,440)                

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,089,859$        (82,483)              1,007,376$        

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOWS - ALL INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

129



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

130



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
 
 
Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity for individuals, other 
governments, and/or other funds.  

131



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

132



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES - FIDUCIARY FUND - AGENCY FUND

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Balance at Balance at
June 30, 2017 Additions Deductions June 30, 2018

ASSETS

Other Receivables 85,145$              66,047               74,161                77,031$              

TOTAL ASSETS 85,145$              66,047               74,161                77,031$              

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 619$                   1,836                 -                     2,455$                
Amounts Held for Custody for Others 84,526                -                     9,950                  74,576                

TOTAL LIABILITIES 85,145$              1,836                 9,950                  77,031$              

 

133



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

UNIFORM SCHEDULE OF FINES, ASSESSMENTS, AND SURCHARGES (PER ACT 96)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

FOR THE STATE TREASURER'S OFFICE:
COUNTY / MUNICIPAL FUNDS COLLECTED               

BY CLERK OF COURT
 General 
Sessions 

 Magistrate 
Court 

 Municipal 
Court 

 Total 

Court Fines and Assessments:
Court fines and assessments collected  $  788,802  $     788,802 
Court fines and assessments remitted to State Treasurer    (477,895)       (477,895)

Total Court Fines and Assessments retained      310,907         310,907 
Surcharges and Assessments retained for victim services:

Surcharges collected and retained        35,221           35,221 
Assessments retained          9,266             9,266 

Total Surcharges and Assessments retained for victim services  $    44,487  $       44,487 

FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF CRIME VICTIM COMPENSATION (DCVC)
 Municipal  County  Total 

 $       61,550  $       61,550 

          35,221           35,221 
            9,266             9,266 

 $     106,037  $     106,037 
 Municipal  County  Total 

 $       52,057  $       52,057 
          12,071           12,071 

            3,349             3,349 
          67,477           67,477 

          38,560           38,560 

 $       38,560  $       38,560 

(2) Town of 
(3) City of 

Total Funds Allocated to Victim Service Fund + Beginning Balance (A) 

Victim Service Surcharges Retained by City/County Treasurer

VICTIM SERVICE FUNDS COLLECTED
Carryforward from Previous Year – Beginning Balance
Victim Service Revenue: 

Victim Service Fines Retained by City/County Treasurer
Victim Service Assessments Retained by City/County Treasurer

Interest Earned
Grant Funds Received 

Grant from:
General Funds Transferred to Victim Service Fund
Contribution Received from Victim Service Contracts:

(1) Town of

Carryforward Funds – End of Year

Victim Service Contract(s):
(1)   Entity's Name
(2)   Entity's Name

Victim Service Donation(s):

Less: Prior Year Fund Deficit Repayment

Expenditures for Victim Service Program:
Salaries and Benefits
Operating Expenditures

    (1) Domestic Violence Shelter:
    (2) Rape Crisis Center:
    (3) Other local direct crime victims service agency:

Transferred to General Fund
Total Expenditures from Victim Service Fund/Program (B)
Total Victim Service Funds Retained by Municipal/County Treasurer (A-B)

134



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF BUDGETED TO ACTUAL COST FOR THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Budget Section 5307 SMTF Local Variance
OPERATIONS

Management Services 115,000$                      49,642                          12,180                          39,848                          13,330$                        
Professional and Technical 831,270                        275,379                        64,268                          288,039                        203,584                        
Contract Maintenance Services 3,000                            -                               -                               1,040                            1,960                            
Uniforms 22,200                          5,759                            1,736                            7,692                            7,013                            
Fuel and Lubricants 260,000                        72,413                          13,352                          90,091                          84,144                          
Tools and Minor Equipment 35,400                          9,692                            2,950                            12,266                          10,492                          
Utilities 77,700                          24,590                          6,703                            26,923                          19,484                          
Casualty and Liability 275,000                        67,517                          21,632                          95,289                          90,562                          
Advertising 7,500                            2,151                            674                               2,599                            2,076                            
Travel 3,500                            388                               129                               1,213                            1,770                            

TOTAL OPERATIONS 1,630,570                     507,531                        123,624                        565,000                        434,415                        

CAPITAL

Preventive Maintenance 353,000                        216,806                        -                               -                               136,194                        
30 Ft Bus 357,000                        -                               -                               -                               357,000                        
35 Ft Bus 350,000                        -                               -                               -                               350,000                        
Metropolitan Planning 70,000                          -                               -                               -                               70,000                          

TOTAL CAPITAL 1,130,000                     216,806                        -                               -                               913,194                        

TOTAL PROGRAM 2,760,570$                   724,337                        123,624                        565,000                        1,347,609$                   

Approved Budget 2,760,570$                   
Total Federal Costs (724,337)                      
Total State Costs (123,624)                      
Total Local Costs (565,000)                      

Budget Balance 1,347,609$                   

Performance Period:  July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018
DMT Contract #:  PT-88099-73

135



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

136



STATISTICAL SECTION 
 
This part of City of Spartanburg’s (“City”) comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed 
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note 
disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial health. 
 
 
Contents Page 
 
Financial Trends 139 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how 
the City’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 

 
 
Revenue Capacity 146 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most 
significant local revenue source, the property tax. 

 
 
Debt Capacity 150 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability 
of the City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue 
additional debt in the future. 

 
 
Demographic and Economic Information 158 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader 
understand the environment within the City’s financial activities take place. 

 
 
Operating Information 161 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
understand how the information in the City’s financial report related to the 
services the City provides and the activities it performs. 

 
 
Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive 

annual financial reports for the relevant year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

137



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

138



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

N
E

T
 P

O
S

IT
IO

N
 B

Y
 C

O
M

P
O

N
E

N
T

 

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S
(A

cc
ru

al
 B

as
is

 o
f 

A
cc

ou
n

ti
n

g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

*
20

14
20

15
20

16
**

20
17

**
20

18
**

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

N
et

 I
nv

es
tm

en
t i

n 
C

ap
it

al
 A

ss
et

s
53

,3
84

,0
24

$ 
55

,7
79

,5
02

   
54

,0
03

,9
30

   
49

,6
78

,5
93

   
46

,3
74

,7
02

   
43

,0
48

,6
37

   
44

,3
24

,5
90

   
 

50
,8

67
,2

32
   

  
52

,1
33

,2
37

   
  

54
,8

29
,3

93
$ 

   
R

es
tr

ic
te

d
2,

13
0,

49
7

   
  

83
4,

85
5

   
   

  
3,

96
2,

77
2

   
  

4,
89

8,
66

0
   

  
4,

81
6,

04
1

   
  

7,
14

8,
56

4
   

  
6,

28
6,

92
1

   
   

4,
41

0,
11

7
   

   
 

4,
44

3,
72

0
   

   
 

4,
18

7,
09

4
   

   
  

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d
1,

01
8,

34
0

   
  

6,
02

6,
92

5
   

  
3,

41
3,

82
4

   
  

(6
8,

03
2)

   
   

   
1,

02
0,

58
7

   
  

3,
24

5,
35

7
   

  
(3

3,
92

9,
31

9)
   

(4
2,

77
9,

50
0)

   
(4

4,
16

3,
93

3)
   

(4
6,

43
6,

34
4)

   
 

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

56
,5

32
,8

61
   

62
,6

41
,2

82
   

61
,3

80
,5

26
   

54
,5

09
,2

21
   

52
,2

11
,3

30
   

53
,4

42
,5

58
   

16
,6

82
,1

92
   

 
12

,4
97

,8
49

   
  

12
,4

13
,0

24
   

  
12

,5
80

,1
43

   
   

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

N
et

 I
nv

es
tm

en
t i

n 
C

ap
it

al
 A

ss
et

s
20

,9
08

,5
86

   
19

,3
54

,8
66

   
19

,6
71

,9
01

   
22

,7
06

,0
93

   
23

,0
34

,3
31

   
22

,2
24

,0
18

   
23

,0
14

,3
13

   
 

37
,0

54
,3

99
   

  
47

,4
41

,1
79

   
  

52
,5

77
,8

08
   

   
R

es
tr

ic
te

d
1,

10
0,

00
0

   
  

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

-
-

-
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d

56
2,

88
5

   
   

  
1,

31
2,

97
6

   
  

1,
08

0,
56

6
   

  
1,

87
5,

32
3

   
  

2,
29

1,
26

7
   

  
3,

40
3,

40
3

   
  

2,
73

6,
38

6
   

   
3,

70
0,

26
0

   
   

 
3,

72
2,

10
7

   
   

 
4,

75
4,

40
8

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

22
,5

71
,4

71
   

20
,6

67
,8

42
   

20
,7

52
,4

67
   

24
,5

81
,4

16
   

25
,3

25
,5

98
   

25
,6

27
,4

21
   

25
,7

50
,6

99
   

 
40

,7
54

,6
59

   
  

51
,1

63
,2

86
   

  
57

,3
32

,2
16

   
   

P
ri

m
ar

y 
G

ov
er

nm
en

t
N

et
 I

nv
es

tm
en

t i
n 

C
ap

it
al

 A
ss

et
s

74
,2

92
,6

10
   

75
,1

34
,3

68
   

73
,6

75
,8

31
   

72
,3

84
,6

86
   

69
,4

09
,0

33
   

65
,2

72
,6

55
   

67
,3

38
,9

03
   

 
78

,8
91

,6
31

   
  

91
,3

24
,9

22
   

  
99

,9
23

,2
12

   
   

R
es

tr
ic

te
d

3,
23

0,
49

7
   

  
83

4,
85

5
   

   
  

3,
96

2,
77

2
   

  
4,

89
8,

66
0

   
  

4,
81

6,
04

1
   

  
7,

14
8,

56
4

   
  

6,
28

6,
92

1
   

   
4,

41
0,

11
7

   
   

 
4,

44
3,

72
0

   
   

 
4,

18
7,

09
4

   
   

  
U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d

1,
58

1,
22

5
   

  
7,

33
9,

90
1

   
  

4,
49

4,
39

0
   

  
1,

80
7,

29
1

   
  

3,
31

1,
85

4
   

  
6,

64
8,

76
0

   
  

(3
1,

19
2,

93
3)

   
(3

0,
04

9,
24

0)
   

(3
2,

19
2,

33
2)

   
(3

4,
19

7,
94

7)
   

 

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

79
,1

04
,3

32
$ 

83
,3

09
,1

24
   

82
,1

32
,9

93
   

79
,0

90
,6

37
   

77
,5

36
,9

28
   

79
,0

69
,9

79
   

42
,4

32
,8

91
   

 
53

,2
52

,5
08

   
  

63
,5

76
,3

10
   

  
69

,9
12

,3
59

$ 
   

N
ot

e:
  G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l a

nd
 B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
N

et
 P

os
it

io
n 

w
as

 r
es

ta
te

d 
fo

r 
F

Y
 2

00
6 

- 
20

08
.

*
C

er
ta

in
 a

m
ou

nt
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
re

cl
as

si
fi

ed
 to

 a
gr

ee
 to

 th
e 

cu
rr

en
t y

ea
r 

pr
es

en
ta

ti
on

.
**

T
he

to
ta

lf
or

N
et

In
ve

st
m

en
ti

n
C

ap
it

al
A

ss
et

s
do

es
no

ta
dd

do
w

n
du

e
to

de
bt

re
co

rd
ed

in
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
lA

ct
iv

it
ie

s,
bu

tt
he

pr
oc

ee
ds

w
er

e
us

ed
to

fu
nd

ca
pi

ta
la

ss
et

s
in

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s.

 S
ee

 N
ot

e 
II

I.
F

 in
 th

e 
N

ot
es

 to
 th

e 
re

sp
ec

ti
ve

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 f

or
 d

et
ai

ls
.

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

139



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
H

A
N

G
E

S 
IN

 N
E

T
 P

O
SI

T
IO

N

L
A

ST
 T

E
N

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
S

(A
cc

ru
al

 B
as

is
 o

f 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

E
xp

en
se

s
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s:
Po

li
cy

 F
or

m
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
A

dm
in

is
tr

at
io

n
5,

93
1,

18
1

$ 
   

   
6,

65
3,

57
7

   
   

   
  

5,
42

7,
12

7
   

   
   

  
4,

85
8,

28
0

   
   

   
  

5,
51

3,
82

6
   

   
   

  
6,

00
4,

32
9

   
   

  
7,

21
7,

84
4

   
   

  
7,

55
0,

33
8

   
   

   
6,

07
1,

71
0

   
   

   
6,

00
3,

75
7

$ 
   

  
Pu

bl
ic

 S
af

et
y

13
,6

45
,1

06
   

   
 

13
,4

99
,3

77
   

   
   

13
,8

14
,5

84
   

   
   

14
,0

47
,1

02
   

   
   

15
,3

55
,5

55
   

   
   

14
,7

81
,3

45
   

   
15

,0
09

,9
75

   
   

16
,1

93
,5

35
   

   
 

17
,8

64
,2

73
   

   
 

17
,7

54
,3

07
   

   
Pa

rk
s,

 R
ec

re
at

io
n,

 a
nd

 S
pe

ci
al

 E
ve

nt
s

2,
13

7,
46

1
   

   
   

2,
55

0,
48

5
   

   
   

  
2,

66
5,

56
3

   
   

   
  

2,
62

8,
40

9
   

   
   

  
2,

33
8,

12
4

   
   

   
  

2,
07

5,
38

3
   

   
  

1,
33

6,
48

8
   

   
  

2,
24

7,
58

5
   

   
   

2,
59

2,
22

0
   

   
   

2,
45

6,
74

2
   

   
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
2,

36
2,

61
7

   
   

   
2,

04
4,

39
1

   
   

   
  

1,
58

2,
13

9
   

   
   

  
4,

31
1,

10
4

   
   

   
  

1,
50

4,
59

4
   

   
   

  
2,

63
5,

40
3

   
   

  
4,

25
4,

33
2

   
   

  
3,

00
0,

36
7

   
   

   
3,

79
0,

09
1

   
   

   
3,

83
9,

25
1

   
   

  
Pu

bl
ic

 S
er

vi
ce

s
12

,3
55

,3
74

   
   

 
8,

40
2,

88
5

   
   

   
  

10
,7

64
,4

74
   

   
   

9,
27

1,
20

1
   

   
   

  
9,

90
1,

90
9

   
   

   
  

9,
05

9,
91

0
   

   
  

8,
23

8,
41

6
   

   
  

8,
33

5,
03

5
   

   
   

8,
56

3,
01

6
   

   
   

8,
25

0,
84

8
   

   
  

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

2,
49

1,
16

7
   

   
   

2,
77

3,
08

6
   

   
   

  
2,

69
8,

10
9

   
   

   
  

2,
38

9,
91

8
   

   
   

  
2,

29
1,

44
8

   
   

   
  

3,
02

9,
84

2
   

   
  

2,
46

3,
03

5
   

   
  

2,
77

1,
89

0
   

   
   

3,
53

4,
21

3
   

   
   

2,
63

7,
26

6
   

   
  

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
5,

06
6,

44
2

   
   

   
4,

32
3,

16
2

   
   

   
  

4,
70

6,
51

9
   

   
   

  
6,

37
5,

57
7

   
   

   
  

4,
78

6,
78

4
   

   
   

  
5,

40
3,

59
1

   
   

  
4,

93
8,

75
0

   
   

  
5,

01
0,

01
3

   
   

   
5,

80
0,

75
8

   
   

   
6,

55
7,

23
9

   
   

  
In

te
re

st
 a

nd
 O

th
er

 C
ha

rg
es

1,
56

3,
34

1
   

   
   

1,
52

2,
45

0
   

   
   

  
2,

15
6,

31
6

   
   

   
  

1,
98

3,
40

6
   

   
   

  
1,

22
8,

99
9

   
   

   
  

1,
21

6,
59

5
   

   
  

1,
23

4,
96

4
   

   
  

1,
03

0,
38

3
   

   
   

1,
65

3,
34

6
   

   
   

2,
39

6,
18

3
   

   
  

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
E

xp
en

se
s

45
,5

52
,6

89
   

   
 

41
,7

69
,4

13
   

   
43

,8
14

,8
31

   
   

45
,8

64
,9

97
   

   
42

,9
21

,2
39

   
   

 
44

,2
06

,3
98

   
   

44
,6

93
,8

04
   

   
46

,1
39

,1
46

   
   

 
49

,8
69

,6
27

   
   

 
49

,8
95

,5
93

   
   

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

T
ra

ns
it

1,
92

7,
19

1
   

   
   

1,
93

6,
11

7
   

   
   

  
2,

11
2,

67
2

   
   

   
  

2,
12

4,
22

4
   

   
   

  
1,

99
5,

48
6

   
   

   
  

2,
00

6,
75

2
   

   
  

1,
91

6,
39

7
   

   
  

1,
85

2,
01

5
   

   
   

1,
93

3,
74

8
   

   
   

1,
99

9,
13

0
   

   
  

Pa
rk

in
g 

1,
04

9,
10

2
   

   
   

88
4,

13
7

   
   

   
   

  
87

1,
80

9
   

   
   

   
  

97
1,

52
8

   
   

   
   

  
1,

02
1,

56
1

   
   

   
  

87
4,

21
3

   
   

   
  

81
2,

93
9

   
   

   
  

80
1,

10
5

   
   

   
   

1,
19

5,
45

7
   

   
   

1,
31

9,
09

1
   

   
  

Sa
ni

ta
ry

 S
ew

er
95

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
10

0,
78

5
   

   
   

  
77

,4
19

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
A

ir
po

rt
1,

61
3,

82
8

   
   

   
1,

65
1,

48
8

   
   

   
  

1,
46

8,
60

7
   

   
   

  
1,

54
9,

59
1

   
   

   
  

1,
54

3,
86

8
   

   
   

  
1,

41
2,

98
2

   
   

  
1,

46
5,

96
1

   
   

  
1,

44
2,

37
9

   
   

   
1,

51
8,

27
1

   
   

   
1,

72
2,

40
4

   
   

  
St

or
m

 W
at

er
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
64

9,
94

5
   

   
   

   
  

69
7,

83
3

   
   

   
   

  
1,

16
2,

76
3

   
   

   
  

1,
16

6,
06

2
   

   
  

1,
38

1,
96

8
   

   
  

1,
18

2,
61

8
   

   
   

91
0,

13
8

   
   

   
   

85
4,

17
2

   
   

   
  

C
C

 W
oo

ds
on

29
5,

90
0

   
   

   
   

53
8,

61
2

   
   

   
   

  
67

7,
77

0
   

   
   

   
  

44
4,

01
0

   
   

   
   

  
44

3,
94

7
   

   
   

   
  

41
0,

07
3

   
   

   
  

41
0,

08
4

   
   

   
  

39
7,

66
3

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Sp
ar

ta
nb

ur
g 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Fa
ci

li
ti

es
 C

or
po

ra
ti

on
31

3,
76

9
   

   
   

   
52

2,
16

2
   

   
   

   
  

80
6,

89
6

   
   

   
   

  
85

8,
49

5
   

   
   

   
  

96
1,

78
8

   
   

   
   

  
98

0,
16

9
   

   
   

  
1,

00
9,

65
7

   
   

  
1,

87
3,

81
5

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
Sp

ar
ta

nb
ur

g 
A

ir
po

rt
 F

ac
il

it
ie

s 
C

or
po

ra
ti

on
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

2,
50

9
   

   
   

   
  

21
2,

80
4

   
   

   
   

  
37

6,
66

7
   

   
   

   
  

29
1,

63
2

   
   

   
   

  
39

6,
47

8
   

   
   

  
38

2,
54

3
   

   
   

  
41

9,
35

9
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

T
ot

al
 B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
E

xp
en

se
s

5,
20

0,
74

4
   

   
   

6,
73

5,
81

0
   

   
  

6,
87

7,
92

2
   

   
  

7,
02

2,
34

8
   

   
  

7,
42

1,
04

5
   

   
   

7,
24

6,
72

9
   

   
  

7,
37

9,
54

9
   

   
  

7,
96

8,
95

4
   

   
   

5,
55

7,
61

4
   

   
   

5,
89

4,
79

7
   

   
  

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t E

xp
en

se
s

50
,7

53
,4

33
$ 

   
 

48
,5

05
,2

23
   

   
50

,6
92

,7
53

   
   

52
,8

87
,3

45
   

   
50

,3
42

,2
84

   
   

 
51

,4
53

,1
27

   
   

52
,0

73
,3

53
   

   
54

,1
08

,1
00

   
   

 
55

,4
27

,2
41

   
   

 
55

,7
90

,3
90

$ 
   

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
ue

s
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s:
C

ha
rg

es
 f

or
 S

er
vi

ce
s:

Pu
bl

ic
 S

af
et

y
1,

28
5,

19
7

$ 
   

   
1,

04
9,

51
9

   
   

  
1,

12
8,

96
7

   
   

  
95

9,
33

5
   

   
   

  
1,

04
7,

14
2

   
   

   
88

4,
40

8
   

   
   

  
90

8,
90

2
   

   
   

  
1,

03
6,

59
1

   
   

   
71

3,
10

4
   

   
   

   
71

7,
28

6
$ 

   
   

  
Pa

rk
s,

 R
ec

re
at

io
n,

 a
nd

 S
pe

ci
al

 E
ve

nt
s

22
9,

71
4

   
   

   
   

25
5,

17
7

   
   

   
  

26
8,

95
1

   
   

   
  

25
1,

71
3

   
   

   
  

23
1,

65
9

   
   

   
   

15
4,

44
9

   
   

   
  

11
5,

81
5

   
   

   
  

11
1,

30
5

   
   

   
   

97
,4

53
   

   
   

   
  

10
6,

74
6

   
   

   
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
47

4,
24

7
   

   
   

   
41

5,
99

6
   

   
   

  
47

1,
43

0
   

   
   

  
40

8,
98

5
   

   
   

  
29

8,
31

2
   

   
   

   
34

1,
91

9
   

   
   

  
32

9,
41

1
   

   
   

  
82

1,
94

7
   

   
   

   
71

5,
32

7
   

   
   

   
59

8,
56

3
   

   
   

  
Pu

bi
c 

Se
rv

ic
es

3,
52

1,
41

7
   

   
   

3,
26

4,
79

9
   

   
  

3,
09

8,
21

6
   

   
  

3,
03

3,
34

7
   

   
  

2,
99

8,
68

9
   

   
   

2,
71

6,
69

3
   

   
  

2,
71

8,
47

2
   

   
  

2,
60

3,
28

5
   

   
   

2,
64

1,
48

9
   

   
   

2,
80

9,
87

5
   

   
  

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

12
,2

55
,3

09
   

   
 

12
,2

62
,6

38
   

   
12

,5
11

,0
56

   
   

12
,6

06
,5

71
   

   
12

,9
30

,3
17

   
   

 
13

,5
77

,3
68

   
   

13
,8

19
,6

73
   

   
14

,2
79

,2
01

   
   

 
15

,9
04

,4
64

   
   

 
16

,2
82

,1
98

   
   

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
 G

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

Pu
bl

ic
 S

af
et

y
95

7,
19

7
   

   
   

   
1,

29
1,

28
1

   
   

  
1,

57
5,

72
1

   
   

  
1,

85
1,

02
9

   
   

  
92

8,
99

9
   

   
   

   
60

7,
12

4
   

   
   

  
45

3,
97

6
   

   
   

  
76

2,
64

0
   

   
   

   
58

6,
89

2
   

   
   

   
54

8,
40

1
   

   
   

  
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

1,
00

6,
37

6
   

   
   

1,
72

9,
00

5
   

   
  

1,
57

8,
93

1
   

   
  

1,
57

5,
55

4
   

   
  

1,
10

7,
25

4
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
21

6,
34

1
   

   
  

1,
68

0,
96

7
   

   
   

1,
62

7,
34

5
   

   
   

3,
18

5,
93

9
   

   
  

Pu
bi

c 
Se

rv
ic

es
66

7,
39

0
$ 

   
   

   
84

6,
44

9
   

   
   

  
71

0,
75

0
   

   
   

  
1,

14
7,

83
8

   
   

  
81

4,
34

1
   

   
   

   
51

1,
45

2
   

   
   

  
38

3,
47

0
   

   
   

  
67

0,
43

5
   

   
   

   
1,

20
1,

04
4

   
   

   
98

3,
35

9
$ 

   
   

  

 
(C

on
ti

nu
ed

)

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

140



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
H

A
N

G
E

S 
IN

 N
E

T
 P

O
SI

T
IO

N

L
A

ST
 T

E
N

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
S

(A
cc

ru
al

 B
as

is
 o

f 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

C
ap

it
al

 G
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
Pu

bl
ic

 S
af

et
y

-
$

28
,7

05
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
$

Pa
rk

s,
 R

ec
re

at
io

n,
 a

nd
 S

pe
ci

al
 E

ve
nt

s
3,

64
2,

15
8

   
   

   
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Pu
bi

c 
Se

rv
ic

es
95

9,
06

3
   

   
   

   
3,

75
0,

75
5

-
-

-
-

-
20

,7
21

 
-

-
T

ot
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l A
ct

iv
it

ie
s 

Pr
og

ra
m

 R
ev

en
ue

s
24

,9
98

,0
68

   
   

 
24

,8
94

,3
24

   
   

21
,3

44
,0

22
   

   
21

,8
34

,3
72

   
   

20
,3

56
,7

13
   

   
 

18
,7

93
,4

13
   

   
19

,9
46

,0
60

   
   

21
,9

87
,0

92
   

   
 

23
,4

87
,1

18
   

   
 

25
,2

32
,3

67
   

   

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

C
ha

rg
es

 f
or

 S
er

vi
ce

s:
T

ra
ns

it
27

5,
93

2
   

   
   

   
29

1,
21

1
   

   
   

  
31

7,
70

7
   

   
   

  
26

6,
72

4
   

   
   

  
28

6,
31

7
   

   
   

   
29

6,
98

2
   

   
   

  
27

3,
39

3
   

   
   

  
25

5,
88

7
   

   
   

   
27

6,
37

1
   

   
   

   
21

3,
38

1
   

   
   

  
Pa

rk
in

g
30

4,
18

9
   

   
   

   
34

7,
99

7
   

   
   

  
34

1,
99

9
   

   
   

  
34

2,
26

8
   

   
   

  
34

9,
04

8
   

   
   

   
41

9,
37

0
   

   
   

  
35

3,
89

9
   

   
   

  
40

8,
52

5
   

   
   

   
45

5,
63

6
   

   
   

   
46

0,
11

9
   

   
   

  
Sa

ni
ta

ry
 S

ew
er

35
,0

16
   

   
   

   
  

-
-

-
-

- 
-

-
-

-
A

ir
po

rt
1,

19
5,

72
2

   
   

   
1,

20
0,

33
7

   
   

  
1,

15
4,

46
6

   
   

  
1,

08
5,

46
6

   
   

  
1,

07
0,

88
8

   
   

   
96

9,
61

3
   

   
   

  
1,

09
9,

31
0

   
   

  
1,

03
7,

34
9

   
   

   
1,

38
0,

33
5

   
   

   
1,

47
8,

26
4

   
   

  
St

or
m

 W
at

er
-

-
91

7,
03

8
   

   
   

  
1,

50
3,

20
9

   
   

  
1,

11
4,

31
0

   
   

   
1,

63
1,

75
8

   
   

  
1,

85
2,

62
0

   
   

  
1,

64
9,

01
1

   
   

   
1,

60
9,

13
2

   
   

   
1,

67
3,

41
1

   
   

  
C

C
 W

oo
ds

on
17

,9
38

   
   

   
   

  
48

,0
00

   
   

   
   

 
48

,0
00

   
   

   
   

 
48

,0
00

   
   

   
   

 
48

,0
00

   
   

   
   

  
48

,0
00

   
   

   
   

 
48

,0
00

   
   

   
   

 
30

,0
62

   
   

   
   

  
-

-
Sp

ar
ta

nb
ur

g 
Pa

rk
in

g 
Fa

ci
li

ti
es

 C
or

po
ra

ti
on

-
-

18
,7

50
   

   
   

   
 

37
,5

00
   

   
   

   
 

37
,5

00
   

   
   

   
  

18
,7

50
   

   
   

   
 

56
,2

50
   

   
   

   
 

37
,5

00
   

   
   

   
  

-
-

Sp
ar

ta
nb

ur
g 

A
ir

po
rt

 F
ac

il
it

ie
s 

C
or

po
ra

ti
on

-
27

,3
22

80
,9

61
   

   
   

   
 

13
7,

19
4

   
   

   
  

15
1,

41
2

   
   

   
   

14
1,

65
4

   
   

   
  

15
7,

25
8

   
   

   
  

16
8,

13
4

   
   

   
   

-
-

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
 G

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

T
ra

ns
it

1,
23

6,
05

7
   

   
   

97
5,

28
0

90
4,

29
6

   
   

   
  

2,
19

3,
59

9
   

   
  

1,
41

3,
55

9
   

   
   

85
5,

00
2

   
   

   
  

-
77

7,
88

5
 

-
-

A
ir

po
rt

33
8,

22
9

   
   

   
   

36
8,

39
7

79
4,

30
3

   
   

   
  

2,
27

9,
44

5
   

   
  

1,
51

7,
38

2
   

   
   

89
2,

78
2

   
   

   
  

-
91

0,
37

7
 

-
-

C
ap

it
al

 G
ra

nt
s 

an
d 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
50

0,
00

0
   

   
   

  
T

ra
ns

it
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1,

94
5,

38
5

   
   

   
84

7,
96

2
   

   
   

  
A

ir
po

rt
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
9,

31
8,

85
2

   
   

   
6,

33
4,

15
0

   
   

  
C

C
 W

oo
ds

on
2,

15
0,

00
0

   
   

   
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Sp
ar

ta
nb

ur
g 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Fa
ci

li
ti

es
 C

or
po

ra
ti

on
-

53
6,

00
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

T
ot

al
 B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s 
Pr

og
ra

m
 R

ev
en

ue
s

5,
55

3,
08

3
   

   
   

3,
79

4,
54

4
   

   
  

4,
57

7,
52

0
   

   
  

8,
39

3,
40

5
   

   
  

5,
98

8,
41

6
   

   
   

5,
27

3,
91

1
   

   
  

3,
84

0,
73

0
   

   
  

5,
27

4,
73

0
   

   
   

14
,9

85
,7

11
   

   
 

11
,0

07
,2

87
   

   

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 R

ev
en

ue
s

30
,5

51
,1

51
$ 

   
 

28
,6

88
,8

68
   

   
25

,9
21

,5
42

   
   

30
,2

27
,7

77
   

   
26

,3
45

,1
29

   
   

 
24

,0
67

,3
24

   
   

23
,7

86
,7

90
   

   
27

,2
61

,8
22

   
   

 
38

,4
72

,8
29

   
   

 
36

,2
39

,6
54

$ 
   

N
et

 (
E

xp
en

se
)/

R
ev

en
ue

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

(2
0,

55
4,

62
1)

$ 
  

(1
6,

87
5,

08
9)

   
  

(2
2,

47
0,

80
9)

   
  

(2
4,

03
0,

62
5)

   
  

(2
2,

56
4,

52
6)

   
  

(2
5,

41
2,

98
5)

   
  

(2
4,

74
7,

74
4)

   
  

(2
4,

15
2,

05
4)

   
  

(2
6,

38
2,

50
9)

   
  

(2
4,

66
3,

22
6)

$ 
  

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

35
2,

33
9

   
   

   
   

(2
,9

41
,2

66
)

   
   

 
(2

,3
00

,4
02

)
   

   
 

1,
37

1,
05

7
   

   
  

(1
,4

32
,6

29
)

   
   

 
(1

,9
72

,8
18

)
   

   
 

(7
82

,8
51

)
   

   
   

 
(2

,6
94

,2
24

)
   

   
 

9,
42

8,
09

7
   

   
   

5,
11

2,
49

0
   

   
  

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t N

et
 (

E
xp

en
se

)/
R

ev
en

ue
(2

0,
20

2,
28

2)
$ 

  
(1

9,
81

6,
35

5)
   

  
(2

4,
77

1,
21

1)
   

  
(2

2,
65

9,
56

8)
   

  
(2

3,
99

7,
15

5)
   

  
(2

7,
38

5,
80

3)
   

  
(2

5,
53

0,
59

5)
   

  
(2

6,
84

6,
27

8)
   

  
(1

6,
95

4,
41

2)
   

  
(1

9,
55

0,
73

6)
$ 

  

(C
on

ti
nu

ed
)

141



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
H

A
N

G
E

S 
IN

 N
E

T
 P

O
SI

T
IO

N

L
A

ST
 T

E
N

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
S

(A
cc

ru
al

 B
as

is
 o

f 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
ue

s 
an

d 
O

th
er

 C
ha

ng
es

 in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

T
ax

es
 b

y 
So

ur
ce

:
Pr

op
er

ty
 T

ax
es

 L
ev

ie
d 

fo
r 

G
en

er
al

 P
ur

po
se

s
13

,4
83

,1
93

$ 
   

 
14

,3
44

,2
69

   
   

13
,4

59
,3

16
   

   
13

,4
58

,8
25

   
   

13
,5

05
,4

30
   

   
 

13
,9

11
,8

02
   

   
14

,5
38

,9
66

   
   

14
,4

26
,6

86
   

   
 

14
,6

73
,1

43
   

   
 

14
,6

63
,4

65
$ 

   
T

ax
 I

nc
re

m
en

t
2,

04
8,

26
4

   
   

   
2,

20
2,

15
8

   
   

  
2,

43
5,

94
4

   
   

  
2,

34
7,

00
8

   
   

  
2,

23
4,

71
8

   
   

   
2,

50
6,

91
9

   
   

  
2,

53
2,

26
6

   
   

  
2,

44
5,

21
4

   
   

   
2,

31
5,

52
4

   
   

   
2,

48
4,

20
5

   
   

  
M

ot
or

 V
eh

ic
le

 T
ax

es
97

7,
09

3
   

   
   

   
76

8,
53

2
   

   
   

  
90

2,
29

2
   

   
   

  
94

4,
52

2
   

   
   

  
95

4,
59

6
   

   
   

   
1,

19
2,

61
2

   
   

  
1,

33
6,

58
0

   
   

  
1,

35
6,

51
2

   
   

   
1,

42
0,

86
9

   
   

   
1,

29
3,

32
2

   
   

  
H

os
pi

ta
li

ty
 T

ax
es

3,
42

3,
10

5
   

   
   

3,
36

4,
21

1
   

   
  

3,
47

4,
81

4
   

   
  

3,
76

2,
81

6
   

   
  

3,
95

4,
08

9
   

   
   

4,
12

8,
29

9
   

   
  

4,
35

7,
87

5
   

   
  

4,
74

7,
23

9
   

   
   

5,
02

8,
73

5
   

   
   

5,
34

0,
37

3
   

   
  

O
th

er
 T

ax
es

80
7,

58
5

   
   

   
   

82
8,

88
5

   
   

   
  

84
3,

10
4

   
   

   
  

82
3,

05
2

   
   

   
  

81
4,

12
0

   
   

   
   

80
9,

43
5

   
   

   
  

86
8,

26
4

   
   

   
  

81
1,

05
3

   
   

   
   

82
3,

92
2

   
   

   
   

83
1,

40
6

   
   

   
  

In
te

rg
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

 -
 U

nr
es

tr
ic

te
d

1,
27

3,
31

4
   

   
   

1,
09

1,
76

6
   

   
  

88
1,

04
4

   
   

   
  

68
8,

65
8

   
   

   
  

79
9,

82
3

   
   

   
   

79
8,

46
6

   
   

   
  

79
8,

46
6

   
   

   
  

81
2,

17
5

   
   

   
   

84
4,

73
8

   
   

   
   

83
6,

02
0

   
   

   
  

U
nr

es
tr

ic
te

d 
In

ve
st

m
en

t E
ar

ni
ng

s
10

9,
09

2
   

   
   

   
46

,8
66

   
   

   
   

 
54

,9
33

   
   

   
   

 
77

,7
63

   
   

   
   

 
16

,4
26

   
   

   
   

  
11

,7
97

   
   

   
   

 
23

,3
70

   
   

   
   

 
42

,2
27

   
   

   
   

  
68

,7
53

   
   

   
   

  
12

4,
29

6
   

   
   

  
M

is
ce

ll
an

eo
us

44
9,

66
2

   
   

   
   

72
7,

41
2

   
   

   
  

91
2,

64
8

   
   

   
  

68
0,

96
3

   
   

   
  

79
6,

67
6

   
   

   
   

91
9,

48
8

   
   

   
  

95
4,

25
9

   
   

   
  

82
3,

48
3

   
   

   
   

93
0,

28
5

   
   

   
   

95
8,

64
0

   
   

   
  

G
ra

nt
s/

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 N

ot
 R

es
tr

ic
te

d 
to

 S
pe

ci
fi

c 
Pr

og
ra

m
s

61
7,

50
5

   
   

   
   

59
5,

45
3

   
   

   
  

59
0,

54
9

   
   

   
  

85
7,

56
1

   
   

   
  

81
0,

30
0

   
   

   
   

4,
04

0,
24

1
   

   
  

96
6,

69
6

   
   

   
  

4,
99

1,
54

5
   

   
   

1,
07

8,
91

6
   

   
   

1,
19

5,
63

4
   

   
  

G
ai

ns
 (

L
os

s)
 o

n 
D

is
po

sa
l/S

al
e 

of
 C

ap
it

al
 A

ss
et

s
11

,1
48

   
   

   
   

  
(7

7,
40

4)
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
12

0,
20

2
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
54

7,
10

8
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
20

6,
05

1
   

   
   

   
39

,8
38

   
   

   
   

  
17

4,
10

3
   

   
   

  
Sp

ec
ia

l I
te

m
 -

 I
m

pa
ir

m
en

t o
f 

A
ss

et
 *

*
(1

,4
25

,8
41

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(1
,4

45
,7

31
)

   
   

 
(1

,2
44

,7
65

)
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

T
ra

ns
fe

rs
(3

,4
14

,3
62

)
   

   
 

(9
08

,6
38

)
   

   
   

 
(2

,3
44

,5
91

)
   

   
 

(2
,4

04
,7

51
)

   
   

 
(2

,3
74

,7
78

)
   

   
 

(2
,2

21
,9

54
)

   
   

 
(2

,0
48

,6
51

)
   

   
 

(1
0,

69
4,

47
4)

   
  

(9
27

,0
39

)
   

   
   

 
(1

,0
35

,9
29

)
   

   
 

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
18

,3
59

,7
58

   
   

 
22

,9
83

,5
10

   
   

21
,2

10
,0

53
   

   
19

,9
10

,8
88

   
   

20
,2

66
,6

35
   

   
 

26
,6

44
,2

13
   

   
24

,3
28

,0
91

   
   

19
,9

67
,7

11
   

   
 

26
,2

97
,6

84
   

   
 

26
,8

65
,5

35
   

   

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

In
ve

st
m

en
t I

nc
om

e
74

,6
49

   
   

   
   

  
12

5,
01

0
   

   
   

  
40

,4
36

   
   

   
   

 
53

,1
41

   
   

   
   

 
54

,2
29

   
   

   
   

  
52

,6
87

   
   

   
   

 
56

,6
39

   
   

   
   

 
43

,7
10

   
   

   
   

  
33

,2
02

   
   

   
   

  
60

,9
04

   
   

   
   

 
M

is
ce

ll
an

eo
us

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

59
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

G
ai

ns
 (

L
os

s)
 o

n 
D

is
po

sa
l/S

al
e 

of
 C

ap
it

al
 A

ss
et

s
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

39
5

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
20

,2
89

   
   

   
   

  
4,

35
2

   
   

   
   

   
G

ai
n 

on
 E

xt
in

gu
is

hm
en

t o
f 

D
eb

t
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

96
0,

00
0

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
T

ra
ns

fe
rs

3,
41

4,
36

2
   

   
   

90
8,

63
8

   
   

   
  

2,
34

4,
59

1
   

   
  

2,
40

4,
75

1
   

   
  

2,
37

4,
77

8
   

   
   

2,
22

1,
95

4
   

   
  

2,
04

8,
65

1
   

   
  

10
,6

94
,4

74
   

   
 

92
7,

03
9

   
   

   
   

1,
03

5,
92

9
   

   
  

T
ot

al
 B

us
in

es
s-

T
yp

e 
A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
3,

48
9,

01
1

   
   

   
1,

03
7,

63
7

   
   

  
2,

38
5,

02
7

   
   

  
2,

45
7,

89
2

   
   

  
2,

42
9,

00
7

   
   

   
2,

27
4,

64
1

   
   

  
2,

10
5,

29
0

   
   

  
17

,6
98

,1
84

   
   

 
98

0,
53

0
   

   
   

   
1,

10
1,

18
5

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

21
,8

48
,7

69
$ 

   
 

24
,0

21
,1

47
   

   
23

,5
95

,0
80

   
   

22
,3

68
,7

80
   

   
22

,6
95

,6
42

   
   

 
28

,9
18

,8
54

   
   

26
,4

33
,3

81
   

   
37

,6
65

,8
95

   
   

 
27

,2
78

,2
14

   
   

 
27

,9
66

,7
20

$ 
   

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n:

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

(2
,1

94
,8

63
)

$ 
   

 
6,

10
8,

42
1

   
   

  
(1

,2
60

,7
56

)
   

   
 

(4
,1

19
,7

37
)

   
   

 
(2

,2
97

,8
91

)
   

   
 

1,
23

1,
22

8
   

   
  

(4
19

,6
53

)
   

   
   

 
(4

,1
84

,3
43

)
   

   
 

(8
4,

82
5)

   
   

   
   

2,
20

2,
30

9
$ 

   
  

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

3,
84

1,
35

0
   

   
   

(1
,9

03
,6

29
)

   
   

 
84

,6
25

   
   

   
   

 
3,

82
8,

94
9

   
   

  
99

6,
37

8
   

   
   

   
30

1,
82

3
   

   
   

  
1,

32
2,

43
9

   
   

  
15

,0
03

,9
60

   
   

 
10

,4
08

,6
27

   
   

 
6,

21
3,

67
5

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

1,
64

6,
48

7
$ 

   
   

4,
20

4,
79

2
   

   
  

(1
,1

76
,1

31
)

   
   

 
(2

90
,7

88
)

   
   

   
 

(1
,3

01
,5

13
)

   
   

 
1,

53
3,

05
1

   
   

  
90

2,
78

6
   

   
   

  
10

,8
19

,6
17

   
   

 
10

,3
23

,8
02

   
   

 
8,

41
5,

98
4

$ 
   

  

* 
 I

n 
20

08
, t

he
 s

ew
er

 f
un

ct
io

n 
w

as
 tr

an
sf

er
re

d 
to

 th
e 

Sp
ar

ta
nb

ur
g 

W
at

er
 a

nd
 S

ew
er

 S
ys

te
m

.
**

 I
n 

20
09

, C
it

y 
C

ou
nc

il
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

th
e 

de
m

ol
it

io
n 

of
 th

e 
ol

d 
C

C
 W

oo
ds

on
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
ce

nt
er

.  
T

he
 C

it
y 

w
ro

te
 d

ow
n 

th
e 

ca
pi

ta
l a

ss
et

 to
 it

s 
fa

ir
 v

al
ue

.
N

ot
e:

In
20

16
,t

he
C

it
y

co
m

pl
et

ed
an

d
cl

os
ed

ou
tt

he
ne

w
m

ar
ke

tt
ax

cr
ed

it
ag

re
em

en
ts

w
hi

ch
re

su
lt

ed
in

a
si

gn
if

ic
an

tg
ai

n
on

ex
ti

ng
ui

sh
m

en
to

f
de

bt
(d

ue
to

fo
rg

iv
en

es
s

of
de

bt
).

Se
e

N
ot

e
IV

.A
in

th
e

no
te

s
to

th
e 

20
16

 f
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 f

or
 m

or
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

142



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

F
U

N
D

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S

 O
F

 G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

 F
U

N
D

S

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S
(M

od
if

ie
d

 A
cc

ru
al

 B
as

is
 o

f 
A

cc
ou

n
ti

n
g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d
P

re
- 

G
A

S
B

 5
4*

R
es

er
ve

d
84

,4
09

$ 
   

   
  

10
3,

65
4

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
U

nr
es

er
ve

d
4,

04
4,

59
1

   
   

4,
96

3,
75

8
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
P

os
t-

 G
A

S
B

 5
4*

N
on

sp
en

da
bl

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
11

6,
40

2
   

   
  

10
6,

00
8

   
   

  
10

2,
09

8
   

   
  

10
1,

83
6

   
   

  
10

6,
68

3
   

   
  

11
3,

13
5

   
   

  
98

,0
95

   
   

   
 

93
,7

43
   

   
   

  
A

ss
ig

ne
d

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

66
7,

20
0

   
   

  
90

0,
10

7
   

   
  

1,
14

4,
93

3
   

  
1,

37
8,

93
3

   
  

1,
48

5,
02

4
   

  
1,

51
9,

08
1

   
  

1,
54

7,
57

2
   

  
25

0,
00

0
   

   
   

U
na

ss
ig

ne
d

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
02

0,
94

2
   

  
4,

93
6,

66
5

   
  

5,
35

4,
54

6
   

  
5,

88
8,

59
4

   
  

5,
50

6,
92

6
   

  
6,

36
6,

54
5

   
  

6,
08

6,
76

0
   

  
7,

71
8,

84
8

   
   

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 F

un
d

4,
12

9,
00

0
$ 

   
5,

06
7,

41
2

   
  

5,
80

4,
54

4
   

  
5,

94
2,

78
0

   
  

6,
60

1,
57

7
   

  
7,

36
9,

36
3

   
  

7,
09

8,
63

3
   

  
7,

99
8,

76
1

   
  

7,
73

2,
42

7
   

  
8,

06
2,

59
1

$ 
   

A
ll

 O
th

er
 G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l F

un
ds

P
re

- 
G

A
S

B
 5

4*
R

es
er

ve
d,

 R
ep

or
te

d 
In

:
31

8,
06

2
$ 

   
   

27
0,

06
2

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
S

pe
ci

al
 R

ev
en

ue
 F

un
ds

16
5,

08
6

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

C
ap

it
al

 P
ro

je
ct

s 
F

un
ds

35
8,

41
2

   
   

   
1,

06
2,

96
8

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

U
nr

es
er

ve
d,

 R
ep

or
te

d 
In

:
S

pe
ci

al
 R

ev
en

ue
 F

un
ds

1,
11

1,
72

9
   

   
1,

29
8,

30
3

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

C
ap

it
al

 P
ro

je
ct

s 
F

un
ds

2,
41

5,
58

4
   

   
2,

85
7,

58
3

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 F
un

ds
83

0,
50

2
   

   
   

74
3,

79
7

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
P

os
t-

 G
A

S
B

 5
4*

N
on

sp
en

da
bl

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
22

2,
06

2
   

   
  

17
4,

06
2

   
   

  
12

6,
06

2
   

   
  

78
,0

62
   

   
   

 
30

,0
62

   
   

   
 

1,
49

4
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
R

es
tr

ic
te

d
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
11

,3
66

,9
16

   
6,

32
0,

22
6

   
  

5,
43

0,
64

8
   

  
7,

10
8,

27
1

   
  

6,
29

7,
31

6
   

  
4,

43
6,

11
9

   
  

4,
51

1,
41

8
   

  
4,

20
5,

51
5

   
   

C
om

m
it

te
d

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

28
,9

96
   

   
   

 
20

3,
01

9
   

   
  

19
1,

81
8

   
   

  
16

0,
19

6
   

   
  

16
,7

23
   

   
   

 
14

,4
64

   
   

   
 

11
,8

57
   

   
   

 
11

,6
98

   
   

   
  

A
ss

ig
ne

d
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

30
1,

09
7

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
59

9,
94

7
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

43
,3

31
   

   
   

  
U

na
ss

ig
ne

d
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
(8

11
,4

78
)

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 A

ll
 O

th
er

 G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
un

ds
5,

19
9,

37
5

$ 
   

6,
23

2,
71

3
   

  
12

,9
19

,0
71

   
6,

69
7,

30
7

   
  

5,
74

8,
52

8
   

  
7,

34
6,

52
9

   
  

6,
34

4,
10

1
   

  
6,

05
2,

02
4

   
  

3,
71

1,
79

7
   

  
4,

26
0,

54
4

$ 
   

*

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

T
he

C
it

y
im

pl
em

en
te

d
G

A
S

B
54

,
F

un
d

B
al

an
ce

R
ep

or
ti

ng
an

d
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

F
un

d
ty

pe
D

ef
in

it
io

ns
("

G
A

S
B

54
")

in
20

11
.

G
A

S
B

54
es

ta
bl

is
he

d
ne

w
,

hi
er

ar
ch

ic
al

fu
nd

ba
la

nc
e

cl
as

si
fi

ca
ti

on
s

ba
se

d
pr

im
ar

il
y

up
on

th
e

ex
te

nt
to

w
hi

ch
a

go
ve

rn
m

en
ti

s
bo

un
d

to
ob

se
rv

e
co

ns
tr

ai
nt

s
im

po
se

d
up

on
th

e
us

e
of

re
so

ur
ce

s
re

po
rt

ed
in

go
ve

rn
m

en
ta

lf
un

ds
.

T
he

C
it

y
ha

s
el

ec
te

d
to

ap
pl

y
G

A
S

B
54

pr
os

pe
ct

iv
el

y
an

d
th

us
 h

as
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

fu
nd

 b
al

an
ce

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

be
fo

re
 (

"P
re

")
 a

nd
 a

ft
er

 (
"P

os
t"

) 
it

s 
im

pl
em

en
ta

ti
on

143



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
H

A
N

G
E

S 
IN

 F
U

N
D

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S 

O
F

 G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

 F
U

N
D

S

L
A

ST
 T

E
N

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
S

(M
od

if
ie

d 
A

cc
ru

al
 B

as
is

 o
f 

A
cc

ou
n

ti
n

g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

R
ev

en
u

es
T

ax
es

20
,2

58
,1

75
$ 

   
 

20
,2

91
,3

32
   

   
 

20
,9

52
,3

15
   

   
 

21
,4

05
,2

53
   

   
 

20
,8

08
,3

94
   

   
 

22
,1

47
,7

32
   

   
 

23
,5

01
,2

27
   

   
 

23
,4

74
,0

56
   

   
 

24
,1

16
,2

78
   

   
 

24
,3

72
,1

33
$ 

   
 

Fe
es

, L
ic

en
se

s 
an

d 
P

er
m

it
s

12
,5

71
,1

79
   

   
 

12
,4

69
,8

52
   

   
 

12
,7

83
,7

62
   

   
 

12
,8

55
,2

75
   

   
 

13
,0

38
,5

64
   

   
 

13
,4

12
,3

43
   

   
 

13
,7

28
,7

30
   

   
 

14
,7

52
,8

46
   

   
 

16
,3

81
,4

19
   

   
 

16
,5

64
,1

14
   

   
 

Fi
ne

s 
an

d 
Fo

rf
ei

tu
re

s
54

8,
39

6
   

   
   

   
54

2,
71

3
   

   
   

   
66

5,
91

7
   

   
   

   
65

6,
36

8
   

   
   

   
52

9,
99

2
   

   
   

   
46

9,
07

9
   

   
   

   
48

4,
26

1
   

   
   

   
62

3,
48

3
   

   
   

   
33

8,
61

7
   

   
   

   
34

5,
11

2
   

   
   

   
St

at
e 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

55
2,

75
7

   
   

   
   

97
8,

95
1

   
   

   
   

22
4,

11
8

   
   

   
   

44
5,

14
3

   
   

   
   

58
8,

43
6

   
   

   
   

76
0,

70
1

   
   

   
   

30
9,

53
4

   
   

   
   

87
5,

84
3

   
   

   
   

1,
56

4,
11

4
   

   
   

3,
23

2,
00

9
   

   
   

Fe
de

ra
l G

ov
er

nm
en

t C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
1,

83
3,

61
5

   
   

   
2,

87
4,

06
3

   
   

   
3,

22
3,

15
9

   
   

   
3,

43
9,

34
5

   
   

   
2,

22
3,

42
3

   
   

   
2,

29
2,

83
7

   
   

   
86

9,
29

9
   

   
   

   
1,

54
1,

95
7

   
   

   
93

7,
14

6
   

   
   

   
82

1,
57

5
   

   
   

   
In

te
rg

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l R

ev
en

ue
4,

60
8,

81
8

   
   

   
3,

83
0,

51
7

   
   

   
3,

50
3,

78
0

   
   

   
3,

17
9,

79
2

   
   

   
3,

32
3,

65
5

   
   

   
3,

40
2,

42
0

   
   

   
3,

32
3,

73
9

   
   

   
3,

13
4,

27
0

   
   

   
3,

09
9,

71
5

   
   

   
3,

34
9,

93
6

   
   

   
C

ha
rg

es
 f

or
 S

er
vi

ce
s

2,
03

7,
28

3
   

   
   

2,
03

9,
23

1
   

   
   

2,
04

1,
77

0
   

   
   

1,
86

6,
12

3
   

   
   

1,
81

6,
29

4
   

   
   

1,
73

3,
97

7
   

   
   

1,
91

3,
72

7
   

   
   

1,
87

0,
78

9
   

   
   

1,
84

9,
93

0
   

   
   

1,
85

6,
76

0
   

   
   

In
ve

st
m

en
t E

ar
ni

ng
s

63
,8

89
   

   
   

   
  

16
,5

02
   

   
   

   
  

37
,0

08
   

   
   

   
  

67
,3

98
   

   
   

   
  

10
,7

17
   

   
   

   
  

6,
52

2
   

   
   

   
   

 
7,

36
2

   
   

   
   

   
 

13
,5

51
   

   
   

   
  

17
,5

80
   

   
   

   
  

11
4,

99
8

   
   

   
   

C
on

fi
sc

at
ed

 D
ru

g 
Fu

nd
s

20
,2

36
   

   
   

   
  

12
0,

74
6

   
   

   
   

25
,0

44
   

   
   

   
  

14
,0

73
   

   
   

   
  

23
4,

01
7

   
   

   
   

46
,9

70
   

   
   

   
  

62
,0

39
   

   
   

   
  

3,
18

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

83
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

7,
64

5
   

   
   

   
   

D
on

at
io

ns
50

7,
50

0
   

   
   

   
54

2,
92

1
   

   
   

   
53

8,
75

4
   

   
   

   
68

7,
70

8
   

   
   

   
74

7,
50

4
   

   
   

   
3,

93
1,

63
8

   
   

   
82

6,
25

5
   

   
   

   
4,

65
1,

00
0

   
   

   
9,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
 

25
5,

00
0

   
   

   
   

G
ro

un
d 

L
ea

se
 R

en
t

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

O
th

er
1,

23
5,

71
9

   
   

   
88

4,
69

2
   

   
   

   
88

5,
94

0
   

   
   

   
1,

09
8,

91
6

   
   

   
86

9,
96

4
   

   
   

   
1,

06
9,

15
6

   
   

   
96

7,
45

5
   

   
   

   
1,

31
0,

48
1

   
   

   
2,

00
4,

81
9

   
   

   
1,

76
9,

53
9

   
   

   

T
ot

al
 R

ev
en

ue
s

44
,4

37
,5

67
$ 

   
 

44
,7

91
,5

20
   

   
 

45
,0

81
,5

67
   

   
 

45
,9

15
,3

94
   

   
 

44
,3

90
,9

60
   

   
 

49
,4

73
,3

75
   

   
 

46
,1

93
,6

28
   

   
 

52
,4

51
,4

57
   

   
 

50
,5

25
,4

49
   

   
 

52
,8

88
,8

21
$ 

   
 

E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s
C

ur
re

nt
:

P
ol

ic
y 

Fo
rm

ul
at

io
n 

an
d 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n

5,
80

7,
25

4
$ 

   
   

4,
27

8,
73

4
   

   
   

4,
75

5,
87

6
   

   
   

4,
47

0,
73

3
   

   
   

5,
08

1,
46

2
   

   
   

5,
66

1,
97

7
   

   
   

6,
54

2,
35

5
   

   
   

6,
48

4,
19

3
   

   
   

6,
23

2,
70

0
   

   
   

5,
97

5,
41

4
$ 

   
   

P
ub

li
c 

Sa
fe

ty
12

,9
21

,8
42

   
   

 
12

,5
53

,6
39

   
   

 
12

,7
75

,4
59

   
   

 
13

,1
96

,4
70

   
   

 
13

,6
27

,4
97

   
   

 
14

,0
13

,0
12

   
   

 
14

,3
65

,1
86

   
   

 
14

,6
91

,8
99

   
   

 
16

,1
39

,9
26

   
   

 
16

,2
78

,1
28

   
   

 
P

ar
ks

, R
ec

re
at

io
n,

 a
nd

 S
pe

ci
al

 E
ve

nt
s

1,
98

9,
00

3
   

   
   

2,
10

9,
33

9
   

   
   

2,
04

9,
55

5
   

   
   

2,
12

6,
28

3
   

   
   

1,
75

2,
67

1
   

   
   

1,
59

5,
25

0
   

   
   

1,
53

6,
35

9
   

   
   

1,
52

9,
64

0
   

   
   

1,
58

1,
04

7
   

   
   

1,
62

7,
58

4
   

   
   

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
2,

10
8,

55
6

   
   

   
2,

08
6,

94
3

   
   

   
1,

78
4,

42
8

   
   

   
1,

78
1,

63
2

   
   

   
1,

48
7,

14
2

   
   

   
2,

28
5,

66
4

   
   

   
2,

51
6,

16
8

   
   

   
2,

57
6,

33
7

   
   

   
2,

76
8,

47
0

   
   

   
3,

04
7,

81
6

   
   

   
P

ub
li

c 
Se

rv
ic

es
8,

05
5,

30
5

   
   

   
7,

64
8,

21
4

   
   

   
7,

14
6,

46
5

   
   

   
7,

09
8,

54
9

   
   

   
6,

41
7,

00
8

   
   

   
5,

88
1,

65
3

   
   

   
5,

77
3,

91
7

   
   

   
5,

75
2,

16
3

   
   

   
6,

08
8,

17
7

   
   

   
6,

14
4,

28
6

   
   

   
Fi

na
nc

e 
an

d 
A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
2,

46
6,

17
0

   
   

   
2,

77
6,

22
5

   
   

   
2,

66
8,

84
9

   
   

   
2,

39
7,

94
3

   
   

   
2,

28
6,

95
4

   
   

   
2,

24
6,

17
3

   
   

   
2,

45
6,

68
7

   
   

   
2,

74
5,

90
5

   
   

   
3,

46
3,

15
9

   
   

   
2,

65
4,

02
2

   
   

   
O

pe
ra

ti
ng

5,
06

6,
44

2
   

   
   

4,
32

3,
16

2
   

   
   

4,
70

6,
51

9
   

   
   

6,
37

5,
57

7
   

   
   

4,
78

2,
01

2
   

   
   

5,
40

3,
59

1
   

   
   

4,
62

9,
83

4
   

   
   

4,
99

5,
81

2
   

   
   

5,
75

2,
78

8
   

   
   

6,
51

4,
96

7
   

   
   

C
ap

ita
l O

ut
la

y
3,

37
6,

90
8

   
   

   
2,

56
9,

31
6

   
   

   
3,

70
0,

29
5

   
   

   
7,

48
8,

08
4

   
   

   
3,

10
4,

38
4

   
   

   
2,

52
5,

08
1

   
   

   
3,

77
9,

06
6

   
   

   
4,

01
6,

93
7

   
   

   
5,

72
2,

60
8

   
   

   
4,

01
8,

46
6

   
   

   
D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
:

P
ri

nc
ip

al
 R

et
ir

em
en

t
2,

06
0,

00
0

   
   

   
1,

89
5,

00
0

   
   

   
17

,1
90

,0
00

   
   

 
2,

57
9,

00
0

   
   

   
2,

71
2,

00
0

   
   

   
13

,6
86

,0
00

   
   

 
2,

87
7,

19
2

   
   

   
3,

05
4,

43
4

   
   

   
7,

33
9,

39
0

   
   

   
2,

94
2,

86
5

   
   

   
In

te
re

st
1,

51
0,

31
9

   
   

   
1,

42
8,

56
2

   
   

   
1,

49
3,

31
7

   
   

   
1,

98
6,

04
3

   
   

   
1,

09
6,

09
0

   
   

   
1,

08
9,

90
6

   
   

   
71

5,
11

4
   

   
   

   
58

6,
01

9
   

   
   

   
91

6,
94

5
   

   
   

   
72

9,
42

9
   

   
   

   
O

th
er

51
,6

62
   

   
   

   
  

11
3,

01
3

   
   

   
   

61
4,

37
0

   
   

   
   

14
3,

53
3

   
   

   
   

88
,6

53
   

   
   

   
  

18
7,

57
6

   
   

   
   

26
0,

86
9

   
   

   
   

35
2,

55
0

   
   

   
   

56
5,

32
7

   
   

   
   

1,
35

7,
47

3
   

   
   

T
ot

al
 E

xp
en

di
tu

re
s

45
,4

13
,4

61
   

   
 

41
,7

82
,1

47
   

   
 

58
,8

85
,1

33
   

   
 

49
,6

43
,8

47
   

   
 

42
,4

35
,8

73
   

   
 

54
,5

75
,8

83
   

   
 

45
,4

52
,7

47
   

   
 

46
,7

85
,8

89
   

   
 

56
,5

70
,5

37
   

   
 

51
,2

90
,4

50
   

   
 

E
xc

es
s 

of
 R

ev
en

ue
s 

O
ve

r
(U

nd
er

) 
E

xp
en

di
tu

re
s

(9
75

,8
94

)
$ 

   
   

  
3,

00
9,

37
3

   
   

   
(1

3,
80

3,
56

6)
   

   
(3

,7
28

,4
53

)
   

   
  

1,
95

5,
08

7
   

   
   

(5
,1

02
,5

08
)

   
   

  
74

0,
88

1
   

   
   

   
5,

66
5,

56
8

   
   

   
(6

,0
45

,0
88

)
   

   
  

1,
59

8,
37

1
$ 

   
   

 
(C

on
ti

nu
ed

)

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

144



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
H

A
N

G
E

S 
IN

 F
U

N
D

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
S 

O
F

 G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T

A
L

 F
U

N
D

S

L
A

ST
 T

E
N

 F
IS

C
A

L
 Y

E
A

R
S

(M
od

if
ie

d 
A

cc
ru

al
 B

as
is

 o
f 

A
cc

ou
n

ti
n

g)

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

O
th

er
 F

in
an

ci
n

g 
So

u
rc

es
 (

U
se

s)
T

ra
ns

fe
rs

 I
n

5,
41

3,
77

4
$ 

   
   

4,
93

4,
70

7
   

   
   

3,
52

0,
51

7
   

   
   

2,
91

4,
13

2
   

   
   

3,
67

0,
59

8
   

   
   

3,
81

1,
10

0
   

   
   

6,
34

4,
64

5
   

   
   

5,
64

5,
48

1
   

   
   

7,
44

6,
61

1
   

   
   

8,
64

5,
96

7
$ 

   
   

T
ra

ns
fe

rs
 O

ut
(7

,0
07

,9
64

)
   

   
  

(6
,1

12
,7

92
)

   
   

 
(5

,8
65

,1
08

)
   

   
  

(5
,2

87
,9

56
)

   
   

  
(6

,0
45

,3
76

)
   

   
  

(6
,0

33
,0

54
)

   
   

  
(8

,3
93

,2
96

)
   

   
  

(2
2,

28
0,

74
5)

   
   

(8
,6

73
,6

50
)

   
   

  
(9

,6
81

,8
96

)
   

   
 

P
ro

ce
ed

s 
fr

om
 B

on
ds

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
79

5,
00

0
   

   
   

23
,3

20
,0

00
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

9,
25

0,
00

0
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
,1

35
,0

00
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

D
ef

ea
se

m
en

t o
f 

D
eb

t
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(4

,7
25

,0
00

)
   

   
 

18
2,

66
0

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

R
ef

un
di

ng
 B

on
ds

 I
ss

ua
nc

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
4,

54
5,

00
0

   
   

   
4,

65
0,

00
0

   
   

   
P

ay
m

en
t t

o 
R

ef
un

di
ng

 B
on

d 
E

sc
ro

w
 A

ge
nt

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(4
,5

33
,6

14
)

   
   

 
C

ap
ita

l L
ea

se
 P

ro
ce

ed
s

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
39

4,
04

5
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

P
ro

ce
ed

s 
fr

om
 S

al
e 

of
 C

ap
ita

l A
ss

et
s

53
,6

68
   

   
   

   
  

70
,4

62
   

   
   

   
  

68
,9

87
   

   
   

   
  

18
,7

49
   

   
   

   
  

12
9,

70
9

   
   

   
   

44
0,

24
9

   
   

   
   

34
,6

12
   

   
   

   
  

48
,7

02
   

   
   

   
  

12
0,

56
6

   
   

   
   

20
0,

08
3

   
   

   
   

T
ot

al
 O

th
er

 F
in

an
ci

ng
 

 S
ou

rc
es

 (
U

se
s)

(1
,5

40
,5

22
)

   
   

  
(1

,0
37

,6
23

)
   

   
 

21
,2

27
,0

56
   

   
 

(2
,3

55
,0

75
)

   
   

  
(2

,2
45

,0
69

)
   

   
  

7,
46

8,
29

5
   

   
   

(2
,0

14
,0

39
)

   
   

  
(5

,0
57

,5
17

)
   

   
  

3,
43

8,
52

7
   

   
   

(7
19

,4
60

)
   

   
   

 

N
et

 C
ha

ng
e 

in
 F

un
d 

B
al

an
ce

s
(2

,5
16

,4
16

)
$ 

   
  

1,
97

1,
75

0
   

   
   

7,
42

3,
49

0
   

   
   

(6
,0

83
,5

28
)

   
   

  
(2

89
,9

82
)

   
   

   
  

2,
36

5,
78

7
   

   
   

(1
,2

73
,1

58
)

   
   

  
60

8,
05

1
   

   
   

   
(2

,6
06

,5
61

)
   

   
  

87
8,

91
1

$ 
   

   
   

C
ap

ita
l A

ss
et

 E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s
1,

04
0,

37
8

$ 
   

   
90

4,
09

4
   

   
   

   
1,

42
0,

69
5

   
   

   
2,

66
3,

83
2

   
   

   
1,

70
3,

88
0

   
   

   
23

3,
76

8
   

   
   

   
3,

77
9,

06
6

   
   

   
1,

25
6,

12
1

   
   

   
3,

11
4,

65
6

   
   

   
2,

21
5,

00
6

$ 
   

   

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 a
s 

a 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e

of
 N

on
ca

pi
ta

l E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s
8.

0%
8.

1%
32

.5
%

9.
7%

9.
3%

27
.2

%
8.

6%
8.

0%
15

.4
%

7.
5%

Fa
ci

li
ti

es
 a

nd
 E

ve
nt

s 
Se

rv
ic

es
 c

ha
ng

ed
 it

s 
na

m
e 

to
 P

ar
ks

, R
ec

re
at

io
n,

 a
nd

 S
pe

ci
al

 E
ve

nt
s 

in
 f

is
ca

l y
ea

r 
20

05
 w

he
n 

th
e 

C
ity

 r
eg

ai
ne

d 
co

nt
ro

l o
f 

P
ar

ks
 a

nd
 R

ec
re

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
C

ou
nt

y.
N

ot
es

:

145



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

A
S

S
E

S
S

E
D

 V
A

L
U

E
 A

N
D

 E
S

T
IM

A
T

E
D

 A
C

T
U

A
L

 V
A

L
U

E
 O

F
 T

A
X

A
B

L
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l

T
ot

al
A

ss
es

se
d

Y
ea

r
L

es
s:

T
ot

al
 T

ax
ab

le
D

ir
ec

t
E

st
im

at
ed

V
al

u
e 

as
 a

E
n

d
ed

R
es

id
en

ti
al

C
om

m
er

ci
al

M
ot

or
T

ax
-E

xe
m

p
t

A
ss

es
se

d
T

ax
A

ct
u

al
P

er
ce

n
ta

ge
 o

f
Ju

n
e 

30
P

ro
p

er
ty

P
ro

p
er

ty
V

eh
ic

le
s

O
th

er
R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

V
al

u
e

R
at

e
T

ax
 V

al
u

e*
A

ct
u

al
 V

al
u

e

20
09

10
9,

31
6,

47
1

$ 
   

10
,0

12
,9

44
   

   
  

9,
55

3,
34

0
   

   
   

 
10

,5
85

,0
64

   
   

  
20

1,
59

0
   

   
   

   
 

13
9,

26
6,

22
9

$ 
   

10
1.

0
   

   
   

  
2,

58
5,

35
8,

22
7

$ 
  

5.
4%

20
10

11
0,

32
0,

51
2

   
   

10
,0

32
,7

47
   

   
  

10
,1

41
,3

44
   

   
  

9,
91

7,
90

0
   

   
   

 
19

8,
09

0
   

   
   

   
 

14
0,

21
4,

41
3

   
   

10
1.

0
   

   
   

  
2,

57
4,

23
1,

91
9

   
  

5.
4%

20
11

10
7,

48
9,

35
2

   
   

9,
56

9,
44

7
   

   
   

 
9,

04
5,

93
7

   
   

   
 

10
,3

21
,2

13
   

   
  

14
9,

26
0

   
   

   
   

 
13

6,
27

6,
68

9
   

   
10

1.
0

   
   

   
  

2,
51

5,
69

2,
35

9
   

  
5.

4%
20

12
10

8,
75

8,
30

5
   

   
8,

00
2,

13
0

   
   

   
 

8,
79

8,
68

8
   

   
   

 
9,

78
5,

31
1

   
   

   
 

16
7,

21
0

   
   

   
   

 
13

5,
17

7,
22

4
   

   
10

1.
0

   
   

   
  

2,
35

1,
92

8,
15

9
   

  
5.

7%
20

13
10

8,
81

3,
72

7
   

   
7,

33
0,

03
0

   
   

   
 

9,
23

0,
71

0
   

   
   

 
9,

72
7,

47
5

   
   

   
 

18
3,

15
0

   
   

   
   

 
13

4,
91

8,
79

2
   

   
10

1.
0

   
   

   
  

2,
13

9,
12

4,
62

4
   

  
6.

3%
20

14
11

3,
47

3,
41

4
   

   
7,

76
8,

51
0

   
   

   
 

9,
26

8,
40

0
   

   
   

 
9,

23
3,

50
8

   
   

   
 

21
7,

04
0

   
   

   
   

 
13

9,
52

6,
79

2
   

   
10

3.
0

   
   

   
  

2,
17

8,
61

4,
14

8
   

  
6.

4%
20

15
11

3,
12

2,
69

9
   

   
7,

37
3,

62
0

   
   

   
 

11
,3

65
,4

80
   

   
  

9,
67

1,
33

2
   

   
   

 
18

9,
49

0
   

   
   

   
 

14
1,

34
3,

64
1

   
   

10
5.

0
   

   
   

  
2,

18
0,

33
7,

37
1

   
  

6.
5%

20
16

11
3,

47
6,

60
6

   
   

7,
32

4,
06

0
   

   
   

 
12

,4
96

,1
57

   
   

  
10

,3
51

,1
08

   
   

  
12

3,
00

0
   

   
   

   
 

14
3,

52
4,

93
1

   
   

10
5.

0
   

   
   

  
2,

16
0,

48
0,

72
9

   
  

6.
6%

20
17

11
1,

22
5,

26
5

   
   

8,
00

0,
23

0
   

   
   

 
12

,5
79

,3
60

   
   

  
9,

10
2,

39
8

   
   

   
 

11
7,

50
0

   
   

   
   

 
14

0,
78

9,
75

3
   

   
10

5.
0

   
   

   
  

2,
24

7,
05

2,
36

0
   

  
6.

3%
20

18
11

6,
05

7,
32

3
$ 

   
7,

80
7,

41
0

   
   

   
 

13
,0

51
,1

70
   

   
  

9,
36

3,
94

3
   

   
   

 
12

3,
23

0
   

   
   

   
 

14
6,

15
6,

61
6

$ 
   

10
5.

0
   

   
   

  
2,

16
5,

30
0,

60
7

$ 
  

6.
7%

S
ou

rc
e:

S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 C
ou

nt
y 

A
ss

es
so

r 
&

 A
ud

it
or

's
 O

ff
ic

e

N
ot

es
:  

P
ro

pe
rt

y 
in

 th
e 

C
it

y 
w

as
 r

ea
ss

es
se

d 
fo

r 
fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r 
20

09
.  

T
ax

 r
at

es
 a

re
 p

er
 $

1,
00

0 
of

 a
ss

es
se

d 
va

lu
e.

E
st

im
at

ed
 A

ct
ua

l T
ax

 V
al

ue
s 

fo
r 

fi
sc

al
 y

ea
rs

 2
00

9 
an

d 
20

10
 h

av
e 

be
en

 c
or

re
ct

ed
.

A
ss

es
se

d
 P

er
so

n
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
A

ss
es

se
d

 R
ea

l P
ro

p
er

ty

146



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 T
A

X
 R

A
T

E
S

 -
 D

IR
E

C
T

 A
N

D
 O

V
E

R
L

A
P

P
IN

G
 G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
S

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

C
it

y 
D

ir
ec

t 
R

at
es

:
B

as
ic

 R
at

e
10

1.
00

10
1.

00
10

1.
00

10
1.

00
10

1.
00

10
3.

00
10

5.
00

   
   

 
10

5.
00

   
   

 
10

5.
00

   
   

 
10

5.
00

   
   

T
ot

al
 D

ir
ec

t R
at

e
10

1.
00

10
1.

00
10

1.
00

10
1.

00
10

1.
00

10
3.

00
10

5.
00

   
   

 
10

5.
00

   
   

 
10

5.
00

   
   

 
10

5.
00

   
   

C
ou

n
ty

 R
at

es
:

S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 C
ou

nt
y

68
.4

0
69

.5
0

69
.8

0
70

.8
0

71
.5

0
73

.2
0

74
.4

0
   

   
   

74
.4

0
   

   
   

74
.4

0
   

   
   

74
.4

0
   

   
  

S
ch

oo
l D

is
tr

ic
t 

R
at

es
:

S
ch

oo
l D

is
tr

ic
t #

7
22

7.
20

27
3.

90
27

9.
20

27
4.

30
28

0.
40

28
0.

50
28

6.
80

   
   

 
28

6.
80

   
   

 
29

6.
80

   
   

 
29

6.
80

   
   

S
ew

er
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

R
at

es
:

S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 S
ew

er
 D

is
tr

ic
t

7.
50

7.
50

7.
50

7.
50

7.
50

7.
50

7.
50

   
   

   
  

7.
50

   
   

   
  

8.
90

   
   

   
  

8.
90

   
   

   
 

S
ou

rc
e:

  S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 C
ou

nt
y 

T
ax

 A
ud

it
or

's
 O

ff
ic

e

N
ot

e:
  O

ve
rl

ap
pi

ng
 r

at
es

 a
re

 th
os

e 
of

 lo
ca

l a
nd

 c
ou

nt
y 

go
ve

rn
m

en
ts

 th
at

 a
pp

ly
 to

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
ow

ne
rs

 w
it

hi
n 

th
e 

C
it

y 
of

 S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

.  
N

ot
 a

ll
 o

ve
rl

ap
pi

ng
 r

at
es

 a
pp

ly
 to

 a
ll

 o
f 

th
e 

C
it

y 
of

 S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
ow

ne
rs

 (
i.e

., 
th

e 
ra

te
s 

fo
r 

fi
re

/s
pe

ci
al

 p
ur

po
se

 d
is

tr
ic

ts
 a

pp
ly

 o
nl

y 
to

 th
e 

pr
op

or
ti

on
 o

f 
th

e 
C

it
y 

of
 S

pa
rt

an
bu

rg
's

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
ow

ne
rs

 w
ho

se
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

is
 lo

ca
te

d 
w

it
hi

n 
th

e 
ge

og
ra

ph
ic

 b
ou

nd
ar

ie
s 

of
 th

e 
fi

re
/s

pe
ci

al
 p

ur
po

se
 d

is
tr

ic
t)

.

147



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND TEN YEARS AGO

UNAUDITED

Percentage of Percentage of
Taxable Total Taxable Taxable Total Taxable
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Duke Energy Corp 4,310,884$      1 2.9% 24,641,910$     1 17.7%
Yeomans Charles L III et al 2,953,240        2 2.0% 3,403,290         5 2.4%
Suso 4 Dorman, LP 2,046,990        3 1.4%
ERP Hillcrest, LLC 1,612,050        4 1.1%
J.M. Smith Corp 1,447,350        5 1.0%
SSK Land, LLC 1,230,600        6 0.8%
East Main Redevelopment, LLC 1,115,750        7 0.8%
HD Development of Maryland, Inc. 1,055,990        8 0.7%
Denny's Corp 937,300           9 0.6%
Bellsouth Telecommunications 895,350           10 0.6% 9,082,050         2 6.5%
Mary Black Health System 4,174,600         3 3.0%
Sew Eurodrive Inc 3,661,819         4 2.6%
Tietex International LTD 2,812,880         6 2.0%
Transcontinental Gas Pipeline 2,716,170         7 2.0%
Norfolk Southern Corp 2,647,650         8 1.9%
Piedmont Natural Gas Co Inc 2,625,680         9 1.9%
Inland Western Spartanburg 2,610,630         10 1.9%

Totals 17,605,504$    12.0% 58,376,679$     41.9%

Source:  Spartanburg County Tax Auditor's Office

2018 2009

148



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 T
A

X
 L

E
V

IE
S

 A
N

D
 C

O
L

L
E

C
T

IO
N

S

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l

A
d

ju
st

m
en

ts
 t

o
Y

ea
r

O
ri

gi
n

al
 T

ax
O

ri
gi

n
al

 T
ax

A
d

ju
st

ed
 T

ax
C

ol
le

ct
io

n
s 

in
E

n
d

ed
L

ev
y 

fo
r

L
ev

y 
fo

r
L

ev
y 

fo
r

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

S
u

b
se

q
u

en
t

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 J
u

n
e 

30
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r
F

is
ca

l Y
ea

r
A

m
ou

n
t

of
 L

ev
y

Y
ea

rs
A

m
ou

n
t

of
 L

ev
y

20
09

14
,5

15
,0

41
$ 

   
   

44
9,

15
1

   
   

   
   

  
14

,0
65

,8
89

   
   

   
12

,6
00

,8
53

$ 
   

   
89

.6
%

91
4,

68
3

$ 
   

   
   

  
13

,5
15

,5
36

$ 
   

   
96

.1
%

20
10

13
,4

33
,9

92
   

   
   

(7
47

,6
71

)
   

   
   

   
14

,1
81

,6
63

   
   

   
12

,8
36

,3
05

   
   

   
90

.5
%

91
9,

96
2

   
   

   
   

  
13

,7
56

,2
67

   
   

   
97

.0
%

20
11

12
,9

95
,7

42
   

   
   

(7
68

,2
04

)
   

   
   

   
13

,7
63

,9
46

   
   

   
12

,5
71

,2
27

   
   

   
91

.3
%

83
9,

23
2

   
   

   
   

  
13

,4
10

,4
59

   
   

   
97

.4
%

20
12

13
,8

56
,7

68
   

   
   

20
3,

86
8

   
   

   
   

  
13

,6
52

,9
00

   
   

   
12

,7
41

,0
49

   
   

   
93

.3
%

68
5,

90
4

   
   

   
   

  
13

,4
26

,9
53

   
   

   
98

.3
%

20
13

13
,2

70
,3

07
   

   
   

(3
56

,4
91

)
   

   
   

   
13

,6
26

,7
98

   
   

   
12

,7
53

,4
44

   
   

   
93

.6
%

50
3,

21
8

   
   

   
   

  
13

,2
56

,6
62

   
   

   
97

.3
%

20
14

13
,7

53
,0

40
   

   
   

(6
18

,2
20

)
   

   
   

   
14

,3
71

,2
60

   
   

   
13

,5
27

,4
27

   
   

   
94

.1
%

49
0,

06
8

   
   

   
   

  
14

,0
17

,4
95

   
   

   
97

.5
%

20
15

14
,9

10
,4

87
   

   
   

69
,4

05
   

   
   

   
   

 
14

,8
41

,0
82

   
   

   
14

,0
25

,3
97

   
   

   
94

.5
%

53
2,

89
1

   
   

   
   

  
14

,5
58

,2
88

   
   

   
98

.1
%

20
16

15
,1

32
,2

19
   

   
   

62
,1

01
   

   
   

   
   

 
15

,0
70

,1
18

   
   

   
14

,1
31

,7
66

   
   

   
93

.8
%

57
9,

00
1

   
   

   
   

  
14

,7
10

,7
67

   
   

   
97

.6
%

20
17

14
,6

38
,9

93
   

   
   

(1
43

,9
31

)
   

   
   

   
14

,7
82

,9
24

   
   

   
14

,2
76

,2
30

   
   

   
96

.6
%

55
2,

06
4

   
   

   
   

  
14

,8
28

,2
94

   
   

   
10

0.
3%

20
18

14
,6

19
,6

78
$ 

   
   

(7
26

,7
67

)
   

   
   

   
15

,3
46

,4
45

   
   

   
14

,2
64

,0
62

$ 
   

   
92

.9
%

53
4,

52
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
14

,7
98

,5
82

$ 
   

   
96

.4
%

S
ou

rc
e:

  S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 C
ou

nt
y 

A
ud

it
or

's
 O

ff
ic

e 
 

   
T

ot
al

 C
ol

le
ct

io
n

s 
to

 D
at

e
C

ol
le

ct
ed

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
F

is
ca

l
Y

ea
r 

of
 t

h
e 

L
ev

y

149



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

R
A

T
IO

S
 O

F
 O

U
T

S
T

A
N

D
IN

G
 D

E
B

T
 B

Y
 T

Y
P

E

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l

Y
ea

r
G

en
er

al
G

en
er

al
T

ot
al

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

E
n

d
ed

O
b

li
ga

ti
on

O
th

er
C

ap
it

al
O

b
li

ga
ti

on
O

th
er

P
ro

m
is

so
ry

P
ri

m
ar

y
of

 P
er

so
n

al
P

er
 J

u
n

e 
30

B
on

d
s

B
on

d
s/

D
eb

t
L

ea
se

s
B

on
d

s
B

on
d

s
N

ot
es

G
ov

er
n

m
en

t
In

co
m

e
C

ap
it

a

20
09

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

29
,2

50
,0

00
   

   
 

57
3,

36
7

   
   

   
  

 
63

0,
00

0
   

   
   

  
 

3,
27

0,
00

0
   

   
   

20
,6

00
,0

00
   

   
 

54
,3

23
,3

67
$ 

   
  

7.
7%

1,
39

9
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
20

10
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
27

,4
25

,0
00

   
   

 
1,

26
5,

32
2

   
   

   
43

0,
00

0
   

   
   

  
 

2,
93

5,
00

0
   

   
   

20
,6

00
,0

00
   

   
 

52
,6

55
,3

22
   

   
  

7.
5%

1,
37

7
   

   
   

   
   

  
20

11
6,

99
5,

00
0

   
   

   
26

,5
60

,0
00

   
   

 
2,

00
9,

76
2

   
   

   
22

0,
00

0
   

   
   

  
 

2,
56

5,
00

0
   

   
   

20
,6

00
,0

00
   

   
 

58
,9

49
,7

62
   

   
  

8.
4%

1,
46

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
20

12
6,

73
0,

00
0

   
   

   
24

,2
46

,0
00

   
   

 
3,

66
3,

32
5

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

18
0,

00
0

   
   

   
20

,6
00

,0
00

   
   

 
57

,4
19

,3
25

   
   

  
6.

6%
1,

53
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

20
13

6,
46

0,
00

0
   

   
   

21
,8

04
,0

00
   

   
 

2,
85

6,
93

4
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
77

5,
00

0
   

   
   

20
,6

00
,0

00
   

   
 

53
,4

95
,9

34
   

   
  

5.
8%

1,
43

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
20

14
6,

18
0,

00
0

   
   

   
17

,6
48

,0
00

   
   

 
3,

63
1,

90
4

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

35
5,

00
0

   
   

   
20

,6
00

,0
00

   
   

 
49

,4
14

,9
04

   
   

  
5.

5%
1,

31
3

   
   

   
   

   
  

20
15

5,
89

0,
00

0
   

   
   

15
,0

92
,2

85
   

   
 

5,
28

6,
77

3
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

92
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

 
20

,6
00

,0
00

   
   

 
47

,7
89

,0
58

   
   

  
6.

0%
1,

27
4

   
   

   
   

   
  

20
16

5,
59

0,
00

0
   

   
   

22
,5

73
,6

19
   

   
 

5,
14

9,
28

1
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

47
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
33

,7
82

,9
00

   
   

  
4.

3%
90

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

20
17

5,
28

0,
00

0
   

   
   

20
,4

28
,8

14
   

   
 

5,
47

4,
15

4
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

31
,1

82
,9

68
   

   
  

3.
8%

82
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
20

18
5,

27
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
18

,1
37

,6
75

   
   

 
6,

45
2,

96
6

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
29

,8
65

,6
41

$ 
   

  
3.

5%
79

6
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
  

N
ot

es
: 

D
et

ai
ls

 r
eg

ar
di

ng
 th

e 
C

it
y'

s 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
de

bt
 c

an
 b

e 
fo

un
d 

in
 th

e 
no

te
s 

to
 th

e 
fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
.

S
ee

 th
e 

S
ch

ed
ul

e 
of

 D
em

og
ra

ph
ic

 a
nd

 E
co

no
m

ic
 S

ta
ti

st
ic

s 
fo

r 
pe

rs
on

al
 in

co
m

e 
an

d 
po

pu
la

ti
on

 d
at

a.

 G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l A

ct
iv

it
ie

s
 B

u
si

n
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

150



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

RATIOS OF GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING
 

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

UNAUDITED

Percentage of
Fiscal Less: Amounts Estimated
Year General Available in Actual Taxable

Ended Obligation Debt Service Value of Per
 June 30 Bonds Funds Total Property Capita

2009 630,000$                  N/A 630,000$                  0.0% 16$                           
2010 430,000                    N/A 430,000                    0.0% 11                             
2011 7,215,000                 N/A 7,215,000                 0.3% 179                           
2012 6,730,000                 N/A 6,730,000                 0.3% 180                           
2013 6,460,000                 N/A 6,460,000                 0.3% 173                           
2014 6,180,000                 N/A 6,180,000                 0.3% 164                           
2015 5,890,000                 N/A 5,890,000                 0.3% 157                           
2016 5,590,000                 N/A 5,590,000                 0.3% 148                           
2017 5,280,000                 N/A 5,280,000                 0.2% 139                           
2018 5,275,000$               N/A 5,275,000$               0.2% 139$                         

Notes: Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements. 
     The Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for Population and Per Capita Data

151



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT

AS OF JUNE 30, 2018

UNAUDITED

Governmental Estimated
Activities Estimated Share of

Debt Percentage Overlapping
Outstanding Applicable Debt

County:
General County Purpose 13,337,789$       20% 2,659,555$         

School District:
School District 7 178,318,245       58% 103,692,059       
School District 6 12,370,000         16% 1,987,859           

Sewer District:
Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer District 42,027,000$       23% 9,809,102           
(Area-City is 45% of Sewer District Area)

Subtotal, Overlapping Debt 118,148,575       

City of Spartanburg Direct Debt 29,865,641         

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 148,014,216$     

Sources:

Notes:

 
             
            

            
            

Overlapping rates are those of county and local governments that apply to property owners within the City of Spartanburg.
Not all overlapping rates apply to all of the City of Spartanburg's property owners (i.e., the rates for fire/special purpose
districts apply only to the proportion of the City of Spartanburg's property owners whose property is located within the
geographic boundaries of the fire/special purpose district).

Governmental Unit

Assessed value data used to estimate applicable percentages and amount of debt outstanding provided by the applicable
government.

The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages
were estimated by determining the portion of the City of Spartanburg's taxable assessed value that is within the
government's boundaries and dividing it by the government's total taxable assessed value.

152



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

L
E

G
A

L
 D

E
B

T
 M

A
R

G
IN

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

D
eb

t L
im

it
11

,5
02

,0
78

$ 
 

11
,5

77
,9

32
   

 
11

,2
62

,9
14

   
 

11
,1

74
,9

57
   

 
11

,1
54

,2
83

   
 

11
,5

22
,9

23
   

 
11

,6
68

,2
70

   
 

11
,8

52
,6

14
   

   
   

11
,6

23
,9

59
   

   
   

12
,0

53
,3

08
$ 

   
   

  

T
ot

al
 N

et
 D

eb
t A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
to

 D
eb

t L
im

it
63

0,
00

0
   

   
   

43
0,

00
0

   
   

   
7,

21
5,

00
0

   
   

6,
73

0,
00

0
   

   
6,

46
0,

00
0

   
   

6,
18

0,
00

0
   

   
5,

89
0,

00
0

   
   

5,
59

0,
00

0
   

   
   

  
5,

28
0,

00
0

   
   

   
  

5,
27

5,
00

0
   

   
   

   
 

L
eg

al
 D

eb
t M

ar
gi

n
10

,8
72

,0
78

$ 
 

11
,1

47
,9

32
   

 
4,

04
7,

91
4

   
   

4,
44

4,
95

7
   

   
4,

69
4,

28
3

   
   

5,
34

2,
92

3
   

   
5,

77
8,

27
0

   
   

6,
26

2,
61

4
   

   
   

  
6,

34
3,

95
9

   
   

   
  

6,
77

8,
30

8
$ 

   
   

   
 

T
ot

al
 N

et
 D

eb
t A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
to

 D
eb

t
   

L
im

it
 a

s 
a 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 D

eb
t L

im
it

5.
5%

3.
7%

64
.1

%
60

.2
%

57
.9

%
53

.6
%

50
.5

%
47

.2
%

45
.4

%
43

.8
%

L
eg

al
 D

eb
t 

M
ar

gi
n

 C
al

cu
la

ti
on

 f
or

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
18

A
ss

es
se

d 
V

al
ue

*
14

6,
15

6,
61

6
$ 

   
   

P
lu

s:
 M

er
ch

an
t's

 I
nv

en
to

ry
4,

50
9,

74
0

   
   

   
   

 

T
ot

al
 A

ss
es

se
d 

V
al

ue
15

0,
66

6,
35

6
   

   
   

D
eb

t L
im

it
 (

8%
 o

f 
T

ot
al

 A
ss

es
se

d 
V

al
ue

)
12

,0
53

,3
08

   
   

   
  

A
m

ou
nt

 o
f 

D
eb

t A
pp

li
ca

bl
e 

to
 D

eb
t L

im
it

:
T

ot
al

 B
on

de
d 

D
eb

t
5,

27
5,

00
0

   
   

   
   

 

T
ot

al
 A

m
ou

nt
 o

f 
D

eb
t A

pp
li

ca
bl

e 
to

 D
eb

t L
im

it
5,

27
5,

00
0

   
   

   
   

 

L
eg

al
 D

eb
t M

ar
gi

n
6,

77
8,

30
8

$ 
   

   
   

 

S
ou

rc
e:

 
* 

S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 C
ou

nt
y 

A
ud

it
or

's
 O

ff
ic

e

N
ot

e:
T

it
le

5,
C

ha
pt

er
21

,
A

rt
ic

le
I

of
th

e
C

od
e

of
L

aw
s

of
th

e
S

ta
te

of
S

ou
th

C
ar

ol
in

a,
19

76
st

at
es

th
at

th
e

co
ns

ti
tu

ti
on

al
de

bt
li

m
it

of
a

m
un

ic
ip

al
it

y
m

ay
no

t
ex

ce
ed

8%
of

th
e

lo
ca

li
ty

's
 a

ss
es

se
d 

va
lu

at
io

n.
  D

eb
t i

n 
ex

ce
ss

 o
f 

th
e 

li
m

it
 m

us
t b

e 
au

th
or

iz
ed

 b
y 

a 
m

aj
or

it
y 

of
 q

ua
li

fi
ed

 e
le

ct
or

s.

153



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

P
L

E
D

G
E

D
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 C
O

V
E

R
A

G
E

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l

Y
ea

r
T

ax
 

L
es

s:
N

et
L

es
s:

N
et

E
n

d
ed

H
os

p
it

al
it

y
In

cr
em

en
t 

O
p

er
at

in
g

A
va

il
ab

le
O

p
er

at
in

g
A

va
il

ab
le

 J
u

n
e 

30
T

ax
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
In

te
re

st
C

ov
er

ag
e

F
u

n
d

s
E

xp
en

se
s

R
ev

en
u

e
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
In

te
re

st
C

ov
er

ag
e

R
ev

en
u

e
E

xp
en

se
s

R
ev

en
u

e
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
In

te
re

st
C

ov
er

ag
e

20
09

3,
37

5,
86

3
$ 

 
62

0,
00

0
   

  
60

5,
05

9
$ 

  
2.

76
   

   
   

 
2,

26
0,

47
6

$ 
 

N
/A

2,
26

0,
47

6
$ 

 
1,

07
0,

00
0

  
69

3,
78

5
$ 

  
1.

28
   

   
   

 
79

7,
61

8
$ 

   
 

43
3,

99
1

   
   

 
36

3,
62

7
   

   
 

36
5,

00
0

   
  

38
1,

40
7

$ 
  

0.
49

   
   

   
  

 
20

10
3,

28
7,

82
8

   
 

64
0,

00
0

   
  

58
1,

44
9

   
  

2.
69

   
   

   
 

2,
43

0,
65

7
   

 
N

/A
2,

43
0,

65
7

   
 

1,
12

0,
00

0
  

64
0,

08
6

   
  

1.
38

   
   

   
 

85
2,

41
8

   
   

 
39

5,
95

1
   

   
 

45
6,

46
7

   
   

 
47

0,
00

0
   

  
33

5,
21

2
   

  
0.

57
   

   
   

  
 

20
11

3,
38

9,
12

2
   

 
66

5,
00

0
   

  
55

5,
96

9
   

  
2.

78
   

   
   

 
2,

60
2,

28
0

   
 

N
/A

2,
60

2,
28

0
   

 
1,

34
4,

00
0

  
53

5,
50

3
   

  
1.

38
   

   
   

 
86

4,
71

8
   

   
 

38
7,

15
5

   
   

 
47

7,
56

3
   

   
 

53
5,

00
0

   
  

31
5,

23
7

   
  

0.
56

   
   

   
  

 
20

12
3,

67
3,

71
6

   
 

78
5,

00
0

   
  

82
7,

60
8

   
  

2.
28

   
   

   
 

2,
55

4,
10

1
   

 
N

/A
2,

55
4,

10
1

   
 

1,
52

9,
00

0
  

79
0,

98
3

   
  

1.
10

   
   

   
 

91
2,

79
2

   
   

 
34

8,
54

0
   

   
 

56
4,

25
2

   
   

 
57

0,
00

0
   

  
29

2,
39

4
   

  
0.

65
   

   
   

  
 

20
13

3,
80

0,
01

9
   

 
81

0,
00

0
   

  
62

5,
08

5
   

  
2.

65
   

   
   

 
2,

43
5,

36
5

   
 

N
/A

2,
43

5,
36

5
   

 
1,

63
2,

00
0

  
29

0,
00

8
   

  
1.

27
   

   
   

 
92

8,
75

5
   

   
 

36
6,

59
9

   
   

 
56

2,
15

6
   

   
 

66
0,

00
0

   
  

26
6,

45
3

   
  

0.
61

   
   

   
  

 
20

14
3,

94
2,

86
7

   
 

83
5,

00
0

   
  

33
6,

75
5

   
  

3.
36

   
   

   
 

2,
49

2,
95

1
   

 
N

/A
2,

49
2,

95
1

   
 

1,
42

1,
00

0
  

25
2,

76
2

   
  

1.
49

   
   

   
 

3,
81

3,
16

9
   

 
32

4,
90

3
   

   
 

3,
48

8,
26

6
   

 
3,

45
0,

00
0

  
31

7,
25

0
   

  
0.

93
   

   
   

  
 

20
15

4,
21

6,
19

3
   

 
91

0,
00

0
   

  
22

1,
50

0
   

  
3.

73
   

   
   

 
2,

54
0,

90
1

   
 

N
/A

2,
54

0,
90

1
   

 
1,

45
8,

00
0

  
21

4,
27

6
   

  
1.

52
   

   
   

 
42

8,
53

6
   

   
 

32
8,

52
5

   
   

 
10

0,
01

1
   

   
 

43
5,

00
0

   
  

53
,1

16
   

   
 

0.
20

   
   

   
  

 
20

16
4,

55
2,

71
4

   
 

1,
77

5,
00

0
  

21
7,

51
7

   
  

2.
28

   
   

   
 

2,
43

7,
62

7
   

 
N

/A
2,

43
7,

62
7

   
 

46
5,

00
0

   
  

17
4,

79
8

   
  

3.
81

   
   

   
 

44
2,

49
5

   
   

 
28

9,
36

6
   

   
 

15
3,

12
9

   
   

 
45

0,
00

0
   

  
36

,0
64

   
   

 
0.

32
   

   
   

  
 

20
17

*
4,

78
0,

33
8

   
 

1,
56

0,
00

0
  

41
0,

18
7

   
  

2.
43

   
   

   
 

2,
30

8,
35

3
   

 
N

/A
2,

30
8,

35
3

   
 

38
5,

00
0

   
  

15
9,

73
2

   
  

4.
24

   
   

   
 

44
5,

77
2

   
   

 
26

9,
03

6
   

   
 

17
6,

73
6

   
   

 
47

0,
00

0
   

  
18

,4
24

   
   

 
0.

36
   

   
   

  
 

20
18

5,
04

1,
50

1
$ 

 
1,

56
0,

00
0

  
41

0,
11

2
$ 

  
2.

56
   

   
   

 
2,

48
8,

64
5

$ 
 

N
/A

2,
48

8,
64

5
$ 

 
52

5,
00

0
   

  
10

2,
09

1
$ 

  
3.

97
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

 
-

$ 
   

   
  

 
-

   
   

   
   

 

N
ot

es
:  

D
et

ai
ls

 r
eg

ar
di

ng
 th

e 
C

it
y 

of
 S

pa
rt

an
bu

rg
's

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

 d
eb

t c
an

 b
e 

fo
un

d 
in

 th
e 

no
te

s 
to

 th
e 

fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

.
O

pe
ra

ti
ng

 e
xp

en
se

s 
do

 n
ot

 in
cl

ud
e 

in
te

re
st

 o
r 

de
pr

ec
ia

ti
on

.
T

he
 C

it
y 

pa
id

 o
ff

 th
e 

20
05

 C
O

P
S

 d
ur

in
g 

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

20
16

.

*
D

ur
in

g 
fi

sc
al

 y
ea

r 
20

17
 th

e 
C

it
y 

re
fi

na
nc

ed
 2

01
0 

S
er

ie
s 

R
ef

un
di

ng
. S

ee
 n

ot
es

 f
or

 f
ur

th
er

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n.

 T
he

 C
it

y 
"n

et
te

d"
 th

e 
B

on
d 

P
ri

nc
ip

al
 A

m
ou

nt
 f

or
 th

is
 s

ch
ed

ul
e.

R
ev

en
u

e 
B

on
d

s

D
eb

t 
S

er
vi

ce

**
C

O
P

/S
p

ec
ia

l O
b

li
ga

io
n

 B
on

d
s

D
eb

t 
S

er
vi

ce

T
ax

 I
n

cr
em

en
t 

B
on

d
s D
eb

t 
S

er
vi

ce

154



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2000 BONDS

FRANCHISE FEES AND COMMISSION OF PUBLIC WORKS PAYMENTS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

UNAUDITED

Fiscal Year Franchise Fees CPW Payments Totals

2009 3,065,687$  1,400,000 4,465,687$  
2010 3,246,839 1,400,000 4,646,839 
2011 3,233,407 1,400,000 4,633,407 
2012 3,113,574 1,400,000 4,513,574 
2013 3,294,163 1,400,000 4,694,163 
2014 3,507,611 1,200,000 4,707,611 
2015 3,553,294 1,100,000 4,653,294 
2016 3,466,527 1,000,000 4,466,527 
2017 3,448,870 1,000,000 4,448,870 
2018 3,535,159$  1,000,000 4,535,159$  

155



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

MILLAGE RATE FOR THE BROAD STREET DEVELOPMENT AREA

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

UNAUDITED

Fiscal
Year 

Total Initial 
Equalized
Assessed
 Value

Total 
Equalized

Assessed Value

Excess of Total 
Equalized

Assessed Value 
over Initial
Equalized 

Assessed Value
Total Millage

Rate
Incremental

Tax Revenues

(1)       
Franchise Fees

Received

Total 
Incremental

Tax Revenues
and 

Franchise Fees

2008 1,176,998$       5,218,550         4,041,552$       412                   1,612,342$       4,098,501         5,710,843$       
2009 1,176,998         5,535,105         4,358,107         404                   1,789,284         4,465,687         6,254,971         
2010 1,176,998         6,229,395         5,052,397         452                   1,910,208         4,646,839         6,557,047         
2011 1,176,998         6,275,401         5,098,403         458                   2,069,661         4,633,407         6,703,068         
2012 1,176,998         5,991,511         4,814,513         454                   1,997,358         4,513,574         6,510,932         
2013 1,176,998         6,200,362         5,023,364         460                   1,861,796         4,694,163         6,555,959         
2014 1,176,998         5,127,616         3,950,618         464                   2,154,914         4,707,611         6,862,525         
2015 1,176,998         5,126,345         3,949,347         474                   2,085,308         4,653,294         6,738,602         
2016 1,176,998         5,025,906         3,848,908         474                   2,081,523         4,466,527         6,548,050         
2017 1,176,988         5,303,644         4,126,656         485                   1,970,075         4,448,870         6,418,945         
2018 1,176,988$       4,805,229         3,628,241$       485                   2,063,142$       4,535,159         6,598,301$       

(1) Franchise fees received equals the amount of total franchise fees and Commission of Public Works payments received for each 
respective year.

156



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

MILLAGE RATE FOR THE ST. JOHN-DANIEL MORGAN REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

UNAUDITED

Fiscal
Year 

Total Initial 
Equalized
Assessed
 Value

Total 
Equalized
Assessed 

Value

Excess of 
Total 

Equalized
Assessed 

Value over 
Initial

Equalized 
Assessed 

Value
Total Millage

Rate
Incremental

Tax Revenues

Franchise 
Fees

Received

Total 
Incremental

Tax Revenues
and 

Franchise 
Fees

2009 657,060$       1,686,429      1,029,369$    404 270,019$       4,465,687      4,735,706$    
2010 657,060         1,737,267      1,080,207      452 320,448         4,646,839      4,967,287      
2011 657,060         1,710,035      1,052,975      458 331,813         4,646,839      4,978,652      
2012 657,060         1,525,552      868,492         454 339,775         4,513,574      4,853,349      
2013 657,060         1,667,079      1,010,019      460 389,284         4,694,163      5,083,447      
2014 657,060         1,649,621      992,561         464 338,037         4,707,611      5,045,648      
2015 657,060         1,564,658      907,598         474 455,593         4,653,293      5,108,886      
2016 657,060         1,503,144      846,084         474 356,104         4,466,527      4,822,631      
2017 657,060         1,542,543      885,483         485 338,278         4,448,870      4,787,148      
2018 657,060$       1,729,090      1,072,030$    485 397,031$       4,535,159      4,932,190$    

Notes:  This schedule reports data from the first year collections above the total equalized assessed value.
* 2008 includes two years of tax collections.

157



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
 
UNAUDITED

Fiscal (2)
Year (2) Per Capita (3) (4) (5)

Ended (1) Personal Personal Median School Unemployment
 June 30 Population Income Income Age Enrollment Rate

2008 38,843                704,456,648$     18,136$              34.7                    7,482                  8.0%
2009 38,248                874,234,536       22,857                33.7                    7,290                  10.0%
2010 40,387                923,125,659       22,857                33.7                    7,367                  11.5%
2011 40,387                894,289,341       22,143                35.0                    7,736                  11.7%
2012 37,334                792,974,160       21,240                35.5                    8,071                  10.4%
2013 37,401                796,790,904       21,304                35.5                    8,293                  7.7%
2014 37,647                781,589,367       20,761                34.7                    8,072                  6.3%
2015 37,525                755,866,075       20,143                36.5                    8,218                  6.9%
2016 37,867                789,829,886       20,858                35.7                    8,223                  5.7%
2017 37,876                827,666,352       21,852                35.3                    7,969                  4.2%
2018 37,498                822,331,140$     21,930$              35.4                    8,234                  3.5%

Data Sources:
(1) U. S. Census Bureau
(2) U. S. Census Bureau; 2009 figures in 2008 inflation-adjusted dollars, as estimated by the U. S. Census Bureau
(3) U. S. Census Bureau
(4) Spartanburg County School Districts 6 and 7
(5) SC Department of Employment and Workforce; figures for Spartanburg County.

158



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

UNAUDITED

Percentage of Percentage of
Number of Total City Number of Total City

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Spartanburg Regional 7,811               1 20.11% 5,544               1 14.49%
Spartanburg County 1,570               2 4.04% 1,400               2 3.66%
Spartanburg School District #7 1,286               3 3.43% 1,259               3 3.29%
Walmart 749                  4 2.00% 754                  4 1.97%
American Credit Acceptance 592                  5 1.58%
QS1 Headquarters 552                  6 1.47% 300                  9 0.78%
Advance America, Inc. 518                  7 1.38% 396                  8 1.04%
Wofford College 500                  8 1.33% 325                  7 0.85%
City of Spartanburg* 410                  9 1.09% 506                  5 1.32%
Denny's Corporate Office 309                  10 0.82% 400                  6 1.05%
Converse College 205                  10 0.54%

 
Totals 14,297             37.26% 11,089             29%

Notes: * Includes part-time City employees. See the "Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function" table for the
number of full-time City employees.

Source:  City of Spartanburg Economic Development Division.

20092018*

159



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

PROPERTY VALUE AND CONSTRUCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

UNAUDITED

Fiscal
Year

Number
of Units

Commercial 
Building Permit 

Value (A)
Number
of Units

Residential 
Building Permit 

Value (A) Commercial Residential

2009 41 29,344,493$       37 5,625,034$        1,266,018,124   940,342,638$      
2010 12 32,652,274         35 6,845,804          1,203,400,528   951,733,627        
2011 15 34,706,366         12 1,873,368          939,998,881      952,250,970        
2012 10 28,166,597         24 3,983,669          955,152,480      964,438,905        
2013 4 10,089,723         17 2,860,415          976,806,157      963,582,846        
2014 8 8,173,029           22 4,101,418          970,853,186      978,736,467        
2015 12 6,749,544           19 2,539,928          978,602,988      966,613,994        
2016 18 132,213,281       24 4,568,776          953,322,989      969,678,243        
2017 18 25,422,584         62 9,638,567          1,011,254,028   1,075,833,644     
2018 16 28,351,094$       120 12,742,091$      943,321,763      1,007,252,889$   

Sources:  City Inspections Department
   Spartanburg County Assessor's Office

Note A:   Fifteen percent has been added to these figures due to subcontractors paying on their own work.

160



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

F
U

L
L

-T
IM

E
 E

Q
U

IV
A

L
E

N
T

 C
IT

Y
 G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T
 E

M
P

L
O

Y
E

E
S

 B
Y

 F
U

N
C

T
IO

N

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

F
in

an
ce

 a
nd

 A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

S
er

vi
ce

s
12

   
   

   
   

  
14

   
   

   
   

  
14

   
   

   
   

   
14

   
   

   
   

  
13

13
13

13
14

15
C

om
m

un
it

y 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

41
   

   
   

   
  

22
   

   
   

   
  

25
   

   
   

   
   

30
   

   
   

   
  

29
29

31
28

32
31

P
ar

ks
, R

ec
re

at
io

n,
 a

nd
 S

pe
ci

al
 E

ve
nt

s
23

   
   

   
   

  
17

   
   

   
   

  
17

   
   

   
   

   
14

   
   

   
   

  
15

15
13

15
16

17
P

ol
ic

y 
F

or
m

ul
at

io
n 

an
d 

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n

40
   

   
   

   
  

40
   

   
   

   
  

35
   

   
   

   
   

35
   

   
   

   
  

33
32

32
34

32
31

P
ub

li
c 

S
af

et
y

21
5

   
   

   
   

22
1

   
   

   
   

22
0

   
   

   
   

 
21

8
   

   
   

   
21

2
21

2
21

8
22

6
21

1
24

5
P

ub
li

c 
W

or
ks

10
7

   
   

   
   

10
0

   
   

   
   

10
2

   
   

   
   

 
81

   
   

   
   

  
70

73
73

69
69

78

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

P
ar

ki
ng

 E
nt

er
pr

is
e

2 
2 

3 
3 

2
2

1
1

1
1

A
ir

po
rt

9 
8 

10
   

   
   

   
   

10
   

   
   

   
  

8
9

9
7

7
6

T
ot

al
44

9
   

   
   

   
42

4
   

   
   

   
42

6
   

   
   

   
 

40
5

   
   

   
   

38
2

   
   

   
   

38
5

39
0

   
   

   
   

39
3

   
   

   
   

38
2

   
   

   
   

42
4

   
   

   
   

S
ou

rc
e:

C
it

y 
P

ay
ro

ll

N
ot

es
:

T
he

 C
it

y'
s 

tr
an

si
t f

un
ct

io
n 

is
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
it

h 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 o
ut

si
de

 c
on

tr
ac

t p
er

so
nn

el
.

S
ch

ed
ul

e 
do

es
 n

ot
 in

cl
ud

e 
pa

rt
-t

im
e 

an
d 

se
as

on
al

 w
or

ke
rs

 w
hi

ch
 a

re
 p

ri
m

ar
il

y 
em

pl
oy

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
P

ar
tk

s,
 R

ec
re

at
io

n,
 a

nd
 S

pe
ci

al
 E

ve
nt

s 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t.
E

ff
ec

ti
ve

 J
an

ua
ry

 1
, 2

00
8,

 s
ew

er
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
w

er
e 

tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

to
 P

ub
li

c 
W

or
ks

 d
ue

 to
 th

e 
C

it
y'

s 
tr

an
sf

er
ra

l o
f 

th
e 

se
w

er
 to

 S
pa

rt
an

bu
rg

 S
ew

er
 D

is
tr

ic
t.

F
u

n
ct

io
n

161



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
 B

Y
 F

U
N

C
T

IO
N

/P
R

O
G

R
A

M

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

F
in

an
ce

 a
nd

 A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

S
er

vi
ce

s
B

us
in

es
s 

L
ic

en
se

s 
Is

su
ed

5,
33

0
   

   
   

   
  

 
5,

56
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
76

3
   

   
   

   
  

 
5,

38
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
10

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
4,

95
0

   
   

   
   

  
 

4,
97

5
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

59
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
94

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

67
4

   
   

   
   

  
 

C
ou

rt
es

y 
S

um
m

on
s 

Is
su

ed
82

4
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

61
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
58

9
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

63
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
54

2
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

47
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
48

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

35
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
50

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

44
6

   
   

   
   

   
  

 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
B

ui
ld

in
g 

P
er

m
it

s 
Is

su
ed

2,
92

9
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

02
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
33

4
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

11
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
86

2
   

   
   

   
  

 
2,

69
1

   
   

   
   

  
 

2,
86

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

52
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
86

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
4,

72
7

   
   

   
   

  
 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
In

sp
ec

ti
on

s 
C

on
du

ct
ed

5,
84

6
   

   
   

   
  

 
5,

04
2

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
50

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
4,

73
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
26

6
   

   
   

   
  

 
4,

07
3

   
   

   
   

  
 

3,
64

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

72
3

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
45

7
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

86
8

   
   

   
   

  
 

P
ol

ic
y 

F
or

m
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
   

 J
ud

ic
ia

l C
as

es
13

,8
22

   
   

   
   

 
15

,3
19

   
   

   
   

  
16

,4
62

   
   

   
   

 
14

,2
07

   
   

   
   

  
12

,1
76

   
   

   
   

 
10

,7
76

   
   

   
   

 
13

,0
31

   
   

   
   

  
10

,6
36

   
   

   
   

  
7,

60
3

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
21

2
   

   
   

   
  

 

P
ol

ic
e 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

   
 C

al
ls

 f
or

 S
er

vi
ce

62
,4

70
   

   
   

   
 

75
,3

13
   

   
   

   
  

75
,4

80
   

   
   

   
 

76
,4

90
   

   
   

   
  

77
,9

03
   

   
   

   
 

74
,8

67
   

   
   

   
 

81
,4

99
   

   
   

   
  

80
,0

11
   

   
   

   
  

77
,2

69
   

   
   

   
  

64
,4

61
   

   
   

   
  

   
 P

hy
si

ca
l A

rr
es

ts
3,

75
7

   
   

   
   

  
 

4,
07

3
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

42
0

   
   

   
   

  
 

6,
36

5
   

   
   

   
   

 
5,

89
4

   
   

   
   

  
 

5,
36

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

87
4

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
18

5
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

61
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
57

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
   

 T
ra

ff
ic

 V
io

la
ti

on
s

11
,5

97
   

   
   

   
 

11
,7

93
   

   
   

   
  

13
,2

26
   

   
   

   
 

11
,0

61
   

   
   

   
  

10
,6

13
   

   
   

   
 

8,
27

6
   

   
   

   
  

 
11

,2
64

   
   

   
   

  
8,

92
0

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
50

9
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

83
0

   
   

   
   

  
 

F
ir

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
E

m
er

ge
nc

y 
R

es
po

ns
es

2,
22

8
   

   
   

   
  

 
2,

12
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
25

4
   

   
   

   
  

 
2,

05
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
11

3
   

   
   

   
  

 
2,

22
0

   
   

   
   

  
 

2,
26

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

50
8

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
56

9
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

21
4

   
   

   
   

  
 

F
ir

es
 E

xt
in

gu
is

he
d

34
7

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
27

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

31
5

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
29

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

27
3

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
15

6
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

15
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
19

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

18
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
19

8
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

In
sp

ec
ti

on
s

3,
08

5
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

46
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
48

2
   

   
   

   
  

 
2,

92
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

93
4

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
1,

51
0

   
   

   
   

  
 

1,
52

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

90
0

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
02

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

87
3

   
   

   
   

  
 

P
ub

li
c 

W
or

ks
R

oa
ds

 M
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

(m
il

es
)

17
3

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
17

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

17
7

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
18

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

18
7

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
18

7
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

18
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
18

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

18
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
18

7
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

R
ef

us
e 

C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

(t
on

s)
10

,5
81

   
   

   
   

 
9,

29
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

9,
33

9
   

   
   

   
  

 
8,

59
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

9,
31

9
   

   
   

   
  

 
9,

31
9

   
   

   
   

  
 

9,
61

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

,3
09

   
   

   
   

  
10

,6
40

   
   

   
   

  
11

,0
53

   
   

   
   

  
Y

ar
d 

W
as

te
 C

ol
le

ct
io

n 
(t

on
s)

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
79

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
7,

15
2

   
   

   
   

  
 

9,
16

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

68
4

   
   

   
   

  
 

7,
91

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
6,

58
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

7,
03

4
   

   
   

   
   

 
4,

72
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
32

8
   

   
   

   
  

 

R
ec

yc
li

ng
 C

ol
le

ct
io

n 
(t

on
s)

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

83
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
92

5
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

80
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

04
8

   
   

   
   

  
 

1,
22

2
   

   
   

   
  

 
1,

21
5

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
20

5
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

44
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
19

6
   

   
   

   
  

 

T
ra

ns
it

P
as

se
ng

er
s 

pe
r 

Y
ea

r
53

4,
59

9
   

   
   

  
51

9,
08

4
   

   
   

  
 

51
3,

88
6

   
   

   
  

52
4,

18
7

   
   

   
  

 
52

0,
14

3
   

   
   

  
48

7,
57

9
   

   
   

  
45

7,
75

8
   

   
   

  
 

43
2,

16
8

   
   

   
  

 
39

7,
54

6
   

   
   

  
 

39
0,

36
4

   
   

   
  

 

P
ar

ki
ng

G
ar

ag
es

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
 P

ar
ki

ng
 L

ot
s

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
 T

ot
al

 P
ub

li
c 

S
pa

ce
s

2,
26

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

01
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
01

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

01
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
01

1
   

   
   

   
  

 
3,

01
1

   
   

   
   

  
 

3,
01

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

01
1

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
01

1
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

04
4

   
   

   
   

  
 

A
ir

po
rt

   
 F

ue
l G

al
lo

ns
 S

ol
d

16
2,

36
0

   
   

   
  

19
3,

79
6

   
   

   
  

 
15

4,
40

7
   

   
   

  
16

8,
93

1
   

   
   

  
 

26
0,

33
5

   
   

   
  

14
8,

56
1

   
   

   
  

21
1,

58
9

   
   

   
  

 
25

1,
86

2
   

   
   

  
 

29
3,

03
4

   
   

   
  

 
29

7,
99

0
   

   
   

  
 

   
 H

ou
rs

 o
f 

A
ir

cr
af

t M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

89
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
1,

37
0

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
22

9
   

   
   

   
  

 
1,

03
3

   
   

   
   

   
 

59
3

   
   

   
   

   
  

 
14

3
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

*
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

S
ou

rc
e:

 
T

he
se

 s
ta

ti
st

ic
s 

ca
m

e 
fr

om
 v

ar
io

us
 C

it
y 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

.

N
ot

es
:

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 a
re

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 f

or
 a

ll
 p

er
io

ds
 th

at
 w

er
e 

re
ad

il
y 

av
ai

la
bl

e.
B

us
in

es
s 

L
ic

en
se

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

is
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

ca
le

nd
ar

 y
ea

r.
* 

F
or

 F
Y

 1
4/

15
 -

 A
ir

po
rt

 h
as

 s
ub

-c
on

tr
ac

te
d 

ou
t t

he
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 s

ho
p

F
u

n
ct

io
n

/P
ro

gr
am

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

162



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

P
A

R
T

A
N

B
U

R
G

, S
O

U
T

H
 C

A
R

O
L

IN
A

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 A
S

S
E

T
 S

T
A

T
IS

T
IC

S
 B

Y
 F

U
N

C
T

IO
N

L
A

S
T

 T
E

N
 F

IS
C

A
L

 Y
E

A
R

S

U
N

A
U

D
IT

E
D

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

C
om

m
un

it
y 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
   

   
 T

ra
ff

ic
 S

ig
na

ls
12

3
12

3
12

3
 

15
6

 
13

0
 

13
2

13
3

13
3

13
3

13
2

P
ub

li
c 

S
af

et
y 

- 
P

ol
ic

e
P

ol
ic

e 
S

ta
ti

on
s

1 
1

1 
1 

1 
1

1
1

1
1

P
at

ro
l U

ni
ts

80 
80

80 
80 

80 
74

12
2

66
54

10
8

P
ub

li
c 

S
af

et
y 

- 
F

ir
e

F
ir

e 
S

ta
ti

on
5 

5
5 

5 
5 

5
5

5
5

5
F

ir
e 

T
ru

ck
s

12 
13

13 
11 

10 
10

10
10

10
11

P
ub

li
c 

W
or

ks
   

S
tr

ee
ts

 (
in

 M
il

es
)

17
3

 
17

4
17

7
 

18
1

 
18

7
 

18
7

18
7

18
7

18
7

18
7

   
C

ol
le

ct
io

n/
R

ef
us

e 
T

ru
ck

s
34 

30
30 

23 
28 

28
24

14
11

25

P
ar

ks
 a

nd
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
   

P
ar

ks
 A

cr
ea

ge
27

8
 

27
8

 
30

1
 

30
1

 
30

1
 

30
1

30
1

30
1

30
1

31
6

   
P

ar
ks

  
21 

21 
24 

24 
24 

24
24

24
24

26
   

B
al

l f
ie

ld
s

10 
10 

9 
9 

9 
9

9
9

9
9

   
S

w
im

m
in

g 
P

oo
ls

2 
2 

2 
2 

2 
1

1
1

1
1

   
C

om
m

un
it

y 
C

en
te

rs
4 

4 
4 

2 
2 

2
2

3
3

3

S
ol

id
 W

as
te

C
ol

le
ct

io
n/

R
ef

us
e 

T
ru

ck
s

34 
30

30 
23 

28
28

24
14

11
11

T
ra

ns
it

   
P

as
se

ng
er

 B
us

es
11 

11
10 

11 
11 

12 
12 

12
11

11

P
ar

ki
ng

   
   

 G
ar

ag
es

3 
4

4 
4 

4 
4 

4
4

4
4

A
ir

po
rt

   
   

 C
om

m
un

it
y 

H
an

ga
rs

4 
4

4  
4 

4
4

4
3

3
3

   
   

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 H
an

ga
rs

1 
1

1 
1 

1
1

1
1

1
1

T
-H

an
ga

rs
30

30
46 

46 
35

46
46

46
46

46

S
ou

rc
es

:
V

ar
io

us
 C

it
y 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ts

.

N
ot

es
:

C
ap

it
al

 a
ss

et
 s

ta
ti

st
ic

s 
ar

e 
pr

es
en

te
d 

fo
r 

al
l p

er
io

ds
 th

at
 w

er
e 

re
ad

il
y 

av
ai

la
bl

e.

F
u

n
ct

io
n

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r

163



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF STATE APPROPRIATIONS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

UNAUDITED

Fiscal
Year

Local Government
 Fund

Merchants
 Inventory

Accommodations
 Tax

Manufacturing
Tax Total

2010 1,091,766$             694,796 29,406 5,946 1,821,914$             
2011 881,044 694,796 30,011 6,046 1,611,897               
2012 688,658 694,796 30,207 6,268 1,419,929               
2013 690,974 694,796 29,946 5,763 1,421,479               
2014 815,000 694,796 31,643 5,763 1,547,202               
2015 911,127 694,796 34,235 5,763 1,645,921               
2016 911,127 694,796 34,289 5,763 1,645,975               
2017 838,339 694,796 35,325 6,380 1,574,840               
2018 836,016 694,796 38,289 6,337 1,575,438               
2019 836,020$                694,796 40,730 6,829 1,578,375$             

Note:  This schedule is a part of our Continuing Disclosure for the Outstanding General Obligation Debt
Total anticipated state appropriations subject to withholding under Atricle X, Sec 14, South Carolina
Constitution for current fiscal year

164



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

CFDA Grant / Contract Expenditures to
Program Number Number Expenditures Subrecipients

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING / URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Direct:
CDBG Entitlement Grant, 40th 14.218 B-14-MC-45-0001 5,396$ 5,396$
CDBG Entitlement Grant, 41st 14.218 B-15-MC-45-0001 29,134 28,189
CDBG Entitlement Grant, 42nd 14.218 B-16-MC-45-0001 148,289 10,440
CDBG Entitlement Grant, 43rd 14.218 B-17-MC-45-0001 224,230 29,809

Subtotal 14.218 407,049 73,834

Home Program Year 2012 14.239 M-12-45-0207 22,194 1,845
Home Program Year 2017 14.239 M-17-45-0207 15,531 -

Subtotal 14.239 37,725 1,845

TOTAL DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING / URBAN DEVELOPMENT 444,774 75,679

DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY

Pass Through City of Anderson
Upstate Regional Type III Incident Management 97.067 9SHP13 578 -

TOTAL DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY 578 -

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Direct:
Cops 2014 Cops Hiring Program 16.710 2014-UM-WX-0139 75,427 -
Cops 2016 Cops Hiring Program 16.710 2016-UM-WX-0087 66,668 -
Cops 2017 Cops Hiring Program 16.710 2017-UM-WX-0016 273 -

Subtotal 16.710 142,368 -

Justice Assistance Grant - Body Worn Cameras Project 16.738 2015-DE-BS-K012 37,775 -

Subtotal 16.738 37,775 -

Victim Assistance Brochures 16.575 1V14152 878
Victims of Crime 16.575 2017 1V17044 52,163

Subtotal 16.575 53,041 -

Grants to Encourage Arrest Policies 16.590 2014-WE-AX-0037 40,958 33,027
Reduce Sexual Assault 16.590 2017-WE-AX-0022 58,066 44,561

Subtotal 16.590 99,024 77,588

Bulletproof Vest Partnership 16.607 N/A 30,880 -

Law Enforcement Victim Advocate 16.922 IV6043 13,389 -

Pass Through SC Department of Public Safety:

Paul Coverdell Forensic Science 16.742 1NF10007 2,162 -

Reduced Crime for Status Offenders 16.540 IJ12006 9,400 -
Reduced Crime for Status Offenders 16.540 IJ12007 6,921 -

Subtotal 16.540 16,321 -

Youth Empowerment 16.523 1JS12007 68 -

TOTAL DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 395,028$ 77,588$

(Continued)

165



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

CFDA Grant / Contract Expenditures to
Program Number Number Expenditures Subrecipients

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Direct:
Federal Aviation Administration:

Airport Improvement Program (AIP) 20.106 3-45-0051-19 1,162,348$                    -$                               
Airport Improvement Program (AIP) 20.106 3-45-0051-20 4,077,755                      -                                 
Airport Improvement Program (AIP) 20.106 3-45-0051-22 484,988                         -                                 
Airport Improvement Program (AIP) 20.106 3-45-0051-23 281,010                         -                                 

Subtotal 20.106 6,006,101                      -                                 

Federal Transit Administration:
Operating Assistance 20.507 SC-90-X283-00 9,493                             -                                 
Operating Assistance 20.507 SC-90-X325-00 577,313                         -                                 
Operating Assistance 20.507 SC 2018-045-00 137,532                         

Subtotal 20.507 724,338                         -                                 

Pass Through SC Department of Public Safety:
Office of Highway Safety and Justice Programs 20.600 PT-2016-HS-18-17 1,098                             -                                 
Office of Highway Safety and Justice Programs 20.600 M4HVE-2018-HS-45-18 82,946                           -                                 

Subtotal 20.600 84,044                           -                                 

TOTAL DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 6,814,483                      -                                 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Pass Through Mary Black Foundation
Addressing Teen Pregnancy in South Carolina 93.297 TPIAH000119-01-00 128,138                         -                                 

TOTAL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 128,138                         -                                 

GRAND TOTALS 7,783,001$                    153,267$                       

See accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

166



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

A. – GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) presents the activity of all federal award 
programs of the City of Spartanburg, South Carolina (the “City”) for the year ended June 30, 2018.  Expenditures for federal 
financial assistance awarded directly from the federal agencies, as well as those passed through other government agencies, 
are included on the Schedule. 

B. – BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying Schedule is presented using the modified accrual basis of accounting, which is described in the notes to 
the City’s financial statements. 

C. – RELATIONSHIP TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Federal award expenditures are generally reported in the City’s financial statements as expenditures in the General Fund and 
Special Revenue Funds for all federal programs and as expenses in the City’s enterprise funds. 

D. – MATCHING COSTS

Matching costs, i.e., the non-federal share of certain program costs, are not included in the accompanying Schedule.  

E. INDIRECT COST RATE

The City has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.  

167



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

168



 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE 
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
City of Spartanburg 
Spartanburg, South Carolina 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Spartanburg (the “City”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and have 
issued our report thereon dated December 21, 2018. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the City’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in 
the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A 
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not 
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, 
we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  

169



 
 

Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of 
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
Greene Finney, LLP 
Mauldin, South Carolina 
December 21, 2018 

170



REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
City of Spartanburg 
Spartanburg, South Carolina  

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the City of Spartanburg’s (the “City”) compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in 
the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major federal programs 
for the year ended June 30, 2018.  The City’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its federal 
awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City’s major federal programs based on our audit of 
the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 
2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”).  Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.   

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program.  
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.  

171



Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the 
types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the 
City’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each 
major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over 
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal 
control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not 
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and 
correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness 
in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we 
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report 
is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Greene Finney, LLP 
Mauldin, South Carolina 
December 21, 2018 

172



CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA 

SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

There were no findings in the prior year. 

173



Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued:  Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No
Significant deficiencies identified that are not

considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X None Reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No
Significant deficiencies identified that are not

considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X None Reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs:  Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516 (Uniform Guidance)? Yes X No

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster

20.106 Airport Improvement Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X Yes No

Section II- Findings- Current Year Financial Statements Audit

Section III- Findings and Questioned Costs- Major Federal Awards Programs Audit

NONE

750,000$                        

NONE

CITY OF SPARTANBURG, SOUTH CAROLINA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results

174





City of Spartanburg | 145 W Broad St. | Spartanburg, SC 29304



  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

X. C  



    CITY COUNCIL REPORT 
 
 
 

TO:  Chris Story, City Manager      
 
FROM: Bob Coler, City Attorney  
      
SUBJECT:  Freedom of Information Act Training 
  
DATE:    January 9, 2019    
   
 
BACKGROUND: In 2017, State legislators made significant changes to the South Carolina Freedom 
of Information Act.  Therefore, an update for City Council is appropriate. 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  To present to Council at the January 14, 2019 meeting a power point 
outlining the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act. 
 
 
BUDGET AND FINANCIAL DATA: 


	101 Franklin Avenue.pcm docs.1.14.19.pdf
	CPC Docket New beginning PC 2016 Agenda
	pcminOct 18 2018jr
	2018-02-08 Annexation Request Narrative
	Franklin Avenue Apartments – Annexation Request Narrative

	Departmental Memo Franklin Avenue
	175019 TIA Franklin Ave Apartments
	mailout map
	Planning Commission Proposed Meeting Schedule for 2019

	2018 CAFR document.1.14.19.pdf
	000 CAFR 2018 Front Cover
	005 CAFR 2018 Front Cover layout credit (inside of front cover)
	007 Inside Cover Sheet 2018
	008    Logo SPART - Copy
	010    Table of Contents - City of Spartanburg
	021    Logo SPART - Copy - Copy
	030    Logo SPART
	035   City Organizational Chart 2018
	040    Logo SPART
	045 Finance Organizational Chart 2018
	050    Logo SPART
	055   Certificate of Achievement 2017
	060    Logo SPART
	065    Opinion - Independent Auditors Report SPART
	070    MD&A  Spart
	080    Basic financials SPART
	085    Notes to Financial Statements SPART
	086    Logo SPART
	102    BLUE - RSI GF & Hosp BvA Spart
	103    RSI - OPEB Schedule SPART
	103.1 RSI - Pension Schedules - COS 2018
	103.2 RSI - Pension Schedules - SCRS - COS 2018
	105   Title  General Fund Title Page Title SPART
	110    Logo SPART
	115    GREEN - GF REV BvA sheets  SPART
	116    Logo SPART - Copy
	125    Title Special Revenue Funds-definition Title Spart
	135    ORANGE - SR - Comm. Devel. - B&A sheets Spart
	136    Title Non-Major Special Revenues Funds-specifics of each Title-2 Spart
	145    Title Debt Service Funds Title Spart
	150    Logo Spart
	160    Title Internal Service Funds Title Spart
	165    Logo Spart
	170    YELLOW - Internal Service funds sheets Spart
	175    Logo Spart - Copy
	180    Title Fiduciary Funds Title Spart
	185    Logo Spart
	190    GRAY - Fiduciary Funds sheets & fines Spart
	192    Logo Spart
	193    Title Stat Section Intro Spart
	197    Logo Spart
	200    Stats Spart
	210    SEFA Spart
	220    Notes to SEFA Spart
	225    Logo SPART
	230    Opinion - Internal Controls Spart
	235    Opinion - Uniform Guidance Spart
	240    Prior Year Spart
	255    Logo Spart
	260  CAFR 2018 Back Cover




